BOARD OF DIRECTORS
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
Agenda For
April 30, 2025
Regular Meeting - 5:00 p.m.
30 Mansfield Road - Hollister, California 95023

Assistance for those with disabilities:
If you have a disability and need accommodation to participate in the meeting, please call Barbara Mauro, Board Clerk,
at (831) 637-8218, 48 hours prior to meeting for assistance so the necessary arrangements can be made.

Effective at the April 27, 2022, The Board of Directors is now allowing the public to attend in person at all meetings of
the San Benito County Water District Board. We will also continue to offer the meeting via Zoom as well. Regarding
virtual participation, members of the public are instructed to be on mute during the proceedings and to speak only
when public comment is allowed, after requesting and receiving recognition from the Board President.

ZOOM LINK
https:/ /us06web.zoom.us/i/82739183263?pwd=1kbhRVPgbVvRP8WoZntR9pOpOh7UOp.1

Meeting ID
827 3918 3263

Passcode:
092529

Dial Only:
Dial by your location
°+1 669 444 9171 US
* +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston)
*+1 719 359 4580 US
e +1 720 707 2699 US (Denver)
e +1 253 205 0468 US
e +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma)

If you plan to participate in the meeting and need assistance, please call
Barbara Mauro, Board Clerk, at (831) 637-8218, 48 hours prior to meeting.

CALL TO ORDER

a. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag

b. Roll Call

C. Speakers will be limited to 5 minutes to address the Board; rebuttal will
be limited to 3 minutes; no new business agenda items will be heard
after 8:00 p.m.

d. Approval of Agenda

e. Public Input: Members of the Public are Invited to Speak on any Matter
not on the Agenda




CONSENT AGENDA:

(Consent items shall be considered as a whole and without discussion unless a particular item is removed from the
consent agenda. Board member may discuss individual items or seek information from staff or legal counsel without
removing the item from the Consent Agenda. A member of the public should seek recognition by the President if comment
is desired. Approval of consent items shall be made by one motion.}

1. Approval of Minutes for: March 26, 2025 Regular Meeting
April 9, 2025 Special Meeting
April 16, 2025 Special Meeting

2. Allowance of Claims

3. Acknowledgement of Paid Claims prior to the April Board Meeting

4. Acceptance of Quarterly Investment Report, March 31, 2025

5. On Call Contracts — Status Updates

REGULAR AGENDA

Recognizing Anne Stull for 30 Years of Service, Certificate Issued
Recognizing Michael Craig for 20 Years of Service, Certificate Issued

Consider Resolutions of the San Benito County Water District and San
Benito County Water District Financing Authority Approving the
Installment Sale Financing to Provide Financing of Water System
Improvements for Zone 6 Accelerated Drought Response Project (NTE
$42,000,000)

0. Annual Groundwater Report 2024

a. Presentation of Report

b. Consider Acceptance of Annual Groundwater Report 2024

10. Consider Extending the Contract for one additional year (Fiscal Year
2024-2025) with McGilloway, Ray, Brown, & Kaufman for auditing
services

11.  Consider Awarding a Contract to Corrpro Companies, Inc for Installation
of an Impressed Current Cathodic Protection System at the Lessalt Water
Treatment Plant and Authorizing the General Manager to sign contract
(NTE $ 144,000)

12.  Consider Salary increase for the District Engineer and Deputy District
Engineer positions

13.  Consider Resolution Declaring May as Water Awareness Month



14. Committee/Agency Representative Reports:

a. San Luis and Delta-Mendota Water Authority (Tonascia/Jacobson)

b. Pajaro River Watershed Flood Prevention Authority
(Flores/Wright)

o Water Resources Association (Flores/Freeman)

d. Finance Committee (Tonascia/Freeman)

e. Investment Committee (Flores/Williams)

f. Personnel Committee (Flores/Tonascia)

g. Zone 6 Water Supply & Operations Committee (Tonascia/Wright)

15. Monthly Operations and Maintenance Report

16.  General Manager’s Report:
a. Reach 1 Operations

o

Zone 3 Operations

Zone 6 Operations

a o

Accelerated Drought Response Project (ADRoP)

e. San Luis and Delta-Mendota Water Authority Activities
f. City of San Juan Bautista Water Supply Plan

g. B F Sisk Dam Raise Project
h.

Miscellaneous District items

17. CLOSED SESSION: Conference with Legal Counsel-Existing litigation
Government Code § 54956.9(d)(1)
Kurasaki vs. Caltrans et al; San Benito County

18. OPEN SESSION:
Report any actions, if any, from Closed Session item

19. Adjournment

Adjournment - Unless there is a special meeting prior to that time, the next regular meeting of the Board will be Wednesday, May
28, 2025. Meetings are held at the District office, 30 Mansfield Road, Hollister, California. LAST DAY TO FILE CLAIMS against
the District is the second Friday of each month, except in November and December. Usually meeting dates change in those months
because of holidays. The Board may hold a closed session to discuss personnel matters, litigation or employee negotiations as
authorized by the Raiph M. Brown Act, Evidence Code #950-962 or other appropriate State law.

All public records relating to an agenda item on this agenda are available for public inspection at the time the record is distributed to
all, or a majority of all, members of the Board. Such records shall be available at the District office located at 30 Mansfield Road,
Hollister, California.

3



March 26, 2025
Regular Meeting
5:00 p.m.

The Board of Directors of the San Benito County Water District convened in regular
session on Wednesday, March 26, 2025 at 5:00 p.m. at the San Benito County Water District
office at 30 Mansfield Road, Hollister, California. Members present were: President Doug
Williams, Vice President Mark Wright and Directors Sonny Flores, John Freeman and Joe
Tonascia. Also present were General Manager Dana Jacobson, District Counsel Jeremy T. Liem,
Assistant General Manager Brett Miller, Operations and Maintenance Manager Michael Craig,
Senior Engineer David Macdonald, Water Conservation Program Manager Jennifer Arellano,
Office Specialist I Shannon Darnall and Executive Assistant/Board Clerk Barbara Mauro. Jeff
Cattaneo participated via Zoom.

CALL TO ORDER
President Williams called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

a. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag
President Williams led the Pledge of Allegiance.

b. Roll Call
Mrs. Mauro called roll. Members present were: President Williams, Vice President
Wright and Directors Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

c. Speakers will be limited to 5 minutes to address the Board; rebuttal will be limited
to 3 minutes; no new business agenda items will be heard after 8:00 p.m.

d. Approval of Agenda
With a motion by Director Tonascia and a second by Director Flores, the Agenda was
approved by 5 affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

e. Public Input: Members of the Public are Invited to Speak on any Matter not on the
Agenda
There were no public comments.

CONSENT AGENDA:

1. Approval of Minutes for: February 26,2025 Regular Meeting

2. Allowance of Claims
President Williams asked what projects/repairs made up the $47,000 check to Brigantino
Irrigation? Mr. Miller stated it was mostly the Sub 10 break, some for the San Juan Main
Line work and the rest were miscellaneous repairs.

3. Acknowledgement of Paid Claims prior to the March Board Meeting

4. On Call Contracts — Status Updates

With a motion by Director Freeman and a second by Vice President Wright, the Consent Agenda

was approved by 5 affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Regular Meeting Minutes, March 26, 2025



REGULAR AGENDA

5.

Discuss and Consider Resolution Restating the District’s Investment Policy

Mr. Miller stated the Board annually reviews the District’s Investment Policy. Staff
proposed a lot of changes, so the Investment Committee asked that the full board weigh
in. Some of the changes were lateral investments, for when the Bureau payments go up,
made the policy clearer by adding a glossary of terms and extending the distribution of
the quarterly investment report from 15 days following the quarter end to 30 days.

Director Flores added the objectives, and the security is important and that 4% of return
was needed to meet the District’s obligations.

Mr. Miller added L.A.LF. is very secure and a good option and he named several others.

With a motion by Director Flores and a second by Director Freeman, the Board of
Directors approved Resolution 2025-03, 4 Resolution of the Board of Directors of the
San Benito County Water District Restating the District’s Investment Policy, by 5
affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Discuss and Consider Authorizing the General Manager Execute a Contract with
Todd Groundwater for the 2025 Urban Water Management Plan Update (NTE
$143,870)

Ms. Arellano reviewed this item for the Board by stating this is a state requirement and
the Plan is done every 5 years. This is specifically for urban water suppliers and is a
necessary tool for Federal Funding. The contract is for Todd Groundwater who has done
this plan for the last 20 years. The change in this plan, is the addition of the City of San
Juan Bautista, so there will be a new cost split between the agencies. This report is due in
July 2026.

With a motion by Director Tonascia and a second by Director Freeman, the Board.of
Directors Authorized the General Manager Execute a Contract with Todd Groundwater
for the 2025 Urban Water Management Plan Update (NTE $143,870) by S affirmative
votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Discuss and Consider Authorizing the General Manager Execute a Contract with
Todd Groundwater for the 2025 Agricultural Water Management Plan Update
(NTE $37,539)

Ms. Arellano also reviewed this item for the Board and stated this is also a state
requirement and is done every 5 years but this one is just for the District. Todd
Groundwater is also providing this service to the District. This report is due in
September 2026.

With a motion by Director Tonascia and a second by Director Freeman, the Board of
Directors Authorized the General Manager Execute a Contract with Todd Groundwater
for the 2025 Agricultural Water Management Plan Update (NTE $37,539) by 5
affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Regular Meeting Minutes, March 26, 2025



10.

Consider Resolution Setting Forth the District’s Intentions Regarding Percolation of
San Felipe Project Water for Water Contract Year 2025-2026

Mr. Jacobson stated the District Act directs percolation to be done annually and is usually
at 10% of the allocation. The resolution before the Board is for 1200-acre feet of Ag
water and 700 acre feet of M & I water to be percolated in the 2025-2026 water year. If
the District’s water allocation is increased, the percolation could also be increased.

With a motion by Director Flores and a second by Director Tonascia, the Board of
Directors approved Resolution #2025-04 A Resolution of the Board of Directors of the
San Benito County Water District Setting Forth the District’s Intentions Regarding
Percolation of San Felipe Project Water for Water Contract Year 2025-2026 by 5
affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Consider Authorizing the General Manager to Make an Additional Financial
Commitment of $8,213 for the B.F. Sisk Dam Raise and Reservoir Expansion
Project

Mr. Jacobson stated a few months ago, the Board made a commitment of $145,000 for
the B.F. Sisk Dam Raise and Reservoir Expansion Project. One of the agencies dropped
out of the project and their storage allocation is being offered to the remaining agencies.
This would add 260 acre feet of storage to the District, increasing our total storage in the
project to 5300 acre feet of storage. Mr. Jacobson stated, if we want to add this amount,
an additional $8213 would need to be committed. He further reported next year, a larger
contribution of approximately $1 million will be necessary.

With a motion by Director Freeman and a second by Vice President Wright, the Board of
Directors Authorized the General Manager to make an additional Financial Commitment
of $8213 for the B.F. Sisk Dam Raise and Reservoir Expansion Project by 5 affirmative
votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Consider Approval and Authorize the Board President to Execute the Healthy
Rivers and Landscapes Program Implementation Funding Activity Agreement

Mr. Jacobson, using a PowerPoint presentation, gave the background on this agenda item.
This information is to explain why there would be an increase of $10/acre foot for future
CVP allocations over an 8-year span. Mr. Jacobson stated it basically protects the
allocation. Safeguards were discussed and this voluntary funding would be over 8 years.
He did caution that this will likely dry up the transfer market. The cost would be about
$140,000/year and there will be a decision by June 2025.

Katja Irvin, a member of the public on Zoom, asked why the urgency on a decision now
before the Water Board’s decision in June. Mr. Jacobson stated the State wants to see a
commitment of the agencies it will affect.

With a motion by Director Freeman and a second by Director Flores, the Board of
Directors Approved and Authorized the Board President to Execute the Healthy Rivers
and Landscapes Program Implementation Funding Activity Agreement by 5 affirmative
votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Regular Meeting Minutes, March 26, 2025



1.

12.

13.

14.

San Benito County Water District — Budget Kick Off Meeting 2025-2026

Mr. Miller, also using a PowerPoint presentation, stated the District staff is starting early
on the budget. He added, the rate study will also be starting soon as the District is in the
last year of the approved 3-year rate structure. In his presentation, Mr. Miller gave an
overview of the proposed schedule, which included: adoption of the budget at the May
meeting, Rate Study Session at the October meeting, holding a Public Hearing to approve
rates at the December meeting and March 1, 2026, the new rates would go into effect. He
further gave an overview of the budget by departments and stated staff is working on a
1-year budget and a 5-year Capital Improvement Plan.

Receive Information and Discuss Participation in the Pajaro River Watershed
Resiliency Program

Mr. Cattaneo reported on this for the Board. He stated this is an extension of the JRWM
program, which started about twenty years ago. The State is placing more emphasis on
climate resilience and equity on collaboration with the agencies in the watershed. Mr.
Cattaneo added about 80% of the watershed lies in San Benito County. He further
reported a key aspect will be to manage the headwaters which start at Hernandez and end
in the Pajaro River near the Monterey Bay Sanctuary. The State is also requesting more
stakeholder groups and Pajaro Valley Water Management Agency will be taking the lead
agency as they have a grant for a pilot program. It will be approximately 1 year to get the
plan together and it will be for collaborating across the watershed concentrating on: water
quality, forest/fire suppression and eco system restoration. Putting this plan together will
be important for future state funding opportunities and Mr. Cattaneo stressed the
importance of staying involved.

Committee/Agency Representative Reports:
a. San Luis and Delta-Mendota Water Authority (Tonascia/Jacobson)
As per Director Tonascia, Mr. Jacobson can cover under his manager’s report.

b. Administration Committee (Flores/Williams)
As per Directors Flores and Williams, this has already been covered.

c. Finance Committee (Tonascia/Freeman)
As per Directors Freeman and Tonascia, this has already been covered.

d. Personnel Committee (Flores/Tonascia)
As per Directors Flores and Tonascia, this will be covered in Closed Session.

e. Zone 6 Water Supply & Operations Committee (Tonascia/Wright)
As per Directors Tonascia and Wright, this has already been covered.

Monthly Operations and Maintenance Report

Mr. Craig stated there will be approximately 8 weeks that his department will be covering
the Water Resources Technician’s duties. Mr. Craig reported samples were taken from
the San Benito River and the District is getting ready to divert water from Hernandez
Reservoir, but he will need the full crew to do this. Green Valley, the firm the District
contracted with to spray for weeds, has been very responsive and are down to only 2
locations to complete the spraying. His staff will be replacing some pressure relief

Regular Meeting Minutes, March 26, 2025



15.

16.

valves, which were on the CIP from last year. He further reviewed other items that he is
replacing. He also showed photos of several repairs done in the last month.

General Manager’s Report:

a)

b)

©)

d)

g)

h)

Reach 1 Operations
Mr. Jacobson stated there wasn’t anything to report.

Zone 3 Operations
Mr. Jacobson stated there wasn’t anything to report, beyond Mr. Craig’s report.

Zone 6 Operations
Mr. Jacobson reported there will be an easement and reimbursement agreement that
will come to the Board for approval in the next few months.

Accelerated Drought Response Project (ADRoP)

Mr. Jacobson reported there will be milestones coming for the expansion of West
Hills that will need Board approval. At the Special Meeting on April 9™, the Board
will consider approving the CEQA documentation.

Mr. Cattaneo added for the land acquisition, documents are being reviewed and final
agreements are being prepared.

Director Tonascia added there will be agreements with the City of Hollister and
Sunnyslope County Water District, and also adding the City of San Juan Bautista.

Mr. Jacobson further added, ADRoP financing may be on next month’s agenda.

San Luis and Delta-Mendota Water Authority Activities
Mr. Jacobson reported next month he expects more discussion on the Delta-Mendota
Subsidence Correction Project.

City of San Juan Bautista Water Supply Plan
Mr. Jacobson reported last night the City held a workshop which went well; he and
Mr. Miller attended.

B F Sisk Dam Raise Project
Mr. Jacobson reported funding will be necessary and the capacity fee is important; he
and Mr. Miller have made this a high priority item.

Miscellaneous District items

Mr. Jacobson reported, regarding the Groundwater Management Fee (SGMA), a
portion of the fee is based on water usage. He further reported the rate structure will
need revision to be land based and usage based.

CLOSED SESSION: Conference with Legal Counsel-Existing litigation
Government Code § 54956.9(d)(1)
Kurasaki vs. Caltrans ef al; San Benito County

Regular Meeting Minutes, March 26, 2025



17.

18.

19.

20.

CLOSED SESSION: Consultation with: General Manager/
District Counsel

Government Code § 54957(a)(1)

Threat to Public Services

CLOSED SESSION: Public Employee Appointment
Government Code § 54957(b)(1)
Title: District Counsel

(The Board convened in Closed Session at 6:14 p.m.)

OPEN SESSION:
Report any actions, if any, from Closed Session items

(The Board reconvened in Open Session at 7:05 p.m.)

When the Board returned to Open Session, President Williams stated there was no action
to report on agenda items 16 and 17.

Regarding agenda item 18, there was a motion by Director Tonascia and a second by
Director Flores; the Board of Directors unanimously approved a new agreement with Mr.
Liem’s firm, appointing him District Counsel, increasing his hourly wage to $375 and
authorized the General Manager to sign the agreement.

Adjournment
With no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 7:07 p.m.

Doug Williams, President

Barbara L. Mauro, Executive Assistant/Board Clerk

Regular Meeting Minutes, March 26, 2025



April 9, 2025
Special Meeting
5:02 p.m.

The Board of Directors of the San Benito County Water District convened in regular

session on Wednesday, April 9, 2025 at 5:02 p.m. at the San Benito County Water District office
at 30 Mansfield Road, Hollister, California. Members present were: President Doug Williams,
Vice President Mark Wright and Directors Sonny Flores, John Freeman and Joe Tonascia. Also
present were General Manager Dana Jacobson, District Counsel Jeremy T. Liem, Assistant
General Manager Brett Miller, Office Specialist I Shannon Darnall and Executive
Assistant/Board Clerk Barbara Mauro. Jeff Cattaneo participated via Zoom.

CALL TO ORDER

President Williams called the meeting to order at 5:02 p.m.

a.

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag
President Williams led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Roll Call
Mrs. Mauro called roll. Members present were: President Williams, Vice President
Wright and Directors Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Approval of the Agenda

President Williams stated the agenda needed to have 1 item added. Mr. Liem stated the
urgency of this item is based on information that came to light after the agenda was
posted and a determination of immediate action is necessary to consider commencing
litigation and filing an emergency preliminary injunction. This item must be added to the
agenda with a motion and second and must be passed by a 4/5 vote of the board. A
motion was made by Director Tonascia, for approval of the agenda and adding a Closed
Session Item: Conference with Legal Counsel-Anticipated Litigation, initiation of
litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9; One case and it
was seconded by Director Flores. Mrs. Mauro added this will now be agenda item #4,
Open Session, report out of Closed Session will be agenda item #5 and then
Adjournment. The Board approved the agenda, with the one addition, by 5 affirmative
votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

Speakers will be limited to 5 minutes to address the Board
There were no public speakers.

AGENDA ITEMS:

1.

Discuss Public Outreach for the Accelerated Drought Response Project

Mr. Jacobson, using a PowerPoint presentation, introduced this item and stated there is a
requirement from the California Department of Water Resources (DWR) to educate the
public and hold 2-3 public meetings. The next item on this agenda, is to consider
approval of the CEQA compliance for the ADRoP Project. Mr. Jacobson gave an
overview of the grant funding received so far (2 grants through DWR and 1 through the
USBR). He furthered reported the District received the final grant agreement today for
the $6.7 million grant. For reference, Mr. Jacobson stated the members of the San Benito
Urban Water Master Plan are: San Benito County Water District, San Benito County,

Special Meeting Minutes, April 9, 2025 1



the City of Hollister, Sunnyslope County Water District and soon the City of San Juan
Bautista will be added. Each agency has 2 representatives on the Governance
Committee and the manager of each agency is on the Management Committee of the
SBUW Master Plan. He reviewed the accomplishments of the Master Plan, which
included: Upgrade to the Lessalt WTP, the construction of the West Hills WTP, the City
of Hollister’s Wastewater Plant and the Ridgemark Wastewater Plant. In the 2023
Master Plan update, it was noted there is a water shortfall in critically dry years.
ADROP will store water in years when there are excess water allocations, to be used
during critically dry years. This project is to provide water to existing customers only.
Mr. Jacobson reviewed the purpose, components and the capital costs, which are
estimated to be about $50 million. The execution of the project will be: 1) West Hills
WTP expansion; 2) Install wells and a pipeline and 3) Construction to be complete by
approximately March 2026.

Director Flores asked about a consultant for the public outreach. Mr. Jacobson stated
this should come before the board in the next month or two. Some meetings we have
had would qualify and some dedicated public meetings will still be needed. Discussion
ensued about possible locations for these meetings.

Public Hearing regarding the Adoption and Approval of Findings for the
Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Accelerated Drought Response
Project
a. Proof of Publication submitted for the Adoption and Approval of
Findings for the Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Accelerated
Drought Response Project
Mrs. Mauro verified the proof of publication.

b. Presentation of the Findings
Mr. Jacobson reviewed the CEQA requirements and stated the District is the lead
agency. The public review period ended approximately 1 week ago. If the Board
approves, Mr. Jacobson will sign the CEQA Findings of Fact. Following
approval, the CEQA document will be filed with the San Benito County Clerks
office and also on-line with CEQA. He further explained that the mitigation
measures are required to reduce the environmental impact. Regarding ADRoP,
CEQA prohibits piece-mealing of projects, so an initial analysis was made for the
West Hills WTP and a new analysis was done for the wells in the project. Mr.
Jacobson reviewed the findings and stated no statement of overriding impacts was
needed; the Board would be authorizing him to sign this document.

c. Questions of Directors
There were no questions from the Directors.

d. Open Public Hearing
President Williams opened the Public Hearing; there were no questions or
comments from the public.

€. Close Public Hearing or continue to a later date
President Williams closed the Public Hearing.

Special Meeting Minutes, April 9, 2025 2



f. Consider Adoption of the Statement of Findings
With a motion by Director Flores and a second by Director Freeman, the
Board of Directors adopted the Statement of Findings by 5 affirmative votes,
Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

g. Consider Resolution for Approval of the Mitigated Negative Declaration for
the Accelerated Drought Response Project including the Mitigation
Monitoring and Reporting Program
With a motion by Director Freeman and a second by Director Tonascia, the Board
of Directors approved Resolution 2025-05 4 Resolution of the Board of Directors
of the San Benito County Water District Adopting the Mitigated Negative
Declaration for the Accelerated Drought Response Project; Adopting California
Environmental Quality Act Findings of Fact, Mitigation Measures, and
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program; and Approving the Accelerated
Drought Response Project; by 5 affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores,
Freeman and Tonascia.

3. CLOSED SESSION: Conference with Legal Counsel-Pending litigation
Government Code § 54956.9(d)(1)
Kurasaki vs. Caltrans ef al; San Benito County

4. CLOSED SESSION: Conference with Legal Counsel-Anticipated
litigation
Government Code §54956.9(d)(4) Initiation of litigation
1 case
(The Board convened in Closed Session at 5:30 p.m.

5. OPEN SESSION:
Report any actions, if any, from Closed Session items

(The Board reconvened in Open Session at 6:26 p.m.)

President Williams reported on Agenda item #3, regarding the pending litigation. In
Closed Session, there was a motion by Director Tonascia and a second by Director
Freeman, the Board of Directors agreed to deny the claim for this item by 5 affirmative
votes, Williams, Wright, Flores, Freeman and Tonascia.

President Williams reported on Agenda #4, there was no action to report.

ADJOURNMENT
With no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 6:28 p.m.

Special Meeting Minutes, April 9, 2025 3



Doug Williams, President

Barbara L. Mauro, Executive Assistant/Board Clerk

Special Meeting Minutes, April 9, 2025 4



April 16, 2025
Special Meeting
5:01 p.m.

The Board of Directors of the San Benito County Water District convened in special
session on Wednesday, April 16, 2025 at 5:01 p.m. at the San Benito County Water District
office at 30 Mansfield Road, Hollister, California. Members present were: President Doug
Williams, Vice President Mark Wright and Directors Sonny Flores and John Freeman. Director
Joe Tonascia arrived late. Also present were General Manager Dana Jacobson, Assistant
General Manager Brett Miller, Senior Engineer David Macdonald, and Executive
Assistant/Board Clerk Barbara Mauro. District Counsel Jeremy T. Liem and Jeff Cattaneo
participated via Zoom.

CALL TO ORDER
President Williams called the meeting to order at 5:01 p.m.

a. Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag
President Williams led the Pledge of Allegiance.

b. Roll Call
Mrs. Mauro called roll. Members present were: President Williams, Vice President
Wright and Directors Flores and Freeman; Director Tonascia was absent.

c. Approval of the Agenda
With a motion by Director Flores and a second by Director Freeman; the agenda was
approved by 4 affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores and Freeman. There was 1
absence, Tonascia.

d. Speakers will be limited to S minutes to address the Board
There were no public comments.

AGENDA ITEMS:
1. Discuss and Consider Conditional Notice to Proceed (NTP) for the West Hills
Water Treatment Plant (WHWTP) Expansion

(Director Tonascia arrived at 5:03 p.m.)

Mr. Jacobson stated that on December 9, 2024, the Board approved a contract with C.
Overaa but it did allow for mobilization for the project. CEQA has been submitted, but
the District is still waiting on the ITP (Incidental Take Permit). This permit is for the
“taking” of any endangered species for the area in the project. The District has received a
letter of incomplete for the ITP and asked for additional environmental review, so the
application has been resubmitted.

On March 18, 2025, the District received another letter of incomplete and it is unknown
when staff can expect approval. Verbally, the District has been told it would be
acceptable to move forward under certain conditions. Because of the time sensitivity for
the Grant from DWR (Department of Water Resources), this risk operating without the
permit would be if there was an accidental “take” there could be up to $25,000 in fees
and up to $50,000 in fees if it was discovered to be on-purpose.

Special Meeting Minutes, April 16, 2025 1



Mr. Jacobson stated staff is of the opinion that the risk is fairly low. He further gave
examples of what would be acceptable actions to do until the ITP has been approved and
received. He further stated the risk of losing the grant funding is greater.

Since the packet went out, there has been 1 sentence added to the Conditional NTP,
which Mr. Jacobson reviewed. He added, once the ITP is approved, he will issue a full
NTP.

Director Freeman asked if a meeting with HDR and Overaa has been scheduled for pre-
construction. Mr. Cattaneo replied no it hasn’t, but both parties are working to get it
scheduled.

Mr. Liem, participating remotely, stated the concern is for the risk and it appears the risk
is low as the work would be done in the same areas as were disturbed during construction
of the treatment plant.

President Williams asked, once started, when would be the completion date. Mr.
Jacobson replied approximately 490 days.

With a motion by Director Flores and a second by Director Freeman, the Board of
Directors approved the Conditional Notice to Proceed (NTP) for the West Hills Water
Treatment Plant (WHWTP) Expansion by 5 affirmative votes, Williams, Wright, Flores,
Freeman and Tonascia.

ADJOURNMENT
With no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 5:14 p.m.

Doug Williams, President

Barbara L. Mauro, Executive Assistant/Board Clerk

Special Meeting Minutes, April 16, 2025 2



System: 4/21/2028 4:04:45 P San Benito County Water District Page: 1
User Date: 4/21/202¢ COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER User ID: Leilani
Payables Management
Batch ID: CK043025 Audit Trail Code: PMCHK00001071
Batch Comment: Posting Date: 4/30/2025
Checkbook: UB-CKG
*Voided Checks
Check # Date Payment Number Vendor ID Check Name Amount
0059556 4/30/2025 033542 A&BFI A & B Fire Protection & Safety Inc. $1,175.45
0059557 4/30/2025 033543 A1JAN A-1 Services $828.00
0059558 4/30/2025 033544 ACTIO Action Broadcasting Services $679.00
0059559 4/30/2025 033545 ACWAJ ACWA/JPIA $741.00
0059560 4/30/2025 033546 ATOOL A Tool Shed $2,030.78
0059561 4/30/2025 033547 BEFOR Before the Movie Inc $438.00
0059562 4/30/2025 033548 BRIGA Brigantino Irrigation $2,068.49
0059563 4/30/2025 033549 CINTA Cintas Corporation $852.95
0059564 4/30/2025 033550 CMANA CM Analytical Inc $360.00
0059565 4/30/2025 033551 DAHL DAHL Consultants $8,160.00
0059566 4/30/2025 033552 DATAF Dataflow Business Systems Inc $909.45
0059567 4/30/2025 033553 DOKKE Dokken Engineering $230.00
0059568 4/30/2025 033554 DONCH Don Chapin Company Inc $3,853.26
0059569 4/30/2025 033555 DWR Dept. of Water Resources $39,070.00
0059570 4/30/2025 033556 EDGES Edges Electrical Group $8,062.27
0059571 4/30/2025 033557 ELCCO ELC Consulting $26,164.59
0059572 4/30/2025 033558 FASTE Fastenal Company $321.27
0059573  4/30/2025 033559 FORDE Ford Equipment Repair Co. $1,000.00
0059574 4/30/2025 033560 GRAIN GRAINGER $653.14
0059575 4/30/2025 033561 GREENV Green Valley Farm Supply inc $11,5564.57
0059576 4/30/2025 033562 GROSS Grossmayer & Associates $1,595.00
0059577 4/30/2025 033563 GUTIE Gutierrez Consultants $34,440.00
0059578 4/30/2025 033564 HARRYBL Harry Blohm $1,937.50
0059579 4/30/2025 033565 HAUTO Hollister Auto Parts Inc $683.82
0059580 4/30/2025 033566 HDRENG HDR Engineering Inc $401,010.80
0059581 4/30/2025 033567 ICONI ICONIX Waterworks Inc $6,576.97
0059582 4/30/2025 033568 INDEP Independent Business Forms Inc $397.23
0059583 4/30/2025 033569 JACPA Pat Jackson $120.00
0059584 4/30/2025 033570 JOHNS Johnson Lumber Company $1,286.75
0059585 4/30/2025 033571 JUDYS Judy's Gifts & Awards $9.50
0059586 4/30/2025 033572 KENNE Kennedy/Jenks Consultants Inc. $24,477.88
0059587 4/30/2025 033573 KRONI Kronick Moskovitz Tiedemann & Girard $3,547.00
0059588 4/30/2025 033574 LANDS Landscape Design by Rosemary Bridwell $400.00
0059589 4/30/2025 033575 LIEBE Liebert Cassidy Whitmore $180.00
0059590 4/30/2025 033576 MAVER Maverick Welding Supply $44.98
0059591 4/30/20256 033577 MCKIN McKinnon Lumber Inc $144.05
0059592 4/30/2025 033578 MCMAS McMaster-Carr Supply Co $539.35
0059593 4/30/2025 033579 MISSIO Mission Village Voice Media LLC $530.00
0059594 4/30/2025 033580 NEWSV New SV Media Inc $1,065.20
0059595 4/30/2025 033581 PALAC Palace Business Solutions $511.05
0059596 4/30/2025 033582 PITBO Pitney Bowes $912.14
0059597 4/30/2025 033583 RESER Reserve Account $1,000.00
0059598 4/30/2025 033584 ROSSI Rossi's Tire & Auto Service $1,500.05
0059599 4/30/2025 033585 SCVWD Santa Clara Valley Water Dist $43,200.00
0059600 4/30/2025 033586 SHRED Shred-it $334.35
0059601 4/30/2025 033587 SJELE SJ Electro Systems Inc $47,057.80
0059602 4/30/2025 033588 SPURZ Spurzem & Liem LLP $3,710.00



System: 4/21/2025 4:04:4 San Benito County Water District Page: 2

User Date: 4/21/2025 COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER User ID: Leilani
*Voided Checks
Check # Date Payment Number Vendor ID Check Name Amount
0059603 4/30/2025 033589 SSCWD-TP Sunnyslope County Water District $210,033.29
0059604 4/30/2025 033590 TODDE Todd Groundwater $20,778.00
0059605 4/30/2025 033591 TOROP Toro Petroleum Corporation $3,371.96
0059606 4/30/2025 033592 TRUEP TruePoint Solutions $13,653.78
0059607 4/30/2025 033593 TURBO Turbo Time Welding $1,375.00
0059608 4/30/2025 033594 TYLER Tyler Technologies $7,072.00
0059609 4/30/2025 033595 USABL USA BlueBook $380.60
0059610 4/30/2025 033596 USBNK-CC US Bank Corporation $12,241.65
0059611  4/30/2025 033597 USGEO U.S. Geological Survey $25,752.50
0059612 4/30/2025 033598 VERDA Verdant Commercial Capital LLC $211.76
0059613 4/30/2025 033599 WRIIN Wright Bros Industrial Supply $45.77
0059614  4/30/2025 033600 ZEIAL Alan Zeisbrich $2,185.00
Total Checks: 59 Checks Total:  $983,464.95




System: 4/21/2025 4:.04:4 San Benito County Water District Page: 3
User Date: 4/21/2025 COMPUTER CHECK REGISTER User ID: Leilani

*Voided Checks

Check # Date Payment Number Vendor ID Check Name Amount

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN BENITO

| DO HEREBY CERTIFY, UNDER THE PENALTY OF PERJURY AT HOLLISTER, CALIFORNIA
THIS 30TH DAY OF APRIL 2025 THAT THE FOREGOING DEMANDS ENUMERATED HAVE

BEEN AUDITED; THAT THE SAME ARE ACCURATE AND JUST CLAIMS AGAINST THE DISTRICT;
AND THAT THERE ARE FUNDS AVAILABLE FOR PAYMENT.

Prepared by: Assistant General Manager Submitted by: General Manager

APPROVED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON:

Date

President



San Benito County Water District
Payment Fund Responsibility

4/21/2025

Page 1 of 21

Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033542 4/21/2025 §1,175.45 A&BF1 A & B Fire Protection & Safety, Inc,
Voucher: 052012 Invoice: 0412669 Date: 3/21/2025 Annual Fire Extinguisher Sve. Doc Amt:  $1,175.45
Allocations: $117.55 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $58.77 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $999.13  600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $117.55 Fund 300: $58.77 Fund 600: $999.13
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033543 4/21/2025 $828.00 A1JAN A-1 Services
Voucher: 052011 Invoice: 5018 Date: 4/1/2025 Janitorial Services Doc Amt: $828.00
Allocations: $54.00 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $27.00 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $459.00 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $28.80 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $14.40 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $244.80 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $82.80 Fund 300: $41.40 Fund 600: $703.80
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033544 4/21/2025 $679.00 ACTIO Action Broadeasting Services
Voucher: 052013 Invoice: 71040 Date: 3/18/2025 Public Outreach Radio Ad Doc Amt: $679.00
Allocations: $679.00 803-6865-0000-562 Advertising/Public Info (P1)
Payment Responsibilities: .
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:3679.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033545 4/21/2025 $741.00 ACWAJ ACWA/JPIA
Voucher: 052165 Invoice: 0000000118 Date: 4/17/2025 Cyber Liability Premium Doc Amt; $741.00
Allocations: $74.10  100-6871-0000-564 Insurance
Allocations: $37.05 300-6871-0000-564 [nsurance

Allocations; $629.85 600-6871-0000-564 Insurance



Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00

Fund 100: $74.10

Fund 300: $37.05

Fund 600: $629.85

Page 2 of 21

Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Yendor ID Vendor Name
033546 4/21/2025 $2,030.78 ATOOL A Tool Shed
Voucher: 052014 Invoice: 1735641-7 Date: 3/20/2025 Maintenance Equipment Rental  Doc Amt: $371.83
Allocations: $371.83 600-1395-0929-112 SCADA telemetry upgrade
Voucher: 052015 Invoice:  1737837-7 Date: 4/7/2025 Maintenance Equipment Rental  Doc Amit: $387.28
Allocations: $387.28 600-1395-0929-112 SCADA telemetry upgrade
Voucher: 052016 Invoice:  1737920-7 Date: 4/4/2025 Maintenance Equipment Rental  Doc Amt:  $1,106.87
Allocations: $1,106.87 600-6450-0000-542 Tool & Equipment Rental-TM
Voucher: 052140 Invoice:  1739765-7 Date: 4/15/2025 Maintenance Equipment Rental  Doc Amt: $164.80
Allocations: $164.80 600-6450-0000-542 Tool & Equipment Rental-TM
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $2,030.78
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D VYendor Name
033547 4/21/2025 $438.00 BEFOR Before the Movie Inc
Voucher: 052017 Invoice: 54214 Date: 4/1/2025 On-Screen Ad Doc Amt: $438.00
Allocations: $438.00 803-6865-0000-562 Advertising/Public Info (PI)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$438.00
Payment# Date Check Total Yendor ID Vendor Nanie
033548 4/21/2025 $2,068.49 BRIGA Brigaatino [rrigation
Voucher: 052018 Invoice: 220000100639 Date: 3/12/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $147.76
Allocations: $147.76 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher; 052019 Invoice: 220000102295 Date: 3/28/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $55.36
Allocations: $55.36 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Voucher: 052020 Invoice; 220000102640 Date: 4/1/2025 Maintenance Supplies DocAmt:  $1,340.50
Allocations: $1,340.50 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Voucher. 052141 Invoice; 220000104372 Date: 4/16/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $301.42
Allocations: $301.42 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Voucher: 052173 Invoice: 220000104734 Date: 4/18/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $22345
Allocations: $223.45 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks



Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00

Fund 100: $0.00

Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $2,068.49

Page 3 of 21

Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033549 4/21/2025 $852.95 CINTA Cintas Corporation
Voucher: 052021 Invoice: 4225198226 Date: 3/25/2025 Weekly Service Doc Amt: $156.46
Allocations: $15.65 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $7.82 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $132.99 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Voucher: 052022 Invoice: 4226616767 Date: 4/8/2025 Weekly Service Doc Amt: $156.46
Allocations: $15.65 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $7.82 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $132.99 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Voucher: 052042 Invoice; 4225801725 Date: 3/31/2025 Weekly Service Doc Amt: $156.46
Allocations: $15.65 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $7.82 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Alocations: $132.99 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Voucher: 052143 Invoice; 4227425300 Date: 4/15/2025 Weekly Service Doc Amt: $156.46
Allocations: $15.65 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $7.82 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $132.99 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Voucher: 052170 Invoice: 1905616931 Date: 4/17/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $227.11
Allocations: $227.11 600-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $62.58 Fund 300: $31.29 Fund 600: $759.07
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033550 4/21/2025 $360.00 CMANA CM Analytical Inc
Voucher: 052145 Invoice: 84418 Date: 4/11/2025 Water Quality Testing Doc Amt: $360.00
Allocations: $240.00 600-6270-0000-541 CS-Operations-TO
Allocations: $120.00 600-6270-0604-541 CS Operations Recycled Water Project
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $360.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Veador Name
033551 4/21/2025 $8,160.00 DAHL DAHL Consultants
Voucher: 052102 Invoice: 1495 Date: 4/9/2025 Project Management for ADRoP  DocAmt:  $8,160.00
Allocations: $8,160.00 600-1351-C129-151 Grant Expense - ADRoP (DWR $11.5 M)



Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $8,160.00

Page 4 of 21

Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033552 4/21/2025 $909.45 DATAF Dataflow Business Systems Inc
Voucher: 052023 Invoice: 418605 Date: 4/3/2025 Copier Lease Doc Amt: $360.99
Allocations: $36.10 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $18.05 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $306.84 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Voucher: 052146 Invoice: 419617 Date: 4/14/2025 Panasonic KV-87097 Repair Doc Amt: $548.46
Allocations: $34.85 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $27.42 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $466.19 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $90.95 Fund 300: $45.47 Fund 600: $773.03
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033553 4/21/2025 $230.00 DOKKE Dokken Engineering
Voucher: 052166 Invoice: 48785 Date: 4/4/2025 Engincering Services Doc Amt: $230.00
Allocations: $230.00 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $230.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033554 4/21/2025 $3,853.26 DONCH Don Chapin Company Inc
Voucher: 052024 Invoice; 193948 Date: 3/20/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $328.04
Allocations: $328.04 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Voucher: 052025 Invoice: 193949 Date: 3/20/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $203.45
Allocations: $203.45 600-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Voucher: 052026 Invoice: 194030 Date: 3/24/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt:  $2,733.88
Allocations: $2,733.88 600-6320-0000-541 Supplies-TO
Voucher: 052108 Invoice: 194306 Date: 3/28/2025 District Supplies Doc Amt: $587.89
Allocations: $29.39 300-6320-0000-562-06  Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $499.71  600-6320-0000-562-06  Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $58.79 100-6320-0000-562-06  Supplies-GA 10/5/85

Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00

Fund 100: $38.79 Fund 300: $29.39 Fund 600: $3,765.08

Fund 803:$0.00



Page 5 of 21

Payment# Date Check Total Yendor ID Vendor Name
033555 4/21/2025 $39,070.00 DWR Dept. of Water Resources
Voucher: 052168 Invoice: 1800173312 Date: 3/10/2025 Annual Dam Fees Doc Amt:  $39,070.00
Allocations: $30,875.00 300-6820-0000-562 Dues and Fee
Allocations: $8,195.00 300-6820-0000-562 Dues and Fee
Payment Respounsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $39,070.00 Fund 600: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033556 4/21/2025 $8,062.27 EDGES Edges Eiectrical Group
Voucher: 052027 Invoice:  §6372999.001 Date: 3/13/2025 Electrical Supplies Doc Amt:  $2,017.24
Allocations: $2,017.24 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher; 052028 Invoice: S6360516.003 Date: 3/3/2025  Electrical Supplies Doc Amt:  $2,380.42
Allocations: $2,389.42 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052029 Invoice:  S6402208.001 Date: 3/27/2025 Electrical Supplies Doc Amt: $168.68
Allocations: $8.43 300-6320-0000-562-06  Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $143.38 600-6320-0000-562-06  Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $16.87 100-6320-0000-562-06  Supplics-GA 10/5/85
Voucher: 052103 Invoice:  $6402208.002 Date: 4/3/2025  Electrical Supplies Doc Amt: $508.24
Allocations: $508.24 600-6321-0000-522 Supplies - Structure Equipment PM
Voucher; 052104 Invoice:  $6328899.001 Date: 2/28/2025 Electrical Supplics Doc Amt:  $2,978.69
Allocations: $2,978.69 600-6321-0000-522 Supplies - Structure Equipment PM
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 - Fund 100: $16.87 Fund 300: $8.43 Fund 600: $8,036.97
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033557 4/21/2025 $26,164.59 ELCCO ELC Consulting
Voucher: 052030 Invoice: 10159 Date: 3/1/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:  $6,897.00
Allocations: $659.70 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $320.85 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $5,607.45 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $300.00 600-6260-0000-563 CS-Computer-GA
Voucher: 052031 Invoice: 10160 Date: 3/1/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:  $1,480.00
Allocations: $790.00 600-6260-0603-531 CS Computer - West Hills WTP
Allocations: $690.00 600-6260-0602-531 CS Computer - Lessalt WTP
Voucher: 052032 Invoice: 10161 Date: 3/1/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt: $100.00
Allocations: $100.00 803-6260-0000-563 CS - Computers



Voucher:

Voucher:

Voucher:

Voucher:

Youcher;

Voucher:

Voucher:

Voucher:

Voucher:

Voucher:

052033
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

052034
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

052035
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:

052036
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

052037
Allocations:

Allocations:

052038
Allocations:

052101
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

052150
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

052151
Allocations;
Allocations:
Allocations:

052161
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Invoice:

Invoice:

Invoice:

Invoice:

Invoice:

Invoice:

Invoice;

Invoice:

[nvoice:

Invoice:

10230
$65.00
$32.50
$552.53

10235
$166.44
$83.22
$1,414.74

10250
$659.70
$329.85
$5,607.45

$300.00

10211
$36.00
$18.00
$306.00

10251
$790.00

$690.00

10252
$100.00

9945
$60.96
$30.48
$518.18

10307
$135.00
$67.50
$1,147.50

10291
$18.00
$9.00
$153.00

10292
$284.05
$142.03
$2,414.43

Date: 3/27/2025 Server Hardware Doc Amt:
100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)

Date: 3/27/2025 Annual Security Software Doc Amt:
100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)

Date: 4/1/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:
100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer {10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563 CS-Computer-GA

Date: 3/20/2025 Project Planner Software Doc Amt:
100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)

Date: 4/1/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:
600-6260-0603-531 CS Computer - West Hills WTP
600-6260-0602-53 1 CS Computer - Lessalt WTP

Date: 4/1/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:
803-6260-0000-563 CS - Computers

Date: 10/31/2024 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:
100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)

Date: 4/14/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt:
100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)

Date: 4/14/2025 Computer Equipment Doc Amt:

100-6440-0000-562-06
300-6440-0000-562-06
600-6440-0000-562-06

Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/83
Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/83
Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/85

Date: 4/14/2025 Computer Equipment
100-6440-0000-562-06  Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/85
300-6440-0000-562-06  Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/85
600-6440-0000-562-06  Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/835

Doc Amt:

Page 6 of 21

$650.04

$1,664.40

$6,897.00

$360.00

$1,480.00

$100.00

$609.62

$1,350.00

$180.00

$2,840.50



Page 7 of 21

Voucher: 052162 Invoice: 10293 Date: 4/14/2025 Computer Equipment Doc Amt:  $1,016.03
Allocations: $101.60 100-6440-0000-562-06  Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/85
Allocations: $50.80 300-6440-0000-562-06  Office Furn/Equipment Purchase 10/5/85
Allocations: $863.63 600-6440-0000-562-06  Office Furn/Equipiment Purchase 10/5/85
Voucher: 052163 Invoice: 10308 Date: 4/14/2025 Monthly Service Agreement Doc Amt: $540.00
Allocations: $54.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $27.00 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $459.00 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $2,240.46 Fund 300: $1,120.23 Fund 600: $22,603.90
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$200.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Yendor Name
033558 4/21/2025 $321.27 FASTE Fastenal Company
Voucher: 052039 Invoice: CAHOS68695 Date: 3/14/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $72.94
Allocations: $72.94 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052040 Invoice;: CAHOS68653 Date: 3/13/2025 Maintenance Supplics Doc Amt: $248.33
Allocations: $248.33 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Payment Respousibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $321.27
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033559 4/21/2025 $1,000.00 FORDE Ford Equipment Repair Co,
Voucher: 052152 Invoice: 4219 Date: 4/11/2025 Maintenance-Heavy Equipment  Doc Amt:  $1,000.00
Allocations: $1,000.00 600-6482-0000-562 Equipment Maintenance-Heavy
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $1,000.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Veandor Name
033560 4/21/2025 $653.14 GRAIN GRAINGER
Voucher: 052041 Invoice: 9450933891 Date: 3/25/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $573.08
Allocations: $573.08 600-6337-0916-551 Chemigation Valves-- (New)-CA
Voucher; 052043 Invoice: 9451768593 Date: 3/26/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $20.02
Allocations: $20.02 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052044 Invoice: 9464190728 Date: 4/7/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $60.04

Allocations: $60.04 600-6337-0915-551 Meters and meter repair parts-CA



Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00

Fund 100: $0.00
Fund 803:$0.00

Fund 300: $0.00

Fund 600: $653.14

Page 8 of 21

Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033561 4/21/2025 $11,554.57 GREENY Green Valley Farm Supply Inc
Voucher: 052045 Invoice: 441964 Date: 3/31/2025 Paicines Canal Maintenance Doc Amt:  $11,554.57
Allocations: $11,554.57 300-6275-0000-512 CS-Maintenance-SSM
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 ’ Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $11,554.57 Fund 600: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033562 4/21/2025 $1,595.00 GROSS Grossmayer & Associates
Voucher: 052046 Invoice: 1VC3864 Date: 3/25/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt: $435.00
Allocations: $43.50 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $21.75 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $369.75 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052153 Invoice:  1VC3866 Date: 4/8/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt: $290.00
Allocations: $29.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $14.50 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $246.50 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052154 Invoice: 1VC3868 Date: 4/11/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt: $435.00
Allocations: $43.50 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $21.75 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $369.75 600-6260-0000-563-06 CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052164 Invoice: 1VC3871 Date: 4/15/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt: $435.00
Allocations: $43.50 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $21.75 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $369.75 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $159.50 Fund 300: $79.75 Fund 600: $1,355.75
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033563 4/21/2025 $34,440.00 GUTIE Gutierrez Consultants
Voucher: 052047 Invoice: 1972 Date: 3/27/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt:  $9,380.00
Allocations: $9,380.00 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Voucher: 052048 Invoice: 1973 Date: 3/27/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt; $2,800.00
Allocations: $2.800.00 600-1351-C129-151 Grant Expense - ADRoP (DWR §11.5 M)
Voucher; 052049 Invoice: 1971 Date: 3/27/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt:  $7,000.00
Allocations: $7,000.00 600-1351-D129-151 Grant Expense - ADRoP (USBR $6.7 M)



Page 9 of 21

Voucher: 052050 Invoice: 1980 Date: 4/3/2025 Consulting Services DocAmt:  $5,530.00
Allocations: $5,530.00 600-1351-D129-151 Grant Expense - ADRoP (USBR $6.7 M)
Voucher: 052051 Invoice: 1979 Date: 4/3/2025 Consulting Services DocAmt:  $8,540.00
Allocations: $8,540.00 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Voucher: 052052 Invoice: 1978 Date: 4/3/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt:  $1,190.00
Allocations: $1,190.00 600-1351-C129-151 Grant Expense - ADRoP (DWR $11.5 M)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $34,440.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033564 4/21/2025 $1,937.50 HARRYBL  Harry Blohm
Voucher: 052056 Invoice: 040125 Date: 4/1/2025 Consulting Services Doc Amt:  $1,937.50
Allocations: $1,937.50 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $1,937.50
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033565 4/21/2025 $683.82 HAUTO Hollister Auto Parts Inc
Voucher; 052053 Invoice: 001540 Date: 3/20/2025 San Justo Generator Repair Doc Amit: $140.91
Allocations: $140.91 600-6482-0000-562 Equipment Maintenance-Heavy
Voucher; 052054 Invoice: 001216 Date: 3/17/2025 Shop Supplics Doc Amt: $61.14
Allocations: $61.14 600-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Voucher: 052055 Invoice: 003466 Date: 4/8/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $481.77
Allocations: $481.77 600-6440-0000-542 Equipment Purchase-TM

Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00

Fund 100: $0.00
Fund 803:30.00

Fund 300: $0.00

Fund 600: $683.82

Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033566 4/21/2025 $401,010.80 HDRENG HDR Engincering Inc
Voucher: 052057 Invoice; 1200705477 Date: 3/13/2025 Engineering Services Doc Amt: $368,900.85
Allocations: $368,900.85 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Voucher: 052058 Invoice: 1200705817 Date: 3/14/2025 Engineering Services Doc Amt:  $32,109.95
Allocations: $32,109.95 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP



Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00

Fund 100: $0.00

Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $401,010.80

Page 10 of 21

Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033567 4/21/2025 86,576.97 ICONI ICONIX Waterworks Inc
Voucher: 052059 Invoice:  U2516011221 Date: 4/1/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $657.20
Allocations: $657.20 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052060 Invoice: U2516011634 Date: 4/3/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt:  $3,002.64
Allocations: $3,002.64 600-6337-0604-551 Meters & Valves
Voucher: 052167 Invoice: U2516013333 Date: 4/15/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt:  $2,917.13
Allocations: $1,189.23 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Allocations: $1,727.90 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $6,576.97
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033568 4/21/2025 $397.23 INDEP Independent Business Forms Inc
Voucher: 052109 Invoice: 43891 Date: 4/3/2025 Printing Services Doc Amt: $294.63
Allocations: $250.44 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $14.73  300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $29.46 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Voucher: 052155 Invoice: 43912 Date: 4/10/2025 Printing Services Doc Amt: $102.60
Alfocations: $87.21 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $5.13 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $10.26 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $39.72 Fund 300: $19.86 Fund 600: $337.65
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Yendor ID Vendor Name
033569 4/21/2025 $120.00 JACPA Pat Jackson
Voucher: 052061 Invoice: 032425 Date: 3/24/2025 Backflow Testing Service Doc Amt: $120.00
Allocations: $12.00 100-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $6.00 300-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85
Allocations: $102.00 600-6275-0000-563-06  CS-Maint 10/5/85

Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00

Fund 100: $12.00

Fund 803:50.00

Fund 300: $6.00 Fund 600: $102.00



Page 11 0f 21

Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033570 4/21/2025 $1,286.75 JOHNS Johnson Lumber Company
Voucher: 052062 Invoice: 282719 Date: 3/24/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $128.78
Allocations: $128.78 600-6320-0000-342 Supplies-T™M
Voucher: 052063 Invoice: 282766 Date: 3/25/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $200.92
Allocations: $200.92 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052064 Invoice: 282713 Date: 3/24/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $131.09
Allocations: $131.09 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-T™M
Voucher: 052065 Invoice: 282804 Date: 3/26/2025 District Supplies Doc Amt: $9.11
Allocations: $9.11  600-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Voucher: 052066 Invoice: 282657 Date: 3/20/2025 WRA Outreach Supplies Doc Amt: $120.16
Allocations: $120.16 803-6320-0000-562 Supplies (PI)
Voucher: 052067 Invoice: 282941 Date: 4/1/2025  Electrical Supplies Doc Amt: $127.06
Allocations: $127.06 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052105 Invoice: 282743 Date: 3/24/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $98.31
Allocations: $98.31 600-6310-0000-542 Chemicals-TM
Voucher: 052106 Invoice: 283110 Date: 4/7/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $27.92
Allocations: $27.92 600-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Voucher: 052171 Invoice: 283468 Date: 4/17/2025 Engincering Supplies Doc Amt: $421.57
Allocations: $421.57 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Voucher: 052174 Invoice: 283476 Date: 4/182025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $21.83
Allocations: $2.18 100-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Allocations: $1.09 300-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Allocations; $18.56 600-6320-0000-562 Supplies-GA
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $2.18 Fund 300: $1.09 Fund 600: $1,163.32
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:8$120.16
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033571 4/21/2025 $9.50 JUDYS Judy's Gifts & Awards
Voucher: 052068 Invoice: 4978 Date: 3/26/2025 Award Plaques Doc Amt: $9.50
Allocations: $8.08 600-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $0.95 100-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85

Allocations:

$0.48 300-6845-0000-562-06

General Business Exp 10/5/85



Payment Responsibilities:

Page 12 of 21

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.95 Fund 300: $0.48 Fund 600: $8.08
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033572 4/21/2025 §24,477.88 KENNE Kennedy/Jenks Consultants Inc.
Voucher: 052069 Invoice: 179014 Date: 4/2/2025 Engineering Services Doc Amt:  $24,477.88
Allocations: $24,477.88 600-1351-C129-151 Grant Expense - ADRoP (DWR §11.5 M)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $24,477.88
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033573 4/21/2025 $3,547.00 KRONI Kronick, Moskovitz,Tiedemann & Gir
Voucher: 052175 Invoice: 30912353 Date: 4/16/2025 Legal Services Doc Amt:  $3,547.00
Allocations: $3,547.00 600-6210-0000-563 CS-Legal-GA
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $3,547.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033574 4/21/2025 $400.00 LANDS Landscape Design by Rosemary Bridw
Voucher: 052070 Invoice: 032125 Date: 3/21/2025 Landscape Plan Review Doc Amt: $400.00
Allocations: $400.00 803-6240-0000-563 CS - General Consulting (Plan Cks/Rev)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:5$400.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033575 4/21/2025 $180.00 LIEBE Licbert Cassidy Whitmore Prof Law C
Voucher: 052071 Invoice: 2883544 Date: 2/28/2025 Legal Services Doc Amt: $180.00
Allocations: $18.00 100-6210-0000-563-06  CS-Legal GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $9.00 300-6210-0000-563-06  CS-Legal GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $153.00 600-6210-0000-563-06  CS-Legal GA 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $18.00 Fund 300: $9.00 Fund 600: $153.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Yendor Name
033576 4/21/2025 $44.98 MAVER Maverick Welding Supply
Voucher: 052072 Invoice: 50537 Date: 3/26/2025 Welding Supplies Doc Amt: $44.98

Allocations: $44.98 600-6197-0000-565 Personal Equipment/Uniform



Payment Responsibilities:

Page 13 of 21

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $44.98
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033577 4/21/2025 $144.05 MCKIN McKinnon Lumber, Inc.
Voucher: 052172 Invoice: XA4PP Date: 4/17/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $87.35
Allocations: $87.35 600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Voucher: 052176 Invoice:  65QD6 Date: 4/18/2025 Maintenance Supplics Doc Amt; $56.70
Allocations: $56.70  600-6320-0920-542 Supplies-TM - Subsystem Breaks
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $144.05
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033578 4/21/2025 §539.35 MCMAS McMaster-Carr Supply Co
Voucher: 052073 Invoice: 42729275 Date: 3/21/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $92.56
Allocations: $92.56 600-6321-0000-542 Supplies-Structure Equip TDM
Voucher: 052074 Invoice: 42654637 Date: 3/20/2025 Electrical Supplies Doc Amt: $323.14
Allocations: $323.14 600-6321-0000-542 Supplies-Structure Equip TDM
Voucher: 052107 Invoice: 43815973 Date: 4/10/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $123.65
Allocations: $123.65 600-6320-0000-562 Supplics-GA
Payment Respounsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $539.35
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033579 4/21/2025 $530.00 MISSIO Mission Village Voice Media LLC
Voucher: 052075 Invoice; 1299 Date: 3/29/2025 Monthly Print Ad Doc Amt: $530.00
Allocations: $530.00 803-6865-0000-562 Advertising/Public Info (Pl)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:3530.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033580 4/21/2025 $1,065.20 NEWSV New SV Media, Inc
Voucher: 052076 Invoice: 138816 Date: 3/24/2025 3/28/25 Public Notice Doc Amt: $110.00
Allocations: $110.00 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Voucher: 052177 Invoice: 140126 Date: 4/7/2025  04/11 & 4/18 Notice to bid Doc Amt: $477.60

Allocations: $477.60 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP



Page 14 of 21

Voucher: 052178 Invoice: 140125 Date: 4/7/2025 4/11 & 4/18 Notice to bid Doc Amt: $477.60
Allocations: $477.60 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $1,065.20
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total VYendor ID Vendor Name
033581 4/21/2025 $511.05 PALAC Palace Business Solutions
Voucher: 052077 Invoice:  2416191-1 Date: 3/20/2025 Office Supplies Doc Amt: $18.50
Allocations: $15.73 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $0.93 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $1.85 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Voucher: 052110 Invoice:  2422092-0 Date: 4/10/2025 Office Supplies Doc Amt: $42.23
Allocations: $35.90 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $2.11 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $4.22 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Voucher: 052179 Invoice: 2424134-0 Date: 4/21/2025 Office Supplies Doc Amt: $450.32
Allocations: $382.77 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $22.52 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $45.03 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $51.11 Fund 300: $25.55 Fund 600: $434.39
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033582 4/21/2025 $912.14 PITBO Pitney Bowes
Voucher: 052078 Invoice: 3107152111 Date: 3/18/2025 Mail System Rental- QTRLY Doc Amt: $912.14
Allocations: $91.21 100-6450-0000-562-06  Tool & Equipment Rental GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $45.61 300-6450-0000-562-06  Tool & Equipment Rental GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $775.32 600-6450-0000-562-06  Tool & Equipment Rental GA 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $91.21 Fund 300: $45.61 Fund 600: $775.32
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Veador ID Vendor Name
033583 4/21/2025 $1,000.00 RESER Reserve Account
Voucher. 052079 Invoice: 040225 Date: 4/2/2025 Postage On Account Doc Amt:  $1,000.00
Allocations: $970.00 600-6825-0000-562-06  Postage 2/1/97
Allocations: $20.00 100-6825-0000-562-06  Postage 2/1/97
Allocations: $10.00 300-6825-0000-562-06  Postage 2/1/97

Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $20.00 Fund 300: $10.00 Fund 600: $970.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00



Page 15 0f 21

Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033584 4/21/2025 $1,500.05 ROSSI Rossi's Tire & Auto Service
Voucher: 052156 Invoice: S1B78792 Date: 4/14/2025 Vehicle Maintenance #24 Doc Amt:  $1,500.05
Allocations: $1,500.05 600-6460-0000-562 Vehicle Maintenance-GA
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $1,500.05
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033585 4/21/2025 $43,200.00 SCVWD Santa Clara Valley Water Dist
Voucher: 052098 Invoice: GN103273 Date: 3/21/2025 Semitropic O&M CY 2024 Doc Amt:  $43,200.00
Allocations: $43,200.00 600-1501-0210-125 Water Rights - Semitropic Strd Water
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $43,200.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033586 4/21/2025 $334.35 SHRED Shred-it
Voucher: 052080 Invoice: 8010344407 Date: 3/31/2025 Monthly Shredding Service Doc Amt: $334.35
Allocations: $33.44 100-6270-0000-563-06  CS-Operations GA 10/5/835
Allocations: $16.72 300-6270-0000-563-06  CS-Operations GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $284.20 600-6270-0000-563-06  CS-Operations GA 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $33.44 Fund 300: $16.72 Fund 600: $284.20
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033587 4/21/2025 $47,057.80 SJELE S.J. Electro Systems, Inc,
Voucher: 052081 Invoice: CD99565211 Date: 3/28/2025 Scada Support Doc Amt:  $47,057.80
Allocations: $47,057.80 600-1395-0929-112 SCADA telemetry upgrade
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $47,057.80
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033588 4/21/2025 $3,710.00 SPURZ Spurzem & Liem LLP
Voucher: 052082 Invoice: 63946 Date: 4/2/2025 Legal Services Doc Amt:  $3,710.00
Allocations: $306.00 100-6210-0000-563-06  CS-Legal GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $153.00 300-6210-0000-563-06  CS-Legal GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $2,601.00 600-6210-0000-563-06  CS-Legal GA 10/5/85

Allocations: $650.00 600-6210-0000-563 CS-Legal-GA



Page 16 of 21

Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $306.00 Fund 300; $153.00 Fund 600: $3,251.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033589 4/21/2025 $210,033.29 SSCWD-TP  Sunnyslope County Water District
Voucher: 052139 Invoice: INV0Q0303 Date: 3/31/2025 Plant Operations- West Hills Doc Amt: $147,728.18
Allocations: $147.728.18 600-6270-0603-531 CS Operations - West Hills WTP
Voucher: 052142 Invoice: INV00304 Date: 3/31/2025 Plant Operations- Lessalt Doc Amt:  $62,305.11
Allocations: $62,305.11 600-6270-0602-531 CS Operations - Lessalt WTP

Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $210,033.29
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033590 4/21/2025 $20,778.00 TODDE Todd Groundwater
Voucher: 052083 Invoice: 37658 325 Date: 3/8/2025 Engincering Services Doc Amt:  $12,845.00
Allocations: $12,845.00 600-1351-0168-151 Pajaro Watershed IRWMP
Voucher: 052157 Invoice: 37653 425 Date: 4/8/2025 Engineering Services DocAmt:  $7,150.50
Allocations: $7,150.50 700-6240-0160-511 CS-Annual Grwtr Report-SSO
Voucher: 052158 Invoice: 37656 425 Date: 4/8/2025 Engineering Services Doc Amt: $782.50
Allocations: $782.50 700-6270-0000-511 CS - Operations-SSO

Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $12,845.00
Fund 700: $7,933.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Vendor Name
033591 4/21/2025 $3,371.96 TOROP Toro Petroleum Corporation
Voucher: 052084 Invoice: CL85172 Date: 3/31/2025 Vehicle Fuel Doc Amt:  $3,371.96
Allocations: $9.87 100-6465-0000-562 Vehicle Fuel-GA
Allocations: $35.46 300-6465-0000-562 Vehicle Fuel-GA
Allocations: $3,154.26 600-6465-0000-562 Vehicle Fuel-GA
Allocations: $172.37 803-6465-0000-562 Vehicle Fuel

Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $9.87 Fund 300: $35.46 Fund 600: $3,154.26
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:5172.37
Payment# Date Check Total VYendor ID Vendor Name
033592 4/21/2025 $13,653.78 TRUEP TruePoint Solutions

Voucher: 052085 Invoice:  SI-002181 Date: 2/27/2025 Annual Support & Maintenance  Doc Amt:  $13,653.78



Allocations: $13,653.78 600-6260-0000-551 CS-Computer-CA

Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $13,653.78

Page 17 of 21

Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Yendor Name
033593 4/21/2025 $1,375.00 TURBO Turbo Time Welding
Voucher: 052086 Invoice: 61 Date: 4/18/2025 Welding Services Doc Amt: $750.00
Allocations: $750.00 600-6275-0000-542 CS-Maintenance-TM
Voucher: 052159 Invoice: 1003 Date: 4/16/2025 Welding Services Doc Amt: $625.00
Allocations: $625.00 600-6275-0000-542 CS-Maintenance-TM
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 ~ Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $1,375.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:30.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor 1D Yendor Name
033594 4/21/2025 $7,072.00 TYLER Tyler Technologies
Voucher: 052087 Invoice; 025-501471 Date: 3/12/2025 Tyler Implementation Doc Amt: $130.00
Allocations; $13.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $6.50 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $110.50 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052088 Invoice: 025-502579 Date: 3/19/2025 Tyler Implementation Doc Amt: $130.00
Allocations: $13.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $6.50 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $110.50 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052089 Invoice:  025-502715 Date: 3/24/2025 Annual Project Accounting Doc Amt:  $1,909.50
Allocations: $190.95 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $95.48 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $1,623.08 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052090 Invoice:  025-503120 Date: 3/26/2025 Tyler Implementation Doc Amt: $520.00
Allocations: $52.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $26.00 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations; $442.00 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052180 Invoice:  025-505694 Date: 4/9/2025  Tyler Implementation Doc Amt:  $3,350.00
Allocations: $335.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $167.50 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $2,847.50 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Voucher: 052181 invoice:  025-506353 Date: 4/9/2025  Tyler Implementation Doc Amt: $65.00
Allocations: $6.50 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $3.25 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $55.25 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)



Page 18 of 21

Voucher: 052182 Invoice: 025-503208 Date: 3/28/2025 Annual Saas fee -Fixed Assets Doc Amt: $967.50
Allocations: $96.75 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $48.38 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations:; $822.38 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $707.20 Fund 300: $353.60 Fund 600: $6,011.20
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033595 4/21/2025 $380.60 USABL USA BlucBook
Voucher: 052097 Invoice: INV00657451 Date: 3/20/2025 Maintenance Supplies Doc Amt: $380.60
Allocations: $380.60 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $380.60
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:$0.00
Payment# Date Check Total Veandor 1D Vendor Name
033596 4/21/2025 $12,241.65 USBNK-CC  U.S. Bank Corporation
Voucher: 052091 Invoice:  032425]JCA Date: 3/24/2025 Monthly Statement Doc Amt; $22.04
Allocations: $22.04 803-6865-0000-562 Advertising/Public tnfo (PI)
Voucher: 052092 Invoice: 032425BM Date: 3/24/2025 Monthly Statement Doc Amt:  $3,743.21
Allocations: $4.06 600-6840-0000-562-06  Communication GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $0.48 100-6840-0000-562-06  Communication GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $0.24 300-6840-0000-562-06  Communication GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $161.02 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $9.47 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $18.94 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $949.00 600-6852-0000-562 Conferences
Allocations: $24.11  600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $1.42 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $2.84 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $89.05 600-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $10.48 100-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $5.24 300-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $29.35 600-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $1.73 300-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $3.45 100-6835-0000-562-06  Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $32.49 600-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $3.82 100-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $1.91 300-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations: $949.00 600-6852-0000-562 Conferences
Allocations: $6.78 600-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/83
Allocations: $0.80 100-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85
Allocations; $0.40 300-6845-0000-562-06  General Business Exp 10/5/85



Voucher:

Voucher:

052093

052094

Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:

Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations;
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:
Allocations:

Invoice:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:
Allocations:

Invoice:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:
Allocations:

Allocations:

Allocations:

$2.54
$0.30
$0.15

$949.00

$69.70
$8.20
$4.10

$26.78
$3.15
$1.58

$131.60
$15.48
$7.74

$17.18
510t
$2.02

318.38
$1.08
$2.16

$17.50

$8.75
$148.75

CM032425BM
-$14.36
-$244.11
-$28.72
-$7.50

-$127.50
-$15.00

032425MC
$12.37
$210.30
$24.74
$572.96
$388.58
$121.78
$88.82
$57.90

$115.80

$1,207.39

600-6840-0000-562-06
100-6840-0000-562-06
300-6840-0000-562-06

600-6852-0000-562

600-6840-0000-562-06
100-6840-0000-562-06
300-6840-0000-562-06

600-6845-0000-562-06
100-6845-0000-562-06
300-6845-0000-562-06

600-6845-0000-562-06

100-6845-0000-562-06
300-6845-0000-562-06

600-6835-0000-562-06
300-6835-0000-562-06
100-6835-0000-562-06

600-6835-0000-562-06
300-6835-0000-562-06
100-6835-0000-562-06
100-6275-0000-563-06

300-6275-0000-563-06
600-6275-0000-563-06

Date:
300-6850-0000-562-06
600-6850-0000-562-06
100-6850-0000-562-06
300-6850-0000-562-06

600-6850-0000-562-06
100-6850-0000-562-06

Date:
300-6320-0000-562-06
600-6320-0000-562-06
100-6320-0000-562-06
600-6320-0000-562
600-6320-0000-542
600-6320-0000-542
600-6320-0000-562
600-6197-0000-565

600-6197-0000-565

600-6440-0000-542

Communication GA 10/5/85
Communication GA 10/5/85
Communication GA 10/5/85

Conferences

Communication GA 10/5/85
Communication GA 10/5/85
Communication GA 10/5/85

General Business Exp 10/5/85
General Business Exp 10/5/85
General Business Exp 10/5/85

General Business Exp 10/5/85
General Business Exp 10/5/85
General Business Exp 10/5/85

Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA

Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA
Office Supplics 10/5/85 GA
Office Supplies 10/5/85 GA

CS-Maint 10/5/85
CS-Maint 10/5/85
CS-Maint 10/5/85

3/24/2025 Monthly Statement

Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85

Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85

3/24/2025 Monthly Statement

Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Supplies-GA 10/5/85
Supplies-GA

Supplies-TM

Supplies-TM

Supplies-GA

Personal Equipment/Uniform

Personal Equipment/Uniform

Equipment Purchase-TM

Doc Amt;

Doc Amt:

-$437.19

$4,634.17

Page 19 of 21



Page 20 of 21

Allocations: $259.79 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Allocations: $1,573.74 600-6440-0000-542 Equipment Purchase-TM

Voucher: 052095 Invoice: 032425BIM Date: 3/24/2025 Monthly Statement Doc Amt;  $4,292.23
Allocations: $61.25 300-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $1,041.24 600-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations:; $122.50 100-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $16.42 300-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $279.21 600-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $32.85 100-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $12.42 300-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $211.06 600-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $24.83 100-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $4.85 300-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $82.44 600-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $9.70 100-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $9.92 300-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $168.71 600-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $19.85 100-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $37.50 100-6195-0000-565-06  Training 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $18.75 300-6195-0000-565-06  Training 10/5/85 GA
Allocations; $318.75 600-6195-0000-565-06  Training 10/5/85 GA
Allocations; $162.00 100-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $81.00 300-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/83)
Allocations: $1,376.99 600-6260-0000-563-06  CS-Computer (10/5/85)
Allocations: $20.00 100-6195-0000-565-06  Training 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $10.00 300-6195-0000-565-06  Training 10/5/85 GA
Allocations: $170.00 600-6195-0000-565-06  Training 10/5/85 GA

Voucher: 052096 Invoice: CM032425BIM Date: 3/24/2025 Monthly Statement Doc Amt: -512.81
Allocations: -$0.64 300-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: -$10.89 600-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85
Allocations: -$1.28 100-6850-0000-562-06  Travel & Mileage GA 10/5/85

Payment Responsibilities:

Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $498.59 Fund 300: $249.29 Fund 600; $11,471.73
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:322.04
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033597 4/21/2025 $25,752.50 USGEO U.S. Geological Survey

Voucher: 052169 Invoice: 90096415 Date: 4/10/2025 Water Data Collection Doc Amt:  $25,752.50
Allocations: $21.117.05 600-6270-0143-511 CS-Ops-Stream Flow Measurement-SSO
Allocations: $4.635.45 300-6270-0143-511 CS Ops-Stream Flow Measurement-SSO



Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00

Fund 100: $0.00
Fund 803:80.00

Fund 300: $4,635.45

Fund 600: $21,117.05

Page 21 of 21

Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033598 4/21/2025 $211.76 VERDA Verdant Commercial Capital LLC
Voucher: 052160 Invoice: 905544994 Date: 4/11/2025 Copier Lease Doc Amt: $211.76
Allocations: $21.18 100-6450-0000-562-06  Tool & Equipment Rental GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $10.59 300-6450-0000-562-06  Tool & Equipment Rental GA 10/5/85
Allocations: $180.00 600-6450-0000-562-06  Tool & Equipment Rental GA 10/5/85
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $21.18 Fund 300: $10.59 Fund 600: $180.00
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033599 4/21/2025 $45.77 WRIIN Wright Bros Industrial Supply
Voucher: 052099 Invoice: 290864 Date: 3/21/2025 Welding Supplies Doc Amt: $45.77
Allocations: $45.77 600-6320-0000-542 Supplies-TM
Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00 Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $0.00 Fund 600: $45.77
Fund 700: $0.00 Fund 803:50.00
Payment# Date Check Total Vendor ID Vendor Name
033600 4/21/2025 $2,185.00 ZEIAL Alan Zeisbrich
Voucher: 052100 [nvoice:  3-2025 Date: 4/1/2025  Contract Services Doc Amt:  $2,185.00
Allocations: $189.75 300-6270-0000-511 CS-Operations-SS0
Allocations: $1,707.75 600-6270-0000-541 CS-Operations-TO
Allocations: $143.75 600-6270-0602-531 CS Operations - Lessalt WTP
Allocations: $143.75 600-6270-0603-531 CS Operations - West Hills WTP

Payment Responsibilities:
Fund 000: $0.00
Fund 700: $0.00

Fund 100: $0.00 Fund 300: $189.75

Fund 803:50.00

Report Totals, Payment Fund Responsiblities

Fund 600: $1,995.25

Fund 000: 50.00 Fund 100: $4,715.03

Fund 700:$7,933.00 Fund 803:82,561.57

Fund 100 = District Administration
Fund 300 = Zone 3

Fund 600 = Zone 6

Fund 700 = Zone GSA

Fund 803 = Zone WRA

Fund 300: $57,837.81

Fund 600: $910,417.54




San Benito County Water District
Agenda Transmittal

Agenda Item: \%

Meeting Date: April 30, 2025
Submitted By: Kelley Urbina

Presented By: Dana Jacobson

Agenda Title: Acknowledgement of Paid Claims prior to the April 2025 Board Meeting

Detailed Description: This is a notification that the checks & wire transfers listed below were
issued outside the normal claims process.

Payee Check No./ Amount For Issued Date
Confirmation #

Hollister Farmer’s Market

Downtown Assoc. 59522 $75.00 | application fee 03/27/25

Hollister

Downtown Assoc. 59548 $20.00 | Farmer’s Market stall fee | 04/16/25

San Luis Delta

Mendota Water 59552 $40,846.00| Membership FY26 1* 04/16/25

Authority installment

State Water NDES permit and notice

Resources Control 59553 $3,630.00 | of intent for West Hills 04/16/25

Board expansion

Wire Transfers

San Luis Delta Wire O&M delivery costs
Mendota Water Transf $5,068.80 (April 2025 advanced water 04/07/25
Authority ransier delivery payment form)
Wire
USBR (pay.gov) $43,086.95 | Water Payment 04/08/25

Transfer




Financial Impact: X Yes No

Funding Source/ Recap:
Fiscal Year Budget as approved

Material Included for Information/Consideration:
Copy of Wire Transfer Request

Action Required: Resolution X Motion Review
Board Action
Resolution No.__ Motion By Second By
Ayes Abstained
Noes Absent
Reagendized Date No Action Taken




MEMORANDUM

TO: Dana Jacobson or Brett Miller

FROM: inaidor {haio Ao
. -\J‘f«(“»ﬁﬁv { LAGTD W'L /Uf LA

f i
DATE: 3, 2l [2<

Subject: Manual Check Request

This is a request for a manual check to be processed as listed below:

Vendor name and address
{for remittance)

Amount of Request

Disposition Method:
Return to Requestor / Federal
Express / Regular Mail

Hollisdor Downdown AeSooudion
BH0 Hiidin &1 S Lo

Yrobsdor, A4 ASDLY

v
$715. 0V

Cehprn D |27 hesToy™

Expense

Account < I N N -t P
number(s) BUB-SLU - Jo0U - 50l -D)
Reason for | — CON A DS U TR g

Supporting documentation for this request:

Is attached

Will be returned to Accounting
upon receipt

Please sign below as approval for issuance of this manual payment.

Approved by: P

i -

J

Dana Facobson or Brett Miller Date




SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
30 MANSFIELD RD, HOLLISTER, CA 95023

Vendor Account
HDOWNT Hollister Downtown Assoc.
invoice Date Description
032625 3/26/2028 Farmers Market Application Fee

Farmers Market Application Fee

059522

Date
3/27/2028 0059522
Net Amt.
$75.00
$75.00



052122

MEMORANDUM

TO: Dana Jacobson or Brett Miller

FROM: \}Qm\\i:\o\/ C‘oe® Arellano
|

DATE: L ||S 1S

Subject: Manual Check Request

This is a request for a manual check to be processed as listed below:

Vendor name and address Amount of Request | Disposition Method:
{for remittance} Return to Requestor / Federal
Express / Regular Mail

Fulusir Dawrdowd N Lot 4o

= )
Agsvouanon <Y Vg pestod
Expense A
Account €0%-(%LS -0000 -SLW2- D
number(s)
Reason for

Request: %Vm%\fb\ M\&L‘ﬂ()\;&\” Stz | ‘\ fC/Q_/

AY

Supporting documentation for this request:

Is attached Will be returned to Accounting
upon receipt

Please sign below as approval for issuance of this manual payment.

Approved by:

- o 25205

Dana Jacobson or Brett Miller Date




SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
30 MANSFIELD RD, HOLLISTER, CA 95023

Vendor Account
HDOWNT Hollister Downtown AssoC.
Inveice Date Description
041525 4/15/2028 Farmers Market Stall Fee

Farmers Market Stall Fee

059548

Date
4/16/2025 0059548
Net Amt.
$20.00
$20.C0



SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
30 MANSFIELD RD, HOLLISTER, CA 85023

Vendor Account
SLDMW San Luis & Delta-Mendota WA
Invoice Date Description
INVWA1386 3/31/2025 Membership FY26 1st install

Membership FY26 1st install

059552

Date
4/16/2025 0059552

Net Amt.

$40,846.00

$40,846.00



]

DTl

MEMORANDUM
TO: Dana Jacobson or Brett Miller
FROM: Barbara Mauro
DATE: April 14, 2025

Subject: = Manual Check Request

This is a request for a manual check to be processed as listed below:

Vendor name and address
{for remittance)

Amount of Request | Disposition Method:
Return to Requestor / Federal
Express / Regular Mail

Renan Jauregui, WRC Engineer
State Water Resources Control Board
Division of Water Quality

NPDES Permitting Unit

1001 I Street, 15t Floor
Sacramento, CA 95814

$3,630.00 Mail via Regular Mail
with signed application

Expense

Account | A (00- 1351~ ONEB - 1S1-02-

number(s) .

Reason for | Per Dana, this cannot wait to go out with our normal claim

Request: process.

Supporting documentation for this request:

X | Is attached

Will be returned to Accounting
upon receipt

Please sign below as approval for issuance of this manual payment.

Approved by:

)b

oy

Dana Jacobson or Brett Miller Date

g 25~

\




SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
30 MANSFIELD RD, HOLLISTER, CA 85023

Vendor Account
SWRCB State Water Resources Control Bc
Inveice Date Description
041425 4/14/2028 NPDES Permit - West Hills

NPDES Permit - West Hills

VA Superior (ss soo-roos sBasasaar | MR IV AU BORY BN 1R RS

059553

Date

4/16/2025 0059553
Net Amt.
$3,630.00
$3,630.00



SZ-ZA4 199YSHIOM 153nbay IBJSURL] BIIM\SIB)SuRSL DIA\SIa9T-S0waBN\1dag @dueu\3uunodoy\:s

ST-Lb
& ajeq
& I
2&0@ «J§§ :Aq auyuo asealdl Joj panosddy
< =] MU
OPTElR 1
c i
3 3 D gg M :Aq Asjua auluQ
08°890°'s ¢ (2303 Ayande aum Ajleg .
08°890°S s | 1afsupiy anm o301
08'890°S S £0-€15-0000-00¥5-009] (w110} JudwiAed Adaap Js1em pasueape SzZ0T Jdv) SZYOvo Szoz/vlY Awoyiny
$3500 AJDAIBP INBO I3IB AN BIOPUDBN BB SIN ueg
junowy ‘OU JUN03IY 19 uondudsag “OU IN0AUY aleq oAU} Jopuap
[szoz/z/v | aep aseajoy Iszoz/L/v | paisenbay Jsjsuell M

e S,WQ A



[S6'980'cr  § IeaoinoBheq Ajiea

$6°980°cty S | Junownp juawAod [pjo]
9T¥9L S L0-€15-0000-1125-009 13430 3Nd OV - 4v 82T 28esn Je STYOr0 SZ0Z/Y/Y {(vi-yasn)
uoneweday *O neaing
yZ'8EL'T S L0-€15-0000-T125-009 3Nd OV - 4v 8ZT 28esn Jey STYOv0 szoT/v/Y {(v1-yasn)
uojeule|day Jo neaing
vZ'90LT  $ £0-€15-0000-0125-009 UOIBJIOISSY OV - 4V SCT 23esn Je SZHOV0 SzoT/v/iv {(vi-ugsn)
uojeWEIBY JO neaing
18°LYE $ L0-€£15-0000-0095-003 Jaysuen Sevovo szoT/v/v {v1-yasn)
133eM 10j 1amod [eiopad Buisn 10} S1S0J [BUOIHPPY uoljewepay jo neaing
00'120'sz S £0-€15-0000-0T15-009 4V 0T€'T Aedaud unyf STYOV0 SZ0Z/v/v (v1-dasn)
uollew .3y Jo neaing
00°S0T9E S £0-€TS-0000-¢T15-009 4v 005'T Aedasd unr SZTYOY0 ST0T/v/Y (v1-ugsn)
uoIRWERIY JO neaing
(ooovo'sz) S £0-€15-0000-t115-009 4v 0001 piedaid tey SZYOv0 szoz/vly (v1-dgsn)
uonjewe|day Jo nealng
o''vbr'c S L0-£1S-0000-0TTS-009 4y 871 28esn teiy SZYOr0 szoT/viv {(v1-dasn)
uoneusesy Jo neaing

unowy *OuU JUNOY 1O uondulsag *OU IDN0AUY pasedasd J0PUdN
ajep dedsy juswied

szoz/L/y 33ep Ises|ay _mNoN\h\v _ pa1sanbai uswAed nod-Aed

IO C




"'

I'.

A

=0

L 2!
I L e
mhl, H' 1ET“ SNE

Yoy, g 190
(O Tl 90
A

\\\\“““‘Il

UNTY .'l;
S s0t0g. «*1]3\%,

..;‘c,-\‘anusns,;-.,' 7N/

_—

L

2 oy
R
Sy

LLISTER, o
“‘“&&E\\\\o

Agenda
[tem
# 4



BOARD AGENDA MEMO

DATE: April 21, 2025
TO: Board of Directors
FROM: Investment Committee (Sonny Flores/Doug Williams)

SUBJECT: Review of Quarterly Investment Report-Period ending
March 31, 2025

1. Quarterly Investment Report
a. Review of Investment Report

The Investment Committee reviewed the investment instruments making up the

District’s portfolio and the District’s investment performance for the quarter
ending March 31, 2025.

The committee has determined that the investments are being managed in
compliance with the District’s Board Investment Policy.

The committee has reviewed the projected cash requirements and has
determined that the District has sufficient cash reserves available to meet its
cash demands for the next six months and has sufficient funds in a second

liquid account (in addition to LAIF) to cover at least two months of current
District Expenses.

Director Sonny Flores




SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT

QUARTER ENDING
MARCH 31, 2025

Page .
no(s). Title Source

1 Quarterly Investment Report Recap District Staff

2 Summary of Cash and Investments District Staff

3 PMIA / LAIF Performance Report California State Treasurer’s Office

4 Summary of CalPERS CERBT Trust (OPEB) District Staff

5 Investment Summary by Maturity Date District Staff
6-17 Investment Statement U.S. Bancorp Advisors (Investments)

April 10, 2025

Submitted by:  Kelley Urbina, Accountant
Reviewed by:  Brett Miller, Assistant General Manager




SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT

QUARTER ENDING MARCH 31, 2025

Investment activity:

o The Local Agency Investment Fund’s interest rate decreased from 4.434% at December
31, 2024 to 4.313% at March 31, 2025. The balance reflects interest earned for the prior
quarter of $283,134 and the current quarter net operating activity.

e The California Employers’ Retirement Benefit Trust (CERBT) statement for the period
January through March was not available as of this report date. The balance at December
31, 2024 was $1,091,905.

e The U.S. Bancorp Advisors account statement is attached and reflects accrued interest
and gain or loss. The portfolio value at March 31, 2025 was $48,918,460.00.

Liquidity Requirements:

There are adequate liquid reserves available in the LAIF account to fund six months of operating
expenditures ($5.0 million) as required in the Investment Policy, Section V., 2. In addition, the
funds held in Heritage Bank are sufficient to cover at least two months of District expenses ($1.7
million) which meets the Investment Policy requirements per Section IV., 1. b.

P.1



SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
SUMMARY OF CASH AND INVESTMENTS

AS OF MARCH 31, 2025

CASH SUMMARY FOR ALL DISTRICT HELD ACCOUNTS (By Institution)

UNRESTRICTED RESTRICTED
U.S. Bancorp LAIF Restricted U.S. Bancorp | Total Cash and
Date US Bank LAIF Heritage Bank Advisors Reserve Advisors Investments
12/31/2024f 9,119,320 30,246,923 2,144,253 27,854,777 325,000 28,778,301 98,468,573
3/31/2025 960,502 47,530,057 2,154,854 20,140,159 325,000 28,778,301 99,888,373
NetChange | $ (8,158,817)| § 17,283,134 | $ 10,600 | (7,714,618)| $ - | s - 13 1,420,300
O Heritage 2.16%
B US Bancorp Advisors
48.97%
@ LAIF 47.91%
O US Bank 0.96%
Portfolio Distribution
CASH SUMMARY BY ZONE OF BENEFIT
Groundwater
Sustainability WRA Total Cash and
Date Zone 1 Zone 3 Zone 6 Agency (Fiduciary Funds)| Investments
12/31/2024|End of quarter (as reported) 2,647,253 6,195,936 87,495,399 1,419,394 702,633 98,460,614
12/31/2024|Reclass by zone 33 (2) 53,872 - (45,943) 98,468,574
3/31/2025|End of quarter 2,631,648 6,195,103 89,043,549 1,382,363 636,210 99,888,873
Net Change $ (15,637)| $ (830)| $ 1,494,278 | § (37,031)| $ (20,480)| $ 1,420,300
% of total cash (by Zone) 2.63% 6.20% 89.14% 1.38% 0.64%
LOCAL AGENCY INVESTMENT FUND (LAIF)
Activity for quarter
Groundwater
Sustainability WRA
Date Zone 1 Zone 3 Zone 6 Agency (Fiduciary Funds)| Overall Balance
12/31/2024 |Balance forward: $ 2435942 | $ 5,806,688 | $ 21,086,060 709,416 533818 | $ 30,571,923
12/31/2024|Reclass by zone $§ 30,571,923
2/15/2025|Quarterly Interest 26,263 63,194 180,273 7,649 5755|% 30,855,057
1/31/2025 | Transfer in (out) 150,000 300,000 8,550,000 - - $ 39,855,057
2/28/2025|Transfer in (out) - 3,000,000 - - $ 42,855,057
3/31/2025 | Transfer in (out) 5,000,000 $ 47,855,057
BALANCE BY ZONE $ 2,612,205 % 6,169,882 | $ 37,816,332 | § 717,064 | $ 539,574 | $ 47,855,057

NOTE - Allocation of cash by zone (restricted and unrestricted) is subject to reconciliation changes quarterly and at year end.

P.2




WVESE,,
6

N o~
Ny 3 PMIA/LAIF Performance Report
B4 as of 04/09/25
Quarterly Performance PMIA Average Monthly
Quarter Ended 12/31/24 Effective Yields(?
LAIF Apportionment Rate'?: 4.62 March 4.313
LAIF Earnings Ratio®:  0.00012664187216722 February  4.333
LAIF Administrative Cost™": 0.28 January 4.366
LAIF Fair Value Factor™;  0.999621985 December  4.434
PMIA Daily':  4.40 November  4.477
PMIA Quarter to Date't: 4.48 October 4518

PMIA Average Life™: 252

Pooled Money Investment Account
Monthly Portfolio Composition (1)
2/28/25
$156.8 billion

Corporate
Commercial Bonds
Paper 0.57%
Time 6.46% Loans
Deposits 0.14%
3.24%

Certificates of
Deposit/Bank Notes

9.22%
Treasuries
53.01%
Agencies
27.36%

Chart does not include $1,188,000.00 in mortgages, which equates to 0.001%. Percentages may not total 100% due to rounding.

Daily rates are now available here. View PMIA Daily Rates

Notes: The apportionment rate includes interest earned on the CalPERS Supplemental Pension Payment pursuant to Government Code 20825
(c)(1) and interest earned on the Wildfire Fund loan pursuant to Public Utility Code 3288 (a).

*The percentage of administrative cost equals the total administrative cost divided by the quarterly interest earnings. The law provides that
administrative costs are not to exceed 5% of quarterly EARNINGS of the fund. However, if the 13-week Daily Treasury Bifl Rate on the last day of
the fiscal year is below 1%, then administrative costs shall not exceed 8% of quarterly EARNINGS of the fund for the subsequent fiscal year.

Source:
1) State of California, Office of the Treasurer
@) state of California, Office of the Controller

P.3



SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

Summary

CALPERS California Employers' Retiree Benefit Trust (CERBT)
for Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB)

as of March 31, 2025

DATE INVESTMENT WITHDRAWAL GAIN /(LOSS) BALANCE

10/1/2020 $ -
11/20/2020 $ 76,889 $ 76,889
12/16/2020 $ 76,889 $ 163,778
12/31/2020 $ 369119 157,469
1/27/2021 $ 76,889 $ 234,358
2/24/2021 $ 76,889 $ 311,247
3/31/2021 $ 76,889 $ 388,136
3/31/2021 $ 5164 | § 393,301
6/7/2021 $ 76,889 $ 470,190
6/8/2021 $ 76,889 $ 547,079
6/30/2021 $ 23,558 | % 570,636
7/20/2021 $ 76,889 3 647,525
7/21/2021 $ 76,889 $ 724,414
8/26/2021 3 76,889 $ 801,303
9/30/2021 $ 76,889 $ 878,192
9/30/2021 $ (7,043){ $ 871,149
10/29/2021 $ 76,889 $ 948,038
11/29/2021 $ 76,889 $ 1,024,927
12/31/2021 $ 45139 | % 1,070,066
3/31/2022 $ (50,287)| $ 1,019,779
6/30/2022 $ (132,418)| $ 887,360
9/30/2022 $ (64,577) $ 822,783
12/31/2022 $ 56,209 | § 878,992
3/31/2023 $ 41,224 | § 920,216
6/30/2023 $ 23697 | % 943,914
9/30/2023 $ (36,934)| $ 906,980
12/31/2023 $ 96,701 | $ 1,003,681
3/31/2024 $ 35893 | § 1,039,574
6/30/2024 $ 750519 1,047,079
9/30/2024 $ 85129 | § 1,132,209
12/31/2024 $ (40,303)| $ 1,091,906

3/31/2025 ()

TOTAL $ 999,657 - $ 92,348 | $ 1,091,905

(*) End of quarter statement was not available from CERBT at time of this investment report. Investment
gain or (loss) for the current quarter will be reported in the following quarter's investment report.




Investment Summary

Schedule by Maturity Date

Estimated Current
Coupon | Market Value as of

Description Symbol / Cusip Maturity Rate 3/31/25
US Treasury AN-2025 91282CEQO 5/15/2025 | 2.75000% | $ 1,996,320.00
US Treasury AD-2025 91282CAM3 9/30/2025 | 0.25000% | $ 3,285,110.50
US Treasury V-2026 91282CBQ3 2/28/2026 | 0.50000% | $ 3,242,532.00
US Treasury AP-2026 91282CHH7 6/15/2026 | 4.12500% | $ 5,007,600.00
US Treasury N-2026 912828Y95 7/31/2026 1.87500% | $ 3,259,181.50
US Treasury AJ-2027 91282CJT9 1/15/2027 | 4.00000% | $ 5,005,300.00
Federal Home Loan CD-9027 3130ARUL3 5/18/2027 | 4.00000% | $ 2,269,916.00
US Treasury AH-2028 91282CJR3 12/31/2028 | 3.75000% | $ 24,852, 500.00
Total $ 48,918,460.00

Recent Redemptions
Coupon

Description Symbol / Cusip Maturity Rate | Amount Redeemed
US Treasury AK-2025 91282CDZ21 2/15/2025 | 1.50000% | $ 3,350,000.00
US Treasury Zero Coupon 912797KJ5 3/20/2025 | 0.00000% | $ 5,000,000.00
Total $ 8,350,000.00

Source: US Bancorp Advisors Investment Statement

P.5



zL jo | ebeg S
OdIS "dSAN
JOQUIDIA “D7T7] SOOIALS fRIoURUL] JEUCHEN Ylim POLUIED JUN0IY
IHUDUDIDIS

suq1 fo pus a1 jo 100 1228y Ul punof aq uo> uoynwofur oljofiiod ano Jo anppg uf 25uvy)
GZ/EO ¥T/TL ¥T/60 vm“.wo yZ/E0 £T/TL ET/60 £T/90 €T/E0 TT/TL TT/LO  TT/F0

LS2°SE

\/_/.y L06'2Y

&, \ ./—.\\.—.II\ 155°06
V \ L0Z°85
< 958°99

suoiw §

0104 140d ¥NOA 40 INTVA NI 3ONVHI

00'091°816'8¢% 0O1104140d ¥NOA 40 3NTVATVIOL

1££05707 99949 190LDGIdSHNYEID NI

SHOSIAQY dHOONVYE 'S’

1LL8 8SE 008 :[EUONEN
1LL8 8SE 008 115U o€ 1y
LIET 9S€ €17 [e207] sowAaTy e
:s)un030e anok ynoqe suoysenb sog  ISITVIDHALS SATVS TVNOILLALILSNI

05'822'982°cS$ OI7104140d HNOA 40 INTVA ONINNIOZE

COEEZO-HEM HBqUINN JUN0IJY
uogelodiod - 1D1LSIA YALVYM ALNNOD OLINIL NVS

GZ0Z ‘L€ HOUVIN O 20T ‘I HOUVIAN QOI3d JHL JOd4 LINIWNILVIS

siosiApy diooueg *S'N

juswebeue f_mm>>g

€Z20S6 VO d¥IIS I'TIOH
Qd 0713 IdSNVN O
1D 1¥LS 10 ¥3LYM ALNNOD OL IN3E NVS

001115006 VO ‘STTIONV SO1

001£1€ X08 Od

__ OT1°SUOSIAQY J4OONVE ST
dgaddad Lg01o599dSHNIEID #ANF

P.6



zZi jo z abey S 1£€05207 9999 La0LOgadSHNYEED NN

OdIS "HSAN
JOQUISTA *DT] SOOIAIDS [EIOUEUI] [RUOTIEN YliM POLLIED JUNRODOY SHOSIAQY dHOONVE 'S’
00°0% 00°0$ (SSOT) NIVO WYL JHMOHS TVLOL
00°0% 00°0% $S07] W3 HoUS pamojjestq
00°0% 00'0% §SO7 uUs | Hoyg
00°0% 00°0% ulen Wig] Houg
q-o1-4pa] poag 12D (SSO7) Nivo a3zinvay
402 Juanbasgns aii Jo L1onuqa.] 11 pajinwu st YIIM ‘AIT-GE0] 140 O
2[qDIIDAD 51 SPUBPIAIP PUD IS24D1U] fO HONDXD] HO HOHDHLIOJT [DN1f "23UDIHD 01 122[qus ST puv ‘paundad
S JUBWIAINIS 241 AU DY 1D SN OF F{GUIIDAD HOUDIIOfil} U0 PAsHG PAUINIRIAP St AUOU] 2|qIND ]
SHOISIZAP JUDUWISIAU] ME«ME 0y wored x&u%\xmw«onc .Me.m ynsuo) .:c.:euaﬂw e.:w\.taa. Joion 1oL EN\E jou \nut £5°966°c/2% 8Z°060'601% AWOONE TVLOL
Ly ay] wonpooyn ambs sy up paprpo) aq Kvw aZupyaxa uv 10 paisy (SJI7) SIMPoid papvs] aBuvyIxg pun " —
spunf jpini pua-pasolD) paIpooyD 2.4p spunf i WL sy Suptasuon suondunssp apoi soif SN ‘suoyisod €S mmm.m\.Nw 8¢'060°601$ 318VXVL VIO0L
140ys fo Jau aq Kot pun spunf pprnw apul Anw 5210033102 43UI0 pun ‘BUON paxif ‘sajnba «of uoywoony £5'066'€L2$ 82°060'601$ salsjy) Jjqexe]
JNOIOY DA 1M0ID [D]0] 0L f0 Siuasasdal SO 135S Yo02 10y} 280juadead 2iYI SMOYS UONDIONY HHOIIY 2ju(J-01-tvaf : porad wa.Lmy AMGVXVYL
00°09v'816°8¥S 05'922'982'¢S$ % 0°001 V101 GWOONI
00°09v'816°8V$ 05'82.'982'¢5$ % 0004 "09g Aousby / Ainsealt g
PO Ju.L117) poLiad 40ld Juzoad “anpu,{ up 28Uy 10 uONDULIOfU] 210U A0S SIOUIO0.] SHOIUD|JIISI OF 432y
9,0°001 ‘ses Kousby ;7 Kunsealy 's'n 12°261'61LE'6V$ 1s949)uj PaNIIoY Uiim anjep Buipuzy
22.°2£1'00¥%% 1saaju} paniody [BjoL
00°09%'816'av$ 00°09¥'816'87$ (sz/1€/€0 40 SV) INTVA ONIONT
ZL'6LY'0ESS z.1'829'92% anjep uj abueyd
00°0$ 00°0% sasuadxs pue saad ‘sexe]
£€6'966'€LZ$ 82°060'601$ aodu|
00°03% 00°0% suonoy ajesodiol 9 ‘osIN
(sL'e60°615'88) (05°281'¥00'S$) SIEMEIPLIIM PUE SUORIPPY
05°//0°€€9'95$ 06'82.'982°€S$ ANTIYA ONINNIOZE
NOLLYOOTIV LNNODJVY  aiog-o1-waf poLiad wa.Lm> FNTVA LINNODOV NI AONVHO

MOTAIDA(Q JUNOIOY

siosiApy duooueg "SN

u.C@E@WNCNE r_u._mmgg e

uonesodiod - 10f41SIA HILVM ALNNOD OLINIE NVS
$Z0Z ‘1€ Udde 03 GZOZ L UdIBN pollad ayj Joj jusiialels

p.7



7L jo ¢ abed s

OdIS "HSAN
JOQUIORA ‘D] SOOIAIDG [B1OUBUL] [BUOHIEN LlM POLUIED JURGIDY

0°07°0ZL68Y “LTIS 6£H 008 1180 3seald 1509 0 JE JUINICP

suy Jo Ado e UreIqo 03 Ysim noL Ji Wod ojulaSeIanoIqAur mmm 0) 08 ‘UonIpUuC) [eroueul]
Jo owalEIg 2y1 s1inboe 0 uol[IW 476°6$ Aq juswalinbal winwiuIw S} papad0Xa pue SIS
31qep 21e8a188e Jo usoiad 6807 SeA YoIym ‘Uoti[I [86°01$ Jo [Bitdes 19U pey SAN ‘vZ0T 1€
12quAd3(] 1V "HOUIPUOT) [BIOURUL] JO JUSWISILIS SI WO HONBULIOJUI [RIoURUY UIBLI30 spraoxd
01 $E61 JO 10V 2Buryoxy S30LIN03G 9yi Aq paanbai ST ‘SN *D7TT SIIIAISS [BIouRUL] [BUOHEN

1££05207 ggga9 LADLOGEISHNYEID NI

SHOSIAQY JHOONVE 'S'N

woo “yueqsu@2suel]dwiod VES ) I8 [1Bwd

Ag "¢ "uredwos souwioisns € Smpredar soueidwo)) Yia Yeads o} 1senbal pue ‘L6CL-766-81S
18 °S"(1 94} 3PISING O ‘001 1-p£9-008 18 “S'(1 S UNPIA 321~[{03 V3] SIS JURLD

1mo o1 auoyd Ag “Z ‘001 [-1$006 VO ‘s3[98uV S0 001€1§ X0og O"d Waunreds( souendwo)
‘s1051apYy diooueg "G I8 [1ew Ag "] S0 10EIUOD UEd nok ‘aaneIuasaidal 10 JUNOODE SIOSIAPY

drosueg g') Mok @i spute(diiod 10 Swaduod ‘swajqoxd Aue SABY NOK J[ --mwmmnnwesssmasmmce
SANS TVIONVNIA TYNOILYN 03 sjqeded suonnquiues/susedsp 303y Jje e asesid

S1¥3TV ANY S3OVSSIN

s10SIApY diooueg "SN

juswebeuep f_mm>>B

‘wouDIOfitr 2101 40f WIS STIY) JO pua D1} 1D UONVULIOfi]

SISDg 1507 PUD SBIOUI00,] 01 L2f3t 3SD] "sasod.nd Fupioda xvp une: sof Lipssadou SjUIUSHIPD
11D 1931f24 jou At uopvLiofity poriad Swipjol puv (sso}) und pazipa 'SISnq 1509 PIPIAd-SIN

cZT'L8Z'0vLS 00°0% (SSOT) NIVO W31 ONOT TVLOoL
00°0% 00°0% ss07 uua | buo- pamojiesiq
00°0% 00°0% ss07 uLa | Buon
ST 18Z'0vLS 00°0% uieg wie| Buoy

DQ~-01-4D3 [

POLIdY 124D

ponupros (SO NIVO A3ZINMVIY

pemare>. MATAIIA() JUNOIIY

COEEZ0-98M JBGLUNN JUNOJOY
uoyeiedioD - LOIMISIA YILYM ALNNOD OLIN3E NVS

SZ0Z ‘1€ Ud1BN 0} GZOZ ‘I UDie poliad alj} Joj juswelels

P.8



Z1 o v abeqd 3 1££05707 99499 1901OGEISHNIEID NI

DJIS 'ISAN
JOQUIOIA *DT] SODIAIDS [EIDUBUL] [RUOHEN YA PILLIED JUNOSOY SHOSIAQY JHOONVSE "S'N

91'85¢'29) g 9L'8L0°000°CS siseg 1500 paisnipy
: 00°00L$ 1500 jjupn abesoay
76'v18078 153131U{ PANIIIY
SZ/5LIS0 “ajqeked 1sasaiuj IxaN
SL AVW ‘GL AON NO
TYNNNY-IN3S LWd NdD
eey SAQOON
HSYD J10N SIN GZ0TISLS0
00'548°100°7S 00°000'95$ 00°02£'966'LS 918'66% 0000002 003078216  %000SL'Z ST0Z-NV ¥3S SY3YL SILVIS UILINN
saLnaag LHuasy 7 Aunsedd ] ‘SN
(s507) uien siseg 1500 WO fenuUY anjeA 19JewN SZ/1E/80 Kinuenp adk ) Junoooy uondLossg

pazijeasun paysnipy/euibup pajewisy waeng uo 9044d : disnoy/joquiks

palews3 pajewis3

“yiewspes passisibal e st @S.APoON "INISNOD NILLIYM HORid S.AQOOW

1NOHLIM NOSH3d ANV AS 'HIATOSLVHM SNYIW ANV AS 3O d3INNYN 4O WH0d ANY NI LHVd NE HO TIOHM Ni ‘3S0ddNd HONS ANY ¥04 3SN IN3ND3SENS 304 A3H0LS ¥0 ‘aiosId 4O
GILNGINLSIATY 'QILYNIWASSIA ‘Q3HHIISNVAEL 'GILLINSNYIL ¥IHLMNA 'GIDVADYCIY '030NA0UdIY ISIMYIHLO YO 431400 38 LON AV SONILYY '5,Apooi Aq aasuady] o) pasuady| a.e sbuney
‘sme| Kyiadosd jenioa|feiul Jawio pue 1yBlAdoo Ag paidsiosd ase pue sajelye s)t Jo s.Apooy o) Kieeiidoad ase ( sBuney,) sbunes s Apoopy (.5,APOOW,) ~DUf ‘@DIAISS SI0)SaAUY s, Apooi '2zoz WbiiAdod @S . Apooin

108} JO SJUBWIAIE]S 10U JJ8 pue SUCIUIdO JO SjUBWIRIE]S
aJe sBupjes 11paJD) "8dIAPR JUBWISAAUI SB UO P3t[al 8q 10U PINOYS pue AILIND3S JO JUsLSaAUl Ue Jo ALIIQelINS BUY) SSBIppe jou SI0p ‘KIIND8S 10 JUBWIISBAUL UDNS PIoY JO [[aS ‘Ang O} UOIIZPUSLILIOD3S B J0U S JU3JU0D 3 jO
wed sy jey) weunsaaur ue Buseouod uopeasssqo Aue 1o Bupies e "Ajunodes 10 Juawisaul seqnojed e 0] asusIBfel Y JUSIUGD By} JO asn Aue Ulm UOHIOBUL0D U] (SIS0D Kyumuoddo pue jyjoud 150} 10 swoduy 1soj Buipnidur)

S9550] J0 'S99 |2b9| ‘sasuadxe ‘sisod 'sebewep AUE J0J 3|QRI| 3G SIPPINCI JUBJUCD {EYS JUBAS DU U] "JUBJUDD YINS JO 5SN 3Uj W0 PaUIRIQO S3nsal sy} 10§ 10 ‘asned ay; jo ssaypieba ‘(asimiaylo o webiibau)
SUOISSIWO 10 SI04R Aue 10j 9|qisucdsal jou ase pue jwatuo) Aue jo Alijigeiiene Jo ssauljaull] 'ssauatejdwon ‘Aoenbape *Aoeinodoe sy) asjurient Jou op (,S18pINoId 1UBIU0D,) ssapiddns pue sajeiqye sy ‘Aued yong “Aused
JueAR(al 9y JO uoissiwed usiim Joud syl yim 1daoxa payaiyosd st uuoy Aue by (,UBIu0D,) sBupes Buipniou) ‘jeiseiew 10 elep ‘uopew o Aue Jo uononposdey ~asuaBiiisiul 1eden (eqoiD dBs ‘2Z0Z 1ybiskdon

-3jqe|eAR 10U ST )i “JUSUISBAUY
sejnagded e Bupiebas seadde Jou Sa0p LOIHRWIOMUL §f “Bjge|lEAE BI3UM papincid ase uoniewlojul Jayjo pue ‘(s)bunes puoq ‘(s)ainpayas uondwapay -abed 1se} sy; 99s aseoyd *Buidud awodut paxy jo uoneueldxs ue 4o

-shep 06 1XaU BU} UIYIIM 2InjBW O} 8NP U0LIS0d aWodU| Paxyj & dARY NOA T1LYITY

aneA WN02OY [BI0L O %00°001 - INOONI AIXId

“JUSLUBIBIS Y JO PUa BU} 1B Salouloo] ay} o) Jejai ases(d ‘sBuipjoy tnok BuipieBas uoneuioul feuoiippe S04

-;onss) ayl Aq pred aq (1m 1y 1eul avjueiend ou s 8uayL SIN AQ PAA[aDal JO JANSS] auy £g pied 19K jou jng ‘ajep uodnod 1SBY AUl AJUIS PAleINWINIDE JSBUBIU| SluasaIday - (Isasaul panJooy) v

‘UOHBWIOMUE BI0U) JO) JUBLIBIEIS
SIY} JO PUB 2U} 1B UOHBULIOJ SISBg 1SOJ PUE S3J0UJ004 0} Jojal aseald "sesodind xey Joj Asessadau sswisnipe e 1apal 1ou Aew uonewiojul polsad Buipjoy pue (ssoy) uteb pezijeas 'siseq 1sod papirod-SIN

SSUIpJOH

s10SiApY diooueq "Sn

u.C&E@mNCNE I#-N@)\fg ZOEEZ0-GEM JOQUINN JUN0SDY

uonesodio) - L1OIY1SIA ¥3LVM ALNNOD OLINIEA NVS
G202 ‘L€ U2 01 GZ0Z ‘L Yd4elN poliad ay3 1o} Jusiualelg

P.9



zt jo g ebeg

OdIS "ISAN

IOQUIBIA ‘)] SIOIAIDG [e]ouBll ] [BUONEN] 1M PINIED JUNGIIY

1££05707 9999g 19010g99dSHNEEED N

SHUOSIAQY dHOONVE 'S’

69'v63 1507 Jify abeioay
L60LPOLS 1S8431Y) panIdy
SZLENO 9jqeked 1S3} XN
LEINM LE NV NO
TYNNNY-IN3S LNd NdD

eey SAQOOW

HSYD 310N SIN 9Z0T/LEILD

SZ'LE0'ZLLES 05218798 05'L8L'652'ES 687°L6% 000'08E'S GHABTRTLE %005£8°L 9Z0Z-N YIS SYIYL SILVLS GILINN

29°066'LS a  8£609'666'7S siseg 1507) paishipy

66'66% 1500 yun sbeseay

£b'82909% isaialu} pansaay

SZ/SLI90 -eigehed Isamiu) XN

SLNNC'SE O30 NO

TYANNY-INES 1Nd NdD

ery S AQOON

HSYD JLON SIN 920T/S5L190

8€°609'666'7$ 000429073 00°009'£00'SS TSL00LS 000°000'S LHHOZBZLE  %00SZL'Y 9Z02-dVY ¥3S SYIAL SILVIS A3LINA

D ov'ELL'tes 3W0Juj 1UNOISICY 19XIBIN pazifealin

00'Z8L'0LC$ a  000SL'te0’es sised 1507 paisnipy

05°06% 1500 nun abeseny

7595018 152131} panuody

52/8z/80 -@jqeked 1sasmiu] ixaN

1£834°LE ONVY NO

TYNNNV-INES LiNd NdD

eey S,AQ00N

HSYD 310N S1IN 920Z/8TIL0

00°05L°LE0'ES 00°0SL'9L$ [CNARTATAN €6L'96% 000'08E'E £08078CL6 %0000S°0 920Z-A ¥3S SYIUL SALVLS G3LINN

D L1'199°€C8 BUI02U] JUNOJSY] 19BN Pazijediun

18'vb8' LTS a  £959T'er0'es siseq 1s0D) paisnipy

v8'06% 1507 1iupy obesony

88278 1sasaiu] panuIdy

SZIOE/60 -ajqeked 1saioiu] iXxaN

LE 43S "LE YW NO

TUNNNY-INIS INd NdD

eey S.AGOOW

HSVYD JLON SLN SZ0Z/0£/60

£9'692'e¥0'c$ 00'SLE'8S 05°0LL'SBT'ES £90'86% 000°05E'E SWYOZBZL6  %000SZ°0 STOZ-QY YIS SYIUL SILVLS GILINN

(sso) wey siseg 10D awodU| jenuuY anjeA e SZ/LE/E0 Auenp adA} Junosay uopidinsag
pazifeasun paysnipyrieubuiQ pajewiisy Waung uo 3dd disnoy/ioquis

Si0S|ApY diooueq "S§N

Juswabeue YieaaA

paiewns3

paleuiis3

sn|

v»::::cu mEOUZH DWNE

COEEZ0-9GM HRGUINN JUNOODY
uonetodiod - {DIY1SIA HILVM ALNNOD OLIN3E NVS

SZ0Z ‘L€ YoIel 0} GZOT ‘I Ydlel poliad ay3 1o} Jusiuelelg

P.10



zZi jo 9 ebed

10°L55'6¥SS

2dIS 'HSAN

JOQUIDIA] *)TT SPIAING [EISURNLY [RBUONEN YA POLLIED JUNODDY

667706'89¢°8Y$ 05°L81°199'1L$

00°09V'8L6'8V$

1££05207 99689 160LOGHISHNYEED NI

SHUOSIAQY dHOONVE 'S'N

SINLINIASG [BI0 ],

L0"£55'6Y5S

66°706'892'8V3 05°281°295L$

00°097'8L6°8Y$

000°0SE"6Y UI0dU] PIXIY [¥I0],

L0°L5S'6Y5S

66'206'89£'8V$ 05°(8LL95°L$

00°09v'8L6'8YS

000'0SE°6Y saLINdAg Adualdy 7 Aunseaa L, 'S’ 18I0

[IAXTR 74

Q  TL9E9'LT8YLS

7L989'Le8'ves 00°005°LE6$

00°005'758'%Z$

Ly66%

siseg 1500 paisnipy

LE668 1507 yun abesmsay

886995678 ISaqu| pANIOIY

SZIOE/0 diqeked isaleiu] 1N

0€ 230 '0¢ NN NO

TYANNY-INIS 1IAd NdD

ey S.AGOON

HSVD JLON SIN BZOULE/RL

000'000'5Z £AMDTBZLE  %000SL S 8Z0T-HY YIS SYIYL SILVLS OILINN

{oo'v80'0ES)

a  0000000ECS

00'000'00E°Z$ 00°005°08%

00'916'697°TS

169863

siseg 150 paisnipy

00°00LS 1500 nup abesany

870vL6Z8 152I3)U| PANIIDY

0000001 @ SZOZ/8L/S0 NO 318V TIVD

SZ/81/50 2jqehed 1svsaiu] xaN

8L AV 8L AON NO

TYANNY-INIS LiNd NdD

+YY %S/ 28y SAQOON

HSYD LZ0Z/8L/50 %00005 €

000°00€'7 £INUVOELE £206-02 ¥3S ¥4 NVO'1 INOH 183G

SL'89L'018

Q0  STLESP66'YS

STLESV66'YS 00°000°002%

00°00¢'600'5$

901°001$

siseq 150D paisnipy

68'66% 1507 jun ofiesony

S6'886LY$ 1Sa491U] panioy

SZ/SLILO alqeked 1Sassiuf IXoN

SLNVT 'SLINMNO

TUANNV-INIS LING NdD

eey S.AGOOW

HSYD 310N SIN L20Z/GL10

000°000' 61078216  %00000'Y LZ0Z-1V YIS SYIYL SILVIS GILINA

SC05L'288

a  sTleoT'es

O zrei8ois 3Ui030] WUN0ISI(] TOUERN PIZRaIN
siseg 1500 paisnipy
panupuos S6ABZBZLE  9%00S/8°L 9Z0Z-N YIS SYIYUL SILVLS QILINN

(sso) uteo
pazijeaun

siseg 16D WO} jenuuy
paisnipyjeutblo pajeuiisy

siosIApY diooueg "S

Juswabeue Y} BOAA

sniep laxsen
LNy
pajeuisly

SZ/LE/ED
U0 93Lid
pajewnsy

sn|

Anuend adA) yunoaoy uondposaqg
disn)yjoquiks

E:E.:S‘u; mEOUZH QmO,Qm

ZOEEZ0-8GM JBqUUNN JUN0JdY
uoyjesodiod - 1 DIYLSIC ¥ILYM ALNNOD OLINIE NVS

SZ0Z ‘L€ Yodep 03 SZOZ ‘I Y4Bl poliad ayy Joj Jualuajels

P.11



zi jo ( ebeg S 1££05207 dggag 19OLOGEISHNIEID N

0dIS 'HSAN
JOQUIDIA *D) YT SOIAIIG [RIDURUL] [BUONEN UIiM POLLIED NGOV SHOSIAQY dHOONVE 'S’
(05°£8L'100'S$) STVAAVIUHLIA NV SNOLLIAAV TVIOL
(05°£81'¥00'S$) S[BALBIDUNIAA PUE SUOLIPPY BYIO TBI0],
0ZEL..... VN JNVESH
{05L8L'v8) 9955178601 INIWIAOW AINOW OLNY INNODJY O ¥34SNYHL HSYO sZeen

0ZEE..oe YN INVE SN
(00°000°000'5%) £y1L91LE601 ININIAOW ASNOW 01NV INNODOY 0L ¥3ISNVIL HSYD STIOTIEO
S[EMEIDIIA PUE SUOBIPPY 19110

junowy AguenD uoydiiosaq uojjoesuel} adk} ajeq
UN0JoY

STVMVYAHLIM ANV SNOLLIAAV JEHLO < STYMVICHLIIM ANV SNOLLIJAV < ALIALLDV

00°000'000°5$ suonduwapay [eIo]
0000V L9CS5009Y
HO3M# 1NOAYd NOILINIATY
GZOTIOTIED %00000°0 NdD
00°000°000'% (000°000°S) 0Y3Z STHE SYIML SILVLS Q34NN g3w33a HSYD STITIEO
suonduapay
junouy Anuenp uondiioseg uofjsesued| adAy 31eqg

uNo2oY  UBWBHIRES

SNOLLINAQTY ANV ‘SFTYS ‘STSVHIUNA

‘UOJJBWLIOL) BJOUS JOJ JUBWBRIS
SIU} JO PUB B} 1B UCHBWIOJUL Siseg 10D Pue S8J0UI00] O} Jajdl asesld -sasodind xey Joj Alessadau sjuswisnipe [je 10ayes 1ou Aew uotieusojul polsed Buipioy pue (ssof) uieS pazijeal 'siseq 1503 papirod-S AN

ANAnOY

107£55'6¥58 66°206'895'813 05 LBL'195'LS 00°09¢'8L6'8YS ANIVA OI'T041LY0d 'TVIOL

E&rimwu AwUZ.u,QJOE

SI0SIAPY diodueqd ‘SN

FCQE@QNCN_\/_ £H-N0>>E ZOEEZ0-GEAM :OQUINN JUN0ady

uonesodio) - 1D1H1SIA HILVM ALNNOD OLINIE NVS
SZ0Z ‘L€ Ya1eiy 03 GZOZ '} YdIey pollad ay3 loj jusiuajels

P.12



71 j0 g 9bed s 1¢£05207 988 19010ggISHNYEED” NI

OdIS “GSAN
J3QUISIY *TT SOOIAIDS [BIDUBUL [BUOBEN YA PILLIED JURODOY SHOSIAQY dHOONVYE 'S'N

‘UOoIeULIoU] Yons uodn aoueias
ui uade) uoilisod Xel AUe JO 'JO BSN S,JBW0}SND € JO (N0 Buisiie Autiqer] Kue suneosip Ajjeoyiosds pue 0} 108dsal yim ssnueRiIem ou Sajeu SN -sasodind Bujsodas xey oK 1oy Kiessadsu siusuisnipe jie
10984 10U Aew uonewsojul potsad Buipjoy pue ‘sso| pue uieb pazijess ‘siseq isod papiaosd-S4N "SHi 2y 01 palsodal 3q o paJinbal UOBULICJUL UIBLISD 0} adsas yim siuawainbal Sy 199 1SN SIN SHUM

‘sasodind xe} 10§ PIOS PAIAPISUOD BJBM SIO] UDIUM 3UIULIBIBP 0} SP10D3s 2jgediidde Jaylo puB SUCHEULILUOD apeli Inok o sages pjnoys nok ‘Buipiodas siseq 1502

96601 O1 128{aNS 10U 4. Jey} SUDDRSURS 104 "SINOK WOy JUBBHIP 2q Kew yoiuym 'sp0Jal SHt UC paseq (ejaedtidde ji ‘poyiaw jesodstp Jauio Jo) Odid sedde SN "poyjaut Jinejap Jayioue 3sn o) paloaie
sey Jajeap Jaxouq Jnok ssejun (5413 Buipnjoul) Jswio (e o) (O1d) N0-1sh “Ui-iSsy pue Spuny emnw pus-uado o} 1503 abeJane JO SPOUIBLW HNEJSP S)f UO Paseq 8{Es JO Bl 2U} 12 SISeq 1S0D SauluIBiap
SN ‘SUCHONIISUL YONS WUBsaY Pafiias sey apes) 3u) 810jaq SN Ad Pantadal 8Q JO SN UitM Bl UG 37 IS suoponnsut sjeridosdde ‘Buriodal g-6601 01 POYIRW S{SEQ 1SOD UOHEDRIUSPY ojioads e Ajdde o)
‘sa50d.nd XB] 10§ PIOS UBBG SABY SI0} UDIUM 19918 [{1M SUOHOBSURL) ULELID JOf SUII0J §-660L 1BIDHJO JNOA 86601 HHO4 84} L0 S} a4} O} UOHBWLIOJU Pae(as pue SiSeq JS0 uleled podas o) paainbal st SN

‘SJUNOWE UGHEZ{LIOWE 1011d YINS JO {10} BU} JO UMOPXERI] B BPIACID JOULBD M ING 'SISEq 150D pajsnipe ayj u pajoayel Si LOHEZHJOWE aAfenwND Sieak Jotid ay) ‘papinoid s uopezpiowe
wniwald uogisinboe Jo winiuwasd sesk walnd aieum (sumop Ked) jedipuid jo juswkedasd Aies o} 103{gns 248 1By 30U} JO 'SAILNDAS awodul paxyy ubaiog SISNI] JUBWISSAU] UM "SIUSWNASUL uLRB)-LIoys
se yons ‘sadA) uielsed Joj papinold jou 31e Aay) ‘Jensmoy ‘{sepinba 91j-pPUCY BWIOS PUR) SAIIINIIS WO PaXY Kuew Joy papinoid uaaq aaey SISeq 1S02 0} sjuswisnipe Jejiuis pue uogasdoe ‘uofeziowy

UOTIIRULIOJU] SISty 1S0)) pue $3)0UI00,]

87°060'60L$ AWOINI TVLOL

87°060°601L% Juroduj Jjqexe ] [BioL

82°060'60L% Jsaadju] dqexe], [wIOL
JLON SiN SZOT/0E/60 %000SC0

05°L8L'YS SZOZ-0V Y35 SV3YL S3LVIS Q3LNND 1SIUIINI HSVD STILEIED
Q10 uym paseyoind

spuoq Joj 1sassiul ajqenoday
fuQ uoneuuojuy 104

Q3LVINOWO

1INV QIO SZOT/OT/E0 %00000°0 NdD
8L'706'V0LS 0¥37 STHE SYIYL SALVLS GILNN HSVD SZ/0ZIED
3S3433uU] djqexe ],
unowy Ayuenp uonduosag uojjoesuesy adky ajeqg

uNoooY  JUBWIBIISS

TNODNI TgVX VL < FNODNI < ALIALLOV

. siosiapy diooueg "SN

wCQEwmQCNE r_u._m®>>g ZOSEZ0-GGM HOGINN JUN0odY

uoneiodioD - 1OIISIA H3LVM ALNNOD OLINSH NVS
GZ0Z ‘L€ Udde| 03 GZOZ ‘| Ud1ely poliad 8y} Joj Juawdieg

P.13



ZL jo ¢ abed s 1££05207 G994 1901L0G0dSHNYEID NI

OdIS "HSAN .
JoQUIDIA ‘1)T] SOOIAIDS [E19URL [RUONEN UM PDLLIES JURODDY SUOSINAY dHODNVYE 'S'N

-UoI§pUOT PautBIRULIBPUN LB 3SNED JOU [HM JEMRIDUIM YRS JO | uolieinbay Jopun uoioLIisas O 1oafans 10u S| Junoade ok papiacid sanLNoes uBJew $S9IXS MEIPUIIM O] OSje pue ‘jjed jefjsed sy; o) 1oadsas
yim Kioysodap Jojpue jusbe sajsties JBnsst ayy Aq PaYSIGeISa awly pue siep Joind ay) o} Jojd sun) Kue e sennoas pred Afjn) pa({eoun Mepuim o} ubtl ay) 3AeY NOA "UONEDOJ(E OU IC "uopedo((E (ened

10 1Ny & 318393 0} nok 10j ajgissod SI 11 pue Siseq eied 0id € U BpBeW JOU 31e SUOHEDO|(E \SIN ‘PaUIaaPaLy/Pa||ed 3q {|IM JBY) SIUNGITE JaWoISND UIYIM S3131NDas oy} S1D2iss Ajwopuel jey) ‘sapns ajgedijdde
ylim 8ouepIodoE Uy ‘walsks uonedojje K1slio] [eieduil UB SBZIIRN SIN “S81LNJdS PaWaspal/palied ayl Jo uonod e pajedoyte st SN Ji “Kioisodap ospue wiebe sajsues) “Janss] syl Aq Sa1l1IND9S paWadpal/pa|ied
1O UoHe30j{e UR BA1B03s jou Kew o Aew SN “sansst aul Ag uopdwapas jensed 10 (g2 jenJed e o} 199(gns a1 nok 1oj PRY SONIINDaS J3Je3q JO BWEBY 19315 UBUM - AY3LLOT STILRIND3S TNEVTIVO

(Remy piaH sigssy
JI0 pue Aemy preH SIessy ‘Saninuuy pue souesnsuy “B:a) ueipoisnd Al jou St SN UDIUM UL SIasse O pajelal KjAnoR 198191 10U S30p anieA Ul 8Buey?) "suodes AAIDY JBYIO pue 'sasuadx] pue saad
‘saxey ‘BWIOdU 'SUCHOY 21eJodI0D B OSIN SIBMEIPUIIM PUE SUCHIPPY UIIIM PalIajjal 10U Runipoe Aue snid sabueyd aoud ol anp sbuipioy 1nok jo uopesidap 10 uoijepaidde s1osHas ANIVA NI 3DNVYHD

-aouBULiopad J0/pUB UOHNGLASIP "SUOIIPPE Of dnp 39 ued ojjojuod 3y} Jo anjea dy) tt abueyd sy} uj seuljoep Jo/pue
saseslow abie| jey) a)0u aseald  ‘polad JuBLING BY} O} 'I81BY S| JAABYDIYM '0107 Joquiaidas o Buuado unoooe woyy st ydesb ay) jo sweyy awy) syl ‘aiqedidde 41 sjesse Aynuue pue soueinsul snyd ‘junoioe
ay} Ut SINLINDAS BY] [{B JO BN{RA J9X.IEW BU) BPN{OUL SIaSSE 0110j10d ByL "UMOYS potad 3wy ay) JaAC sjasse oyjojliod unok §o anjen 1exew Uy abueyd ay) st OMOJLYOd YNOA O INTVA NI IDNVHO

S910U3100] SNOJUB[[SISIIA

-pasn sem ssoj/ueb pajerdosse sy pue siseq 1500 paisnipeun 1einBal, aswuByIo "pasn Sem jeu) umouy ale ssoyueb psieloosse sji pue siseq 1sod paisnipe
3J3UM S10] JO4 “UCHEULIOUY SISEQ 1500 paisnfpeun pue paisnipe jo uoneuiquad e Buisn pajejnojed usag aney Kew s{ejo] s,U0NDBSUR} 84} ‘SI0f Xe) ajdilinw panjonul uoisodsIp Jaulo Jo uoiiduiepal 'sies e ji

“BLI03UL }SBL91U Bjgexe]

se pajesl) S§ SpPUOq 1duiaxa-Xe} PUe sjgexel Yi0q Wolj JWoIul JUNCISIP 13Miew 'sasodind xe) jesepa4 J04 "uopenits xej jenpiaipul anok uo Bujpuadap ‘jerajjsuag siow oq Kew smej xe} Japun ajqejjene
suopp9fe ARG (uonisodstp) sies jhun Junodsip 1axiew ayy Buiziubooas ajep o) pardalR sey Jsakedxe; ay) sawnsse uonenNoles NG alep Guipus poused Jwawalels ubnouy) siep uolyisinboe woyy

poyaw aun-ybieis sy Buisn palenDled Sem awodul JUNOISIP 1a3 e pazieaiun - O ‘UOHILIIOU| (BUOHIPPE 10§ 'SasuadX3 PUE SLIOU] JUBUISBAUL "0G5 UOHEDNGN SA1 01 J9jay "Poylatl uolenoes
uonezijiowe aajeusslie ue Buisn ale nok ji Kidde jou oste Kew pue sasodind Butiodas xey soj Aiessedau sjuawisnipe (le 198))a1 jou Keur siseq 1500 paisnfpe syt ‘(aigentidde Ji) sejes ysem jo asnedaq
pomojjesip S8SSo| Aue J081ja) JOU S0P PUE BA0qe Pajels Se JunodsIp pue wnyweid soj paisnipe se SISeq 1S0D UO PASeq Sem uolJesuRs Sty Joj pakeldsip ssoj/ute aiep uoisodsip je paziubooas sem
pue poylaw sull-yBrens ayp Buisn pajejnoied SEM YDIUM UGHBIID. JUNODSIP 12XJeW SJI91jaJ Siseq 1500 paisnfpe ‘siqeoydde ) ‘poytew jeniooe ajqeles ey Buisn pajeinajed sem winjwed uolisinboy
‘poyiews Kiinjew-o1-piaik ayp Buisn pajenoied sem UOHEZIIoWE Wniwald "a1ep uonIsodsip o pesisul Pasn sem ajep AJLNieuw ‘pIdy NS SaHLNJaS Jo4 "olep uonisodsip ybnosy) @jep uolisinbe woy
funaas auy Jo 9j1] 8yl Jono Jokedxe) aul Ag paziliowe aiom SIUNCWE YONS S3WNsse | pue ‘wnwaJd uosinboe Jo ‘wniwasd ‘junoosip ansst jeuibio aageinwnd Aue S8Rl Siseq 1500 pajsnipy - Q

-JOSIApE X&) Jnok Jnsuod ‘uoneniis Xel Jnok Jnoge suonisanb aney nok 31 “Kidde 1ou jj1m uonewlojul siep-ol-Jesk ay; 'sesodind Xel Joj ISLE Jaquadag eyl Yo pud Jeak jeosy e sey Auayssauisng Jnok
3] “(#squisnaq - Asenuer) Jeak Jepusied B UO PISE] Si UOHIBS Kiewwns ssojyureh alep-oj-1eak ay; Up PRSI UOHBWIOU 84 "SIUN0JJE alelodiod o} 33iAles € S8 papiaoid s uoewsoj ssojyuled pue siseq 10D

‘UoHBULIOMI JoY)LINg 30} JOSIApE Xe) Jnok 1insuoD

-jesk Buimoljog ayi Jo Uist 1udy Ag panssi 1-) w04 € uo uoliewsojul [RUCHIDDR SI apirosd Ajjensn sdiusssulied juswisanu ok piay nok polsad ayj Bupnp suolnGLiSIP pue auioduy
it uo diysseulied sy} WO uoHeWHIoU! [RudWweiddns saJinbal SUBLISIAUL YINS LY SISeq JO UOHEIND{ED BUL Se uolleutiojul siseq 1502 0} syuaunsnipe Aue axew jou seop SJN ‘sdpysssupied U] SIUBLIISAAUL 104

panunuod SOMHNE.MOIHHHH mﬂm‘mm HWOU @g@ WQHOGHOOWM

sios)Apy diosueg ‘SN

HCwemmmCm—\‘ P_u._mm\sg ZOSEZ0-GAM OQUINN JUN00Y

uonesodiod - LORILSIA ¥ILVM ALNNOD OLINIE NVS
§Z0Z ‘1€ Y21ey 01 GZOT ‘L Y3Ie poldd 9} 10} Juswialels

P.14



Z1 Jo 01 dbed s 1££05207 99999 190LO89dSHNEEED NI

0dIS "9SAN
JOQUIDRY *7)TT SOO1AIDS [RIDUBUL] [BUONEN (1A POLLIED JUNODDY SHOSIAQV dHOONVE 'S’

-}sanbaJ ueyiM Uodn PasOIISIP aQ [IIM UOINJaX3 J0 3w ay) pue "Aled Jayio 8y Jo alweu 8y} ‘Uolioesues sejnoned Jnok 1M UOHIIBUUOD Ul PaAIRdRL uonesusdwod
AU jo 3INjeu PuB aDJNOS B "UGLIND9X3 J0j SIBIUBD 13NJBW IO S3jeIP N0 Jejnotped s1apio BUIIAIIP 10§ UOHRISPISUOD IO ‘UOHESUSCLIOD 'UCHEISUNWS) SAAI303S SAN - MOT4 H3CHO ¥O4 INIWAYL

“JUNODJE JBLOISAD € Uj U0 SOd [BUC|IJR.) [ENPISas B PBIEaLd Jey) JUBWISSAUIR) PUSPIAID € JO SBIBYS 3|0UMm JO J3jSUEI] S1YIV ue JO Jnss) e Se suoyiepinby
saJeys jeuonael sapnou siyl “Aioedes edpunid sS3PIS Jo (edidulid B Ul J9PJO JaWoISNI € JO Jwauodwod (euoiioesy ay; 2inoaxa [im (LS4N.) S3aIAIRS [BIDUBULY [eUOliEN - ONIQYHL TIVHS TYNOLLOVYA

‘jeuoissajoad [RIDUBLY JNOK 1DBIU0D JO SuoKEsepIsuod weodw) ssyio
pue uoHBULIOU! DY1oads JOj UMO NOK puny jeAISIU} 8y} Joj SNJdadsoLd auj O) 18jel asesid sainedy aseynindas pue yoegAng pue 'suopeliwy Alipinbiybuipen Bupniou; isixs Kew puny jemnuw pus-usdo jeuopipen
B pUB punj [EAJBIUL UE USIMIS] SBIURBJBYIP (ELIPIRIN "PUN) JemNW pud-uado jRUCHIPES  JOU PU ‘PUN {ENINW PUa-P3sOLD paisiiun ue se PAINIONUIS S| PUNJ [BAJSIUL UB BJ0U 85E3d 'SJAUMD pund [eassiu}

“sButploy nok jo Buporl] SISEq 1SOD BU} INOGR 2J0W UIE3| 0} JOSIAPE JO J8X30.q JNOA 138jU0D "LOHOBSUEI B JO 3UI 3yl 1€ {195 OF SI0] XE ai109ds Bujuap! (Z 10 SI0ISAUL O} 3|GRIIeAR SPOYIBW jesodsIp 10}
X©) UBAaJ2 N0 0 SUO YiM SIUNODD. Juswainas-uou Jay) dn Bues (1 Aq spuny jeninw pua uado Jo SaJeys Joj SISEQ IS0D 3yl AUIUWIBI3P O} SBIIAISS {eloURUI4 [UCHEN 12NISUL UBD SIOSIAPE PUB SI8)0.q Jjay) Jo
SIpUMO Junodoe ‘KjsaeuIaly 1503 aBeiane Jo poylaw Jnejep & Buisn spuny [eninwi pua uado Jo S3JRYS (1€ JOJ SISBY JSOD 8U} SBUILLIAIEE SBIIAISS [BIDUBULY [eu neN 'g-660L W04 U0 Zi0Z 'L Arenuer saye Jo
uo paseynnd sBuipioy puny jeninpy pue uado Jo saleys Jo afes ay) Joj uoneulsojul poliad Buipioy pue siseq 1sod 1iadas 0} S8DIAJSS jBITUBULY jRUCHEN 2.4NbaJ {IIM SBINY ST MAN - NOLLYISIDIT SISV LS00

- jojeap-19301q ok ybnosyy

1sanbas uodn a|gepieae st X4 ue Buiajoaur uoyoesuel Aue o} afqesydde ales ay) "SN UilM paleljise jou saied piy yBnosy) ajqeEAR 8q AeU! S31RJ BIGEIOAR) BJOWN "SIN Yiim dmijews Jo UOISSIUIOND X4 Aue jo
uotpiod e aseys Kew ‘D77 'xa103 Aiapld "nok 0y 3oud Jeybiy e uy ynsal Kew yoigm ‘9o14d Joxsew sueqiaul Buijieasid auyy uo dmjiew Jo UOISSIWWIOS & asodwi Aew "SIN JO sjeliye ue "7 'Xalod Aulapid siseq
tediound e uo 377 ‘x8.404 Allapi4 Aq paldeyje ag Aew suoydesues X4 "I9S O} f8pio ul (x4) #bueyoxe Kouaiino ubiasoy e aleyssadau sadh) uonoesuell BWOS - SNOLLDVYSNYAL JONVHIXI NDI3Y04

. ‘umoys saopid syl Je ajgewsspal Jo alqeladew Kiipeal ag jou Kew to/pue anjea
1OOBW J1B] UBLIND 199155 10U ABW S3DLi 'SIDINOS JAYL0 Jo/pue SN YBNoUY) J8B[D OUM S19{B8p/Ia%01q "SI0pUsA Buiod apnjouj Kew 1eU) S90IN0S WO PauLeIqo ale pakeidsip $adlid - NOLLYWYOAN! ONIDIdd

panuod WDHOAHHOO-.H WSODHHAN—HOOWMZ

s1osIApY diodueg *SN

wC@E@@NCNE S«_Nm\sg Z0SEZ0-8EM_OGUINN JUnoooy

uonesodio) - 101Y1SIA ¥ILYM ALNNOD OLINIE NVS
SZ0Z ‘LE Uo1el 03 GZOZ ‘L UdJelN poliad ayl 1o} Juswiaiels

P.15



zL jo LL abed s
DdIS ‘ISAN
JOQUIDIA ‘DT $OO1AIDG JRIDUBUL] [BUONEN 1A POLLIED JUNOIDY

juswiaimg jo pul

‘jedipulid Jo ssoj sjgissod Buipniout 3St JUBSUWISBAUL BAJOALE
pue 5ia4 a4 Ag pasnsus Asy} aie Jou “jueq Aue Ag psejuesent SO paxDeq JOU B8 SBLNJITS JOLI0 Jo/puE SPUNn}
{enInp "uonoe10id DJIS AQ PRISA0D 10U BIE SIBIBUL SNOIDBI "PBISA0D 8 J0U ABw SJUSLLISSAUL JOUIO PUE SBRUNDES
PBUEO] ‘SJUNCOT. S3ININ} ‘SIOBJUOD JUBWSSAUL paJelsiBaiun ‘sanpowiLos ‘Aemy pioH SIassy "souesnsut

5104 4o} 21qiBye 8q ABW SpuNy sw) YoM Je yueg weiboid e o} paysodap jhun paoajoid IS ase nsodap

sueq e o} dasms Jo aseyand o} pasn spund "00ce-1L£-202-1 g2 J0 BioodisTmmm  ISIA “‘aInyooiq JdIS

e jsenbal 0} 10 'JdIS UO S|ie1ep 210w 104 "abesenod 1o} siqibifaul paIapisucd 1. Jey) SBILINOSS UIead O} puaixa
abeiancD JoU}a S0P JOU ‘SSHKUN0SS JO Snjen Jesew ay) Ul auljsp e jsutebe sjaejosd abeInsnod 1ayjieN S
asay) ercqe abesanos Joj pabuese sey osfe S4N "siopaid Jo pieog 5,0dIS Ad {eacsdde pue aiielS DdIS 8wl Jo
SUWHIB} YlIM B0UBPIODDE Ul UCHEyU) 10§ Siusunsnipe oipouad o} 1slgns ‘Ysed Joj suie|o o} uonoajoid 000°052S o1
dn jo BAISRPU S LOKINCID DIS JO JUNOWE |21} 000'00SS @UL "000°C0SS O dn (,DdIS.) uoneiodiod uoiveiod
JOJSBAU] SIRLNOSS BLY U)M SDUBPICIE Ul pajosjoid 81 SAN  AQ Paiiled SJUNodde Uj SaRUNdag ‘sunopsd

11 SBOIAISS DY} JOf SPI0ISL PUE $100Q PAAND3I BY) LIBUIRW {{YS SN sjuswasnbas uibsew jo nok Buisinpe

10} pue ‘sajns uibsew SN pue Aisnput '[21eps) Yith aouendwos u sj Juncooe abessyoiq Jnok jey) Buunsus

10} ajgisucdsay st 18jeap-19%0iq oA uibiew uo seunoss Buthuseo so Buiseyond sof 11paio uibiew puAixe

() pue Junoosce abeiex0.q NOA 10} SBNLNDSS pue Spun} Jo ABAIIBP PuE J01808) 3y} pue suooesuel o} 108dsas
Ujim Jojeap-1ay01q Jnok JO suonanasut 8y mojio) (¥) ‘leusq INOA UO SN AG PBaAIadal SBUNIBs pue Spuny Joj
ueipoIsno S P2 (£) 'SIN AQ pallion uaag 10U Sey UDHEULOU! SIY) '1BABMOY 'S|qeliSs 8q O} PBLWaap saied pay)
WO} PBLIBIGO 10 Ja{eap-19301q Jnok Aq pepircid 8q Aew uonewsiojul BANdLISEp pue Buoud sanunoss uepa)d {(os
op 0} UBYELBPUN SBY J3jeap-19401q JNOA SSajUN) Juncode 8Be19%0.q JNOK JO sjusBle}s oipouad pUE SUCIBULILUOD
uonoesuen puas pue aiedasd (2) Jetesp-1avoiq ok A SIN ybnouyy passesoid suopoesuRI Bjl18S pue Jesjo
‘@)nooxe (1) :1ajeap-12404q JNoK Jo UOROAAP 3y} I ‘lieys SAN ‘suuopad }i eyl S83IAJRS 8U} JOf SPI0daS puB
syo0q painbas Bujuejutew {g) pue ‘ajqesydde ji ‘juncooe ubiew anok oy Buiutepad sajns uiirew yim souetduiod
Buipnjoul suone(nBas pue sme| sjgesydde yim aoueldiiod Ul SSRIAOE UMO S)i pue Junodae abeiavoiq nok
Buisivadns pue *Buijesado (G) ‘8oiApe pue SUOHEPUBLILIOIS] JUBUISBAUL JO Amaeuns ey) bupnwiaep () yunosoe
abe1ay0Iq NoA 0} 10adsal Yim SAN O} SUOHONASUL Jaylo PU. SI8pI0 31BIN0dE pue Ajpwy Bumpusuey (g) ‘Junoooe
abeJayouq oA Buuojuow pue Bunoidde ‘Buuado (2) ‘uonejuawWnoop pue uoleuoul Juncaoe sbesaxoiq
BuiAsuen pue Buuieijqo (1) 1104 3jqisuodsal St 1a{eap-1340iq JNOA ‘1senbss uodn sjgejeae s uonduosep
ajadwon alow v "SJN pue Jsjesp-1exoiq nok Aq pauiioped saoiaes UonEocHe sy} jo Alewuns e st Buimolio)
ay) "Junoaoe aBeiaxoiq Jnok jo uogensinupe sy Buipiebas suopouny ulRLISD WAL usaMIaq SJED0lE SIN pue
10|29P-18304q 4n0K jey) Sasnbel LLEY SNy VHNIA Bi0o Riuy MMM 1B SIS 0OM S, PiNId 8Ll $58208 JO 6666-682
(008) 1€ autioH weiboig oayDevosg uoienbay YrINIL aul 1080 ‘uopeinboy VNI Jo wesbold ayy inoge
UOHBWILOM 80U JO 83NYD0IQ B Ulelqo o} “(Jwesboid,) weiboid sosydsanolg s.uonenbay vyNi4 Buiguossp
UOHBULIOJUL SBPNIDU} 1B} 21NL00Iq JOISaAUl Le jo Ajjigeiieas 8y jo Bujum ui noA Aou em jeu saiinbes vuNidg
syl (L WHNIL) Awouiny AoieinBay Agsnpu (eioueul 8y} J0 pue (3SAN) abueyoxg 30015 HIOA MON au) Jo pue
‘pajnoaxa ase suooesues ay) siaym *Aue y) ‘asnoy Buliea)o sii pue 1ayiew abueyoxe ay) 0 suonejsidisiul pue
sBuyns ‘sebesn 'swojsno ‘suoheinBas ‘sajry ‘uoNInsUOD Y 0 10algns aie suoioesuEs IV VAN PUB ISAN
“sanbas uodn uoydadsul snok 10} djgejieae si ‘1 uonenbay Aq paJinbaj se ‘unocose sjeredss ay JO pIodas
jusuelLad By "pJeog 2ALeSaY |EJAPa BU) JO SI0UIBACY JO pleog ay) Aq panssi | uonenbay jo §'0ZZ UONDBS
J1apun nok Joj paulejuew sjuncose uibiew ssodind-uou INOA UBY) 18Y10 JUNOJDE WInpUBIoWaLW [RI0ads pue
junoooe uiBiew INOA J0 UBLIBIEIS PALIQICD € SI Si} Junoooe uibiew e aaey NOA §| WBWaEls JNOA uc paunusp!
S1 UOIYM "Junoaoe LIBIBW INOK Uf SBNLNDSS JO BN{EA SU} UD PBSEq S| MOLI0q Aew nok unowe sy -ueo] uibiew
Butpuelsine AU 10} [BIS1B|I0O SE JUNadoe JNoA Ul sjasse ay) ButBpeid Jo} abueyoxe ul SAN woy Aeuow mouiog Aews
nok ‘panosdde usaq pue sabajaud uibiew 1oy paldde aaey noA i ‘uiBie  -aseyoind jo sui je SasBYS BY] O
paubisse SNIE)S 8y} UO PASEQ PISSISSE BY Jim uonDesUes 1ok 03 sigedidde sao) Aue ‘8ies Jo Jull IV "SNIE]S 88}
uoROBSUEJ OU 10 83} UonoesUel] ‘peot B paubiisse aq Aew saseys pury aseyoind o swn 1y Isenbas uajum uodn
nOA O} paysILIng ag M SN 0 S84 Ag paaiedal uoheIauUnWal JBYI0 Se |am se uonesuadwions jo (shiunowe pus
(5)a0.n0s B} INOQE UOREBULIOJU! {BUCHPPY "swesbosd sankieue pue uswebebus ‘Bunexyiew pue ‘souruBsUBW
pue uoddns wiopeid ‘ses) dn-UE)s ‘SOOIAIBS 18P|OYRIBYS JO) uonesusdwos [EUOHIPPE SE fjom Se Sjeudlen
Buuay aiy) Ut PaqLOSap $89) {-(Z| PUE SPRO| SA[RS SN JO/PUE JB{EBD 19M0Iq Buponposiut InoA Aed ‘sajeiye

0°01°68TCLL

1£€05707 49999 L9OLDEGISHNEEID NI

SHOSIAQV JUOONVE 'S’

JUBUNSIALI JIBY} 10 ‘Spury SWOS ‘Spunj YoNs Loddns 0} PapasY UMONISBHUL {u) Jo (,spuny,) Sluswase|d ajeaud
10 SUDLIISOAUT ARBWISIIE SE 4ONS SIONPOod JUBUISBAUL J3YI0 PUB S} T 'SPUN) [ENINW Ul suonisod JO 3ouesuBjuiew
1o/pue ‘jo uodwapal Jo abueyoxs ‘afes "aseydund ‘o SSB20E (1) UlIM UOHOBULDD U| 'S88.4 pUE SpeoT saeg

-eoUE|Eq SBHLNDSS 0 YSED B UIBIUOD SIUN0dde Jisy) se Buoj se (1eak Jepusied Jad saiug Jnoj 1ses) 1e)

sjuswalels Ayapenb aalasal [im s1awoisno abesay0iq (B LINWiUL e Jy -pouad Buiodas Ajjuows 1sef syt Buunp
(shunoooe snok ut pey SuoliSod AJUnoas 10 ssouefeq YseD nok pejoaye eyl suooBsUR pBY nok 3 ‘Aniqefiene
s juswWalels JnoA Jo frew-s Aq noA Aptou ‘ajgesyidde ji ‘1o tews Aq SUaIBIE]S JBAISP |IIM SON ‘Bujjiey Juawaies
‘1sanbal usHUM JNOA UOdN NOA 0} pajiew aq [m it jo Adoa e Jo 334jo s) 18 uogoadsut

{euosiad Jnok 10} BjqeieA. SI SN JO JUBLISIEIS [RIDUBUY Y "SUORIPUOD JBYJ0 UIELSD pue Juswanbal

Buibe Jeak g ay) Buijesws saye avif-xe} 2q Aews SUORNGUISIP BDUIS ‘BWOOUL B3.)-Xe] S pauodal ale sy| Loy
wioyy sBuiies “swooul passjap-xe; se sybos) ‘pue sYHI-d3S ‘Sl JeA0|I0Y ‘S| [BUCHIPBIL Ui SIUSUISIAUL
woyy sbutusea spodas g4N “Bunoday swoouf uswWselS INOA jo uoioes Arewwns AjAROE au) Uy nok

10} pekejdsIp St SUOHNGUISIP/SUOHNGLIUOD JUBLBIBS JO ABLULUNS ¥ "SUOHNGISIg/SUONNGIRLOD Juswallay
‘SORUNDSS, JBIUN0J-0UI-19A0, Ui Sapei) Bunoaye ui

19¥eW Jay e Se pajoe BABY ABul AN 1S9Nnbas uslium uodn paysiLINg oq M paseyoind sem AJUNDasS ay) Woym
woij uosiad au} JO SIBU U] PUB PAUNDD0 SUCHIESUEI BSBY} YOIYM uodn abueydXe By} ‘SUCHOESUR By} JO 3wl
ay} 'suonoEsSUES Palosye Jefeap-1ay0iq Jo4 "wesboid Jusunsaaues puspiap (D1Q) Auedwo? jsnij AsopsodsQ
sy ybnouy (Z 10 JUNODOE JUBWISBAU INOA 10} JBjeap-1aj0iq InoA (1 1aype Aq Juebe se pajoaye suohdeSuEs)
woy paYNSal Junodoe abesexoIq INOA 0] PEIIP3IS SAIBYS "SISULIOISND JUBIISAAUIBY PUSPIAIG Ainb3
*SBHUNDAS UieNas

10} sjgeAed Jsassul xeu pue ‘ajqeAed pusplalp xau "ijds %201s pBjoadxa JNoge UCKBWIOJU! SJ0W JOJ J8[eap-1ay0.q
1IN0 Ynsuno ssea)y “uoneuLojul Buissius Jo ‘ajejduioouy ‘8jemoaeul J0j jgisuodsal Jou St S4N Bunuud so§ 3wy
ul saied paY) WO PAAIBDa JouU H BuisSil 8q ABLL SBRLINDSS UIBLISD JOJ UCHBULIOM| -gBueyd 07 Joalgns aq Aew
pue seied piu Aq pepiacid ueeq sey uopewiojul ajgeded 1seslul 1xeU pue ‘ajqeded puspiAip 1XeuU ‘Jds Xao)s
pajoadxa ‘Jsessjuj pue ‘SpPueplAK] 'suidg uonemis [elouBUY JO saA0alqo juswisaaul snok ul abueud euslew
Kue Jo Apdwoid Je[eap-1a%0.q INOA aSIApe PINCYS NoA "pouad asip1axa aul Buunp Ajuo wewubisse asiiexe

o} j0elgns s1 uoido aifis-ueadaung e jo Jolum ayy awp Aueje Juawubisse o ajqel| ase suondo ajfis-uediewy
ut suoisod Uoyg isenbal uodn ajgefieAg St Yoym jo uonduosep e ‘ainpsososd uopesoye wopuer e

o} wensind suonisod uoys Jawoisno Buowe pajesojje are suondo a|kis-ueadoing pue UBdUBWY JO sjuawubissy
-Jajeap-19x01q inok 1oejuoco aseald ‘uonewIoUl JayLN; axnbal nok 4 “sabizeyo Jeylo pue SUOSSILIWIOD

1N0GE UONBULICJUL N SUIRIUOS nok o) passayap AjSnoinaId UOHBLIIJUOD UOHDBSUES OB "SIBl0ISND suondo
‘weibosd

Jswisnipe 11paid 8y} SIBUKLIS) JO PUSLIE O} pue JepoLunodde Aug 0) Juaussnipe ay) Auap o} 1ybu ayi sansesal
S4N 'Suaping Xei [218pa) PAIEIDOSSE {BUORIPPE JoA0D diay O} papuaiul sjusWSAIpE 11PaJ0 aAIa0al o) ajaiblje

8q 10U Aew Spuspinp payiend jo nay ut sluswAed Buneas SIBpIOYIUN00DY wesboid usunsnipy upain

-mej sjqesijdde 0} 108fgns ‘SSaUISNG SI UM UOIOBLIUCD Ui BDUB(RQ P30 891} Siy} asn Kews

Ayjapt jsonbas usyum uo papiaoid 89 [iIM UIRIBY PBUIRIUDD JoU uogeuLojl (B)0L-q01 aInd paiinbay Juaweasbe
JUNOD%R INOA JO SULS} Y} 0} 199[aNs JUNCODE INOA U} PRy Jo nok 0] juss spaanoid ay; asey pue uonisod

2405 3y} ajepinby; ued nok ‘uonisod 3100 & 0} dams St 504 ok §i “eledyiad syl jo AiaAlap nolim ssunoes
PaEDYILIaD JO SBJeS WOJ) SPendoid PNIDXa PUR $HOBLD PRIBBIDUN SB LONS SJUBLIJWLIOD uado o} 1afans

aie gn- "puBwap uo nok o} ajqeked spury ase {,8D4.) seouejeq }ipalo aald NOLLYIWHOANI TVYNOLLIQAY
-Aida ydwolid e amnsus

0} Jaguwiny Junoaoe abelexoiq S:3ua JN0A apnidu| 0} JeqUIBLIR) ‘SN JO Jajeap-1ay0.q ok reyya Bunoeuoo usym
(L VdiS.) 10V UCHDaI0Ld J0ISRAY] S3RLNDSS ay) Japun asou Buipnipu ‘sjybu JnoA 1osj0id o) Bugum Ul pauuyucasl
aq pinoys sauedeosp J0 sapenodeyl upsebas SUOHEJNWIWOD jei0 AUY "ZY66-108 {008) 38 SN 1983U0D
Aew noA saeap-13%04q 1ok ylim JORIU0D jeiliul InoK 0} uolippER U] "J9jeap-1aN0sg JNoA 10 nok AQ SN

yum paysodap aie Jey) SSNUNOAS pue SpUNj Joj UBIPOISND 1nof se spoe pue Junoooe sbesaxolq INOA saies SN
(.S4N.) D11 S80IIeg jelouBULf

[ELONEN PUE JUILLBIBYS S} JO JUOL} BL) L0 PBIOBYY3] SSIIPPE PUE JSqINU duoyda|a} ay) Je Jejeap-1ayolq
10K O} padalip 2q PiNoys ulaiay Aaloe 8yl 10 Juncodse abessxoiq inok Buipsebas Asuedaiosip Jo Aoeinooeur Aug
10 SUodaY JUBWILEYS SIY) JO JU0L) BY} Lo Pa}Ia|al Jajeap-18)01q oA jo Jaquinu auoydaja) ay) Bugjes Aq
Aeieipaun Aouedaosp Jo Aoeinaoeu) Aue yodas pue Juswalels oA meinas ssedld (JIIAY3S HINWOLSND

*S$9Ua}R[dWOD 10 SSBUDI)

“komsnooe 0} SB BPELL 8Q UBD SOUBINSSE OU Inq ‘Sjqelal 8q 0] pansiaq Sapinoid UOHBWLIOJUT WOY PBUIRIGO Bl2p
uo paseq 8ie AJ PUB {3 Suoisioap xe) Jo Buipes) Jususaau) Bubiels Joj uo payjal 10 PasSn aq JoU pInays pug Awo
sasodind jeuonewIOUl J0] PapiAGId B18 AT PUE [V "PAIRISIGA0 WIS JBPUBS DINOM YIIYM 'sutef jepdes Jjo/pue
fedipuud jo winas apnjoul Aeu pue AjUo SajewWSs BIE AJ PUE [y "SUOMIPUOD ssauisng pue {eonijod ‘onuouod3
aimny pue JuaLno Aq pajoage aq Aew pue awi Aue je abueyd 0] Jo8{gns aie sojel pUSpIMP pue 159183} “ajeniony
Aew yoym soud sy up seBUBYD J0U pue JusuySaAul ue Aq palessusB awoouy ay) AlUo S1I8Ya1 AT “Aiundss

18U} 1O} SPUSPIAIP PaIEIoap Jopue Joud uo paseq PalendjeD SYjUoW Z| 1Xsu ay) 1o} syawied puapp $,ALN0S B
0 sjewmsa ue S| Qv auL (Qvl) PuspInp [enuue pajesipul ue Buisn pajendies si [y3 ‘S9nuUnoes Jayjo (e Jo4 ales
uodnod ayy Buisn pe1eNlEd Si BODUT PaXy 0} [y -(AT) PIBIA palewnsy B (1v3) awodut jenuuy pajewnsly
-ssjeap-1a%0iq Jnok Buninsuoo

Joye AjUc apBW 3Q PINOYS SUCISIDSP JUBWISBAU] "SI0J0B] J9XIBL SNOLIBA UO peseq paseyosnd o plos aq Aew
Aunoes sy} yaiym 12 anjea ayj j1oapas Aj2sop jou Aew pue ooud aseysund sy wogy sayip Aew ‘snjea Jed je paoud

asoy; buipnjoul 'AlNo8s & Jo anjey 1axyiew ey “e2unos Buppd e woy sjgejieae jou Ayesauab st Aundas yons
10§ 201d BY) B18UM BIGEIIBABUN, JO /N, 109(J81 ABLI SBRUNDAS LIBLI8D "SI1a0 o SPIq uuy Jou sue papirod saoud
ayy -sjonb Javoiq ajbuis e woyy pasuap aq Aew aoud e ‘SUCHENIS UBRad U] 4sY Appinby Buipnjout 'Ajunoses
aly JO anjeA Sy} 1084 JBY) SIOIOB) AU JO [je 198fjedl Jou Aew pue (ol 1§ B8} sjunowe jedouud winwiuw
uiBUeD UC paseq ag Aew ‘Sajjunoes awodul paxy 1o} Ajrenopied 'Seletlise 5Say] "anjeA ajeuss 0
sanbiuyoa) Jo AlSUeA e asn siopuaa Buroud ay) alGe[iEAR JoU ase Sajonb Yons usym Inq ‘sajonb jexews Jua.LNd
uo paseq Ajjessuab ae siopuaa Bupud wWoy Panadal sadld “pesiuesend jou a:e seoud yons pue pauodal

ase saoud yons yomm u) Aouanbaij atg Aq paoedus aq Aew 'S8DINOS SNOLBA WO PaUIBIdo saoud sjuasardai
anjen 19vep [B10] @y) "saoeld [ewpap § Ut pakedsip st 9oud Jun [enpiaiput 8y} Ing Sa0ejd (BWIOSP 6

0} 1N0 PalENOIED USAY SBY SNjEA 19N [BI0L U] - BNJBA Jaxel  "Siseq Apisam e uo junodoy wbien Jnok o)
poLIBjSUBI] BG {IiM PUE 18)IEW 3y} 0} payJew a4 fim aoud ajes jeuibuo sy wol) SaSealdap JO SISEAIOU} 1w
Auy JUNOS3Y BOUS INOA Ul SUOHOBSURJ YONS Wolj spaecosd eyl pejebasbes ‘suonieinBas yim souepioade

Ul ‘anBYy am ‘B[N BJES LOYS B} JapUN SaILNDas Pios aaey nok jj- saduejed JUNOIOY HOUS AUVYSSO1D

P.16



yuelq Ajjeuoiuaiu Yo st ebed sy

p.17



ANy,
SSQUNTY iy,
~d atttte,, 4]8\ "

..:i:“« ABUSHQ;' .

- ‘és’-o'. ‘e, ) ‘f’

" & * *eenase®®’
INY3] Cr
"\\é\gg\.\““

Agenda
Item

#5



foetd
s

i,

iy,
Y,
~,
R

.
A

ol By

/7

v

Fiscal Year 2025 On-Call Contract Activity Report

MCC Controls dba Primex - *Control System Services (SCADA Services)

Contract #: PRIMEX-2024 OC
Board Meeting 4/30/25

**NTE Contract Task Order Task Order Contract Amount Task Order e Task Order issued Payments to
. Task Order Description
Amount Status Amount Remaining Number Date Date

$ 813,000
Open S 30,000} S 783,000 1 Control System Services 8.27.24 S 20,494.75
Closed S 48,178 1S 734,822 2 PLC install and system start up RTU 20 8.26.24 S 48,177.80
Closed S 46,3481 $ 688,474 3 PLC install and system start up RTU 9 8.27.24 S 46,347.80
Closed S 103,850} S 584,624 4 Replacement hardware for RTU 3/4/6/7/17 10.17.24 $ 103,849.54
Open S 47,0581% 537,566 5 RTU-6 and device upgrades 1.29.25 $ -
Open S 48,228 15 489,338 6 RTU-7 and device upgrades 1.31.25 S -
Open S 46,2981 S 443,041 7 RTU-3 and device upgrades 1.31.25 S -
Open S 47,758 1 S 395,283 8 RTU-4 and device upgrades 1.31.25 $ -
Open S 47,28815 347,995 9 RTU-17 and device upgrades 1.31.25 $ -

$ 813,000 S 465,005 § $ 347,995 $ 218,869.89

*SBCWD Board approved 7.31.24, Contract #PRIMEX-2024 OC

**Contract expires 7.31.27




1
Ny

e, 4
L ]

ly
':," ,5;83‘:?.‘;';3;-‘3‘73'6 s
"'I\\ﬁ;r\gf\“‘@

Agenda
[tem
# 6



SNy,

ISR

Presented To

ANNE E. STULL

1995-2025

In Grateful Appreciation for

30 Years

of Dedicated Service

San Benito County Water District

Manager

President

NN NNENONNN NN NN NENENEN DN




\.
SSOUNTY

e \,).. 2ol
=0 o pmaBLsigge, o'l
FL Y
£5¢: PR
HoH= | 125
¢ 'z SEi L1 iE2
’E: - mi | c'r- : ‘
?m'..._.mhlh }‘Jﬁ ."35
" o.‘ | - .: =

.‘.‘.'pg V. s, \953'.. 5
ML e
M

Agenda
[tem
# 7



L)
L)
oy 5 198"

%

Wy By 2o0sesese
0Or ¢
] LI e g
RIS

Presented To

MICHAEL CRAIG

2005-2025

W‘MW
i /%,
o NN ""
s Q
2
~
s
é:: -
WAWJ

TATTA™

In Grateful Appreciation for

20 Years

g of Dedicated Service

San Benito County Water District

President Manager

EENIENENENSENSENJEN NSNS NSENSEN N NN |




SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT / SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

FINANCING AUTHORITY
AGENDA TRANSMITTAL
Agenda Item: 8
Meeting Date: April 30, 2025
Submitted By: Brett Miller
Presented By: Brett Miller
SUBJECT: Consider Resolutions of the San Benito County Water District and San Benito

County Water District Financing Authority Approving the Installment Sale
Financing to Provide Financing of Water System Improvements for Zone 6
Accelerated Drought Response Project (Not-To-Exceed $42,000,000)

BACKGROUND / DISCUSSION

The District continues to move forward on making improvements to the water system. The proposed 2025
Water Revenue Bonds (the “Bonds™) will fund Zone 6 projects, including the Accelerated Drought Response
Project (“ADRoP” or the “Project”) and other projects as determined by District staff. It is anticipated that
the Project will have a total cost of approximately $60 million, of which $40 million will be funded with
proceeds of the Bonds, and the balance will be funded with grant funds.

Staff, with the assistance of its financing team, have been working since the fall of 2024 to develop a financing
plan that funds the Project while maintaining sufficient revenues to meet outstanding obligations of the
District and operating expenses. The installment sale agreement entered into by the District that secures the
repayment of the Bonds is anticipated to be on parity with the District’s three outstanding debt obligations
(2015 Installment Sale Agreement, 2021 Taxable Revenue Obligations, and 2021 Water Revenue Refunding
Obligations). This means the net revenues of Zone 6 (gross revenues less operations and maintenance costs)
are pledged to the repayment of these obligations on an equal (parity) basis.

All expenses related to the issuance of the Bonds will be paid from bond proceeds.

The Resolutions establish the financing parameters for the sale of the Bonds as follows:
The principal amount of the Bonds will not exceed $42,000,000.

The maximum true interest cost (“TIC”) on the Bonds will not exceed 5.50%.

The Bonds will be fully amortized over 20 years.
Additional Bonds Test and Parity Debt Coverage Covenant is set at 120%.

sl s



The Resolutions establish these “not-to-exceed amounts” based on conservative assumptions, with the current
estimates for the financing set forth in Appendix A of this staff report. If the Board desires to move forward
with the issuance of the Bonds and correspondingly adopts the subject Resolutions, staff, with the assistance
of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation (“Bond Counsel”), NHA Advisors LLC (“Municipal
Advisor”) and Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Underwriter”), will finalize documentation (the
forms of which are being approved by the subject resolutions) and close the transaction at first possible
opportunity, which is expected to occur on or around May 22, 2025.

SUMMARY OF THE RESOLUTIONS, INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT AND RELATED
DOCUMENTS

The Bonds are being issued through the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority (the
“Authority”) who’s Board Members align with the District’s Board. This legal structure is utilized to
maximize the reception among investors of the District’s debt, and is very common in California. It also
necessitates two resolutions — one for the District to approve the financing and related documents, and one
for the Authority to approve the financing and related documents. The documents approved by the two
Resolutions are as follows:

Installment Sale Agreement. The District and the Authority will enter into an Installment Sale Agreement
(the “Installment Sale Agreement”), pursuant to which the District will purchase the Project from the
Authority, and the Authority will use the installment payments made by the District to the Authority pursuant
to the Installment Sale Agreement to pay debt service on the Bonds. As noted above, the District will pledge
the net revenues of Zone 6 to the payment of the installment payments.

Indenture of Trust. The Indenture of Trust, between the Authority and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National
Association, as trustee, sets forth the terms and provisions relating to the Bonds, including interest rates,
redemption terms and events of default. It will be completed once these terms are known. The trustee
administers the Bonds on behalf of the various bondholders, providing a single point of contact for the
- District/Authority.

Bond Purchase Agreement. The Bond Purchase Agreement is among the District, the Authority and the
Underwriter, and establishes the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Underwriter will purchase the
Bonds. The action of selling the Bonds to the Underwriter establishes interest rates and final terms for the
financing which will allow the financing team to complete the Installment Sale Agreement and other financing
documents for execution prior to closing and funding of the Project.

Preliminary Official Statement; Continuing Disclosure Certificate. The Preliminary Official Statement is
the document pursuant to which the Bonds will be marketed and sold to potential investors. It sets forth
information about the District, the Authority, the security and sources of repayment of the Bonds, and risk
factors related to the Bonds. The distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement by the District/Authority
is subject to federal securities laws, including the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These laws require the
Preliminary Official Statement to include all facts that would be material to an investor in the Bonds. Material
information is information that there is a substantial likelihood would have actual significance in the
deliberations of the reasonable investor when deciding whether to buy or sell the Bonds.



Included as an appendix to the Preliminary Official Statement is a Form of Continuing Disclosure Certificate.
Under the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the District will agree to provide annual disclosure reports and
notices of certain events to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB) via its Electronic Municipal
Market Access (EMMA) service, for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds.

Delegation of Authority in Resolutions. The Bonds will be sold by the Authority to the Underwriter after
the District and Authority Boards approve the financing and the credit rating by S&P Global Ratings is
released. The General Manager, Manager of Administration, Finance & Business Services, or any designee
of either of them have each been designated an “Authorized Representative” of the District for the purposes
of structuring and providing for the execution of the Bonds, and pursuant to the Resolutions are each
authorized, jointly and severally, for and in the name of and on behalf of the District and Authority, to execute
and deliver any and all documents and certificates that may be required to be executed in connection with the
execution and delivery of the Bonds, and to do any and all things and take any and all actions which may be
necessary or advisable, in their discretion, to effectuate the actions which the Board has intended with the
adoption of the Resolutions. -

Please note that the Installment Sale Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreement, Continuing Disclosure
Certificate and Indenture of Trust are being presented to the Board as form documents, as they cannot be fully
completed until final interest rates and financing details are determined, which is expected to occur the week
of on May 5th. This method of approval is the normal method of approving a bond issue in California.

Material Included for Information/Consideration:

Finance Committee Recommendation

Resolutions (2)

Form of Installment Sale Agreement

Form of Indenture of Trust

Form of Bond Purchase Agreement

Form of Preliminary Official Statement (including Form of Continuing Disclosure Certificate)
Appendix A - Good Faith Estimates

PowerPoint Presentation

N B N e

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends the Board Adopt the Resolution as presented along with the San Benito County Water

District Financing Authority Board approval of a related resolution, thereby authorizing and approving the
issuance of the 2025 Water Revenue Bonds.

Action Required: X Resolution X Motion Review



Board Action

Resolution No. Motion By Second By
Ayes Abstained
Noes Absent
Reagendized Date No Action Taken




APPENDIX A

REQUIRED DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO
GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 5852.1

As required by Government Code Section 5852.1 enacted January 1, 2018 by Senate Bill 450, the following
estimates have been provided by NHA Advisors, LLC, the District’s municipal advisor, as of April 16,
2025:

1. Estimated True Interest Cost of the Bonds: 4.39%

2. Estimated finance charge of the Bonds, being the sum of all fees and charges paid to
third parties, in the amount of approximately $507,225. Such amount consists of
costs of issuing the Bonds in the amount of approximately $250,000 together with
estimated underwriter’s compensation in the amount of $257,225.

3. Estimated proceeds of the Bonds expected to be received by the District for deposit
to the Project Fund, net of proceeds for Costs of Issuance in (2) above to paid,
capitalized interest and reserves (if any) from the principal amount of the Bonds:
$40,000,000.

4.  Estimated Total Payment Amount for the Bonds, being the sum of all debt service to
be paid on the Bonds to final maturity: $62,104,054.

*All amounts and percentages are estimates, and are made in good faith by the District based on information
available as of the date of adoption of the Resolutions. Estimates include certain assumptions regarding
Jederally taxable interest rates available in the bond market at the time of pricing the Bonds.



BOARD AGENDA MEMO

DATE: April 22, 2025
TO: Board of Directors
FROM: Finance Committee (Tonascia/Freeman)

SUBJECT: Consider Recommending the Board Approve a Resolution
Approving the Installment Sale Financing to Provide Financing of
Water System Improvements for Zone 6 Accelerated Drought
Response Project (Not-To-Exceed $42,000,000)

The Finance Committee met on April 22, 2025 and staff reviewed the
documents related to the bond financing for the Accelerated Drought Response
Project.

The Finance Committee recommends the Board Approve a Resolution
Approving the Installment Sale Financing to Provide Financing of Water System
Improvements for Zone 6 Accelerated Drought Response Project (Not-To-Exceed
$42,000,000).

/ﬁp//" ) Ray SO

Dn[ector Tonascia /f)lrector Freeman

/




DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-06

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
APPROVING (1) INSTALLMENT SALE FINANCING TO PROVIDE FINANCING OF
WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS, AND (2) FINANCING DOCUMENTS AND
RELATED OFFICIAL ACTIONS

WHEREAS, the San Benito County Water District (the “District”) owns and operates a
system for the supply, treatment and distribution of water within its service area comprised of
zones of the District (the “Water System”); and

WHEREAS, the District desires to finance various improvements to Zone 6 of the District
(“Zone 6”) as described in the hereinafter defined Installment Sale Agreement (the “Project”); and;

WHEREAS, the District and the California Statewide Communities Development
Authority have entered into a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2024,
establishing the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority (the “Authority”) for the
purpose, among others, of having the Authority issue its bonds to finance the acquisition,
construction and improvement of public capital improvements like the Project; and

WHEREAS, for the purpose of raising funds necessary to finance the Project, the
Authority proposes to issue revenue bonds under the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California (the “Bond Law”),
designated as the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority 2025 Water Revenue
Bonds (the “Bonds”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Installment Sale Agreement between the District and the
Authority (the “Installment Sale Agreement”), the District will purchase the Project from the
Authority, and the Authority will use the installment payments paid by the District pursuant to the
Installment Sale Agreement to pay debt service on the Bonds; and

WHEREAS, there has been prepared a Preliminary Official Statement containing
information concerning the District, Zone 6 of the Water System and the Bonds to be used in
connection with the sale of the Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code Section 5852.1, certain information relating
to the proposed financing is set forth in the staff report accompanying this Resolution, and such
information is hereby disclosed and made public; and

WHEREAS, the Board approves all of said transactions in furtherance of the public
purposes of the District, and the Board wishes at this time to authorize all proceedings and
documents relating to the interim financing of the Project as described herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San Benito
County Water District as follows:



DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT

1. Approval of Financing Proposal. The Board hereby approves the issuance of the
Bonds by the Authority under the Bond Law for the purpose of providing funds to finance the
acquisition, construction and installation of the Project. The aggregate principal amount of the
Bonds shall not exceed $42,000,000.

2. Approval of Installment Sale Agreement. The Board hereby approves the Installment
Sale Agreement between the Authority and the District, under which the Authority agrees to
provide financing for the Project and to sell the completed Project to the District in consideration
of the payment by the District of semiannual installment payments which are sufficient to provide
revenues with which to pay principal of and interest on the Bonds when due, which installment
payments will be secured by and payable from the net revenues generated by Zone 6, as described
more fully therein. The Installment Sale Agreement is hereby approved in substantially the form
on file with the Board Secretary together with any changes therein or additions thereto deemed
advisable by the General Manager, Assistant General Manager, or any designee of either of them
(each, an “Authorized Officer”), and the execution thereof by an Authorized Officer shall be
conclusive evidence of the approval of any such changes or additions. An Authorized Officer is
hereby authorized and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the District to execute, and
the Board Secretary is hereby authorized and directed to attest to, if necessary, the final form of
the Installment Sale Agreement.

3. Sale of Bonds by the Authority. The Board hereby approves the negotiated sale of the
Bonds by the Authority to Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, as underwriter (the
“Underwriter”). The Bonds shall be sold to the Underwriter under the Bond Purchase Agreement
among the Authority, the District and the Underwriter, which is hereby approved in substantially
the form on file with the Board Secretary, together with any changes therein or additions thereto
deemed advisable by an Authorized Officer, and the execution thereof by an Authorized Officer
shall be conclusive evidence of the approval of any such changes or additions. An Authorized
Officer is hereby authorized and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the District to accept
an offer from the Underwriter to purchase the Bonds from the Authority and to execute the final
form of the Bond Purchase Agreement in the name of the District.

4. Official Statement. The Board hereby approves and deems final within the meaning
of Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a preliminary Official Statement for the
Bonds in the form on file with the Board Secretary. An Authorized Officer is authorized, at the
request of the Underwriter, to execute an appropriate certificate affirming the Board’s
determination that said preliminary Official Statement has been deemed final within the meaning
of said Rule. The Board approves the distribution of the preliminary Official Statement by the
Underwriter to prospective investors, in substantially the form on file with the Board Secretary,
together with any changes therein or additions thereto deemed advisable by an Authorized Officer.
An Authorized Officer is authorized and directed to approve any changes in or additions to a final
form of an Official Statement for the Bonds, and the execution thereof by an Authorized Officer
will be conclusive evidence of approval of any such changes and additions. The Board authorizes
the distribution of the final Official Statement by the Underwriter, which will include final pricing
information related to the Bonds.



DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT

5. Official Actions. Each Authorized Officer, any assistant or deputy thereof, the Board
Secretary are each authorized and directed in the name and on behalf of the District to make any
and all assignments, certificates, requisitions, agreements, notices, consents, instruments of
conveyance, warrants and other documents, including but not limited to a Continuing Disclosure
Certificate in substantially the form attached to the Official Statement which is approved under
Section 4, which they or any of them might deem necessary or appropriate in order to consummate
any of the transactions contemplated by the agreements and documents approved under this
Resolution. Whenever in this Resolution any officer of the District is authorized to execute or
countersign any document or take any action, such execution, countersigning or action may be
taken on behalf of any person serving in such role in an interim capacity or by any officer or person
designated by such officer to act on his or her behalf.

6. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage and
adoption.

¥ %k ok ok ok %k ok ok ok Xk

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Benito County Water District at
a regular meeting, this 30™ day of April, 2025, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:



DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT

ATTEST: APPROVED:
Barbara L. Mauro Doug Williams
Board Secretary Board President



DRAFT---DRAFT—DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT---DRAFT

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
RESOLUTION NO. 2025-07

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
APPROVING (1) INSTALLMENT SALE FINANCING TO PROVIDE FINANCING OF
WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS, AND (2) FINANCING DOCUMENTS AND
RELATED OFFICIAL ACTIONS

WHEREAS, the San Benito County Water District (the “District”) owns and operates a
system for the supply, treatment and distribution of water within its service area comprised of
zones of the District (the “Water System”); and

WHEREAS, the District desires to finance various improvements to Zone 6 of the District
(“Zone 6”) as described in the hereinafter defined Installment Sale Agreement (the “Project”); and;

WHEREAS, the District and the California Statewide Communities Development
Authority have entered into a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2024,
establishing the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority (the “Authority”) for the
purpose, among others, of having the Authority issue its bonds to finance the acquisition,
construction and improvement of public capital improvements like the Project; and

WHEREAS, for the purpose of raising funds necessary to finance the Project, the
Authority proposes to issue revenue bonds under the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California (the “Bond Law”),
designated as the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority 2025 Water Revenue
Bonds (the “Bonds”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to an Installment Sale Agreement between the District and the
Authority (the “Installment Sale Agreement”), the District will purchase the Project from the
Authority, and the Authority will use the installment payments made by the District to the
Authority pursuant to the Installment Sale Agreement to pay debt service on the Bonds; and

WHEREAS, there has been prepared a Preliminary Official Statement containing
information concerning the District, Zone 6 of the Water System and the Bonds to be used in
connection with the sale of the Bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Government Code Section 5852.1, certain information relating
to the proposed financing is set forth in the staff report accompanying this Resolution, and such
information is hereby disclosed and made public; and

WHEREAS, the governing board (the “Board”) of the Authority has duly considered such
transactions and wishes at this time to approve the financing documents related to the Bonds and
certain related actions.



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the San Benito County Water District
Financing Authority as follows:

1. Issuance of Bonds. The Board hereby authorizes the issuance of the Bonds under the
Bond Law for the purpose of providing funds to finance the acquisition, construction and
installation of the Project. The aggregate principal amount of the Bonds shall not exceed
$42,000,000.

2. Approval of Related Financing Agreements. The Board hereby approves each of the
following agreements relating to the issuance and sale of the Bonds, in substantially the respective
forms on file with the Secretary, together with any changes therein or additions thereto deemed
advisable by the Executive Director or the Treasurer (each, an “Authorized Officer”), and the
execution thereof by an Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence of the approval of any
such changes or additions. An Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed for and in the
name and on behalf of the Authority to execute, and the Secretary is hereby authorized and directed
to attest to, if necessary, the final form of each of the following agreements:

e Indenture of Trust, between the Authority and U.S. Bank Trust Company,
National Association, as trustee, setting forth the terms and provisions relating
to the Bonds.

¢ Installment Sale Agreement, between the Authority and the District, under
which the Authority agrees to provide financing for the Project and to sell the
completed Project to the District in consideration of the payment by the District
of semiannual installment payments which are sufficient to provide revenues
with which to pay principal of, and interest on, the Bonds when due, which
installment payments will be secured by and payable from the net revenues
generated by Zone 6, as described more fully therein.

3. Sale of Bonds. The Board hereby approves the sale of the Bonds by negotiation with
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, as underwriter (the “Underwriter”). The Bonds shall
be sold to the Underwriter under-the Bond Purchase Agreement among the Authority, the District
and the Underwriter, which is hereby approved in substantially the form on file with the Secretary,
together with any changes therein or additions thereto deemed advisable by an Authorized Officer,
and the execution thereof by an Authorized Officer shall be conclusive evidence of the approval
of any such changes or additions; provided, that the Underwriter’s discount shall not exceed 0.7%,
and the true interest cost of the Bonds shall not exceed 5.50%. An Authorized Officer is hereby
authorized and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Authority to accept an offer from
the Underwriter to purchase the Bonds from the Authority and to execute the final form of the
Bond Purchase Agreement in the name of the Authority.

4. Official Statement. The Board hereby approves and deems final within the meaning
of Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a preliminary Official Statement for the
Bonds in the form on file with the Secretary. An Authorized Officer is authorized, at the request
of the Underwriter, to execute an appropriate certificate affirming the Authority’s determination
that said preliminary Official Statement has been deemed final within the meaning of said Rule.



The Board approves the distribution of the preliminary Official Statement by the Underwriter to
prospective investors, in substantially the form on file with the Secretary together with any changes
therein or additions thereto deemed advisable by an Authorized Officer. An Authorized Officer is
authorized and directed to approve any changes in or additions to a final form of an Official
Statement for the Bonds, and the execution thereof by an Authorized Officer will be conclusive
evidence of approval of any such changes and additions. The Board authorizes the distribution of
the final Official Statement by the Underwriter, which will include final pricing information
related to the Bonds.

5. Official Actions. The Chair, Executive Director, Treasurer, Secretary and all other
officers of the Authority are each authorized and directed in the name and on behalf of the
Authority to make any and all assignments, certificates, requisitions, agreements, notices,
consents, instruments of conveyance, warrants and other documents, which they or any of them
might deem necessary or appropriate in order to consummate any of the transactions contemplated
by the agreements and documents approved under this Resolution. Whenever in this Resolution
any officer of the Authority is authorized to execute or countersign any document or take any
action, such execution, countersigning or action may be taken on behalf of any person serving in
such role in an interim capacity or by any officer or person designated by such officer to act on his
or her behalf.

6. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage and
adoption.

* ok ok ok ok ok ok % k %

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Benito County Water District
Financing Authority during a regular meeting, this 30" day of April, 2025, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:



ATTEST: APPROVED:

Barbara L. Mauro Doug Williams
Board Secretary Board President




Jones Hall Draft of Apr. 17, 2025

INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT

Dated as of May 1, 2025

between the

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY,
as Seller

and the

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT,
as Purchaser

Relating to

S
San Benito County Water District Financing Authority

2025 Water Revenue Bonds




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS ; RULES OF INTERPRETATION
SECTION 1.1, DEfiMtIONS ...oooiiiiiiie ittt ettt 2
SECTION 1.2, Interpretation ... ....ooooiiii e 2
ARTICLE Il
REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES
SECTION 2.1. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the District..........................c.. 2
SECTION 2.2. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of Authority............................. 3
ARTICLE llI
ISSUANCE OF SERIES 2025 BONDS; CONSTRUCTION OF
2025 WATER PROJECT
SECTION 3.1. The 2025 BONGS. .......cooiiiiiiie ettt e e te e e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e e e neees s 5
SECTION 3.2. Deposit and Application of FUNds. ............ccoccoi i 5
SECTION 3.3. Acquisition and Construction of the 2025 Water Project.............c..ococeiiiin 5
SECTION 3.4. Appointment of District as Agent ..., 5
SECTION 3.5. Plans and Specifications ..........coooioiiiiiiiiiiee e 6
SECTION 3.6. Certificate of Completion ...t 6
ARTICLE IV
SALE OF PROJECT
INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS
SECTION 4.1. Sale of 2025 Water ProjecCt.............ooooiiiiiiiiiii ettt 6
SECTION 4.2, oI ittt e et e e e e st s e e e e e s et ee e e e s aabbn e annee e e s 6
SECTION 4.3, TIe ..ot e e e e e et e e e et e e et e e et e e 6
SECTION 4.4. Installment PaymentS ... e 6
SECTION 4.5. Pledge and Application of Net Revenues ...........ccccoooiiiiini 7
SECTION 4.6. Special Obligation of the District; Obligations Absolute .......................ccc. 8
SECTION 4.7. Additional PaymMentS............ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiei it etr e s ee e e e e reiereeenes 9
ARTICLE V
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT
SECTION 5.1. Disclaimer of Warranties; Maintenance, Utilities and Taxes. ...........ccccccceeee. 10
SECTION 5.2. Release and Indemnification Covenants ..............ccooooiiiiiiii 10
SECTION 5.3. Sale or Eminent Domain...........ccccoiiiiiii e 10
SECTION 5.4, INSUMANCE ........uuuiiiiiiiiiiitiititiiee ittt eeeeeaea e e et aee e s s s s s bbb bbbt beeabbbsseneeneeneeeennnnens 11
SECTION 5.5. Records and ACCOUNTS ...........oviiiiiiiiiiiiieieiiiiiiee e e e e ee e s e e eaeaasennnae s 11
SECTION 5.6. Rates and Charg@s ...........uuuriiriiimriiiiiiee oo cneea e eeenens 11
SECTION 5.7. Superior and Subordinate Obligations.............c.cccoiiiiiiiii 12
SECTION 5.8. Issuance of Parity Obligations .............ccooocoii e, 12
SECTION 5.9. Operation of Zone 6 in Efficient and Economlcal Manner........coocvvvviiiiiniinins 13
SECTION 5.10. Assignment and Amendment............ccoooiiiiiiii e 13
SECTION 5.11. ContinUing DISCIOSUIE..........uviiiiiiiiiiee e 14
SECTION 5.12. Rate Stabilization FUNd. ..........cccoiii e 14
ARTICLE VI
EVENTS OF DEFAULT
SECTION 6.1. Events of Default Defined..................oiiiiniiii e 15
SECTION 6.2. Remedies on Default...............cooviiiiiiiiiiii e 15
SECTION 6.3. No Remedy EXCIUSIVE ............vviviiiiiiiieee e 16
SECTION 6.4. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and EXpenses................ccccccne i, 16



SECTION 6.5. No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver...............cccociiiiiiiiinniiis 16
SECTION 6.6. Trustee and Bond Owners to Exercise Rights ... 16
ARTICLE Vil
PREPAYMENT OF INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS
SECTION 7.1. SeCUNtY DEPOSIt.......coviiiiiiiiiie ettt 17
SECTION 7.2. Optional Prepayment Relating to the 2025 Bonds. ..o, 17

SECTION 7.3. Mandatory Prepayment From Proceeds of Insurance, Sale or

CondemMNation ..........ooiii e 17
SECTION 7.4. Credit for Amounts on Deposit............cccoiiiiiiiiic 18

ARTICLE Vil
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 8.1. FUMNEr ASSUIBNCES .....ooviiiieiiieeeiee ettt ee e e e e e e e 18
SECTION 8.2, NOICES .....eiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt et e e et e e ae e e e e 18
SECTION 8.3. GOVEMMING LAW .....oiiiiiiiiiiiiiie et 18
SECTION 8.4. Binding EffeCt...........ocoiiiiiiiii et 18
SECTION 8.5. Severability of Invalid Provisions ............cccccoiii e 18
SECTION 8.6. Article and Section Headings and References..............cccccooiiniiiic, 19
SECTION 8.7. Payment on Non-Business Days .........c.ccccoeviiiiiiiiiciiiiniiiinc i 19
SECTION 8.8. Execution of Counterpans..............oooo oot 19
SECTION 8.9. Waiver of Personal Liability ...............cccccooi e 19
SECTION 8.10. Trustee as Third Party Beneficiary ...........cccccniii i 19
APPENDIX A Schedule of Installment Payments
APPENDIX B Description of 2025 Water Project



INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT

This INSTALLMENT SALE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of May 1, 2025, is
between the SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint
exercise of powers authority duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California
(the “Authority”), as seller, and the SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT, a special district
organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “District”), as
purchaser.

BACKGROUND:

1. The District owns and operates a system for the supply, treatment and distribution
of water within its service area comprised of zones of the District (the “Water System”), and the
District desires to finance various improvements to Zone 6 of the District (“Zone 6”) as described
herein (the “2025 Water Project”).

2. The Authority has been organized for the purpose of assisting the District in its
public purposes, and to that end the Authority is authorized to assist the District in financing the
costs of acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project.

3. In order to provide funds to finance the acquisition, construction and installation of
the 2025 Water Project, the Authority has proposed to sell the 2025 Water Project to the District
on an instaliment basis, and the District has proposed to purchase the 2025 Water Project from
the Authority as provided in this Agreement.

4.  The Authority will provide the necessary funds for the acquisition, construction and
installation of the 2025 Water Project by issuing its San Benito County Water District Financing
Authority 2025 Water Revenue Bonds (the “2025 Bonds”), in the aggregate principal amount of
$ under an indenture of Trust dated as of May 1, 2025, by and between the Authority
and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Indenture”), and under the
provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of
California, commencing with Section 6584 of said Code (the “Bond Law”).

5. The debt service on the 2025 Bonds will be payable from Installment Payments
made under this Agreement.

6. Repayment of the Installment Payments by the District shall be secured by a pledge
of the Net Revenues of Zone 6, on a parity with the pledge in favor of the holders of Parity
Obligations (as defined herein).

7. The Authority and the District have both duly authorized the execution and delivery
of this Agreement.

AGREEMENT:

In consideration of the foregoing and the material covenants hereinafter contained, the
District and the Authority formally covenant, agree and bind themselves as follows:



ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS; RULES OF INTERPRETATION

SECTION 1.1. Definitions. Unless the context clearly otherwise requires or unless
otherwise defined herein, the capitalized terms in this Agreement have the respective meanings
given them in Article | of the Indenture.

SECTION 1.2. Interpretation.

(a) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words expressed in the singular include
the plural and vice versa and the use of the neuter, masculine, or feminine gender is for
convenience only and include the neuter, masculine or feminine gender, as appropriate.

(b) Headings of articles and sections herein and the table of contents hereof are solely
for convenience of reference, do not constitute a part hereof and do not affect the meaning,
construction or effect hereof.

(c) All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions are to the
corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of this Agreement; the words “herein,” “hereof,”
“hereby,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and
not to any particular Article, Section or subdivision hereof.

ARTICLE |l
REPRESENTATIONS, COVENANTS AND WARRANTIES

SECTION 2.1. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of the District. The
District represents, covenants and warrants to the Authority and the Trustee as follows:

(a) Due Organization and Existence. The District is a special district
duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of California, has
full legal right, power and authority under said laws to enter into this Agreement
and to carry out and consummate all transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby, and by proper action the District Board has duly authorized the execution
and delivery of this Agreement.

(b) Due Execution. The officers of the District executing this
Agreement are fully authorized to execute the same.

(c) Valid, Binding and Enforceable Obligations. This Agreement has
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District and constitutes the
legal, valid and binding agreement of the District enforceable against the District
in accordance with its terms; except as the enforceability thereof may be subject
to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws
affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted and except as such
enforceability may be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance
with principles of equity.




(d) No Conflicts. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the
consummation of the transactions herein contemplated and the fulfillment of or
compliance with the terms and conditions hereof, do not and will not conflict with
or constitute a violation or breach of or default (with due notice or the passage of
time or both) under any applicable law or administrative rule or regulation, or any
applicable court or administrative decree or order, or any indenture, mortgage,
deed of trust, lease, contract or other agreement or instrument to which the District
is a party or by which it or its properties are otherwise subject or bound, or resuit
in the creation or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any
nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the District, which conflict,
violation, breach, default, lien, charge or encumbrance would have consequences
that would materially adversely affect the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement or the financial condition, assets, properties or
operations of the District, including but not limited to the performance of the
District’s obligations under this Agreement.

(e) Consents and Approvals. No consent or approval of any trustee or
holder of any indebtedness of the District or of the voters of the District, and no
consent, permission, authorization, order or license of, or filing or registration with,
any governmental authority is necessary in connection with the execution and
delivery of this Indenture, or the consummation of any transaction herein
contemplated, except as have been obtained or made and as are in full force and
effect.

f No Litigation. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or
investigation before or by any court or federal, state, municipal or other
governmental authority pending or, to the knowledge of the District after
reasonable investigation, threatened against or affecting the District or the assets,
properties or operations of the District which, if determined adversely to the District
or its interests, would have a material and adverse effect upon the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by or the validity of this Indenture, or upon the
financial condition, assets, properties or operations of the District, and the District
is not in default with respect to any order or decree of any court or any order,
regulation or demand of any federal, state, municipal or other governmental
authority, which default might have consequences that would materially adversely
affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Indenture, or the
financial conditions, assets, properties or operations of the District, including but
not limited to the payment and performance of the District’s obligations under this
indenture.

(9) Encumbrances. There are no easements, encumbrances or
interests with respect to Zone 6 or the 2025 Water Project that prohibit or materially
impair the execution, delivery and performance of this Instaliment Sale Agreement
or the acquisition or use of the 2025 Water Project or the facilities or operations of
Zone 6.

SECTION 2.2. Representations, Covenants and Warranties of Authority. The
Authority represents, covenants and warrants to the District and the Trustee as follows:

(a) Due Organization and Existence. The Authority is a joint exercise
of powers authority organized and existing under the laws of the State of California,

-3-



and has power to enter into this Agreement and the Indenture and to perform the
duties and obligations imposed on it hereunder and thereunder. The Board of the
Authority has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
Indenture.

(b) Due Execution. The representatives of the Authority executing this
Agreement and the Indenture are fully authorized to execute the same.

(c) Valid, Binding and Enforceable Obligations. This Agreement and
the Indenture have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Authority
and constitute the legal, valid and binding agreements of the Authority, enforceable
against the Authority in accordance with their respective terms; except as the
enforceability thereof may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter
enacted and except as such enforceability may be subject to the exercise of judicial
discretion in accordance with principles of equity.

(d) No Conflicts. The execution and delivery hereof and of the
Indenture, the consummation of the transactions herein and therein contemplated
and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions hereof and
thereof, do not and will not conflict with or constitute a violation or breach of or
default (with due notice or the passage of time or both) under any applicable law
or administrative rule or regulation, or any applicable court or administrative decree
or order, or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, lease, contract or other
agreement or instrument to which the Authority is a party or by which it or its
properties are otherwise subject or bound, or result in the creation or imposition of
any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of
the property or assets of the Authority, which conflict, violation, breach, defauit,
lien, charge or encumbrance would have consequences that would materially
adversely affect the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and
by the Indenture or the financial condition, assets, properties or operations of the
Authority, including but not limited to the performance of the Authority’s obligations
under this Agreement and the Indenture.

(e) Consents and Approvals. No consent or approval of any trustee or
holder of any indebtedness of the Authority, and no consent, permission,
authorization, order or license of, or filing or registration with, any governmental
authority is necessary in connection with the execution and delivery hereof or of
the Indenture, or the consummation of any transaction herein or therein
contemplated, except as have been obtained or made and as are in full force and
effect.

® No Litigation. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or
investigation before or by any court or federal, state, municipal or other
governmental authority pending or, to the knowledge of the Authority after
reasonable investigation, threatened against or affecting the Authority or the
assets, properties or operations of the Authority which, if determined adversely to
the Authority or its interests, would have a material and adverse effect upon the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by or the validity of this
Agreement or the Indenture, or upon the financial condition, assets, properties or
operations of the Authority, and the Authority is not in default with respect to any

4-



order or decree of any court or any order, regulation or demand of any federal,
state, municipal or other governmental authority, which default might have
consequences that would materially adversely affect the consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Indenture or the financial
conditions, assets, properties or operations of the Authority, including but not
limited to the performance of the Authority’s obligations hereunder and under the
Indenture.

(9) Encumbrances. To the best knowledge of the Authority, there are
no easements, encumbrances or interests with respect to Zone 6 or the 2025
Water Project that prohibit or materially impair the execution, delivery and
performance of this Instaliment Sale Agreement or the acquisition or use of the
2025 Water Project or the facilities or operations of Zone 6.

ARTICLE Ill

ISSUANCE OF 2025 BONDS;
CONSTRUCTION OF 2025 WATER PROJECT

SECTION 3.1. The 2025 Bonds. The Authority shall cause the 2025 Bonds to be issued
under the Indenture in the aggregate principal amount of $ . The Trustee shall
deposit the proceeds of sale of the 2025 Bonds received by it on the Closing Date in accordance
with the Indenture. The District hereby approves the Indenture, the assignment thereunder to the
Trustee of certain rights of the Authority, and the issuance of the 2025 Bonds.

SECTION 3.2. Deposit and Application of Funds. The proceeds received by the
Trustee from the sale of the Bonds to the Original Purchaser shall be deposited in the respective
funds and accounts, and in the respective amounts, as set forth in Section 3.02 of the Indenture.

SECTION 3.3. Acquisition and Construction of the 2025 Water Project. The Authority
hereby agrees with due diligence to supervise and provide for, or cause to be supervised and
provided for, the acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project in accordance
with the plans and specifications, purchase orders, construction contracts and other documents
relating thereto and approved by the District under all applicable requirements of law. All contracts
for, and all work relating to, the acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project
are subject to all applicable provisions of law relating to the acquisition and construction of public
works by the District. The Authority expects that the 2025 Water Project will be completed on or
before September 2026. The failure of the Authority to complete the 2025 Water Project by that
date does not constitute an Event of Default hereunder or grounds for termination hereof, nor
does any such failure result in the diminution, abatement or extinguishment of the obligations of
the District hereunder to pay the Installment Payments when due hereunder.

SECTION 3.4. Appointment of District as Agent. The Authority hereby appoints the
District as its agent to carry out all phases of the acquisition, construction and installation of the
2025 Water Project under and in accordance with the provisions hereof. The District hereby
accepts such appointment and assumes all rights, liabilities, duties and responsibilities of the
Authority regarding the acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project. As
agent of the Authority hereunder, the District shall enter into, administer and enforce all purchase
orders or other contracts relating to the 2025 Water Project. Payment of Project Costs shall be



made by the District from amounts held by the Trustee in the Project Fund in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the Indenture.

SECTION 3.5. Plans and Specifications. The District has the right to specify the exact
scope, nature and identification of the 2025 Water Project and the respective components thereof.
Before any payment is made for the 2025 Water Project or any component thereof from amounts
on deposit in the Project Fund, the District must prepare detailed plans and specifications relating
thereto. The District may from time to time amend any such plans and specifications, and thereby
change or modify the description of the 2025 Water Project or any component thereof.

SECTION 3.6. Certificate of Completion. Upon the completion of the 2025 Water
Project, but in any event not later than 30 days following such completion, an Authorized
Representative of the District shall execute and deliver to the Authority and the Trustee a Written
Certificate of the District which (a) states that the construction of the 2025 Water Project has been
substantially completed, (b) identifies the total Project Costs thereof, and (c) identifies the
amounts, if any, to be reserved in the Project Fund for payment of future Project Costs.

ARTICLE IV

SALE OF PROJECTS;
INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS

SECTION 4.1. Sale of 2025 Water Project. The Authority hereby sells, bargains and
conveys the 2025 Water Project to the District, and the District hereby purchases the 2025 Water
Project from the Authority, upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 4.2. Term. The Term of this Agreement commences on the Closing Date, and
ends on October 1, 20___, or such later or earlier date on which the Bonds cease to be
Outstanding under and within the meaning of the Indenture.

SECTION 4.3. Title. Title to the 2025 Water Project, and each component thereof, shall
be deemed conveyed by the Authority to and vested in the District upon the completion of the
acquisition, construction and installation thereof. The Authority and the District will execute,
deliver and cause to be recorded any and all documents reasonably required by the District to
consummate the foregoing transfer of title.

SECTION 4.4. Instaliment Payments.

(a) Obligation to Pay. The District hereby agrees to pay to the Authority, as the
purchase price of the 2025 Water Project hereunder, the aggregate principal amount of
3 together with interest (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months) on the unpaid principal balance thereof, payable in semiannual instaliment payments in
the respective amounts and on the respective Instaliment Payment Dates specified in Appendix
A hereto.

The District shall deposit the Installment Payment coming due and payable on any Interest
Payment Date with the Trustee, as assignee of the Authority under the Indenture, on the related
Installment Payment Date (as set forth in Exhibit A hereto) in an amount which, together with
amounts then held by the Trustee in the Bond Fund, is equal to the full amount of such Instaliment



Payment. The Instaliment Payments are secured by and payable solely from the sources
specified in Section 4.5.

(b) Effect of Prepayment. If the District prepays all remaining Installment Payments
in full under Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, or under the relevant provisions of any Supplemental
Agreement, the District’s obligations under this Agreement shall thereupon cease and terminate,
including but not limited to the District’s obligation to pay Instaliment Payments therefor under this
Section 4.4; provided, however, that the District’'s obligations to compensate and indemnify the
Trustee under Sections 4.7 and 5.2 will survive such prepayment. [f the District prepays the
Installment Payments in part but not in whole under Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, or under the
relevant provisions of any Supplemental Agreement, the principal component of each succeeding
Instaliment Payment will be reduced as provided in such Sections or in such Supplemental
Agreement, and the interest component of each remaining Installment Payment will be reduced
by the aggregate corresponding amount of interest which would otherwise be payable with
respect to the Bonds thereby redeemed under the applicable provisions of the Indenture.

(c) Rate on Overdue Payments. If the District fails to make any of the payments
required in this Section 4.4 and Section 4.7, the payment in default will continue as an obligation
of the District until fully paid, and the District agrees to pay the same with interest thereon, from
the date of default to the date of payment, at the Overdue Rate.

(d) Assignment. The District understands and agrees that certain rights of the
Authority, including but not limited to the right of the Authority to receive payment of the instaliment
Payments, have been assigned by the Authority to the Trustee in trust under the Indenture, for
the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds, and the District hereby consents to such assignment. The
Authority hereby directs the District, and the District hereby agrees, to pay to the Trustee at its
Principal Corporate Trust Office, all payments payable by the District under this Section 4.4 and
all amounts payable by the District under Article VII.

SECTION 4.5. Pledge and Application of Net Revenues.

(a) Pledge of Net Revenues. All of the Net Revenues (defined with respect to Zone 6
only) and all moneys on deposit in certain funds and accounts established and held by the Trustee
under the Indenture are hereby irrevocably pledged, charged and assigned to the punctual
payment of the Instaliment Payments, as described herein and in the Indenture. Such pledge,
charge and assignment constitute a lien on the Net Revenues and such other moneys for the
payment of the Installment Payments in accordance with the terms hereof, on a parity with the
pledge and lien which secures any Parity Obligations.

(b) Deposit of Net Revenues Into Water Fund; Transfers to Make Payments. The
District will establish and hold in trust the Water Fund (previously established for Zone 6), for the
purposes and uses set forth herein. The District shall deposit all of the Gross Revenues in the
Water Fund immediately upon receipt. The District shall apply amounts in the Water Fund as set
forth in this Agreement and any Parity Obligations Documents. Amounts on deposit in the Water
Fund shall be applied by the District to pay when due the following amounts in the following order
of priority:

(@ all Maintenance and Operation Costs (including amounts
reasonably required to be set aside in contingency reserves for Maintenance and
Operation Costs) as such Maintenance and Operation Costs become due and
payable;



(i) to the Trustee (or other recipient set forth in a Parity Obligations
Document) the amount needed to pay the Instaliment Payments and principal of,
and interest on, any Parity Obligation;

(iii) to the Trustee (or other recipient set forth in a Parity Obligations
Document) the amount of any deficiency in any reserve fund established for any
Parity Obligation (or to pay any reserve insurer any amounts owed in connection
with any draw on any reserve fund insurance policy), the notice of which deficiency
has been given to the District in accordance with the Indenture and the related
Parity Obligations Documents, on a pro rata basis; and

(iv) as long as all of the foregoing payments, allocations and transfers
are made at the times and in the manner set forth above, any moneys remaining
in the Water Fund may at any time be treated as surplus and applied for any lawful
purpose.

(c) No Preference or Priority. Payment of the Installment Payments and the principal
of and interest on any Parity Obligation shall be made without preference or priority among the
Installment Payments and such Parity Obligation. If the amount of Net Revenues on deposit in
the Water Fund is at any time insufficient to enable the District to pay when due the Instaliment
Payments and the principal of and interest on any Parity Obligation (or payments made in
accordance with any reserve account or reserve fund, including to pay any reserve insurer any
amounts owed in connection with any draw on any reserve fund insurance policy), such payments
shall be made on a pro rata basis.

SECTION 4.6. Special Obligation of the District; Obligations Absolute. The District's
obligation to pay the Instalilment Payments and any other amounts coming due and payable
hereunder is a special obligation of the District limited solely to the Net Revenues. Under no
circumstances is the District required to advance moneys derived from any source of income
other than the Net Revenues and other sources specifically identified herein for the payment of
the Instaliment Payments and such other amounts. No other funds or property of the District are
liable for the payment of the Instaliment Payments and any other amounts coming due and
payable hereunder.

The obligations of the District to pay the Installment Payments from the Net Revenues and
to perform and observe the other agreements contained herein are absolute and unconditional
and are not subject to any defense or any right of set-off, counterclaim or recoupment arising out
of any breach by the Authority or the Trustee of any obligation to the District or otherwise with
respect to Zone 6, whether hereunder or otherwise, or out of indebtedness or liability at any time
owing to the District by the Authority or the Trustee. Until all of the Instaliment Payments, all of
the Additional Payments and all other amounts coming due and payable hereunder are fully paid
or prepaid, the District (a) will not suspend or discontinue payment of any Instaliment Payments,
Additional Payments or such other amounts, (b) will perform and observe all other agreements
contained in this Agreement, and (c) will not terminate this Agreement for any cause, including,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the occurrence of any acts or circumstances that
may constitute failure of consideration, eviction or constructive eviction, destruction of or damage
to the facilities of Zone 86, failure to complete the acquisition and construction of the 2025 Water
Project by the estimated completion date thereof, sale of the facilities of Zone 6, the taking by
eminent domain of title to or temporary use of any component of Zone 6, commercial frustration
of purpose, any change in the tax law or other laws of the United States of America or the State

-8-



of California or any political subdivision of either thereof, or any failure of the Authority or the
Trustee to perform and observe any agreement, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability
or obligation arising out of or connected with the Indenture or this Agreement.

The foregoing provisions of this Section 4.6 do not release the Authority from the
performance of any of the agreements on its part contained herein or in the Indenture, and if the
Authority fails to perform any such agreements, the District may institute such action against the
Authority as the District deems necessary to compel performance, so long as such action does
not abrogate the obligations of the District contained in the preceding paragraph. The District
may, however, at its cost and expense and in its name or in the name of the Authority, prosecute
or defend any action or proceeding or take any other action involving third persons which the
District deems reasonably necessary in order to secure or protect the District’s rights hereunder,
and in such event the Authority shall cooperate fully with the District and shall take such action
necessary to effect the substitution of the District for the Authority in such action or proceeding as
the District may request.

SECTION 4.7. Additional Payments. In addition to the Instaliment Payments, the
District shall pay when due the following amounts to the following parties:

(a) to the Authority, all costs and expenses incurred by the Authority to
comply with the provisions of this Agreement and the Indenture;

(b) to the Trustee upon request therefor, all of its fees, costs and
expenses payable as a result of the performance of and compliance with its duties
hereunder or under the Indenture or any related documents;

(c) to the Authority and the Trustee, all amounts required to indemnify
the Authority and the Trustee under Section 5.2 hereof and Section 8.07 of the
Indenture; and

(d) all costs and expenses of auditors, engineers and accountants for
professional services relating to Zone 6 or the Bonds.

(e) all amounts payable to the Insurer not classified as Installment
Payments, including Policy Costs (as defined in the Indenture)

Other than Policy Costs, the Additional Payments shall be payable from, but shall not be
secured by a pledge or lien upon, the Net Revenues. In order to secure the District's obligation to
pay Additional Payments with respect to Policy Costs, there is hereby granted and perfected in
favor of the Insurer a security interest (subordinate only to the payment of Instaliment Payments)
in all Net Revenues. The rights of the Trustee and the Authority under this Section 4.7, and the
obligations of the District under this Section 4.7, shall survive the termination of this Agreement.



ARTICLEV
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT
SECTION 5.1. Disclaimer of Warranties; Maintenance, Utilities and Taxes.

(a) The Trustee makes no warranty or representation, either express or implied, as to
the value, design, condition, merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose or fitness for the
use contemplated by the District of the Project or any component thereof, or any other
representation or warranty with respect to any of the Project or any component thereof. In no
event is the Authority liable for incidental, indirect, special or consequential damages, in
connection with or arising out of this Agreement or the Indenture for the existence, furnishing,
functioning or use of the Project.

(b) Throughout the Term of this Agreement, all improvement, repair and maintenance
of the facilities of Zone 6 shall be the responsibility of the District, and the District shall pay for or
otherwise arrange for the payment of all utility services supplied to Zone 6, which may include,
without limitation, janitor service, security, power, gas, telephone, light, heating, Water and all other
utility services, and shall pay for or otherwise arrange for the payment of the cost of the repair and
replacement of the facilities of Zone 6 resulting from ordinary wear and tear.

The District shall also pay or cause to be paid ail taxes and assessments of any type or nature,
if any, charged to the Authority or the District affecting Zone 6 or the respective interests or estates
therein; provided, however, that with respect to special assessments or other governmental
charges that may lawfully be paid in installments over a period of years, the District shall be
obligated to pay only such instaliments as are required to be paid during the Term of this
Agreement as and when the same become due.

SECTION 5.2. Release and Indemnification Covenants. The District agrees to
indemnify the Authority and the Trustee and their respective officers, agents, successors and
assigns, against all ciaims, losses and damages, including legal fees and expenses, arising out
of (a) the use, maintenance, condition or management of, or from any work or thing done on or
with respect to Zone 6 by the District, (b) any breach or default on the part of the District in the
performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement or the Indenture, (c) any act or
omission of the District or of any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees with
respect to Zone 6, and (d) any act or omission of any lessee of the District with respect to Zone
6. No indemnification is made under this Section 5.2 or elsewhere in this Agreement for willful
misconduct or negligence under this Agreement by the Authority, or the Trustee, or their
respective officers, agents, employees, successors or assigns. The provisions of this Section 5.2
shall survive the expiration of the Term of this Agreement.

SECTION 5.3. Sale or Eminent Domain.

(a) The District will not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of the facilities of Zone 6 or any
part thereof essential to the proper operation of Zone 6 or to the maintenance of the Net Revenues
except as herein expressly permitted. The District will not enter into any lease or agreement which
impairs the operation of Zone 6 or any part thereof necessary to secure adequate Net Revenues
for the payment of the interest on and principal or redemption price, if any, on the Bonds, or which
would otherwise impair the rights of the holders of the Bonds with respect to the Net Revenues or
the operation of Zone 6. Any real or personal property which has become non-operative or which
is not needed for the efficient and proper operation of Zone 6, or any material or equipment which

-10-



has worn out, may be sold at not less than the market value thereof without the consent of the
holders of the Bonds if such sale will not reduce Net Revenues and if all of the Net Proceeds of
such sale are deposited in the Water Fund.

(b) If all or any part of the facilities of Zone 6 shall be taken by eminent domain
proceedings, the Net Proceeds realized by the District therefrom shall be applied by the District
(a) to the cost of acquiring or constructing or financing improvements for Zone 6, or (b) to redeem
Bonds or any Parity Obligation in accordance with the Indenture or the applicable Parity
Obligations Documents.

SECTION 5.4. Insurance. The District covenants that it shall at all times maintain such
insurance with respect to Zone 6 as is customarily maintained with respect to works and properties
of like character against accident to, loss of or damage to such works or properties.

Any such insurance shall be in the form of policies or contracts for insurance with insurers
of good standing and shall be payable to the District, or may be in the form of self-insurance by
the District. The District shall establish such fund or funds or reserves as it determines, in its sole
judgment, are necessary to provide for its share of any such self-insurance.

All amounts collected from insurance against accident to or destruction of any portion of
the facilities of Zone 6 shall be used to repair or rebuild such damaged or destroyed portion
thereof, and to the extent not so applied, shall be applied to redeem Bonds or any Parity Obligation
in accordance with the Indenture or the applicable Parity Obligations Documents.

SECTION 5.5. Records and Accounts. The District covenants that it shall keep proper
books of record and accounts with respect to Zone 6, in which complete and correct entries shall
be made of all transactions relating to Zone 6. Said books shall, upon reasonable request, be
subject to the inspection of the Owners of not less than 10% of the Outstanding Bonds or their
representatives authorized in writing.

The District covenants that it will cause the books and accounts with respect to Zone 6 to
be audited annually by an Independent Certified Public Accountant and will make available for
inspection by the Bond Owners, upon reasonable request, a copy of the report of such
Independent Certified Public Accountant.

The District covenants that it will cause to be prepared annually, not more than 180 days
after the close of each Fiscal Year, as a part of its regular annual financial report, a summary
statement showing the amount of Gross Revenues and the amount of all other funds collected
which are required to be pledged or otherwise made available as security for payment of principal
of and interest on the Bonds, the disbursements from the Gross Revenues and other funds in
reasonable detail. The District shall furnish a copy of the statement to the Trustee, and upon
written request, to any Bond Owner.

SECTION 5.6. Rates and Charges.
(a) The District shall fix, prescribe, revise and collect rates and charges for Zone 6
during each Fiscal Year which are at least sufficient, after making allowances for contingencies

and error in the estimates, to produce Gross Revenues which will be sufficient to pay the following
amounts:

-11-



(i) all Operations and Maintenance Costs of Zone 6 estimated by the District
to become due and payable in such Fiscal Year;

(i) the Installment Payments and Debt Service on any Parity Obligations;

iif) all other payments required for compliance with this Agreement, the
Indenture and the Parity Obligations Documents; and

(iv) all payments required to meet any other obligations of the District that are
charges, liens, encumbrances upon or payable from the Gross Revenues or the Net
Revenues of Zone 6.

(b) In addition, the District shall fix, prescribe, revise and collect charges for Zone 6
during each Fiscal Year which are sufficient to yield Net Revenues at least equal to 120% of the
amounts payable under the preceding clause (a)(ii) in such Fiscal Year. For purposes of this
paragraph, the amount of Net Revenues for a Fiscal Year will be computed on the basis that any
transfers into the Water Fund in such Fiscal Year from the Rate Stabilization Fund are included
in the calculation of Net Revenues (except to the extent of amounts transferred into the Rate
Stabilization Fund from Gross Revenues received by the District in such Fiscal Year, so as to
avoid double-counting), as provided in this Agreement.

SECTION 5.7. Superior and Subordinate Obligations. The District may not issue or
incur any additional bonds or other obligations during the Term of this Agreement having any
priority in payment of principal or interest out of the Net Revenues over the Instaliment Payments.
Nothing herein is intended or shall be construed to limit or affect the ability of the District to issue,
enter into or incur (a) any Parity Obligation under Section 5.8, or (b) obligations which are either
unsecured or which are secured by an interest in the Net Revenues which is junior and
subordinate to the of and lien upon the Net Revenues established hereunder.

SECTION 5.8. Issuance of Parity Obligations. The District may issue or execute
additional bonds, notes, leases, installment sale agreements and other obligations payable from
and secured by a pledge of and lien upon some or all of the Net Revenues, on parity with the
Installment Payments and the other Parity Obligations, subject to the following specific conditions
precedent:

(a) The District is in compliance with all covenants set forth in this Agreement
and in the Indenture.

(b) The Net Revenues (defined with respect to Zone 6 only), calculated on
generally accepted accounting principles, as shown by the books of the District for the
latest Fiscal Year or any more recent 12-month period selected by the District ending not
more than 60 days prior to the adoption of the applicable Parity Obligations Document
pursuant to which such Parity Obligation is issued, as shown by the books of the District,
plus, at the option of the District, any or all of the items hereinafter in this paragraph
designated (i) and (ii), shall at least equal 120% of Maximum Annual Debt Service, with
Maximum Annual Debt Service calculated on all bonds and other obligations to be
outstanding immediately subsequent to the issuance of such Parity Obligation which have
a lien on said Net Revenues. The items any or all of which may be added to such Net
Revenues for the purpose of issuing or incurring Parity Obligation hereunder are the
following:

-12-



(i) An allowance for Net Revenues from any additions to or
improvements or extensions with respect to Zone 6 to be made with the proceeds
of such Parity Obligation, and also for Net Revenues from any such additions,
improvements or extensions which have been made from moneys from any source
but in any case which, during all or any part of such Fiscal Year or such 12-month
period, were not in service, all in an amount equal to 90% of the estimated
additional average annual Net Revenues to be derived from such additions,
improvements and extensions for the first 36-month period in which each addition,
improvement or extension is respectively to be in operation, all as shown in the
written report of an Independent Consultant engaged by the District; and

(i) An allowance for revenues projected to arise from any increase in
the rates and charges which has been approved by the District Board prior to the
incurring of such additional indebtedness but which, during all or any part of such
Fiscal Year or such 12-month period, was not in effect, in an amount equal to the
amount by which the Net Revenues would have been increased if such increase
in rates and charges had been in effect during the whole of such Fiscal Year or
such 12-month period, all as shown in the written report of an Independent
Consultant engaged by the District. For the avoidance of doubt, a charge shall be
considered to have been approved by the District Board and may be considered
in the calculation of the allowance described in the previous sentence if the water
rate and charge is part of a multi-year rate increase that has been approved by the
District Board, even if the specific rate and charge will not take effect until a
subsequent Fiscal Year.

(©) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Parity Obligation proposed to be issued
for the purpose of refunding any Parity Obligation may be issued without compliance with
subsection (b) and (c)(i), so long as such refunding results in lower Debt Service in each
Fiscal Year after such refunding and the final maturity (or termination) date of the refunding
Parity Obligation is no later than the final maturity (or termination) date of the refunded
Parity Obligation. For clarity, Parity Obligations may or may not be secured by a debt
service reserve fund.

SECTION 5.9. Maintenance and Operation of Zone 6 in Efficient and Economical
Manner. The District covenants and agrees to maintain and operate Zone 6 in an efficient and
economical manner and to operate, maintain and preserve Zone 6 in good repair and working
order.

SECTION 5.10. Assignment and Amendment. The Authority and the District may at
any time amend or modify any of the provisions of this Agreement, but only: (a) with the prior
written consents of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding
Bonds; or (b) without the consent of the Trustee or any of the Bond Owners, but only if such
amendment or modification is for any one or more of the following purposes:

0] to add to the covenants and agreements of the District contained in
this Agreement, other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, or to
limit or surrender any rights or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the
District;

13-



(i) to make such provisions for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, or
of curing, correcting or supplementing any defective provision contained herein, to
conform to the original intention of the District and the Authority;

(iii) to modify, amend or supplement this Agreement in such manner as
to assure that the interest on the Bonds remains excluded from gross income
under the Tax Code (provided that this provision shall not apply to bonds the
interest on which is intended to be included in gross income for purposes of federal
income taxation);

(iv) in any other respect whatsoever as the Authority and the District
deem necessary or desirable, if in the opinion of Bond Counsel such modifications
or amendments do not materially adversely affect the interests of the Owners of
the Bonds; and

(v) to provide for the issuance of any Parity Obligation pursuant to
Section 5.8 hereof.

No such modification or amendment may extend or have the effect of extending any
Installment Payment Date or reducing any Installment Payment or any premium payable upon
the prepayment thereof, without the express consent of the Owners of the affected Bonds, or
modify any of the rights or obligations of the Trustee without its written assent thereto.

SECTION 5.11. Continuing Disclosure. The District hereby covenants and agrees to
comply with and carry out all of the provisions of each Continuing Disclosure Certificate, as
originally executed as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, and as it may be
amended from time to time in accordance with its terms. Notwithstanding any other provision of
this Agreement, failure by the District to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Certificate shall
not constitute a default hereunder or under the Indenture of Trust; provided, however, that any
Participating Underwriter or any Owner or beneficial owner of the Bonds may take such action as
may be necessary and appropriate to compel performance by the District of its obligations under
this Section, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order. All capitalized
terms used but not defined in this Section shall have the meanings given in the Continuing
Disclosure Certificate.

SECTION 5.12. Rate Stabilization Fund. The District has previously established a rate
stabilization fund (the “Rate Stabilization Fund”). From time to time the District may deposit
amounts in the Rate Stabilization Fund, from any source of legally available funds, including but
not limited to Net Revenues that are released from the pledge and lien which secures the
Instaliment Payments and any Parity Debt, as the District may determine.

The District may, but is not required to, withdraw from any amounts on deposit in a Rate
Stabilization Fund and deposit such amounts in the Water Fund within 210 days following the end
of any Fiscal Year. Amounts so transferred from a Rate Stabilization Fund to the Water Fund
shall constitute Gross Revenues for the applicable Fiscal Year (except to the extent of amounts
transferred into the Rate Stabilization Fund from Gross Revenues received by the District in such
Fiscal Year, so as to avoid double-counting), and shall be applied for the purposes of the Water
Fund. Amounts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund shall not be pledged to or otherwise secure
the Instaliment Payments or any Parity Debt. The District has the right at any time to withdraw
any or all amounts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund and apply such amounts for any lawful
purposes of the District.

-14-



ARTICLE VI
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

SECTION 6.1. Events of Default Defined. The following events constitute Events of
Defauit hereunder:

(a) Failure by the District to pay any Instaliment Payment when due
and payable hereunder.

(b) Failure by the District to pay any Additional Payment when due and
payable hereunder, and the continuation of such failure for a period of 30 days.

(c) Failure by the District to observe and perform any covenant,
condition or agreement on its part to be observed or performed, other than as
referred to in the preceding clauses (a) or (b), for a period of 60 days after written
notice specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied has been given
to the District by the Authority or the Trustee; provided, however, that if the District
notifies the Authority and the Trustee that in its reasonable opinion the failure
stated in the notice can be corrected, but not within such 60-day period, such
failure will not constitute an event of default hereunder if the District commences
to cure such failure within such 60 day period and thereafter diligently and in good
faith cures the failure in a reasonable period of time.

(d) The filing by the District of a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or
failure by the District promptly to lift any execution, garnishment or attachment, or
adjudication of the District as a bankrupt, or assignment by the District for the
benefit of creditors, or the entry by the District into an agreement of composition
with creditors, or the approval by a court of competent jurisdiction of a petition
applicable to the District in any proceedings instituted under the provisions of the
Federal Bankruptcy Code, as amended, or under any similar acts which may
hereafter be enacted.

(e) The occurrence of any event defined to be an event of default under
any Parity Obligations Documents.

SECTION 6.2. Remedies on Default. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing,
the Trustee as assignee of the Authority has the right, at its option and without any further demand
or notice, to take any one or more of the following actions:

(a) Declare all principal components of the unpaid Installment
Payments, together with accrued interest thereon at the Overdue Rate from the
immediately preceding Interest Payment Date on which payment was made, to be
immediately due and payable, whereupon the same shall inmediately become due
and payable.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection (a), the Trustee

shall rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences if, before any
judgment or decree for the payment of the moneys due has been obtained or

-15-



entered, (i) the District deposits with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all principal
components of the Installment Payments coming due prior to such declaration and
all matured interest components (if any) of the Instaliment Payments, with interest
on such overdue principal and interest components calculated at the Overdue
Rate, and (ii) the District pays the reasonable expenses of the Trustee (including
any fees and expenses of its attorneys), and (iii) any and all other defaults known
to the Trustee (other than in the payment of the principal and interest components
of the Instaliment Payments due and payable solely by reason of such declaration)
have been made good. No such rescission and annulment will extend to or shall
affect any subsequent default, or impair or exhaust any right or power consequent
thereon.

(b) Take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or
desirable to collect the Instaliment Payments then due or thereafter to become due
during the Term of this Agreement, or enforce performance and observance of any
obligation, agreement or covenant of the District under this Agreement.

(c) As a matter of right, in connection with the filing of a suit or other
commencement of judicial proceedings to enforce the rights of the Trustee and the
Bond Owners hereunder, cause the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the
Gross Revenues and other amounts pledged hereunder, with such powers as the
court making such appointment may confer.

SECTION 6.3. No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to
the Authority is intended to be exclusive. Every such remedy is cumulative and in addition to
every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity.
No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default impairs any such
right or power or operates as a waiver thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised
from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle the Authority to
exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Article VI, it is not necessary to give any notice, other
than such notice as may be required in this Article VI or by law.

SECTION 6.4. Agreement to Pay Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses. [f either party to this
Agreement defaults under any of the provisions hereof and the nondefaulting party, the Trustee
or the Owner of any Bonds employs attorneys or incurs other expenses for the collection of
moneys or the enforcement or performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the
part of the defaulting party herein contained, the defaulting party agrees that it will on demand
therefor pay to the nondefaulting party, the Trustee or such Owner, as the case may be, the
reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses so incurred. The provisions of this
Section 6.4 survive the expiration of the Term of this Agreement.

SECTION 6.5. No Additional Waiver Implied by One Waiver. If any agreement
contained in this Agreement is breached by either party and thereafter waived by the other party,
such waiver is limited to the particular breach so waived and does not waive any other breach
hereunder.

SECTION 6.6. Trustee and Bond Owners to Exercise Rights. Such rights and
remedies as are given to the Authority under this Article VI have been assigned by the Authority
to the Trustee under the Indenture, to which assignment the District hereby consents. Such rights
and remedies shall be exercised by the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds as provided in the
indenture.

-16-



ARTICLE VII
PREPAYMENT OF INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS

SECTION 7.1. Security Deposit. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the District
may on any date secure the payment of Instaliment Payments, in whole or in part, by irrevocably
depositing with the Trustee an amount of cash which, together with other available amounts, is
either:

(a) sufficient to pay all such Installment Payments, including the
principal and interest components thereof, when due under Section 4.4(a), or

(b) invested in whole or in part in non-callable Defeasance Obligations
in such amount as will, in the opinion of an Independent Certified Public
Accountant (which opinion is addressed and delivered to the Trustee), together
with interest to accrue thereon and together with any cash which is so deposited,
be fully sufficient to pay all such Instaliment Payments when due under Section
4.4(a) or when due on any optional prepayment date under Section 7.2, as the
District instructs at the time of said deposit.

If the District makes a security deposit under this Section for the payment of all remaining
Installment Payments and all Policy Costs owing to the Insurer (as those terms are defined in the
Indenture), all obligations of the District hereunder, and the pledge of Net Revenues and all other
security provided by this Agreement for said obligations, will thereupon cease and terminate,
excepting only the obligation of the District to make, or cause to be made, all Instaliment Payments
from the security deposit. The security deposit will be deemed to be and will constitute a special
fund for the payment of the Installment Payments in accordance with the provisions hereof.

SECTION 7.2. Optional Prepayment Relating to the 2025 Bonds. The District may
exercise its option to prepay the principal components of the Instaliment Payments relating to the
2025 Bonds in whole or in part on any date on or after October 1, 2034. The District may exercise
such option by payment of a prepayment price equal to the sum of (a) the aggregate principal
components of the Installment Payments relating to the 2025 Bonds to be prepaid, (b) the interest
component of the Installment Payment relating to the 2025 Bonds required to be paid on or
accrued to such date, and (c) the premium (if any) then required to be paid upon the
corresponding redemption of the 2025 Bonds under Section 4.01(a) of the Indenture. The Trustee
shall deposit the prepayment price in the Redemption Fund to be applied to the redemption of
2025 Bonds under Section 4.01(a) of the Indenture. If the District prepays the Instaliment
Payments in part but not in whole, the principal components will be prepaid among such maturities
and in such integral multiples of $5,000 as the District designates in written notice to the Trustee.

SECTION 7.3. Mandatory Prepayment From Proceeds of Insurance, Sale or
Condemnation. The District shall prepay the Instaliment Payments on any date, in whole, or in
part among maturities on a pro rata basis in any integral multiple of $5,000, from and to the extent
of any proceeds of insurance, sale or condemnation awards with respect to the facilities of Zone
6 theretofore paid to the Trustee for such purpose under Sections 5.3 or 5.4. The District and the
Authority hereby agree that such proceeds, to the extent remaining after payment of any
delinquent Instaliment Payments, will be deposited in the Redemption Fund and credited towards
the District’s obligations under this Section 7.3.

-17-



SECTION 7.4. Credit for Amounts on Deposit. If the District prepays the Instaliment
Payments in full under this Article VI, such that the Indenture is discharged by its terms as a
result of the prepayment, and upon payment in full of all Additional Payments and other amounts
then due and payable hereunder, all available amounts then on deposit in the funds and accounts
established under the Indenture shall be credited towards the amounts then required to be so
prepaid.

ARTICLE Vill
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 8.1. Further Assurances. The District agrees that it will execute and deliver
any and all such further agreements, instruments, financing statements or other assurances as
may be reasonably necessary or requested by the Authority or the Trustee to carry out the
intention or to facilitate the performance of this Agreement, including, without limitation, to perfect
and continue the security interests herein intended to be created.

SECTION 8.2. Notices. Any notice, request, complaint, demand or other communication
under this Agreement must be given by first class mail or personal delivery to the party entitled
thereto at its address set forth below, or by telecopier or other form of telecommunication, at its
number set forth below. Notice is effective either (a) upon transmission by fax or other form of
telecommunication, (b) upon actual receipt after deposit in the United States of America mail,
postage prepaid, or (c) in the case of personal delivery to any person, upon actual receipt. The
Authority, the District and the Trustee may, by written notice to the other parties, from time to time
modify the address or number to which communications are to be given hereunder.

If to the District San Benito County Water District
or the Authority: 30 Mansfield Road
Hollister, CA 95023
Attention: Assistant General Manager

If to the Trustee: U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association
One California Street, Suite 1000
San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: Global Corporate Trust

SECTION 8.3. Governing Law. This Agreement will be construed in accordance with
and governed by the laws of the State of California.

SECTION 8.4. Binding Effect. This Agreement inures to the benefit of and is binding
upon the Authority and the District and their respective successors and assigns, subject, however,
to the limitations contained herein.

SECTION 8.5. Severability of Invalid Provisions. If any one or more of the provisions
contained in this Agreement are for any reason held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect, then such provision or provisions will be deemed severable from the remaining provisions
contained in this Agreement and such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any
other provision of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid or

-18-



illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. The Authority and the District
each hereby declares that it would have entered into this Agreement and each and every other
Section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or
more Sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses or phrases of this Agreement may be held illegal,
invalid or unenforceable.

SECTION 8.6. Article and Section Headings and References. The headings or titles
of the several Articles and Sections hereof, and any table of contents appended to copies hereof,
are solely for convenience of reference and do not affect the meaning, construction or effect of
this Agreement. All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions are to the
corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of this Agreement; the words “herein,” “hereof,”
“hereby,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and
not to any particular Article, Section or subdivision hereof; and words of the masculine gender
mean and include words of the feminine and neuter genders.

SECTION 8.7. Payment on Non-Business Days. Whenever any payment is required
to be made hereunder on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the
immediately preceding Business Day.

SECTION 8.8. Execution of Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any
number of counterparts, each of which will for all purposes be deemed to be an original and all of
which together constitute but one and the same instrument.

SECTION 8.9. Waiver of Personal Liability. No member of the District Board, officer,
agent or employee of the District has any individual or personal liability for the payment of
Instalilment Payments or Additional Payments or be subject to any personal liability or
accountability by reason of this Agreement; but nothing herein contained relieves any such
member of the District Board, officer, agent or employee from the performance of any official duty
provided by law or by this Agreement.

SECTION 8.10. Trustee as Third Party Beneficiary. The Trustee is hereby made a

third party beneficiary hereof and is entitled to the benefits of this Agreement with the same force
and effect as if the Trustee was a party hereto.

-19-



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and the District have caused this Agreement to
be executed in their respective names by their duly authorized officers, all as of the date first
above written.

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
FINANCING AUTHORITY, as Seller

By:

Dana Jacobson
Executive Director

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT, as
Purchaser

By:

Dana Jacobson
General Manager

[Signature Page to Instaliment Sale Agreement dated as of May 1, 2025]



APPENDIX A

SCHEDULE OF INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS

Interest Principal Interest Total

Payment Date!! Component Component Payment
10/1/25

4/1/26
10/1/26
41127
10/1/27
4/1/28
10/1/28
4/1/29
10/1/29
4/1/30
10/1/30
4/1/31
10/1/31
411132
10/1/32
4/1/33
10/1/33
4/1/34
10/1/34
4/1/35
10/1/36
4/1/36
10/1/36
4/1/37
10M1/37
4/1/38
10/1/38
4/1/39
10/1/39
4/1/40
10/1/40
4/1/41
10/1/41
4/1/42
10/1/42
4/1/43
10/1/43
4/1/44
10/1/44
4/1/45
10/1/45
TOTALS

(1) Installment Payment Dates are the fifth (5th) Business Day immediately preceding each interest Payment
Date shown in the table.



APPENDIX B
DESCRIPTION OF 2025 WATER PROJECT

The 2025 Water Project will consist of the following improvements, and any other
improvements for Zone 6 approved by the District Board:

The Accelerated Drought Response Project (ADRoP), which addresses the water supply
deficit in the San Benito Urban Area (SBUA). In dry years, the SBUA relies mainly on groundwater
and costly spot market water purchases to meet Municipal and Industrial (M&!) demands. ADRoP
is designed to capture excess surface water in wet years and store it in the aquifer for later use
during drought years. It will improve water quality, ensure sustainability, and improve the
resilience of the groundwater basin. The ADRoP includes the construction of five Aquifer Storage
and Recovery (ASR) wells, the expansion of the West Hills Water Treatment Plant (WHWTP),
and the installation of pipelines for water transmission. It will have the capacity to inject, store,
and recover up to 2,700 AFY of water.

B-1



Jones Hall Draft of Apr. 17, 2025

INDENTURE OF TRUST

Dated as of May 1, 2025

between the

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING
AUTHORITY

and
U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Trustee
Authorizing the Issuance of

$
San Benito County Water District Financing Authority
2025 Water Revenue Bonds




SECTION 1.01

SECTION 1.02.
SECTION 1.03.

SECTION 2.01.
SECTION 2.02.
SECTION 2.03.
SECTION 2.04.
SECTION 2.05.
SECTION 2.06.
SECTION 2.07.

SECTION 3.01.
SECTION 3.02.
SECTION 3.03.
SECTION 3.04.
SECTION 3.05.
SECTION 3.06.
SECTION 3.07.

SECTION 4.01.
SECTION 4.02.
SECTION 4.03.
SECTION 4.04.
SECTION 4.05.

SECTION 5.01.
SECTION 5.02.
SECTION 5.03.
SECTION 5.04.
SECTION 5.05.
SECTION 5.06.
SECTION 5.07.
SECTION 5.08.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

DefiNItIONS ...ooie et e
Authorization
Interpretation

ARTICLE 1l

THE SERIES 2025 BONDS

Authorization of Series 2025 BONAS ...t 15
Terms of the Series 2025 Bonds............cocee .15
Form and Execution of Series 2025 Bonds....... .16
Transfer and Exchange of Bonds..... .16
Book-Entry System ... A7
Bond Registration Books ...........ccccccevinienien ...18
Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen ..o, 19

ARTICLE I
ISSUANCE OF SERIES 2025 BONDS; APPLICATION OF

PROCEEDS
Issuance of the Series 2025 Bonds..........c.cccoiiiiiiiinicn e 20
Application of Proceeds of Sale of the Series 2025 Bonds.............. ..20
Establishment and Application of Costs of issuance Fund............. .20
Project FUNG ......ooviiiice et ettt et eananan e 20
RESEIVE FUNG ......ooiiiiiiiiiiie ettt et sra e e et e enbesen e e s 21
Validity of Series 2025 BONAS ..........oooiviiiiiiiciiiiecet e e 21
AdItIoNal BONAS. .....occiiiiiiiii e 21

ARTICLE IV

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Terms of Redemplion ...
Selection of Bonds for Redemption..............c.coocviiviiiiiic s
Notice of Redemption ...

Execution of New Bonds Upon Partial Redemption of Bonds...
Effect of Redemption . ...t e

ARTICLE V
REVENUES; FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS; PAYMENT OF
PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST

Security for the Bonds; Bond Fund ..., 26
Allocation of Revenues.....................

Application of Interest Account.....
Application of Principal Account...
Application of Redemption Fund ..
Investments ...

Valuation and Disposition of Investments.............ccccoociciiii 28
Provisions Relating to Insurance POliCY ..o, 29

e



SECTION 6.01.
SECTION 6.02.
SECTION 6.03.
SECTION 6.04.
SECTION 6.05.
SECTION 6.06.
SECTION 6.07.
SECTION 6.08.
SECTION 6.09.
SECTION 6.10.

SECTION 7.01.
SECTION 7.02.
SECTION 7.03.
SECTION 7.04.
SECTION 7.05.
SECTION 7.06.
SECTION 7.07.
SECTION 7.08.
SECTION 7.09.

SECTION 8.01.
SECTION 8.02.
SECTION 8.03.
SECTION 8.04.
SECTION 8.05.
SECTION 8.06.
SECTION 8.07.

SECTION 9.01.
SECTION 9.02.
SECTION 9.03.
SECTION 9.04.

SECTION 10.01.
SECTION 10.02.

SECTION 11.01.
SECTION 11.02.

ARTICLE Vi

COVENANTS OF THE AGENCY
Punctual Payment. ... e 30
Extension of Payment of Bonds.... ... 30
Against Encumbrances.........ccovvcciiviiie e ....30
Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment.................. ...30
Accounting Records................ooenis e e ....30
Limitation on Additional Obligations ..... ...30
Tax Covenants...........ccceecerrurneinenerienen .31
Enforcement of Lease.. 3
WaIVET Of LAWS .o 31
FUrther ASSUFBNCES .......oiciiiiieiiii ettt e saerane e s enaans 31
ARTICLE VII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
Events of Default ... 32
Acceleration; Other Remedies. ..........ccccccveieveinninerenns 32
Application of Revenues and Other Funds After Default . ... 33
Trustee fo Represent Bond Owners...........cccovevvvenenee. 33
Limitation on Bond Owners’ Right to Sue... ... 34
Absolute Obligation of Agency................... e 34

Termination of Proceedings.......... ... 34
Remedies Not Exclusive........ ... 34
No Waiver of Default.............o.coioiiiii e 35
ARTICLE Vill
THE TRUSTEE
Appointment of TruStee.... ..ot 36
Acceptance of Trusts; Removal and Resignation of Trustee...... ....36
Merger or Consolidation............ccooovcoi e .37
Liability of Trustee..................... 37
Right to Rely on Documents .......................... 40

Preservation and Inspection of Documents.... .
Compensation and Indemnification............c.cocooeiiviiiin e 41

ARTICLE iX
MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT HEREOF
Amendments Permitted ...
Effect of Supplemental Indenture
Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds ... 43
Amendment of Particular Bonds ..........cccoooiiviii e 43

ARTICLE X
DEFEASANCE

Discharge of Indenture
Unclaimed FUNAS ...

ARTICLE Xl
MISCELLANEOUS
Liability of Authority Limited to Revenues.................
Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bond Owners




SECTION 11.03.
SECTION 11.04.
SECTION 11.05.
SECTION 11.06.
SECTION 11.07.
SECTION 11.08.
SECTION 11.09.
SECTION 11.10.
SECTION 11.11.
SECTION 11.12.
SECTION 11.13.
SECTION 11.14.
SECTION 11.15.

APPENDIX A
APPENDIX B
APPENDIX C
APPENDIX D

FUNAs and ACCOUNES ......ooiiiiiiiir et etaa st e b e e e e ebraeereeas 45

Waiver of Notice; Requirement of Mailed Notice .... .45
Destruction of Bonds..........cccooovriiniiininnnin e ....45
Severability of Invalid Provisions. .45
NOtICES. ... ....46
Evidence of Rights of Bond OWNers........c.c.ocevvviririir e 46
Disqualified BONGS ......ooiiii ettt s 46
Money Held for Particular Bonds........ .47
Waiver of Personal Liability ..., ... 47
Successor Is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor . ... 47
Execution in Several Counterpams............ccoocr i 47
Payment on Non-Business Day ... 47
GOVEINING LAW ..ottt ettt eabecbe s ernene 47

FORM OF 2025 BOND

FORM OF PROJECT FUND REQUISITION

FORM OF COST OF ISSUANCE REQUISITION
PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE INSURANCE POLICY



INDENTURE OF TRUST

This INDENTURE OF TRUST (this “Indenture”), dated as of May 1, 2025, is between the
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint exercise of powers
authority organized and existing under the laws of the State of California (the “Authority”), and
U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association
organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, with a corporate trust office
in San Francisco, California, being qualified to accept and administer the trusts hereby created
(the “Trustee”).

BACKGROUND:

1. The San Benito County Water District (the “District”) owns and operates a system
for the supply, treatment and distribution of water within its service area comprised of zones of
the District (as further defined herein, the “Water System”), and the District desires to finance
various improvements to Zone 6 of the District (“Zone 6”) as described in Appendix B to the
hereinafter defined Instaliment Sale Agreement (the “2025 Water Project”).

2. The Authority has been organized for the purpose of assisting the District in its
public purposes, and to that end the Authority is authorized to assist the District in financing the
costs of acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project.

3. The Authority, at this time, is entering into the Installment Sale Agreement dated
as of May 1, 2025 (the Instaliment Sale Agreement”) with the District in order to finance the 2025
Water Project.

4.  For the purpose of obtaining funds to finance the 2025 Water Project, the Authority
has authorized the issuance of its San Benito County Water District Financing Authority 2025
Water Revenue Bonds (the “2025 Bonds”), in the aggregate principal amount of §
under this Indenture and under the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the
Government Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 6584 of said Code (the
“Bond Law").

5. The debt service on the 2025 Bonds will be payable from Installment Payments
made under the Installment Sale Agreement.

6. Repayment of the Instaliment Payments by the District shall be secured by a pledge
of the Net Revenues of Zone 6, on a parity with the pledge in favor of the holders of Parity
Obligations (as defined herein).

7. In order to provide for the authentication and delivery of the Bonds (including the
2025 Bonds), to establish and declare the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds (including
the 2025 Bonds) are to be issued and to secure the payment of the principal thereof, premium (if
any) and interest thereon, the Authority has authorized the execution and delivery of this
Indenture.

8. The Authority has found and determines, and hereby affirms, that all acts and
proceedings required by law necessary to make the Bonds (including the 2025 Bonds), when
executed by the Authority, authenticated and delivered by the Trustee and duly issued, the valid,



binding and legal special obligations of the Authority, and to constitute this Indenture a valid and
binding agreement for the uses and purposes herein set forth in accordance with its terms, have
been done and taken, and the execution and delivery of this Indenture have been in all respects
duly authorized.

AGREEMENT:

In order to secure the payment of the principal of and the interest and redemption premium
(if any) on all the Outstanding Bonds under this Indenture according to their tenor, and to secure
the performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions therein and herein set forth,
and to declare the terms and conditions upon and subject to which the Bonds are to be issued
and received, and in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants herein contained
and of the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the Owners thereof, and for other valuable
considerations, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Authority and the Trustee do
hereby covenant and agree with one another, for the benefit of the respective Owners from time
to time of the Bonds, as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION

SECTION 1.01. Definitions. Uniess the context clearly otherwise requires or uniess
otherwise defined herein, the capitalized terms set forth in this Indenture shall have the meanings
assigned to them in this Section 1.01.

“Accreted Value” means, with respect to any capital appreciation obligation, the principal
amount thereof plus the interest accrued thereon, compounded at the approximate interest rate
thereon on each date specified therein. The Accreted Value of any capital appreciation obligation
at any date shall be the amounts set forth in the accreted value table for the capital appreciation
obligation as of such date, if such date is a compounding date, and if not, as of the immediately
preceding compounding date.

“Additional Bonds” means all bonds ranking on a parity with the 2025 Bonds originally
issued hereunder, issued in accordance with Section 3.07.

“Additional Payments” means the amounts payable by the District under Section 4.7 of the
Instaliment Sale Agreement.

“Agreement” shall mean that certain Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated as of
November 1, 2024, by and between the District and the California Statewide Communities
Development Authority, creating the Authority, together with any amendments thereof and
supplements thereto.

“Authority” means the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority, a joint

exercise of powers authority duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California
and the Agreement.

2=



“Authorized Investments” means any of the following, but only to the extent that the same
are acquired at Fair Market Value, which at the time of investment are legal investments under
the laws of the State of California for the moneys proposed to be invested therein:

(a) Federal Securities;

(b) (i) obligations of any of the following federal agencies which obligations represent
full faith and credit of the United States of America, including: Export-import Bank, Farm Credit
System Financial Assistance Corporation, Rural Economic Communily Development
Administration (formerly Farmers Home Administration), General Services Administration, U.S.
Maritime Administration, Small Business Administration, Government National Mortgage
Association, U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development, Federal Housing Administration
and Federal Financing Bank. and (i) direct obligations for any of the following federal agencies
which obligations are not fully guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States of
America: senior debt obligations rated “Aaa” by Moody’s and “AAA” by S&P issued by Fannie
Mae or Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC); obligations of the Resolution
Funding Corporation (REFCORP); senior debt obligations of the Federal Home Loan Bank
System; and senior debt obligations of other Government Sponsored Agencies;

() U.S. dollar denominated deposit accounts federal funds and banker’s acceptances
with domestic commercial banks, which may include the Trustee, its parent holding company, if
any, and their affiliates, which have a rating on their short term certificates of deposit on the date
of purchase of “P-1" by Moody’s and “A-1" or “A-1+" by S&P or are collateralized by Federal
Securities and maturing no more than 360 days after the date of purchase, provided that ratings
on holding companies are not considered as the rating of the bank;

(d) commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase in the single highest
classification, “P-1" by Moody's or “A-1+" by S&P, and which matures not more than 270 calendar
days after the date of purchase;

(e) money market funds registered under the Federal Investment Company Act of
1940, whose shares are registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1833, and having a rating
by S&P of at least AAAM-G, AAAm or AAm, which funds may include funds for which the Trustee,
its affiliates, parent or subsidiaries provide investment advisory or other management services;

%) pre-refunded municipal obligations defined as follows: any bonds or other
obligations of any state of the United States of America or of any agency, instrumentality or local
governmental unit of any such state which are not callable at the option of the obligor prior to
maturity or as to which irrevocable instructions have been given by the obligor to call on the date
specified in the notice; and (i) which are rated, based upon an irrevocable escrow account or fund,
in the highest rating category of Moody's and S&P or any successors thereto; or (ii)(A) subject to
the approval of S&P, which are fully secured as to principal and interest and prepayment premium,
if any, by an escrow consisting only of Federal Securities, which escrow may be applied only to
the payment of such principal of and interest and prepayment premium, if any, on such bonds or
other obligations on the maturity date or dates thereof or the specified prepayment date or dates
pursuant to such irrevocable instructions, as appropriate, and (B) which escrow is sufficient, as
verified by a nationally recognized independent certified public accountant, to pay principal of and
interest and prepayment premium, if any, on the bonds or other obligations described in this
paragraph on the maturity date or dates thereof or on the prepayment date or dates specified in
the irrevocable instructions referred to above, as appropriate;

3-



(9) obligations the interest on which is excludable from gross income pursuant to
Section 103 of the Tax Code and which are either (a) rated A or better by S&P, or (b) fully secured
as to the payment of principal and interest by Authorized Investments described in clauses (a) or

(b);

(h) obligations issued by any corporation organized and operating within the United
States of America having assets in excess of $500,000,000, which obligations are rated A or
better by S&P;

(i) bonds or notes issued by any state or municipality which are rated A or better by
S&P;

[{)] any investment agreement with, or guaranteed by, a financial institution the long-
term unsecured obligations or the claims paying ability of which are rated A or better by S&P at
the time of initial investment, by the terms of which all amounts invested thereunder are required
to be withdrawn and paid to the Trustee in the event either of such ratings at any time falls below
A;

(k) shares in a California common law trust established pursuant to Title 1, Division 7,
Chapter 5 of the California Government Code which invests exclusively in investments permitted
by Section 53635 of Title 5, Division 2, Chapter 4 of the Government Code of the State of
California, provided the Trustee has access to, and control over withdrawals from and deposits
to, such trust; and

0] the L.ocal Agency Investment Fund of the State of California, created pursuant to
Section 16429.1 of the California Government Code, to the extent the Trustee is authorized to
register such investment in its name.

“Authorized Official” means: (a) with respect to the Authority, its Executive Director,
Treasurer or any other person designated as an Authorized Official of the Authority by a Written
Certificate of the Authority signed by its Executive Director or Treasurer and filed with the District
and the Trustee; and (b) with respect to the District, its General Manager, Assistant General
Manager, or any other person designated as an Authorized Official of the District by a Written
Certificate of the District signed by its General Manager or Assistant General Manager and filed
with the Authority and the Trustee.

“Balioon Indebtedness” means, with respect to any Parity Obligations twenty-five percent
(25%) or more of the principal or other similar amount of which matures or becomes due on the
same date or within a 12-month period (with mandatory sinking fund payments deemed to be
payments of matured principal), that portion of the principal or other similar amount of such Parity
Obligations which matures or becomes due on such date or within such 12-month period.

“Bond Counsel’ means (a) Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, or (b) any other
attorney or firm of attorneys appointed by or acceptable to the Authority of nationally-recognized
experience in the issuance of obligations the interest on which is excludable from gross income
for federal income tax purposes under the Tax Code.

“Bond Fund” means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under
Section 5.01.

-4-



“Bond Law” means the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the
Government Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 6584 of said Code.

“Bond Registration Books” means the records maintained by the Trustee under Section
2.06 for the registration and transfer of ownership of the Bonds.

“Bond Year” means the twelve-month period beginning on October 2 in each year and
ending on October 1 in the following year except that (i) the first Bond Year with respect to the
2025 Bonds shall begin on the Closing Date, and (ii) the last Bond Year with respect to the 2025
Bonds may end on a redemption date prior to maturity of the 2025 Bonds or the final maturity date
of the 2025 Bonds.

“Bonds” means the Outstanding 2025 Bonds and any Outstanding Additional Bonds.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the
Trustee is authorized by law to remain closed.

“Closing Date” means, with respect to the 2025 Bonds, the date of delivery of the Bonds
to the Original Purchaser of the 2025 Bonds.

“Continuing Disclosure Certificate” means, with respect to each series of Bonds, that
certain Continuing Disclosure Certificate executed by the District and dated the date of original
execution and delivery of such Bonds, as originally executed and as it may be amended from time
to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

“Costs of Issuance” means all expenses incurred in connection with the authorization,
issuance, sale and delivery of any Bonds, including but not limited to compensation, fees and
expenses of the District, Authority and the Trustee and their respective counsel, compensation to
any financial consultants and underwriters, legal fees and expenses, municipal bond insurance
or surety bond premiums, filing and recording costs, rating agency fees, costs of preparation and
reproduction of documents and costs of printing.

“Costs of Issuance Fund” means the fund by that name established and held by the
Trustee under Section 3.03.

“Debt Service" means, for any period, as and to the extent the Net Revenues of Zone 6
are payable with respect thereto, the sum of (1) the interest payable during such period on the
Parity Obligations, (2) the principal or mandatory sinking fund payments to be paid with respect
to the Parity Obligations during such period, and (3) any other scheduled payments coming due
on the Parity Obligations in such period and not otherwise included in clauses (1) and (2) of this
definition, all of which are to be computed on the assumption that no portion of the Parity
Obligations shall cease to be outstanding during such period except by reason of the application
of scheduled payments; provided that, for purposes of such computation:

(a) unless a different subsection of this definition applies for purposes of determining
maturities or amortization, in determining the amount due in any period, payment shall be
assumed to be made in accordance with any amortization schedule established for the Parity
Obligations, including any mandatory sinking fund payments or any scheduled redemption or
payment of Parity Obligations on the basis of Accreted Value, and for such purpose, the
redemption payment or payment of Accreted Value shall be deemed a principal payment and
interest that is compounded and paid as Accreted Value shall be deemed due on the scheduled

5.



redemption or payment date and any contingencies that may result in a request for earlier
payment shall be disregarded;

(b) Balloon Indebtedness may, at the option of the District, be treated as if it were to
be amortized with substantially leve! debt service over a term of up to 25 years (which period shall
be designated by the District), from the date of calculation, and the interest rate used for such
computation shall be assumed by the District to be equal to (i} the interest rate in effect for such
Balloon indebtedness on the date of calculation, if the interest rate determination method in effect
for such Balloon Indebtedness on the date of calculation provides for interest rates that are fixed
for at least 12 months from the date such interest rates are determined or (i) if the interest rate
determination method in effect for such Balloon indebtedness on the date of calculation provides
for interest rates that are not fixed for at least 12 months from the date such interest rates are
determined, the rate of interest used to calculate Debt Service shall be determined as described
in clause (¢);

(c) if any Parity Obligations bear, or if any Parity Obligations proposed to be issued,
incurred or created will bear, interest at a variable interest rate, the rate of interest used to
calculate Debt Service shall, for all purposes, be assumed to bear interest at a fixed rate equal to
the higher of (i) the then current variable interest rate borne by such Parity Obligations plus 1%;
and (ii) the highest variable rate borne over the preceding 24 months by outstanding variable rate
debt issued by the District or, if no such variable rate debt is at the time outstanding, by variable
rate debt of which the interest rate is computed by reference to an index comparable to that to be
utilized in determining the interest rate for the debt then proposed to be issued;

(d) if any Parity Obligations feature an option, on the part of the owners or a
requirement under the terms of such Parity Obligations, to tender all or a portion of such Parity
Obligations to the District, or other fiduciary or agent, and to purchase such Parity Obligations or
portion thereof if properly presented, then for purpases of determining the amounts due in any
period with respect to such Parity Obligations, the options or obligations of the owners of such
Parity Obligations to tender the same for purchase or payment shall be ignored,

(e) payments on the Parity Obligations shall be excluded to the extent such payments
are to be paid from amounts on deposit with a trustee or other fiduciary in escrow specifically
therefor, and interest payments shall be excluded to the extent that such interest payments are
(1) to be paid from the proceeds of the Parity Obligations, including any investment earnings
thereon, held by a trustee or other fiduciary as capitalized interest specifically to pay such interest
or (2) paid or expected to be paid from Subsidy Payments;

i) with respect to Parity Obligations for which a reserve fund is in place, the
calculation of Debt Service for such Parity Obligations for any period shall be reduced by the
amount of investment earnings on amounts on deposit in such reserve fund used or expected to
be used to pay Debt Service on such Parity Obligations during such period, as estimated by the
District; and

(9) with respect to Parity Obligations for which a reserve fund is in place, the amount
on deposit in such reserve fund on any date of calculation of Debt Service shall be deducted from
the amount due on the final maturity or due date of such Parity Obligations if such amount on
deposit in such reserve fund would be released at such maturity or due date and, to the extent
the amount on deposit in such reserve fund is in excess of the amount due on the final maturity
or due date of such Parity Obligations, such excess shall be applied to the full amount due on

-6-



each preceding payment date for such Parity Obligations, in inverse order, until such amount on
deposit in such reserve fund is exhausted.

“Defeasance Obligations” means the Federal Securities listed in clause (a) of the definition
thereof.

“Depository” means (a) initially, DTC, and (b) any other Securities Depositories acting as
Depository under Section 2.05.

“Depository System Participant” means any participant in the Depository’s book-entry
system.

“District” means the San Benito County Water District, a special district organized and
existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California.

“District Board” means the Board of Directors of the District.
“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, and its successors and assigns.
“Event of Default” means any of the events specified in Section 7.01.

“Excess Investment Earnings” means an amount required to be rebated to the United
States of America under Section 148(f) of the Tax Code due to investment of gross proceeds of
the Bonds at a yield in excess of the yield on the Bonds.

“Federal Securities” means, with respect to the Bonds: (a) any direct general obligations
of the United States of America (including obligations issued or held in book entry form on the
books of the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America), for which the full faith
and credit of the United States of America are pledged; or (b) obligations of any agency,
department or instrumentality of the United States of America, the timely payment of principal and
interest on which are directly or indirectly secured or guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the
United States of America; specifically:

U.S. Treasury Obligations,

all direct or fully guaranteed obligations,

Farmers Home Administration,

General Services Administration,

Guaranteed Title IX financing,

Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA), and
State and Local Government Series.

“Fiscal Year” means any twelve-month period extending from July 1 in one calendar year
to June 30 of the succeeding calendar year, both dates inclusive, or any other twelve-month
period selected and designated by the Authority as its official fiscal year period.

“Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” means the generally accepted accounting
principles as presented and recommended by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants or its successor, or by any other generally accepted authority on such procedures,
and includes, as applicable, the standards set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board or its successor.

-7



“Gross Revenues” means all gross income, property tax revenue, and other monies and
revenue received or receivable by the District from the ownership and operation of Zone 6,
calculated in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, including, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, (1) all taxes, rates, rent, fees, business interruption
insurance proceeds, connection fees and charges, insurance proceeds and condemnation
awards received by the District and all other income and revenue howsoever derived by the
District from Zone 6, (2) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of amounts
described in clause (1) above and from District reserves held for Zone 6, including the Rate
Stabilization Fund, and (3) the proceeds derived by the District directly or indirectly from the sale,
lease or other disposition of a part of Zone 6; provided, however, that (i) any specific charges
levied for the express purpose of reimbursing others for all or a portion of the cost of the
acquisition or construction of specific Zone 6 facilities, (i) advances or contributions in aid of
construction, (iii} grants that are designated by the grantor for a specific Zone 6 purpose (and are
therefore not available for general operational purposes), (iv) customers’ deposits or any other
deposits or advances subject to refund until such deposits or advances have become the property
of the District, and (v) the proceeds of any special assessments or special taxes levied upon real
property within any improvement district served by the District for the purpose of paying special
assessment bonds or special tax obligations of the District relating to Zone 6, are not Gross
Revenues and are not subject to the lien hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be
added to Gross Revenues any amounts transferred out of the Rate Stabilization Fund and into
the Revenue Fund, as contemplated by Section 5.12 of the Installment Sale Agreement.

“Indenture” means this Indenture of Trust, as originally executed or as it may from time to
time be supplemented, modified or amended by any Supplemental Indenture under the provisions
hereof.

“Independent Certified Public Accountant” means any certified public accountant or firm
of such accountants appointed and paid by the District, and who, or each of whom-

(a) is in fact independent and not under domination of the District;

b does not have any substantial identity of interest, direct or indirect, with the
District; and

() is not and no member of which is connected with the District as an officer
or employee of the District, but who may be regularly retained to make annual or other
audits of the books of or reports to the District.

“Independent Consultant” means any financial or engineering consuitant (including
without limitation any Independent Certified Public Accountant) with an established reputation in
the field of municipal finance or firm of such consultants appointed and paid by the District, and
who, or each of whom-

(a) is in fact independent and not under domination of the District;

(b) does not have any substantial identity of interest, direct or indirect, with the
District; and

(c) is not and no member of which is connected with the District as an officer
or employee of the District, but who may be regularly retained to make annual or other
audits of the books of or reports to the District.



“Information Services” means in accordance with then-current guidelines of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, the Electronic Municipal Market Access System (referred to as
“EMMA”), a facility of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (at http://emma.msrb.org), or
such service or services as the Authority may designate in a certificate delivered to the Trustee.

“Insolvency Proceeding” means any proceeding by or against the Authority of the District
under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
receivership, rehabilitation or similar law.

“Installment Payment Date” means, with respect to any Interest Payment Date, the 5th
Business Day immediately preceding such Interest Payment Date.

“Instaliment Payments” means all payments required to be paid by the District on any date
under Section 4.4 of the Instaliment Sale Agreement, including any amounts payable upon
delinquent instaliments and including any prepayment thereof under Section 7.2 or 7.3 of the
Instaliment Sale Agreement, but does not include Additional Payments.

“Instaliment Sale Agreement” means the installment Sale Agreement dated as of May 1,
2025, between the District and the Authority, together with any duly authorized and executed
amendments thereto.

[“Insurance Policy” means the Municipal Bond Insurance Policy No. issued by
the Insurer that guarantees the scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when
due.}

[“Insurer” means , its successors and assigns, as issuer of the Insurance
Policy.]

“Interest Account” means the account by that name established and held by the Trustee
in the Bond Fund under Section 5.02.

“Interest Payment Dates” means (a) with respect to the 2025 Bonds, each April 1 and
October 1, commencing October 1, 2025, so long as any 2025 Bonds remain unpaid, and (b) with
respect to any Additional Bonds, the dates specified in the applicable Supplemental indenture.

“Maintenance and Operation Costs” means the reasonable and necessary costs and
expenses paid or incurred by the District, payable from Gross Revenues, for maintaining and
operating Zone 6, determined in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles,
including but not limited to: (i) all costs of procuring and delivering water, (ii) all utility and standby
costs of Zone 6, (ili) all reasonable expenses of management and repair and all other expenses
necessary to maintain and preserve Zone 6 in good repair and working order, (iv) all administrative
costs of the District that are charged directly or apportioned to the operation of Zone 6, such as
salaries and wages of employees, overhead, taxes (if any), the cost of permits and licenses to
operate Zone 6 and insurance premiums, and (v) all other reasonable and necessary costs of the
District or charges required to be paid by it to comply with the terms hereof; but excluding in all
cases, the following: (A) debt service payable on obligations (including bonds, notes or other
evidences of indebtedness, instaliment purchase payments under contract, and lease payments
under any financing or capital lease, as determined to be such in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles) incurred by the District with respect to Zone 6, (B) depreciation,
replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor, (C) amortization of intangibles or

-9-



other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, and (D) costs of capital projects which under
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles are chargeable to a separate capital account or to a
reserve for depreciation.

“Maximum_Annual Debt Service” means, as of the date of calculation, the maximum
amount of Debt Service for the current or any future Fiscal Year.

“Moody’s” means Moody's Investors Service, a corporation duly organized and existing
under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware, and its successors or assigns, except
that if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of
a securities rating agency, then the term “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally
recognized securities rating agency selected by the Authority or the District.

“Net Revenues” means for any period, all of the Gross Revenues during such period less
all of the Maintenance and Operation Costs during such period.

“Nominee” means (a) initially, Cede & Co. as nominee of DTC, and (b) any other nominee
of the Depository designated under Section 2.04(a).

“Qriginal Purchaser” means, in the case of the 2025 Bonds, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company,
Incorporated.

“Outstanding. when used as of any particular time with reference to Bonds, means,

subject to the last paragraph of Section 10.01 of the Indenture, all Bonds theretofore, or thereupon
being, authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture except: (a) Bonds
theretofore canceled by the Trustee or surrendered to the Trustee for cancellation; (b) Bonds with
respect to which all liability of the Authority shall have been discharged in accordance with Section
10.02, including Bonds (or portions thereof) described in Section 11.09; and (c) Bonds for the
transfer or exchange of or in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been
authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this indenture.

“Overdue Rate” means the highest rate on any series of the Bonds.

3

the ownership of such Bond is registered on the Bond Registration Books.

“Parity Obligations” means (a) the 2015 Installment Sale Agreement, (b) the 2021 Sterling
Financing Agreement, (c) the 2021 Zions Financing Agreement, and (d) any other bonds, notes,
leases, instaliment sale agreements or other obligations of the District payable from and secured
by a pledge of and lien upon some or all of the Net Revenues on a parity with the Instaliment
Payments.

“Parity Obligations Documents” means, collectively, the indenture of trust, trust
agreement, instaliment sale agreement, loan agreement or other document authorizing the
issuance of any Parity Obligations or any securities which evidence Parity Obligations.

“Principal Account” means the account by that name established and held by the Trustee
in the Bond Fund under Section 5.02.

“Principal Corporate Trust Office” means such corporate trust office of the Trustee as may
be designated from time to time by written notice from the Trustee to the District. Except that with

-10-

Owner." whenever used herein with respect to a Bond, means the person in whose name

Commented [RS1]: Commas and periods are always
inside of quotes.

Commented [RS2]: Commas and periods are always
inside of quotes.




respect to presentation of Bonds for payment or for registration of transfer and exchange such
term shall mean the corporate trust office of U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, in
St. Paul, Minnesota or such other office or agency of the Trustee at which at any particular time,
its corporate trust agency or operations shall be conducted.

“Project Costs” means, with respect to the 2025 Water Project, all costs of the acquisition,
construction and installation thereof which are paid from moneys on deposit in the Project Fund,
including but not limited to:

(a) all costs required to be paid to any person under the terms of any
agreement for or relating to the acquisition, construction and installation of the
2025 Water Project;

(b) obligations incurred for labor and materials in connection with the
acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project;

(c) the cost of performance or other bonds and any and all types of
insurance that may be necessary or appropriate to have in effect in connection
with the acquisition, construction and instaliation of the 2025 Water Project;

(d) all costs of engineering and architectural services, including the
actual out-of-pocket costs for test borings, surveys, estimates, plans and
specifications and preliminary investigations therefor, development fees, sales
commissions, and for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of
all other duties required by or consequent to the proper acquisition, construction
and installation of the 2025 Water Project;

(e) any sums required to reimburse the District for advances made for
any of the above items or for any other costs incurred and for work done which are
properly chargeable to the acquisition, construction and installation of the 2025
Water Project;

4] all financing costs incurred in connection with the acquisition,
construction and installation of the 2025 Water Project; and

(9) the interest components of the Installment Payments allocable fo
the 2025 Water Project, which come due during the period of acquisition,
consfruction and installation of the 2025 Water Project.

“Project Fund” means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee under
Section 3.04.

“Rate Stabilization Fund” means the fund by that name established and held by the District
under Section 5.12 of the Installment Sale Agreement.

“Record Date” means, with respect to any interest Payment Date, the 15th calendar day
of the month preceding such Interest Payment Date, whether or not such day is a Business Day.

“Redemption Fund” means the fund by that name established and held by the Trustee
under Section 5.05.

11-



“Revenues” means: (a) all amounts received by the Authority or the Trustee pursuant or
with respect to the Instaliment Sale Agreement, including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, all of the Instaliment Payments (including both timely and delinquent payments, any late
charges, and whether paid from any source, but excluding any Additional Payments), prepayments,
insurance proceeds, and condemnation proceeds, and (b) all interest, profits or other income
derived from the investment of amounts in any fund or account established pursuant to this
Indenture.

“Securities Depositories” means DTC; and, in accordance with then current guidelines of
the Securities and Exchange Commission, such other addresses and/or such other securities
depositories as the Authority designates in written notice filed with the Trustee.

“Security Documents” shall mean this indenture, the Instaliment Sale Agreement, all
resolutions related thereto, the Bonds and/or any additional or supplemental document executed
in connection with the 2025 Bonds.

“Serial Bonds” means all Bonds other than Term Bonds.

“S&P" means S&P Global Ratings, a division of Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC,
and its successors or assigns, except that if such entity shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall
no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, then the term “S&P” shall be deemed
to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency selected by the District.

“Subsidy Payments” means payments with respect to Parity Obligations made by the
United States Treasury to the District or a trustee or fiduciary pursuant to Section 54AA of the Tax
Code, Section 6431 of the Tax Code, or Section 1400U-2 of the Tax Code or any successor to or
extension or replacement of any of such provisions of the Tax Code, or any provisions of the Tax
Code that create similar direct-pay subsidy programs.

“Supplemental Indenture” means any indenture hereafter duly authorized and entered into
between the Authority and the Trustee, supplementing, modifying or amending this Indenture; but
only if and to the extent that such Supplemental Indenture is specifically authorized hereunder.

“Tax Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as in effect on the Closing Date or
(except as otherwise referenced herein) as it may be amended to apply to obligations issued on
the Closing Date, together with applicable proposed, temporary and final regulations promulgated,
and applicable official public guidance published, under said Code.

“Term” means, when used with respect to the Instaliment Sale Agreement, the time during
which the Installment Sale Agreement is in effect, as provided in Section 4.2 thereof.

“Term Bonds” means the 2025 Bonds maturing October 1, 20__ and October 1, 20___,
and any Additional Bonds identified as such in the applicable Supplemental Indenture.

“Trustee” means U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, a national banking
association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, or its
SUCCessor or successors, as Trustee hereunder as provided in Article VIIL

*2015 Instaliment Sale Agreement” means the Instaliment Sale Agreement, dated
December 1, 2015, between the District and the Municipal Finance Corporation, together with any

124



amendments thereof and supplements thereto, as and to the extent the Net Revenues of Zone 6
are payable with respect thereto.

“2021_Sterling Financing Agreement” means the 2021 Financing Agreement, dated April
1, 2021, between the District and Sterling National Bank, N.A_, together with any amendments
thereof and supplements thereto, as and to the extent the Net Revenues of Zone 6 are payable
with respect thereto.

“2021 Zions Financing Agreement” means the 2021 Financing Agreement, dated February
1, 2021, between the District and Zions Bancorporation, together with any amendments thereof
and supplements thereto, as and to the extent the Net Revenues of Zone 6 are payable with
respect thereto.

“2025 Bonds” means the San Benito County Water District Fmancmg Authority 2025
Water Revenue Bonds in the original principal amount of $

“2025 Water Project” means the facilities, improvements and other property described
more fully in Appendix B attached to the Instaliment Sale Agreement, as that Appendix may be
amended from time to time in accordance with the Instaliment Sale Agreement.

“Water Fund” means the fund or funds established and held by the District into which
Gross Revenues are deposited in accordance with Section 4.5 of the Instaliment Sale Agreement.

“Water System” means all zones comprising the entire system of the District for the
treatment, production, storage, management and distribution of water within the service area of
the District, including but not fimited to all facilities, properties, lands, rights, entittements and other
property useful in connection therewith, together with all extensions thereof and improvements
thereto at any time acquired, constructed or installed by the District and determined to be part of
the Water System by the District.

“Written Certificate,” “Written Request” and “Written Requisition” of the Authority or the
District mean, respectively, a written certificate, request or requisition signed in the name of the
Authority or the District by its Authorized Official. Any such instrument and supporting opinions
or representations, if any, may, but need not, be combined in a single instrument with any other
instrument, opinion or representation, and the two or more so combined shall be read and
construed as a single instrument.

“Zone 68" means collectively, the whole and each and every part of the Water System that
comprises Zone 6, including the portion thereof existing on the date hereof, and including all
additions, betterments, extensions and improvements to the Water System or any part thereof
hereafter acquired or constructed for Zone 6; provided, that to the extent the District is not the
sole owner of an asset or property or to the extent that an asset or property is used in part for
Zone 6 purposes, only the District's ownership interest in such asset or property or only the part
of the asset.

SECTION 1.02. Authorization. Each of the parties hereby represents and warrants that

it has full legal authority and is duly empowered to enter into this indenture, and has taken all
actions necessary to authorize the execution hereof by the officers and persons signing it.

13-



SECTION 1.03. Interpretation.

(a) Unless the context otherwise indicates, words expressed in the singular shall
include the plural and vice versa and the use of the neuter, masculine, or feminine gender is for
convenience only and shall be deemed to include the neuter, masculine or feminine gender, as
appropriate.

(b) Headings of articles and sections herein and the table of contents hereof are solely
for convenience of reference, do not constitute a part hereof and shall not affect the meaning,
construction or effect hereof.

(c) All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” and other subdivisions are to the
corresponding Articles, Sections or subdivisions of this Indenture; the words *herein,” “hereof,”
“hereby,” “hereunder” and other words of similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not
to any particular Article, Section or subdivision hereof.

-14-



ARTICLE il
THE 2025 BONDS

SECTION 2.01. Authorization of 2025 Bonds. The Authority has reviewed all
proceedings heretofore taken and has found, as a result of such review, and hereby finds and
determines that all things, conditions and acts required by law to exist, happen or be performed
precedent to and in connection with the issuance of the 2025 Bonds do exist, have happened and
have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by law, and the Authority is now
duly empowered, under each and every requirement of law, to issue the 2025 Bonds in the
manner and form provided in this Indenture.

The Authority hereby authorizes the issuance of the 2025 Bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of $ under the Bond Law for the purposes of providing funds to enable the
District to finance the 2025 Water Project. The Bonds are authorized and issued under, and are
subject to the terms of, this Indenture and the Bond Law. The Bonds are designated the “San
Benito County Water District Financing Authority 2025 Water Revenue Bonds.”

SECTION 2.02. Terms of the 2025 Bonds.

(a) Payment Provisions. The 2025 Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form
without coupons in denominations of $5,000 or any integral muitiple thereof. The 2025 Bonds
shall mature on Qctober 1 in each of the years and in the amounts, and bear interest (calculated
on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) at the rates, as follows:

Maturity Principal Interest
{October 1) Amount Rate

Interest on the 2025 Bonds is payable from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the
date of authentication thereof unless:

(a) a 2025 Bond is authenticated on or before an interest Payment
Date and after the close of business on the preceding Record Date, in which event
it will bear interest from such interest Payment Date,

(b) a 2025 Bond is authenticated on or before the first Record Date, in
which event interest thereon will be payable from the Closing Date, or

() interest on any 2025 Bond is in default as of the date of

authentication thereof, in which event interest thereon will be payable from the date
to which interest has been paid in full, payable on each Interest Payment Date.

-15-



Interest is payable on each Interest Payment Date to the persons in whose names the
ownership of the 2025 Bonds is registered on the Bond Registration Books at the close of
business on the immediately preceding Record Date, except as provided below. Interest on any
2025 Bond which is not punctually paid or duly provided for on any Interest Payment Date is
payable to the person in whose name the ownership of such 2025 Bond is registered on the Bond
Registration Books at the ciose of business on a special record date for the payment of such
defaulted interest to be fixed by the Trustee, notice of which is given to such Owner by first-class
mail not less than 10 days prior to such special record date.

The Trustee will pay interest on the 2025 Bonds by check of the Trustee mailed by first
class mail, postage prepaid, on each Interest Payment Date to the Owners of the 2025 Bonds at
their respective addresses shown on the Bond Registration Books as of the close of business on
the preceding Record Date. At the written request of the Owner of 2025 Bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of at least $1,000,000, which written request is on file with the Trustee as of any
Record Date, the Trustee will pay interest on such 2025 Bonds on each succeeding Interest
Payment Date by wire transfer in immediately available funds to such account of a financial
institution within the United States of America as specified in such written request, which written
request will remain in effect until rescinded in writing by the Owner. The Trustee will pay principal
of the 2025 Bonds in lawful money of the United States of America by check of the Trustee upon
presentation and surrender thereof at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee.

SECTION 2.03. Form and Execution of 2025 Bonds. The 2025 Bonds, the form of
Trustee's certificate of authentication, and the form of assignment to appear thereon, are set forth
in Appendix A attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein, with necessary or
appropriate variations, omissions and insertions, as permitted or required by this Indenture.

The Chair, the Executive Director or the Treasurer of the Authority shall execute, and the
Secretary of the Authority shall attest, each 2025 Bond. Either or both of such signatures may be
made manually or may be affixed by facsimile thereof. If any officer whose signature appears on
any 2025 Bond ceases to be such officer before the Closing Date, such signature will nevertheless
be as effective as if the officer had remained in office until the Closing Date. Any 2025 Bond may
be signed and attested on behalf of the Authority by such persons as at the actual date of the
execution of such 2025 Bond are the proper officers of the Authority, duly authorized to execute
debt instruments on behalf of the Authority, although on the date of such 2025 Bond any such
person was not an officer of the Authority.

Only those 2025 Bonds bearing a certificate of authentication in the form set forth in
Appendix A, manually executed and dated by the Trustee, are valid or obligatory for any purpose
or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, and such certificate of the Trustee is conclusive
evidence that such Bonds have been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder and are entitled
to the benefits of this indenture.

SECTION 2.04. Transfer and Exchange of Bonds.

(a) Transfer. Any Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred, upon the
Bond Registration Books, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by a duly
authorized attorney of such person, upon surrender of such Bond to the Trustee at its Principal
Corporate Trust Office for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written instrument of transfer
in a form acceptable to the Trustee, duly executed. The Trustee shall collect any tax or other
governmental charge on the transfer of any Bonds under this Section. Whenever any Bond or

-16-



Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Authority shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver to the transferee a new Bond or Bonds of like series, interest rate,
maturity and aggregate principal amount. The Authority shall pay the cost of printing Bonds and
any services rendered or expenses incurred by the Trustee in connection with any transfer of
Bonds.

(b) Exchange. The Bonds may be exchanged at the Principal Corporate Trust Office
of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of Bonds of other authorized denominations
and of the same series, interest rate and maturity. The Trustee shall collect any tax or other
governmental charge on the exchange of any Bonds under this subsection (b). The Authority
shall pay the cost of printing Bonds and any services rendered or expenses incurred by the
Trustee in connection with any exchange of Bonds.

{c) Limitations. The Trustee may refuse to transfer or exchange, under the provisions
of this Section, any Bonds selected by the Trustee for redemption under Article IV, or any Bonds
during the period established by the Trustee for the selection of Bonds for redemption.

SECTION 2.05. Book-Entry System.

(a) Original Delivery. The Bonds will be initially delivered in the form of a separate
single fully registered bond (which may be typewritten) for each maturity of the Bonds. Upon
initial delivery, the Trustee shall register the ownership of each Bond on the Bond Registration
Books in the name of the Nominee. Except as provided in subsection (c), the ownership of all of
the Outstanding Bonds shall be registered in the name of the Nominee on the Bond Registration
Books.

With respect to Bonds the ownership of which shall be registered in the name of the
Nominee, the Authority and the Trustee has no responsibility or obligation to any Depository
System Participant or to any person on behalf of which the Nominee holds an interest in the
Bonds. Without limiting the generality of the immediately preceding sentence, the Authority and
the Trustee has no responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of
the Depository, the Nominee or any Depository System Participant with respect to any ownership
interest in the Bonds, (i) the delivery to any Depository System Participant or any other person,
other than a Bond Owner as shown in the Bond Registration Books, of any notice with respect to
the Bonds, including any notice of redemption, (iii) the selection by the Depository of the beneficial
interests in the Bonds to be redeemed if the Authority elects to redeem the Bonds in part, (iv) the
payment to any Depository System Participant or any other person, other than a Bond Owner as
shown in the Bond Registration Books, of any amount with respect to principal, premium, if any,
or interest on the Bonds or (v) any consent given or other action taken by the Depository as Owner
of the Bonds. The Authority and the Trustee may treat and consider the person in whose name
each Bond is registered as the absolute owner of such Bond for the purpose of payment of
principal of and premium, if any, and interest on such Bond, for the purpose of giving notices of
redemption and other matters with respect to such Bond, for the purpose of registering transfers
of ownership of such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever. The Trustee shall pay the
principal of and the interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds only to the respective Owners or
their respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and
effective to fully satisfy and discharge all obligations with respect to payment of principal of and
interest and premium, if any, on the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. No person
other than a Bond Owner shall receive a Bond evidencing the obligation of the Authority to make
payments of principal, interest and premium, if any, under this Indenture. Upon delivery by the
Depository to the Authority of written notice to the effect that the Depository has determined to

17



substitute a new Nominee in its place, and subject to the provisions herein with respect to Record
Dates, such new nominee shall become the Nominee hereunder for all purposes; and upon
receipt of such a notice the Authority shall promptly deliver a copy of the same to the Trustee.

(b) Representation Letter. In order to qualify the Bonds for the Depository's book-
entry system, the Authority shall execute and deliver to such Depository a letter representing such
matters as shall be necessary to so qualify the Bonds. The execution and delivery of such letter
shall not in any way limit the provisions of subsection (a) above or in any other way impose upon
the Authority or the Trustee any obligation whatsoever with respect to persons having interests in
the Bonds other than the Bond Owners. Upon the written acceptance by the Trustee, the Trustee
shall agree to take all action reasonably necessary for all representations of the Trustee in such
letter with respect to the Trustee to at all times be complied with. In addition to the execution and
delivery of such letter, the Authority may take any other actions, not inconsistent with this
indenture, to qualify the Bonds for the Depository’s book-entry program.

(<) Transfers Qutside Book-Entry System. If either (i) the Depository determines not
to continue to act as Depository for the Bonds, or (ii) the Authority determines to terminate the
Depository as such, then the Authority shall thereupon discontinue the book-entry system with
such Depaository. In such event, the Depository shall cooperate with the Authority and the Trustee
in the issuance of replacement Bonds by providing the Trustee with a list showing the interests of
the Depository System Participants in the Bonds, and by surrendering the Bonds, registered in
the name of the Nominee, to the Trustee on or before the date such replacement Bonds are to be
issued. The Depository, by accepting delivery of the Bonds, agrees to be bound by the provisions
of this subsection (c). If, prior to the termination of the Depository acting as such, the Authority
fails to identify another Securities Depository to replace the Depository, then the Bonds shall no
longer be required to be registered in the Bond Registration Books in the name of the Nominee,
but shall be registered in whatever name or names the Owners transferring or exchanging Bonds
shall designate, in accordance with the provisions hereof.

If the Authority determines that it is in the best interests of the beneficial owners of the
Bonds that they be able to obtain certificated Bonds, the Authority may notify the Depository
System Participants of the availability of such certificated Bonds through the Depository. In such
event, the Trustee will authenticate, transfer and exchange Bonds as required by the Depository
and others in appropriate amounts; and whenever the Depository requests, the Trustee and the
Authority shall cooperate with the Depository in taking appropriate action (y) to make available
one or more separate certificates evidencing the Bonds to any Depository System Participant
having Bonds credited to its account with the Depository, or (z) to arrange for another Securities
Depository to maintain custody of a single certificate evidencing such Bonds, all at the Authority’s
expense.

(d) Payments to the Nominee. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture
to the contrary, so long as any Bond is registered in the name of the Nominee, all payments with
respect to principal of and interest and premium, if any, on such Bond and ali notices with respect
to such Bond shall be made and given, respectively, as provided in the letter described in
subsection (b) of this Section or as otherwise instructed by the Depository.

SECTION 2.06. Bond Registration Books. The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept, at
the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, sufficient records for the registration and
transfer of ownership of the Bonds, which shall upon reasonable notice as agreed to by the
Trustee, be open to inspection during regular business hours by the Authority; and, upon
presentation for such purpose, the Trustee shall, under such reasonable regulations as it may

18-



prescribe, register or transfer or cause to be registered or transferred, on such records, the
ownership of the Bonds as hereinbefore provided.

SECTION 2.07. Bonds Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen. If any Bond is mutilated,
the Authority, at the expense of the Owner of such Bond, shall execute, and the Trustee shall
thereupon authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor in exchange and substitution for the
Bond so mutilated, but only upon surrender to the Trustee of the Bond so mutilated. The Trustee
shall cancel every mutilated Bond surrendered to it and deliver such mutilated Bond to, or upon
the order of, the Authority. If any Bond is lost, destroyed or stolen, evidence of such loss,
destruction or theft may be submitted to the Trustee and, if such evidence is satisfactory and if
indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee is given, the Authority, at the expense of the Owner, shall
execute, and the Trustee shall thereupon authenticate and deliver, a new Bond of like tenor in
lieu of and in substitution for the Bond so lost, destroyed or stolen. The Trustee may require
payment of a sum not exceeding the actual cost of preparing each new Bond issued under this
Section and of the expenses which may be incurred by the Trustee in connection therewith. Any
Bond issued under the provisions of this Section in lieu of any Bond alleged to be lost, destroyed
or stolen will constitute an original additional contractual obligation on the part of the Authority
whether or not the Bond so alleged to be lost, destroyed or stolen be at any time enforceable by
anyone, and shall be equally and proportionately entitled to the benefits of this Indenture with all
other Bonds issued under this Indenture.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, in lieu of delivering a new Bond for
which principal has become due for a Bond which has been mutilated, lost, destroyed or stoien,
the Trustee may make payment of such Bond in accordance with its terms upon receipt of
indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee.

-19-



ARTICLE Hli
ISSUANCE OF 2025 BONDS; APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

SECTION 3.01. Issuance of the 2025 Bonds. At any time after the execution of this
Indenture, the Authority may execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and, upon the Written
Request of the Authority, deliver the 2025 Bonds to the Original Purchaser.

SECTION 3.02. Application of Proceeds of Sale of the 2025 Bonds. Upon the receipt
of payment for the 2025 Bonds on the Closing Date, the Trustee shall receive the net proceeds
of sale thereof, being $ , comprised of the purchase price of $ , being the
principal amount of the Bonds, plus a net original issue premium of § , less an
Underwriter's discount of $ [, less an amount transferred directly to the insurer for
payment of the bond insurance premium ($ )], which the Trustee shall apply as
follows:

(a) The Trustee shall deposit the amount of $ in the Costs
of issuance Fund.

(b) The Trustee shall deposit the amount of § , constituting
the remainder of such proceeds, in the Project Fund.

The Trustee may establish and maintain a temporary account or fund to facilitate and
record such deposits.

SECTION 3.03. Establishment and Application of Costs of Issuance Fund. The
Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust a separate fund designated as the “Costs of
Issuance Fund” into which the Trustee shall deposit a portion of the proceeds of sale of the 2025
Bonds under Section 3.02(a). The Trustee shall disburse amounts in the Costs of Issuance Fund
from time to time to pay the Costs of Issuance upon submission of a Written Requisition of the
Authority, substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix C, stating the person to whom
payment is to be made, the amount to be paid, the purpose for which the obligation was incurred
and that such payment is a proper charge against said fund. The Trustee may conclusively rely
on such Written Requisitions and shall be fully protected in relying thereon. On September 15,
2025, or upon the earlier Written Request of the Authority, the Trustee shall transfer all amounts
remaining in the Costs of Issuance Fund to the Project Fund, and shall thereupon close the Costs
of Issuance Fund.

SECTION 3.04. Project Fund. The Trustee will establish and maintain a separate fund to
be known as the “Project Fund” into which the Trustee shall deposit a portion of the proceeds of
sale of the 2025 Bonds under Section 3.02(b). Except as otherwise provided herein, moneys in
the Project Fund will be used solely for the payment of the Project Costs. The Trustee will
disburse moneys in the Project Fund from time to time to pay Project Costs (or to reimburse the
District for payment of Project Costs) in accordance with Written Requisitions, substantially in the
form attached hereto as Appendix B, filed by the District with the Trustee. Each such Written
Requisition must state, with respect to each payment to be made thereby, (i) the name and
address of the person to whom payment is to be made, (ii) the amount and purpose of the
payment and (jii) that each payment constitutes a Project Cost not previously paid from proceeds
of the Bonds. Each Written Requisition must be accompanied by an invoice or statement
evidencing each payment to be made thereunder. The Trustee has no responsibility for payments

-20-



made in accordance with this Section. The District shall maintain accurate records showing all
disbursements from the Project Fund.

Upon the receipt by the Trustee of a Written Certificate of the District under Section 3.6 of
the Installment Sale Agreement, stating that the 2025 Water Project has been completed, the
Trustee shall withdraw from the Project Fund and deposit in the Interest Account all amounts
remaining on deposit in the Project Fund, other than amounts estimated by the District (as
identified in such Written Certificate) to be required to pay future Project Costs. Upon the filing
with the Trustee of a Written Certificate of the District stating that no further amounts are intended
to be requisitioned from the Project Fund, the Trustee shall thereupon close the Project Fund and
transfer all remaining amounts therein to the Interest Account for payment of interest on the 2025
Bonds.

SECTION 3.05. [Reserved].

SECTION 3.06. Validity of 2025 Bonds. The recital contained in the 2025 Bonds that the
same are issued under the Constitution and laws of the State of California shall be conclusive
evidence of their validity and of compliance with the provisions of law in their issuance.

SECTION 3.07. Additional Bonds.

(A) In addition to the 2025 Bonds authorized to be issued under this Indenture, the
Authority, may, by Supplemental Indenture, issue one or more series of Additional Bonds secured
by Revenues on a parity with the 2025 Bonds, and may issue and deliver such Additional Bonds
in such principal amount as shall be determined by the Authority, but only upon compliance by
the Authority with the provisions of this Section, including the following specific conditions which
are hereby made conditions precedent to the issuance of such Additional Bonds:

(a) The parties to this Indenture shall have executed a Supplemental
Indenture which sets forth the terms and provisions of such Additional Bonds,
including the establishment of such funds and accounts, which may be separate
and apart from the funds and accounts established hereunder for the 2025 Bonds,
as shall be necessary or appropriate;

(b) The Installment Sale Agreement shall have been supplemented or
amended, if necessary, to (i) increase or adjust the Installment Payments due and
payable on each Instailment Payment Date to an amount sufficient to pay the
principal, premium (if any) and interest payable with respect to all Outstanding
Bonds, including all Additional Bonds as and when, if any, the same mature or
become due and payable (except to the extent such principal, premium and
interest may be payable out of moneys then on deposit with the Trustee in
accordance with this Indenture), and (i) make such other revisions to the
Installment Sale Agreement as are necessitated by the issuance of such Additional
Bonds (provided, however, that such other revisions shall not prejudice the rights
of the Owners of Outstanding Bonds as granted them under the terms of this
Indenture);

(c) The Trustee shall have received a Written Certificate of the

Authority that the requirements of Section 5.8 of the Instaliment Sale Agreement
have been satisfied.

21



(B) Upon delivery to the Trustee of the foregoing instruments, the Trustee shall
authenticate Additional Bonds representing the aggregate principal amount specified in such
Supplemental Indenture, and such Additional Bonds shall be equally and ratably secured with all
Bonds, including any Additional Bonds, theretofore prepared, executed and delivered, all without
preference, priority or distinction (other than with respect to maturity, payment, prepayment or
sinking fund payment (if any)) of any one Bond, including Additional Bonds, over any other;
provided, however, that no provision of this Indenture shall require the District to consent to or
otherwise permit the preparation, execution and delivery of Additional Bonds, it being understood
and agreed that any such consent or other action of the District to permit the preparation,
execution and delivery of Additional Bonds, or lack thereof, shall be in the sole discretion of the
District.

<) Whenever the Authority shall have determined to issue Additional Bonds pursuant
to this Section 3.07, the Authority shall adopt a Supplemental Indenture determining that the
issuance of such Additional Bonds is necessary for the purposes specified herein, specifying the
principal amount of such Additional Bonds and prescribing the terms and conditions of such
Additional Bonds and the funds to be established for the security and payment thereof. Before
such Additional Bonds shall be issued and delivered, the Authority shall file with the Trustee a
Written Certificate of the Authority certifying that the requirements set forth in Section 3.07 have
been either met or provided for, together with a copy of the amendment to the Installment Sale
Agreement required hereby. Additional Bonds may or may not be secured by a debt service
reserve fund.

(D) Nothing contained in this Section 3.07 shall restrict the ability of the District to issue
Parity Obligations pursuant to the Instaliment Sale Agreement that do not secure Additional Bonds
issued pursuant to this Section 3.07 or other Parity Obligations in accordance with the terms and
conditions thereof.

.29



ARTICLE IV
REDEMPTION OF BONDS
SECTION 4.01. Terms of Redemption.

(a) Optional Redemption from any Source of Available Funds. The 2025 Bonds
maturing on or before October 1, 20____, are not subject to optional redemption prior to their
respective stated maturity dates. The 2025 Bonds maturing on or after October 1, 20___, are
subject to redemption in whole, or in part at the Written Request of the Authority among maturities
on such basis as the Authority may designate and by lot within a maturity, at the option of the
Authority, on any date on or after October 1, 20___, from any available source of funds, at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of the 2025 Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption, without premium.

The Authority must give the Trustee written notice of its intention to redeem Bonds under
this subsection (a), and the manner of selecting such Bonds for redemption from among the
maturities thereof, at least 45 days prior to the redemption date, to allow sufficient time to enable
the Trustee to give notice of such redemption in accordance with Section 4.03.

b) Redemption From Proceeds of Insurance, Sale and Condemnation. The Bonds,
including the 2025 Bonds, are subject to mandatory redemption, on any date, in whole, or in part
on a pro rata basis among maturities, from the net proceeds of insurance, sale or condemnation
credited towards the prepayment of the Instaliment Payments by the District under Section 7.3 of
the Instaliment Sale Agreement. The Bonds, including the 2025 Bonds, are subject to redemption
under this subsection at a redemption price equal {o the principal amount represented thereby to
be prepaid, without premium, together with accrued interest represented thereby to the
redemption date.

(c) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption Relating to the 2025 Bonds. The Term
Bonds shall also be subject to redemption, by lot, on October 1 in each of the years as set forth
in the following tables, from deposits made for such purpose pursuant to Section 5.02(b), at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed together with accrued
interest thereon to the redemption date, without premium, or in lieu thereof may be purchased
pursuant to the succeeding paragraph of this subsection (c}, in the aggregate respective principal
amounts and on the respective dates as set forth in the following table; provided, however, that if
some but not all of the Term Bonds have been redeemed pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) above,
the total amount of all future payments pursuant to this subsection (c) with respect to such Term
Bonds shall be reduced by the aggregate principal amount of such Term Bonds so redeemed, to
be allocated among such payments in integral muitiples of $5,000 as determined by the Authority
(written notice of which determination shall be given by the Authority to the Trustee).

-23-



2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1,

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
(October 1) Redeemed

2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1,

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
{October 1) Redeemed

In lieu of redemption of the Term Bonds pursuant to the preceding paragraph, amounts
on deposit in the Bond Fund (to the extent not required to be deposited by the Trustee in the
Interest Account or the Principal Account pursuant to Section 5.02 during the current Bond Year)
may also be used and withdrawn by the Authority, upon the Written Request of the Authority
delivered to the Trustee, at any time for the purchase of such Term Bonds at public or private sale
as and when and at such prices (including brokerage and other charges and including accrued
interest) as the Authority may in its discretion determine. The par amount of any of such Term
Bonds so purchased by the Authority in any twelve-month period ending on October 1 in any year
shall be credited towards and shall reduce the par amount of such Term Bonds required to be
redeemed pursuant to this subsection (c) on the next succeeding October 1.

SECTION 4.02. Selection of Bonds for Redemption. Whenever provision is made in this
Indenture for the redemption of less than all of the Bonds of a single maturity of the same issue,
the Trustee shall select the Bonds of that maturity to be redeemed by lot in any manner which the
Trustee in its sole discretion deems appropriate. For purposes of such selection, the Trustee
shall treat each Bond as consisting of separate $5,000 portions and each such portion shall be
subject to redemption as if such portion were a separate Bond.

SECTION 4.03. Notice of Redemption. The Trustee shall mail notice of redemption of
the Bonds by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than 20 nor more than 60 days before any
redemption date, to the respective Owners of any Bonds designated for redemption at their
addresses appearing on the Bond Registration Books and to one or more Securities Depositories
and to the Information Services. Each notice of redemption shall state the date of the notice, the
redemption date, the place or places of redemption, whether less than all of the Bonds (or all
Bonds of a single maturity) are to be redeemed, the CUSIP numbers and (in the event that not all
Bonds within a maturity are called for redemption) Bond numbers of the Bonds to be redeemed
and the maturity or maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed, and in the case of Bonds io be
redeemed in part only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof to be redeemed.
Each such notice shall also state that on the redemption date there will become due and payable
on each of said Bonds the redemption price thereof, and that from and after such redemption date

-24-



interest thereon shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such Bonds be then surrendered.
Each notice relating to a redemption pursuant to Section 4.01(a) or Section 4.01(b) shall further
state that such redemption may be rescinded by the Authority on or prior to the date set for
redemption. Neither the failure to receive any notice nor any defect therein shall affect the
sufficiency of the proceedings for such redemption or the cessation of accrual of interest from and
after the redemption date. Notice of redemption of Bonds shall be given by the Trustee, at the
expense of the Authority, for and on behalf of the Authority.

The Authority shall have the right to rescind any redemption pursuant to Section 4.01(a)
or Section 4.01(b) by written notice to the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for redemption.
Any notice of redemption shall be cancelled and annulled if for any reason funds are not available
on the date fixed for redemption for the payment in full of the Bonds then called for redemption,
and such cancellation shall not constitute an Event of Default hereunder. The Trustee shall mail
notice of rescission of redemption in the same manner notice of redemption was originally
provided.

SECTION 4.04. Execution of New Bonds Upon Partial Redemption of Bonds. Upon
surrender of any Bonds redeemed in part only, the Authority shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver to the Owner thereof, at the expense of the Authority, a new Bond or
Bonds of authorized denominations equal in aggregate principal amount to the unredeemed
portion of the Bonds surrendered.

SECTION 4.05. Effect of Redemption. Notice of redemption having been duly given as
aforesaid, and moneys for payment of the redemption price of, together with interest accrued to
the date fixed for redemption on, including any applicable premium, the Bonds (or portions
thereof) so called for redemption being held by the Trustee, on the redemption date designated
in such notice, the Bonds (or portions thereof) so called for redemption shall become due and
payable, interest on the Bonds so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, said Bonds (or
portions thereof) shall cease to be entitled to any benefit or security under this indenture, and the
Owners of said Bonds shall have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the
redemption price thereof.

All Bonds redeemed under the provisions of this Article shall be canceled by the Trustee

upon surrender thereof and destroyed in accordance with the retention policy of the Trustee then
in effect.

-25.



ARTICLEV

REVENUES; FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS; PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND
INTEREST

SECTION 6.01. Security for the Bonds; Bond Fund.

(a) Pledge of Revenues and Other Amounts. Subject only to the provisions of this
Indenture permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set
forth herein, all of the Revenues and all amounts held in any fund or account established under
this Indenture (other than the Project Fund and Cost of Issuance Fund) are hereby pledged to
secure the payment of the principal of and interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds in
accordance with their terms and the provisions of this Indenture. Said pledge constitutes a lien
on and security interest in the Revenues and such amounts and shall attach, be perfected and be
valid and binding from and after the Closing Date, without the need for any physical delivery
thereof or further act.

(b) Assignment to Trustee. The Authority hereby irrevocably transfers, assigns and
sets over to the Trustee, without recourse to the Authority, all of its rights in the Instaliment Sale
Agreement (excepting only the Authority’s rights under Sections 4.7, 5.2 and 6.4 thereof),
including but not limited to ali of the Authority’s rights to receive and collect all of the Installment
Payments, and the Trustee hereby accepts such assignment. The Trustee is entitled to collect
and receive all of the Installment Payments, and any Installment Payments collected or received
by the Authority shall be deemed to be held, and to have been collected or received, by the
Authority as the agent of the Trustee and shall forthwith be paid by the Authority to the Trustee.
The Trustee is also entitied to and shall, subject to the provisions of Article Vi, take all steps,
actions and proceedings which the Trustee determines to be reasonably necessary in its
judgment to enforce, either jointly with the Authority or separately, all of the rights of the Authority
and all of the obligations of the District under the Installment Sale Agreement.

(c) Deposit of Revenues in Bond Fund. All Revenues shall be promptly deposited by
the Trustee upon receipt thereof in a special fund designated as the “Bond Fund” which the
Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust; except that all moneys received by the Trustee
and required hereunder or under the Instaliment Sale Agreement to be deposited in the
Redemption Fund shall be promptly deposited in such fund. All Revenues deposited with the
Trustee shall be held, disbursed, allocated and applied by the Trustee only as provided in this
Indenture. Any surplus remaining in the Bond Fund, after payment in full of (i) the principal of and
interest on the Bonds or provision therefore under Article X, and (ii) any applicable fees and
expenses of the Trustee, shall be withdrawn by the Trustee and remitted to the District.

SECTION 5.02. Allocation of Revenues. On or before each Interest Payment Date, the
Trustee shail transfer from the Bond Fund and deposit into the following respective accounts
(each of which the Trustee shall establish and maintain within the Bond Fund), the following
amounts in the following order of priority:

(a) Deposit to Interest Account. The Trustee shall deposit in the
Interest Account an amount required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in
the Interest Account to be at least equal to the amount of interest becoming due
and payable on such interest Payment Date on ail Bonds then Outstanding.



(b) Deposit to Principal Account. The Trustee shall deposit in the
Principal Account an amount required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit
in the Principal Account to equal the principal amount of the Bonds coming due
and payable on each October 1, including the aggregate principal amount of the
Term Bonds (if any) which are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on
such October 1 pursuant to Section 4.01(c) or any analogous provision in a
Supplemental Indenture.

(c) Deposit to Reserve Fund(s). The Trustee shall deposit into any
reserve fund(s) established for Parity Obligations, amount(s) which are needed to
replenish the amounts therein to the applicable reserve requirement therefor or
pay amounts due to any insurer with respect to any reserve fund insurance policy
deposited therein (if applicable).

SECTION 5.03. Application of Interest Account. All amounts in the Interest Account
shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying interest on the Bonds
as it comes due and payable (including accrued interest on any Bonds purchased or redeemed
prior to maturity).

SECTION 5.04. Application of Principal Account. All amounts in the Principal Account
shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely to pay the principal amount of the Bonds on
their respective maturity dates, including the aggregate principal amount of the Term Bonds (if
any) which are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on such October 1 pursuant to
Section 4.01(c) or any analogous provision in a Supplemental indenture.

SECTION 5.05. Application of Redemption Fund. The Trustee shall establish and
maintain the Redemption Fund, into which the Trustee shall deposit a portion of the Revenues
received representing optional prepayments of the Instaliment Payments under Section 7.2 of the
Instaliment Sale Agreement or mandatory prepayments of the Instaliment Payments under
Section 7.3 of the Instaliment Sale Agreement, in accordance with a Written Request of the
Authority. Amounts on deposit in the Redemption Fund shall be used and withdrawn by the
Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the principal and premium (if any) of the Bonds to be
redeemed under Sections 4.01(a) or (b); provided, however, that at any time prior to the selection
of Bonds for redemption, the Trustee may apply such amounts to the purchase of Bonds at public
or private sale, when and at such prices (including brokerage and other charges, but excluding
accrued interest, which is payable from the Interest Account) as shall be directed under a Written
Request of the Authority, except that the purchase price (exclusive of accrued interest) may not
exceed the redemption price then applicable to the Bonds. All Bonds purchased under the
provisions of this Section shall be canceled by the Trustee upon surrender thereof and destroyed
in accordance with the retention policy of the Trustee then in effect. The Trustee shall be entitled
to conclusively rely on any Written Request of the Authority received under this Section, and shall
be fully protected in relying thereon.

SECTION 5.06. Investments. All moneys in any of the funds or accounts established with
the Trustee under this Indenture shall be invested by the Trustee solely in Authorized
Investments. Such investments shall be directed by the Authority under a Written Request of the
Authority filed with the Trustee at least 2 Business Days in advance of the making of such
investments provided, however, that any such investment shail be made by the Trustee only if,
prior to the date on which such investment is to be made, the Trustee shall have received a written
direction from the Authority specifying a specific money market fund and, if no such written
direction from the Authority is so received, the Trustee shall hold such moneys uninvested. Inthe

.27-



absence of any such directions from the Authority, the Trustee shall invest any such moneys in
Authorized Investments described in clause (e) of the definition thereof. Authorized Investments
purchased as an investment of moneys in any fund shall be deemed to be part of such fund or
account. To the extent Authorized Investments are registrable, such Authorized Investments
must be registered in the name of the Trustee.

All interest or gain derived from the investment of amounts in any of the funds or accounts
established hereunder shall be deposited in the Bond Fund, provided that interest earnings on
amounts on deposit in the Project Fund shall be retained therein unless the Authority otherwise
directs in writing. For purposes of acquiring any investments hereunder, the Trustee may
commingle funds held by it hereunder. The Trustee or any of its affiliates may act as principal or
agent in the acquisition or disposition of any investment and may impose its customary charges
therefor. The Trustee shall incur no liability for losses arising from any investments made under
this Section.

The Trustee may make any investments hereunder through its own bond or investment
department or trust investment department, or those of its parent or any affiliate. The Trustee or
any of its affiliates may act as sponsor, advisor or manager in connection with any investments
made by the Trustee hereunder. The Trustee is hereby authorized, in making or disposing of any
investment permitted by this Section, to deal with itself (in its individual capacity) or with any one
or more of its affiliates, whether it or such affiliate is acting as an agent of the Trustee or for any
third person or is dealing as a principal for its own account.

The Authority acknowledges that to the extent regulations of the Comptroller of the
Currency or other applicable regulatory entity grant the Authority the right to receive brokerage
confirmations of security transactions as they occur, the Authority will not receive such
confirmations to the extent permitted by law. The Trustee will furnish the Authority periodic cash
transaction statements which include detail for all investment transactions made by the Trustee
hereunder.

Upon the Authority’s election, such statements will be delivered via the Trustee’s online
service and upon electing such service, paper statements will be provided only upon written
request of the Authority to the Trustee.

The moneys on deposit in the funds and accounts established under this indenture shall
not be deemed “surplus” under Section 53601 of the Government Code.

SECTION 5.07. Valuation and Disposition of Investments.

(a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this Section, the Authority
covenants that all investments of amounts deposited in any fund or account created by or under
this Indenture, or otherwise containing gross proceeds of the Bonds (within the meaning of
Section 148 of the Tax Code) shall be acquired, disposed of and valued at the Fair Market Value
thereof as such term is defined in subsection (d) below. The Trustee shall have no duty in
connection with the determination of Fair Market Value other than to follow the investment
directions of the Authority in any Written Request of the Authority. ’

(b) Except as provided in the preceding subsection (a), for the purpose of determining
the amount in any fund or account established hereunder, the value of Authorized Investments
credited to such fund shall be valued by the Trustee at least annually on or before October 1. The
Trustee may sell or present for redemption, any Authorized Investment so purchased by the

.28



Trustee whenever it shall be necessary in order to provide moneys to meet any required payment,
transfer, withdrawal or disbursement from the fund to which such Authorized Investment is
credited, and the Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from any such
Authorized investment.

(d) For purposes of this Section, the term “Fair Market Value” means the price at which
a willing buyer would purchase the investment from a willing seller in a bona fide, arm’s length
transaction (determined as of the date the contract to purchase or sell the investment becomes
binding) if the investment is traded on an established securities market (within the meaning of
Section 1273 of the Tax Code) and, otherwise, the term “Fair Market Value” means the acquisition
price in a bona fide arm’'s length transaction (as referenced above) if (i) the investment is a
certificate of deposit that is acquired in accordance with applicable regulations under the Tax
Code, (ii) the investment is an agreement with specifically negotiated withdrawal or reinvestment
provisions and a specifically negotiated interest rate (for example, a guaranteed investment
contract, a forward supply contract or other investment agreement) that is acquired in accordance
with applicable regulations under the Tax Code, or (iii) the investment is a United States Treasury
Security -- State and Local Government Series which is acquired in accordance with applicable
regulations of the United States Bureau of Public Debt.

(e) To the extent of any valuations made by the Trustee hereunder, the Trustee may
utilize and rely upon computerized securities pricing services that may be available to it, including
those available through its regular accounting system.

SECTION 5.08. Provisions Relating to Insurance Policy.

So long as the Insurance Policy remains in effect, the Authority and the Trustee shall
comply with all of the terms and provisions set forth in Exhibit D relating to the Insurer and the
Insurance Policy. Such provisions are hereby incorporated into this indenture by this reference,
and shall control and supersede any conflicting or inconsistent provisions in this Indenture.

.28-



ARTICLE Vi
COVENANTS OF THE AUTHORITY

SECTION 6.01. Punctual Payment. The Authority shall punctually pay or cause to be
paid the principal of and interest and premium (if any) on all the Bonds in strict conformity with
the terms of the Bonds and of this Indenture, according to the true intent and meaning thereof,
but only out of the Revenues and other amounts pledged for such payment as provided in this
Indenture.

SECTION 6.02. Extension of Payment of Bonds. The Authority shall not directly or
indirectly extend or assent to the extension of the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of
payment of any claims for interest by the purchase of such Bonds or by any other arrangement,
and in case the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any such claims for interest
shall be extended, such Bonds or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in case of any default
hereunder, to the benefits of this Indenture, except subject to the prior payment in full of the
principal of all of the Bonds then Qutstanding and of all claims for interest thereon which have not
been so extended. Nothing in this Section limits the right of the Authority to issue Bonds for the
purpose of refunding any Outstanding Bonds, and such issuance does not constitute an extension
of maturity of the Bonds.

SECTION 6.03. Against Encumbrances. The Authority shall not create, or permit the
creation of, any pledge, lien, charge or other encumbrance upon the Revenues and other assets
pledged or assigned under this Indenture while any of the Bonds are Outstanding, except the
pledge and assignment created by this Indenture. Subject to this limitation, the Authority
expressly reserves the right to enter into one or more other indentures for any of its corporate
purposes, and reserves the right to issue other obligations for such purposes.

SECTION 6.04. Power to Issue Bonds and Make Pledge and Assignment. The
Authority is duly authorized under law to issue the Bonds and to enter into this Indenture and to
pledge and assign the Revenues and other amounts purported to be pledged and assigned,
respectively, under this indenture in the manner and to the extent provided in this indenture. The
Bonds and the provisions of this Indenture are and will be the legal, valid and binding special
obligations of the Authority in accordance with their terms, and the Authority and the Trustee shall
at all times, subject to the provisions of Article Viil and to the extent permitted by law, defend,
preserve and protect said pledge and assignment of Revenues and other assets and all the rights
of the Bond Owners under this Indenture against all claims and demands of all persons
whomsoever.

SECTION 6.05. Accounting Records. The Trustee shall at all times keep, or cause to be
kept, proper books of record and account, prepared in accordance with corporate trust industry
standards, in which complete and accurate entries shall be made of all transactions made by it
relating to the proceeds of Bonds and all funds and accounts established under this Indenture.
The Trustee shall make such books of record and account available for inspection by the Authority
and the District during business hours, upon reasonable notice, and under reasonable
circumstances.

SECTION 6.06. Limitation on Additional Obligations. The Authority covenants that no

additional bonds, notes or other indebtedness, other than Additional Bonds, shall be issued or
incurred which are payablie out of the Revenues in whole or in part.

-30-



SECTION 6.07. Tax Covenants.

(a) Private Business Use Limitation. The Authority shall assure that the proceeds of
the 2025 Bonds are not used in a manner which would cause the 2025 Bonds to satisfy the private
business tests of Section 141(b) of the Tax Code or the private loan financing test of Section
141(c) of the Tax Code.

(b) Federal Guarantee Prohibition. The Authority may not take any action or permit or
suffer any action to be taken if the result of the same would be to cause the 2025 Bonds to be
“federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Tax Code.

(c) No Arbifrage. The Authority may not take, or permit or suffer to be taken by the
Trustee or otherwise, any action with respect to the proceeds of the 2025 Bonds or of any other
obligations which, if such action had been reasonably expected to have been taken, or had been
deliberately and intentionally taken, on the Closing Date, would have caused the 2025 Bonds to
be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148(a) of the Tax Code.

(d) Maintenance of Tax Exemption. The Authority shall take all actions necessary to
assure the exclusion of interest on the 2025 Bonds from the gross income of the Owners of the
2025 Bonds to the same extent as such interest is permitted to be excluded from gross income
under the Tax Code as in effect on the Closing Date.

(e) Rebate of Excess Investment Earnings to United States. The Authority shall
calculate or cause to be calculated all amounts of excess investment earnings with respect to the
2025 Bonds which are required to be rebated to the United States of America under Section 148(f)
of the Tax Code, at the times and in the manner required under the Tax Code. The Authority
shall pay when due an amount equal to excess investment earnings to the United States of
America in such amounts, at such times and in such manner as may be required under the Tax
Code, such payments to be made from any source of legally available funds of the Authority. The
Authority shall keep or cause to be kept, and retain or cause to be retained for a period of 6 years
following the retirement of the 2025 Bonds, records of the determinations made under this
subsection (e).

SECTION 6.08. Enforcement of Instaliment Sale Agreement. The Trustee shall
promptly collect all amounts (to the extent any such amounts are available for coliection} due from
the District under the Instaliment Sale Agreement. Subject to the provisions of Article VIii, the
Trustee shall enforce, and take all steps, actions and proceedings which the Trustee determines
to be reasonably necessary for the enforcement of all of its rights thereunder as assignee of the
Authority and for the enforcement of all of the obligations of the District under the Instaliment Sale
Agreement.

SECTION 6.09. Waiver of Laws. The Authority shall not at any time insist upon or plead
in any manner whatsoever, or claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay or extension law
now or at any time hereafter in force that may affect the covenants and agreements contained in
this indenture or in the Bonds, and all benefit or advantage of any such law or laws is hereby
expressly waived by the Authority to the extent permitted by law.

SECTION 6.10. Further Assurances. The Authority will make, execute and deliver any

and all such further indentures, instruments and assurances as may be reasonably necessary or
proper to carry out the intention or to facilitate the performance of this Indenture and for the better

31



assuring and confirming unto the Owners of the Bonds of the rights and benefits provided in this
Indenture.

ARTICLE VII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

SECTION 7.01. Events of Default. The following events constitute Events of Default
hereunder:

(a) Failure to pay any instaliment of the principal of any Bonds when
due, whether at maturity as therein expressed, by proceedings for redemption, by
acceleration, or otherwise.

(b) Failure to pay any instaliment of interest on the Bonds when due.

(c) Failure by the Authority to observe and perform any of the other
covenants, agreements or conditions on its part contained in this Indenture or in
the Bonds, if such failure has continued for a period of 60 days after written notice
thereof, specifying such failure and requiring the same to be remedied, has been
given to the Authority by the Trustee provided, however, if in the reasonable
opinion of the Authority the failure stated in the notice can be corrected, but not
within such 60 day period, such failure shall not constitute an Event of Default if
the Authority institutes corrective action within such 60 day period and thereafter
diligently and in good faith cures the failure in a reasonable period of time.

(d) The commencement by the Authority of a voluntary case under Title
11 of the United States Code or any substitute or successor statute.

(e) The occurrence and continuation of an event of default under and
as defined in the Instaliment Sale Agreement.

SECTION 7.02. Acceleration; Other Remedies. If any Event of Defauit occurs, then, and
in each and every such case during the continuance of such Event of Default, the Trustee may,
and shall, at the written direction of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the
Bonds at the time Outstanding shall, in each case, upon receipt of indemnification satisfactory to
Trustee against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in connection with such action,
upon notice in writing to the Authority, declare the principal of all of the Bonds then Outstanding,
and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such
declaration the same shall become and shall be immediately due and payable, anything in this
Indenture or in the Bonds contained to the contrary notwithstanding.

The foregoing provision, however, is subject to the condition that if, at any time after the
principal of the Bonds shall have been so declared due and payable, the Authority shall pay to or
shall deposit with the Trustee a sum sufficient to pay all principal of the Bonds maturing prior to
such declaration and all matured instaliments of interest (if any) upon all the Bonds, and any and
all other defaults known to the Trustee (other than in the payment of principal of and interest on
the Bonds due and payable solely by reason of such declaration) shall have been made good or
cured to the satisfaction of the Trustee, or provision deemed by the Trustee to be adequate shall

-32-



have been made therefor, then, and in every such case, the Trustee, on behalf of the Owners of
all of the Bonds, shall rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences; but no such
rescission and annuiment shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default, or shail impair or
exhaust any right or power consequent thereon; provided, however, that no such rescission and
annulment shail extend to or shall affect any subsequent Event of Default, or shall impair or
exhaust any right or power consequent thereon.

In addition to declaring the principal of all of the Bonds, and the interest accrued thereon,
to be immediately due and payable as set forth above, the Trustee shali have the right to pursue
any other remedy provided by law or in equity or otherwise after an Event of Default has occurred.

SECTION 7.03. Application of Revenues and Other Funds After Default. If an Event
of Default occurs and is continuing, all Revenues and any other funds then held or thereafter
received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of this Indenture shall be applied by the
Trustee in the following order of priority:

(a) To the payment of reasonable fees, charges and expenses of the
Trustee (including reasonable fees and disbursements of its legal counsel
including outside counsel and the allocated costs of internal attorneys) incurred in
and about the performance of its powers and duties under this indenture; and

(b} To the payment of the principal of and interest then due on the
Bonds (upon presentation of the Bonds to be paid, and stamping or otherwise
noting thereon of the payment if only partially paid, or surrender thereof if fully paid)
in accordance with the provisions of this indenture, as follows:

First. To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all
installments of interest then due in the order of the maturity of such
instaliments, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in
full any installment or instaliments maturing on the same date, then to the
payment thereof ratably, according to the amounts due thereon, to the
persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and

Second: To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the
unpaid principal of any Bonds which shall have become due, whether at
maturity or by acceleration or redemption, with interest on the overdue
principal at the rate borne by the respective Bonds (to the extent permitted
by law), and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all
the Bonds, together with such interest, then to the payment thereof ratably,
according to the amounts of principal due on such date to the persons
entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference.

SECTION 7.04. Trustee to Represent Bond Owners. The Trustee is hereby irrevocably
appointed (and the successive respective Owners of the Bonds, by taking and holding the same,
shall be conclusively deemed to have so appointed the Trustee) as trustee and true and lawful
attorney-in-fact of the Owners of the Bonds for the purpose of exercising and prosecuting on their
behalf such rights and remedies as may be available to such Owners under the provisions of the
Bonds, this indenture and applicable provisions of any law. All rights of action under this Indenture
or the Bonds or otherwise may be prosecuted and enforced by the Trustee without the possession
of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any proceeding relating thereto, and any such
suit, action or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in the name of the Trustee for

-33-



the benefit and protection of all the Owners of such Bonds, subject to the provisions of this
Indenture.

SECTION 7.05. Limitation on Bond Owners’ Right to Sue. Notwithstanding any other
provision hereof, no Owner of any Bonds has the right to institute any suit, action or proceeding
at faw or in equity, for the protection or enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture,
the Instaliment Sale Agreement or any other applicable law with respect to such Bonds, unless
(a) such Owner has given to the Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default;
(b) the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding have
requested the Trustee in writing to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such
suit, action or proceeding in its own name; (¢) such Owner or Owners have tendered to the
Trustee reasonable indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred in
compliance with such request; (d) the Trustee has failed to comply with such request for a period
of 60 days after such written request has been received by, and said tender of indemnity has
been made to, the Trustee; and (e) no direction inconsistent with such written request has been
given to the Trustee during such 60 day period by the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds then Outstanding.

Such notification, request, tender of indemnity and refusal or omission are hereby
declared, in every case, to be conditions precedent to the exercise by any Owner of Bonds of any
remedy hereunder or under law; it being understood and intended that no one or more Owners of
Bonds shall have any right in any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or
prejudice the security of this Indenture or the rights of any other Owners of Bonds, or to enforce
any right under the Bonds, this Indenture, the Instaliment Sale Agreement or other applicable law
with respect to the Bonds, except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law
or in equity to enforce any such right shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein
provided and for the benefit and protection of all Owners of the Outstanding Bonds, subject to the
provisions of this indenture.

SECTION 7.06. Absolute Obligation of Authority. Nothing in Section 7.06 or in any other
provision of this Indenture or in the Bonds contained affects or impairs the obligation of the
Authority, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of and interest and premium
(if any) on the Bonds to the respective Owners of the Bonds at their respective dates of maturity,
or upon acceleration or call for redemption, as herein provided, but only out of the Revenues and
other assets herein pledged therefor, or affect or impair the right of such Owners, which is also
absolute and unconditional, to enforce such payment by virtue of the contract embodied in the
Bonds.

SECTION 7.07. Termination of Proceedings. In case any proceedings taken by the
Trustee or by any one or more Bond Owners on account of any Event of Default have been
discontinued or abandoned for any reason or have been determined adversely to the Trustee or
the Bond Owners, then in every such case the Authority, the Trustee, and the Bond Owners,
subject to any determination in such proceedings, shall be restored to their former positions and
rights hereunder, severally and respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and duties of the
Authority, the Trustee and the Bond Owners shall continue as though no such proceedings had
been taken.

SECTION 7.08. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved

to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or
remedies, and each and every such remedy, to the extent permitted by law, shall be cumulative

34



and in addition to any other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in
equity or otherwise.

SECTION 7.09. No Waiver of Default. No delay or omission of the Trustee or any Owner
of the Bonds to exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence of any default or Event
of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such
default or Event of Default or an acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by
this Indenture to the Trustee or to the Owners of the Bonds may be exercised from time to time
and as often as may be deemed expedient by the Trustee or the Bond Owners.

-35-



ARTICLE Vil
THE TRUSTEE

SECTION 8.01. Appointment of Trustee. U.S. Bank Trust Company, National
Association is hereby appointed Trustee by the Authority for the purpose of receiving all moneys
required to be deposited with the Trustee hereunder and to allocate, use and apply the same as
provided in this Indenture. The Authority will maintain a Trustee which is qualified under the
provisions of the foregoing provisions of this Article VIl so long as any Bonds are Outstanding.

SECTION 8.02. Acceptance of Trusts; Removal and Resignation of Trustee. The
Trustee hereby accepts the express trusts imposed upon it by this Indenture, and agrees to
perform said trusts, but only upon and subject to the following express terms and conditions:

(a) The Trustee shall, prior to an Event of Default, and after the curing
or waiver of all Events of Default which may have occurred, perform such duties
and only such duties as are expressly and specifically set forth in this Indenture
and no implied duties or covenants shall be read into this Indenture against the
Trustee.

(b) The Authority may remove the Trustee at any time, unless an Event
of Default has occurred and is then continuing, and shall remove the Trustee (a) if
at any time requested to do so by the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds then OQutstanding (or their attorneys duly authorized in
writing) or (b) if at any time the Trustee ceases to be eligible in accordance with
Section 8.02, or becomes incapable of acting, or is adjudged a bankrupt or
insolvent, or a receiver of the Trustee or its property is appointed, or any public
officer takes control or charge of the Trustee or of its property or affairs for the
purpose of rehabilitation, conservation or liquidation.

(c) The Trustee may at any time resign by giving written notice of such
resignation to the Authority and the District, and by giving the Bond Owners notice
of such resignation by mail at the addresses shown on the Bond Registration
Books.

(d) Any removal or resignation of the Trustee and appointment of a
successor Trustee shall become effective upon acceptance of appointment by the
successor Trustee. If no successor Trustee has been appointed and accepted
appointment within 45 days of giving notice of removal or notice of resignation as
aforesaid, the Authority, upon its own direction or the direction of the resigning
Trustee may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a
successor Trustee, and such court may thereupon, after such notice (if any) as it
may deem proper, appoint such successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee
appointed under this Indenture, must signify its acceptance of such appointment
by executing and delivering to the Authority and to its predecessor Trustee a
written acceptance thereof, and after payment by the Authority of all unpaid fees
and expenses of the predecessor Trustee, and thereupon such successor Trustee,
without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the
moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such
predecessor Trustee, with like effect as if originally named Trustee herein. At the
Written Request of the Authority or the request of the successor Trustee, such

-36-



predecessor Trustee shall pay over, transfer, assign and deliver to the successor
Trustee any money or other property subject to the trusts and conditions herein
set forth. Upon request of the successor Trustee, the Authority shall execute and
deliver any and all instruments as may be reasonably required for more fully and
certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Trustee all such moneys,
estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations. Upon
acceptance of appointment by a successor Trustee as provided in this subsection,
the Authority shall promptly mail or cause the successor trustee to mail a notice of
the succession of such Trustee to the trusts hereunder to each rating agency which
is then rating the Bonds and to the Bond Owners at the addresses shown on the
Bond Registration Books. If the Authority fails to mail such notice within 15 days
after acceptance of appointment by the successor Trustee, the successor Trustee
shall cause such notice to be mailed at the expense of the Authority.

(e) Any Trustee appointed under this Indenture shall be a corporation
or association organized and doing business under the laws of any state or the
United States of America or the District of Columbia, shall be authorized under
such laws to exercise corporate trust powers, shall have (or, in the case of a
corporation or association that is a member of a bank holding company system,
the related bank holding company has) a combined capital and surplus of at least
$50,000,000, and shall be subject to supervision or examination by a federai or
state agency, so long as any Bonds are Outstanding. If such corporation or
association publishes a report of condition at least annually under law or to the
requirements of any supervising or examining agency above referred to, then for
the purpose of this subsection (e), the combined capital and surplus of such
corporation or association shall be deemed to be its combined capital and surplus
as set forth in its most recent report of condition so published. if the Trustee at
any time ceases to be eligible in accordance with the provisions of this subsection
(e), the Trustee shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect specified
in this Section.

SECTION 8.03. Merger or Consolidation. Any bank, federal savings association, or trust
company into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated
or any bank, federal savings association, or trust company resulting from any merger, conversion
or consolidation to which it shall be a party or any bank, federal savings association, or trust
company to which the Trustee may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its corporate trust
business, provided such bank, federal savings association, or trust company shall be eligible
under subsection (e) of Section 8.02 shall be the successor to such Trustee, without the execution
or filing of any paper or any further act, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.

SECTION 8.04. Liability of Trustee.

(a) The recitals of facts herein and in the Bonds contained shall be taken as
statements of the Authority, and the Trustee shall not assume responsibility for the correctness
of the same, or make any representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this indenture, the
Bonds or the Instaliment Sale Agreement, nor shall the Trustee incur any responsibility in respect
thereof, other than as expressly stated herein in connection with the respective duties or
obligations of Trustee herein or in the Bonds assigned to or imposed upon it. The Trustee shall,
however, be responsible for its representations contained in its certificate of authentication on the
Bonds. The Trustee shall not be liable in connection with the performance of its duties hereunder,
except for its own negligence. The Trustee may become the Owner of Bonds with the same rights

.37-



it would have if it were not Trustee, and, to the extent permitted by law, may act as depository for
and permit any of its officers or directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity with
respect to, any committee formed to protect the rights of Bond Owners, whether or not such
committee shall represent the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding.

(b) The Trustee is not liable for any error of judgment made by a responsible officer,
unless it is proved that the Trustee was grossly negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts.

(c) The Trustee is not liable with respect to any action taken or omitted to be taken by
it in accordance with the direction of the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of
the Bonds at the time Outstanding relating to the time, method and place of conducting any
proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred
upon the Trustee under this Indenture or assigned to it hereunder.

(d) The Trustee is not liable for any action taken by it and believed by it to be
authorized or within the discretion or rights or powers conferred upon it by this Indenture.

(e) The Trustee shall not be deemed fo have knowledge of any Event of Default
hereunder, or any other event which, with the passage of time, the giving of notice, or both, would
constitute an Event of Default hereunder unless and until it shall have actual knowledge thereof,
or a corporate trust officer shall have received written notice thereof at its Principal Corporate
Trust Office from the District, the Authority or the Owners of at least 25% in aggregate principal
amount of the Outstanding Bonds. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Trustee
shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or observance by the Authority
or the District of any of the terms, conditions, covenants or agreements herein, under the
Instaliment Sale Agreement or the Bonds or of any of the documents executed in connection with
the Bonds, or as to the existence of a default or an Event of Default or an event which would, with
the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, constitute an Event of Default. The Trustee is
not responsible for the validity, effectiveness or priority of any collateral given to or held by it.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Trustee shall not be required to ascertain or
inquire as to the performance or observance by the District or the Authority of the terms,
conditions, covenants or agreements set forth in the Instaliment Sale Agreement, other than the
covenants of the District to make Instaliment Payments to the Trustee when due and to file with
the Trustee when due, such reports and certifications as the District is required to file with the
Trustee thereunder.

0] No provision of this Indenture requires the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds
or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the
exercise of any of its rights or powers.

(9) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any
duties hereunder either directly or through agents, receivers or attorneys and the Trustee shall
not be responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent, receiver or attorney
appointed with due care by it hereunder.

(h) The Trustee has no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it
by this Indenture at the request or direction of the Bond Owners under this Indenture, unless the
such Owners have offered to the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against the costs,
expenses and liabilities (including but not limited to fees and expenses of its attorneys) which
might be incurred by it in compliance with such request or direction. No permissive power, right

-38-



or remedy conferred upon the Trustee hereunder shall be construed to impose a duty to exercise
such power, right or remedy.

0] Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of this Indenture
relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Trustee is subject
to the provisions of Section 8.02(a), this Section 8.04 and Section 8.05, and shall be applicable
to the assignment of any rights to the Trustee hereunder.

1) The Trustee is not accountable to anyone for the subsequent use or application of
any moneys which are released or withdrawn in accordance with the provisions hereof.

(k) The Trustee makes no representation or warranty, expressed or implied as to the
title, value, design, compliance with specifications or legal requirements, quality, durability,
operation, condition, merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose for the use contemplated
by the Authority or the District of the 2025 Water Project. In no event shall the Trustee be liable
for incidental, indirect, special or consequential damages in connection with or arising from the
Installment Sale Agreement or this Indenture for the existence, furnishing or use of the 2025
Water Project.

()] The Trustee has no responsibility with respect to any information, statement, or
recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure material prepared
or distributed with respect to the Bonds.

(m)  The Trustee shall not be considered in breach of or in default in its obligations
hereunder or progress in respect thereto in the event of delay in the performance of such
obligations due to unforeseeable causes beyond its control and without its fault or negligence,
including, but not limited to, Acts of God or of the public enemy or terrorists, acts of a government,
acts of the other party, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes,
earthquakes, explosion, mob violence, riot, inability to procure or general sabotage or rationing of
labor, equipment, facilities, sources or energy, material or supplies in the open market, litigation
or arbitration involving a party or others relating to zoning or other governmental action or inaction
pertaining to the project, malicious mischief, condemnation, and unusually severe weather or
delays of suppliers or subcontractors due to such causes or any similar event and/or occurrences
beyond the control of the Trustee.

(n) The Trustee agrees to accept and act upon facsimile transmission of written
instructions and/or directions pursuant to this indenture of Trust, provided, however, that: (a)
subsequent to such facsimile transmission of written instructions and/or directions the Trustee
shall forthwith receive the originally executed instructions and/or directions, (b) such originally
executed instructions and/or directions shall be signed by a person as may be designated and
authorized to sign for the party signing such instructions and/or directions, and (c) the Trustee
shall have received a current incumbency certificate containing the specimen signature of such
designated person.

(o) In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for special, indirect, punitive,
incidental or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including, but not limited to,
loss of profit) irrespective of whether the Trustee has been advised of the likelihood of such loss
or damage and regardless of the form of action.

-39-



[(3)] The Trustee shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including
funds transfer insfructions (“Instructions”) given pursuant to this Indenture and delivered using
Electronic Means. (“Electronic Means” shall mean the following communications methods: e-
mail, facsimile transmission, secure electronic transmission containing applicable authorization
codes, passwords and/or authentication keys issued by the Trustee, or another method or system
specified by the Trustee as available for use in connection with its services hereunder). The
District or the Authority, as the case may be, shall provide to the Trustee an incumbency certificate
listing officers with the authority to provide such Instructions (“Authorized Officers”) and containing
specimen signatures of such Authorized Officers, which incumbency certificate shall be amended
by the District or the Authority, as the case may be, whenever a person is to be added or deleted
from the listing. If the District or the Authority, as the case may be, elects to give the Trustee
Instructions using Electronic Means and the Trustee in its discretion elects to act upon such
Instructions, the Trustee’s understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling. The
District and the Authority, understand and agree that the Trustee cannot determine the identity of
the actual sender of such Instructions and that the Trustee shall conclusively presume that
directions that purport to have been sent by an Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency
certificate provided to the Trustee have been sent by such Authorized Officer. The District and
the Authority, as the case may be, shall be responsible for ensuring that only Authorized Officers
transmit such Instructions to the Trustee and that the District and the Authority, as the case may
be, and all Authorized Officers are solely responsible to safeguard the use and confidentiality of
applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or authentication keys upon receipt by
the District or the Authority, as the case may be,. The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses,
costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance
with such Instructions notwithstanding the fact that such directions conflict or are inconsistent with
a subsequent written instruction. The District and the Authority agree: (i) to assume all risks
arising out of the use of Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the Trustee, including without
limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception
and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with
the various methods of transmitting Instructions to the Trustee and that there may be more secure
methods of transmitting Instructions than the method(s) selected by the District or the Authority,
as the case may be; (iii) that the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with its
transmission of Instructions provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in light
of its particular needs and circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Trustee immediately upon learning
of any compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures.

(q) All notices, approvals, consents, requests and any communications to the Trustee
hereunder must be in writing in English and must be in the form of a document that is signed
manually or by way of an electronic signature (including electronic images of handwritten
signatures and digital signatures provided by DocuSign, Orbit, Adobe Sign or any other electronic
signature provider acceptable to the Trustee). Electronic signatures believed by the Trustee to
comply with the ESIGN ACT of 2000 or other applicable law shall be deemed original signatures
for all purposes. If the parties chooses to use electronic signatures to sign documents delivered
to the Trustee, such parties agree to assume all risks arising out of its use of electronic signatures,
including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on an unauthorized document and the
risk of interception or misuse by third parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee may in
any instance and in its sole discretion require that an original document bearing a manual
signature be delivered to the Trustee in lieu of, or in addition to, any document signed via
electronic signature.

SECTION 8.05. Right to Rely on Documents. The Trustee shall be protected and shall
incur no liability in acting or refraining from acting in reliance upon any notice, resolution, request,

-40-



consent, order, certificate, report, opinion, bonds, requisition, facsimile transmission, electronic
mail or other paper or document believed by them to be genuine and to have been signed or
presented by the proper party or parties. The Trustee is under no duty to make any investigation
or inquiry as to any statements contained or matter referred to in any paper or document but may
accept and conclusively rely upon the same as conclusive evidence of the truth and accuracy of
any such statement or matter and shall be fully protected in relying thereon. The Trustee may
consult with counsel, who may be counsel of or to the Authority, with regard to legal questions,
and the opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect
of any action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance therewith.

The Trustee may treat the Owners of the Bonds appearing in the Bond Registration Books
as the absolute owners of the Bonds for all purposes and the Trustee shall not be affected by any
notice to the contrary.

Whenever in the administration of the trusts imposed upon it by this Indenture the Trustee
shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking or
suffering any action hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect thereof be herein
specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a Written
Certificate, Written Request or Written Requisition of the Authority or the District, and such Wiritten
Certificate, Written Request or Written Requisition shall be full warrant to the Trustee for any
action taken or suffered under the provisions of this Indenture in reliance upon such Written
Certificate, Written Request or Written Requisition, and the Trustee shall be fully protected in
relying thereon, but in its discretion the Trustee may, in lieu thereof, accept other evidence of such
matter or may require such additional evidence as to it may deem reasonable.

SECTION 8.06. Preservation and Inspection of Documents. All documents received by
the Trustee under the provisions of this indenture shall be retained in its respective possession
and in accordance with its retention policy then in effect and shall, upon reasonable notice to
Trustee, be subject to the inspection of the Authority, the District, and any Bond Owner, and their
agents and representatives duly authorized in writing, during business hours and under
reasonable conditions as agreed to by the Trustee.

SECTION 8.07. Compensation and Indemnification. The Authority shall pay to the
Trustee from time to time, on demand, the compensation for all services rendered under this
Indenture and also all reasonable expenses, advances (including any interest on advances),
charges, legal (including outside counsel and the allocated costs of internal attorneys) and
consulting fees and other disbursements, incurred in and about the performance of its powers
and duties under this Indenture.

The Authority shall indemnify the Trustee, its officers, directors, employees and agents
against any cost, loss, liability or expense whatsoever (inciuding but not limited to fees and
expenses of its attorneys) incurred without negligence or willful misconduct on its part, arising out
of or in connection with the acceptance or administration of this trust and this Indenture, including
costs and expenses of defending itself against any claim or liability in connection with the exercise
or performance of any of its powers hereunder or under the Instaliment Sale Agreement. As
security for the performance of the obligations of the Authority under this Section, the Trustee
shall have a lien prior to the lien of the Bonds upon all property and funds held or collected by the
Trustee as such. The rights of the Trustee and the obligations of the Authority under this Section
shall survive the resignation or removal of the Trustee or the discharge of the Bonds and this
Indenture and the Installment Sale Agreement.

-41-



ARTICLE IX
MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT HEREOF
SECTION 9.01. Amendments Permitted.

(a) Amendments With Bond Qwner Consent. This Indenture and the rights and
obligations of the Authority and of the Owners of the Bonds and of the Trustee may be modified
or amended from time to time and at any time by Supplemental Indenture, which the Authority
and the Trustee may enter into when the written consents of the Owners of a majority in aggregate
principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding are filed with the Trustee. No such modification
or amendment may (i) extend the fixed maturity of any Bonds, or reduce the amount of principal
thereof or extend the time of payment, or change the method of computing the rate of interest
thereon, or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, without the consent of the Owner of
each Bond so affected, or (i) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds the consent of the Owners
of which is required to effect any such modification or amendment, or permit the creation of any
lien on the Revenues and other assets pledged under this Indenture prior to or on a parity with
the fien created by this Indenture except as permitted herein, or deprive the Owners of the Bonds
of the lien created by this Indenture on such Revenues and other assets (except as expressly
provided in this Indenture), without the consent of the Owners of all of the Bonds then
Outstanding. 1t is not necessary for the consent of the Bond Owners to approve the particular
form of any Supplemental Indenture, but it is sufficient if such consent approves the substance
thereof.

(b) Amendments Without Owner Consent. This Indenture and the rights and
obligations of the Authority, of the Trustee and the Owners of the Bonds may also be modified or
amended from time to time and at any time by a Supplemental Indenture, which the Authority and
the Trustee may enter into without the consent of any Bond Owners if the Trustee has been
furnished an opinion of counsel that the provisions of such Supplemental Indenture shall not
materially adversely affect the interests of the Owners of the Bonds, including, without limitation,
for any one or more of the following purposes:

(i) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Authority in this
Indenture contained, other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed,
to pledge or assign additional security for the Bonds (or any portion thereof), or to
surrender any right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the Authority;

(ii) to cure any ambiguity, inconsistency or omission, or to cure or
correct any defective provision, contained in this indenture, or in regard to matters
or questions arising under this Indenture, as the Authority deems necessary or
desirable, provided that such modification or amendment does not materially
adversely affect the interests of the Bond Owners;

(iif) to modify, amend or supplement this Indenture in such manner as
to permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as
amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect, and to add such other
terms, conditions and provisions as may be permitted by said act or similar federal
statute;

-42-



(iv)  to modify, amend or supplement this Indenture in such manner as
to assure that the interest on the Bonds remains excluded from gross income
under the Tax Code; or

v) to provide for the issuance of Additional Bonds pursuant to Section
3.07 hereof.

(c) Limitation. The Trustee is not obligated to enter into any Supplemental Indenture
authorized by subsections (a) or (b) of this Section which materially adversely affects the
Trustee’s own rights, duties or immunities under this indenture or otherwise.

(d) Notice of Amendments. The Authority shall deliver or cause to be delivered a draft
of any Supplemental Indenture to each rating agency which then maintains a rating on the Bonds,
at least 10 days prior to the effective date of such Supplemental Indenture under this Section.

SECTION 9.02. Effect of Supplemental Indenture. Upon the execution of any
Supplemental Indenture under this Article IX, this Indenture shall be deemed to be modified and
amended in accordance therewith, and the respective rights, duties and obligations under this
Indenture of the Authority, the Trustee, and all Owners of Bonds Outstanding shall thereafter be
determined, exercised and enforced hereunder subject in all respects to such modification and
amendment, and all the terms and conditions of any such Supplemental Indenture shall be
deemed to be part of the terms and conditions of this Indenture for any and all purposes.

SECTION 9.03. Endorsement of Bonds; Preparation of New Bonds. Bonds delivered
after the execution of any Supplemental Indenture under this Article may, and if the Authority so
determines shall, bear a notation by endorsement or otherwise in form approved by the Authority
as to any modification or amendment provided for in such Supplemental Indenture, and, in that
case, upon demand on the Owner of any Bonds Outstanding at the time of such execution and
presentation of his Bonds for the purpose at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee
or at such additional offices as the Trustee may select and designate for that purpose, a suitable
notation shall be made on such Bonds. If the Supplemental Indenture shall so provide, new
Bonds so modified as to conform, in the opinion of the Authority, to any modification or
amendment contained in such Supplemental Indenture, shall be prepared and executed by the
Authority and authenticated by the Trustee, and upon demand on the Owners of any Bonds then
Outstanding shall be exchanged at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, without
cost to any Bond Owner, for Bonds then Outstanding, upon surrender for cancellation of such
Bonds, in equal aggregate principal amount of the same maturity.

SECTION 9.04. Amendment of Particular Bonds. The provisions of this Article IX do not

prevent any Bond Owner from accepting any amendment as to the particular Bonds held by such
Owner.

-43-



ARTICLE X
DEFEASANCE

SECTION 10.01. Discharge of Indenture. If the Authority shall pay and discharge any or
all of the Outstanding Bonds in any one or more of the following ways:

(a) by well and truly paying or causing to be paid the principal of and interest
and premium (if any) on such Bonds, as and when the same become due and payable;

(b) by depositing with the Trustee, irrevocably, at or before maturity, money
which, together with the available amounts then on deposit in the funds and accounts
established pursuant to this Indenture, is fully sufficient to pay such Bonds, including ail
principal, interest and redemption premiums; or

(c) by depositing with a qualified escrow holder, in escrow, Defeasance
Obligations in such amount as the Authority (verified by an Independent Certified Public
Accountant) shall determine will, together with the interest to accrue thereon and available
moneys then on deposit in the funds and accounts established pursuant to this Indenture
and/or the Installment Sale Agreement, be fully sufficient to pay and discharge the
indebtedness on such Bonds (including all principal, interest and redemption premiums, if
any) at or before their respective maturity dates;

and if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof notice of such redemption has
been mailed pursuant to Section 4.03 or provision satisfactory to the Trustee has been made for
the mailing of such notice, then, at the election of the Authority, and notwithstanding that any of
such Bonds have not been surrendered for payment, the pledge of the Revenues and other funds
provided for in this Indenture with respect to such Bonds, and all other pecuniary obligations of
the Authority under this Indenture with respect to all such Bonds, shall cease and terminate,
except only the obligation of the Authority to pay or cause to be paid to the Owners of such Bonds
not so surrendered and paid all sums due thereon from amounts set aside for such purpose as
aforesaid, and all expenses and costs of the Trustee. Notice of such election shall be filed with
the Trustee.

Any funds thereafter held by the Trustee, which are not required for said purposes, shail
be paid over to the Authority or the District.

SECTION 10.02, Unclaimed Funds. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Indenture,
any moneys held by the Trustee in trust for the payment of the principal of, or interest on, any
Bonds and remaining unclaimed for 2 years after the principal of all of the Bonds has become due
and payable (whether at maturity or upon call for redemption or by acceleration as provided in
this Indenture), if such moneys were so held at such date, or 2 years after the date of deposit of
such moneys if deposited after said date when all of the Bonds became due and payable, shall
be repaid to the Authority free from the trusts created by this Indenture, and all liability of the
Trustee with respect to such moneys shall thereupon cease; provided, however, that before the
repayment of such moneys to the Authority as aforesaid, the Trustee shall (at the cost of the
Authority) first mail to the Owners of Bonds which have not yet been paid, at the addresses shown
on the Bond Registration Books, a notice, in such form as may be deemed appropriate by the
Trustee with respect to the Bonds so payable and not presented and with respect to the provisions
relating to the repayment to the Authority of the moneys held for the payment thereof.

-44-



ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 11.01. Liability of Authority Limited to Revenues. Notwithstanding anything
in this Indenture or in the Bonds contained, the Authority is not required to advance any moneys
derived from any source other than the Revenues and other assets pledged under this Indenture
for any of the purposes in this Indenture mentioned, whether for the payment of the principal of
or interest on the Bonds or for any other purpose of this Indenture. Nevertheless, the Authority
may, but is not required to, advance for any of the purposes hereof any funds of the Authority
which may be made available to it for such purposes.

SECTION 11.02. Limitation of Rights to Parties and Bond Owners. Nothing in this
Indenture or in the Bonds expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to give to any
person other than the Authority, the Trustee, the District and the Owners of the Bonds, any legal
or equitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect of this Indenture or any covenant, condition
or provision therein or herein contained; and all such covenants, conditions and provisions are
and shall be held to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Authority, the Trustee, the District
and the Owners of the Bonds.

SECTION 11.03. Funds and Accounts. Any fund or account required by this Indenture
to be established and maintained by the Trustee may be established and maintained in the
accounting records of the Trustee, either as a fund or an account, and may, for the purposes of
such records, any audits thereof and any reports or statements with respect thereto, be treated
either as a fund or as an account; but all such records with respect to all such funds and accounts
shall at all times be maintained in accordance with corporate trust industry standards to the extent
practicable, and with due regard for the requirements of Section 6.05 and for the protection of the
security of the Bonds and the rights of every Owner thereof. The Trustee may establish such
funds and accounts as it deems necessary or appropriate to perform its obligations under this
Indenture.

SECTION 11.04. Waiver of Notice; Requirement of Mailed Notice. Whenever in this
Indenture the giving of notice by mail or otherwise is required, the giving of such notice may be
waived in writing by the person entitled to receive such notice and in any such case the giving or
receipt of such notice shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in
reliance upon such waiver. Whenever in this Indenture any notice is required to be given by mail,
such requirement may be satisfied by the deposit of such notice in the United States mail, postage
prepaid, by first class mail.

SECTION 11.05. Destruction of Bonds. Whenever in this Indenture provision is made
for the cancellation by the Trustee, and the delivery to the Authority, of any Bonds, the Trustee
may, in lieu of such cancellation and delivery, destroy such Bonds as may be allowed by law, and
at the written request of the Authority the Trustee shall deliver a certificate of such destruction to
the Authority.

SECTION 11.06. Severability of Invalid Provisions. If any one or more of the provisions
contained in this Indenture or in the Bonds shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed severable from
the remaining provisions contained in this Indenture and such invalidity, illegality or
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Indenture, and this Indenture shail be
construed as if such invalid or illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

-45-



The Authority hereby declares that it would have entered into this Indenture and each and every
other Section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase hereof and authorized the issuance of the
Bonds pursuant thereto irrespective of the fact that any one or more Sections, paragraphs,
sentences, clauses or phrases of this Indenture may be held illegal, invaiid or unenforceable.

SECTION 11.07. Notices. All notices or communications to be given under this Indenture
shall be given by first class mail or personal delivery to the party entitled thereto at its address set
forth below, or at such address as the party may provide to the other party in writing from time to
time. Notice shall be effective either (a) upon transmission by facsimile transmission or other
form of telecommunication, confirmed by telephone, (b) 48 hours after deposit in the United States
mail, postage prepaid, or (c) in the case of personal delivery to any person, upon actual receipt.
The Authority, the District or the Trustee may, by written notice to the other parties, from time to
time modify the address or number to which communications are to be given hereunder.

If to the District San Benito County Water District
or the Authority: 30 Mansfield Road
Hollister, CA 95023
Attention: Assistant General Manager

if to the Trustee: U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association
One California Street, Suite 1000
San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: Global Corporate Trust

SECTION 11.08. Evidence of Rights of Bond Owners. Any request, consent or other
instrument required or permitted by this Indenture to be sighed and executed by Bond Owners
may be in any number of concurrent instruments of substantially similar tenor and shall be signed
or executed by such Bond Owners in person or by an agent or agents duly appointed in writing.
Proof of the execution of any such request, consent or other instrument or of a writing appointing
any such agent, or of the holding by any person of Bonds transferable by delivery, shall be
sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee and the
Authority if made in the manner provided in this Section.

The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such request, consent or other
instrument or writing may be proved by the certificate of any notary public or other officer of any
jurisdiction, authorized by the laws thereof to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the
person signing such request, consent or other instrument acknowledged to him the execution
thereof, or by an affidavit of a witness of such execution duly sworn to before such notary public
or other officer.

The ownership of Bonds shall be proved by the Bond Registration Books.

Any request, consent, or other instrument or writing of the Owner of any Bond shall bind
every future Owner of the same Bond and the Owner of every Bond issued in exchange therefor
or in lieu thereof, in respect of anything done or suffered to be done by the Trustee or the Authority
in accordance therewith or reliance thereon.

SECTION 11.09. Disqualified Bonds. in determining whether the Owners of the requisite
aggregate principal amount of Bonds have concurred in any demand, request, direction, consent
or waiver under this Indenture, Bonds which are known by the Trustee to be owned or held by or
for the account of the Authority or the District, or by any other obligor on the Bonds, or by any

-46-



person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control
with, the Authority or the District or any other obligor on the Bonds, shall be disregarded and
deemed not to be Outstanding for the purpose of any such determination. Bonds so owned which
have been pledged in good faith may be regarded as Outstanding for the purposes of this Section
if the pledgee shall establish to the satisfaction of the Trustee the pledgee’s right to vote such
Bonds and that the pledgee is not a person directly or indirectly controlling or controlied by, or
under direct or indirect common control with, the Authority or the District or any other obligor on
the Bonds. In case of a dispute as to such right, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon the
advice of counsel in any decision by Trustee and shall be fully protected in relying thereon.

Upon request, the Authority shall specify to the Trustee those Bonds disqualified under
this Section.

SECTION 11.10. Money Held for Particular Bonds. The money held by the Trustee for
the payment of the interest, premium, if any, or principal due on any date with respect to particular
Bonds (or portions of Bonds in the case of Bonds redeemed in part only) shall, on and after such
date and pending such payment, be set aside on its books and held in trust by it for the Owners
of the Bonds entitled thereto, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 10.04 but without any
liability for interest thereon.

SECTION 11.11. Waiver of Personal Liability. No member, officer, agent or employee
of the Authority shall be individually or personally liable for the payment of the principal of or
interest or premium (if any) on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability
by reason of the issuance thereof; but nothing herein contained shall relieve any such member,
officer, agent or employee from the performance of any official duty provided by law or by this
Indenture.

SECTION 11.12. Successor is Deemed Included in All References to Predecessor.
Whenever in this Indenture either the Authority, the District or the Trustee is named or referred
to, such reference shall be deemed to include the successors or assigns thereof, and all the
covenants and agreements in this Indenture contained by or on behalf of the Authority, the District
or the Trustee shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns thereof
whether so expressed or not.

SECTION 11.13. Execution in Several Counterparts. This indenture may be executed
in any number of counterparts and each of such counterparts shall for all purposes be deemed to
be an original; and all such counterparts, or as many of them as the Authority and the Trustee
shall preserve undestroyed, shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

SECTION 11.14. Payment on Non-Business Day. in the event any payment is required
to be made hereunder on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the
next succeeding Business Day and with the same effect as if made on such preceding non-
Business Day.

SECTION 11.15. Governing Law. This Indenture shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of California.

47-



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING
AUTHORITY has caused this Indenture to be signed in its name by its duly authorized officer and
attested to by its Secretary, and U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, in
token of its acceptance of the trusts created hereunder, has caused this Indenture to be signed

in its corporate name by its officer thereunto duly authorized, all as of the day and year first above
written.

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
FINANCING AUTHORITY

By:

Dana Jacobson
Executive Director

ATTEST:

By:

Secretary

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By:

Authorized Officer

[Signature Page to Indenture of Trust dated as of May 1, 2025]



APPENDIX A
BOND FORM
NO. R- wexg —_—
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF SAN BENITO

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

INTEREST RATE: MATURITY DATE: ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE: CUSIP:
% October 1, , 2025
REGISTERED OWNER: CEDE & CO.
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: *** e

The SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY, a joint
exercise of powers authority duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of California
(the “Authority”), for value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner specified
above or registered assigns (the "Registered Owner”), on the Maturily Date specified above
(subject to any right of prior redemption hereinafter provided for), the Principal Amount specified
above, in lawful money of the United States of America, and to pay interest thereon in like lawful
money from the Interest Payment Date (as hereinafter defined) next preceding the date of
authentication of this Bond unless (i) this Bond is authenticated on or before an Interest Payment
Date and after the close of business on the 15th day of the month preceding such interest payment
date, in which event it shall bear interest from such Interest Payment Date, or (i) this Bond is
authenticated on or before September 15, 2025, in which event it shall bear interest from the
Original Issue Date specified above; provided, however, that if at the time of authentication of this
Bond, interest is in default on this Bond, this Bond shall bear interest from the Interest Payment
Date to which interest has previously been paid or made available for payment on this Bond, at
the Interest Rate per annum specified above, payable semiannually on April 1 and October 1 in
each year, commencing October 1, 2025 (the “Interest Payment Dates”), calculated on the basis
of a 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months.

Principal hereof and premium, if any, upon early redemption hereof are payable upon
presentation and surrender hereof at the corporate trust office of U.S. Bank Trust Company,
National Association, in St. Paul, Minneapolis (the “Trust Office”), as trustee (the “Trustee”).
Interest hereon is payable by check of the Trustee mailed to the Registered Owner hereof at the
Registered Owner’s address as it appears on the registration books of the Trustee as of the close



of business on the fifteenth day of the month preceding each Interest Payment Date (a “Record
Date"), or, upon written request filed with the Trustee as of such Record Date by a registered
owner of at least $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Bonds, by wire fransfer in
immediately available funds to an account in the United States designated by such registered
owner in such written request.

This Bond is not a debt of the San Benito County Water District (the “District”), the County
of San Benito, the State of California, or any of its political subdivisions, and neither the District,
said County, said State, nor any of its political subdivisions, is liable hereon nor in any event shall
this Bond be payable out of any funds or properties of the Authority other than the Revenues.

This Bond is one of a duly authorized issue of bonds of the Authority designated as the
“San Benito County Water District Financing Authority 2025 Water Revenue Bonds” (the “Bonds”),
in an aggregate principal amount of $ , all of like tenor and date (except for such
variation, if any, as may be required to designate varying numbers, maturities, interest rates or
redemption provisions) and all issued pursuant to the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division
7, Title 1 of the California Government Code, commencing with Section 6584 of said Code, and
under an Indenture of Trust dated as of May 1, 2025 (the “Indenture”), between the Authority and
the Trustee, and a resolution of the Authority adopted on , 2025, authorizing the
issuance of the Bonds. Reference is hereby made to the Indenture (copies of which are on file at
the office of the Authority) and all supplements thereto for a description of the terms on which the
Bonds are issued, the provisions with regard to the nature and extent of the Revenues, and the
rights thereunder of the owners of the Bonds and the rights, duties and immunities of the Trustee
and the rights and obligations of the Authority thereunder, to all of the provisions of which the
Registered Owner of this Bond, by acceptance hereof, assents and agrees.

The Bonds have been issued by the Authority to finance certain improvement to Zone 6
of the District. This Bond and the interest and premium, if any, hereon are special obligations of
the Authority, payable from the Revenues, and secured by a charge and lien on the Revenues as
defined in the Indenture, consisting principally of installment payments made by the District under
an Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2025, between the Authority and the District
(the “Instaliment Sale Agreement”), which installment payments are secured by the Net Revenues
of Zone 6. As and to the extent set forth in the Indenture, all of the Revenues are exclusively and
irrevocably pledged in accordance with the terms hereof and the provisions of the Indenture, to
the payment of the principal of and interest and premium (if any) on the Bonds and any Additional
Bonds, which may be issued only in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

The rights and obligations of the Authority and the owners of the Bonds may be modified
or amended at any time in the manner, to the extent and upon the terms provided in the Indenture,
but no such modification or amendment shall extend the fixed maturity of any Bonds, or reduce
the amount of principal thereof or premium (if any) thereon, or extend the time of payment, or
change the method of computing the rate of interest thereon, or extend the time of payment of
interest thereon, without the consent of the owner of each Bond so affected.

The Bonds maturing on or before October 1, 20__, are not subject to optional redemption
prior to their respective stated maturity dates. The Bonds maturing on or after October 1,20__,
are subject to redemption in whole, or in part at the Written Request of the Authority among
maturities on such basis as the Authority may designate and by lot within a maturity, at the option
of the Authority, on any Interest Payment Date on or after October 1, 20_, from any available
source of funds, at a redemption price equal the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed,
plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, without premium.

A2



The Bonds are also subject to redemption as a whole, or in part by lot, on any date, to the
extent of any net proceeds of hazard or title insurance with respect to the facilities of Zone 6 or
any portion thereof which are not used to repair or replace such facilities pursuant to the
Installment Sale Agreement, or to the extent of any net proceeds arising from the disposition of
the facilities of Zone 6 or any portion thereof in eminent domain proceedings which the District
elects to be used for such purpose pursuant {o the instaliment Sale Agreement, at a redemption
price equal to the principal amount thereof plus interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for
redemption, without premium.

The Bonds maturing October 1, ____ and October 1, _____ (the “Term Bonds”) shall also
be subject to redemption in whole, or in part by lot, on October 1 in each of the years as set forth
in the following tables, from deposits made for such purpose pursuant to the indenture, at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed together with accrued
interest thereon to the redemption date, without premium, or in lieu thereof shall be purchased
pursuant to the Indenture, in the aggregate respective principal amounts and on the respective
dates as set forth in the following table; provided, however, that if some but not all of the Term
Bonds have been redeemed pursuant to the optional or mandatory redemption provisions
described above, the total amount of all future payments with respect to such Term Bonds shall
be reduced by the aggregate principal amount of such Term Bonds so redeemed, to be allocated
among such payments on a pro rata basis in integral multiples of $5,000 as determined by the
Authority (written notice of which determination shall be given by the Authority to the Trustee).

2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1,

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
(October 1) Redeemed

2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1,

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
{October 1) Redeemed

As provided in the indenture, notice of redemption will be mailed by the Trustee by first
class mail not less than 20 nor more than 60 days prior to the redemption date to the respective
owners of any Bonds designated for redemption at their addresses appearing on the registration
books of the Trustee, but neither failure to receive such notice nor any defect in the notice so
mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for redemption or the cessation of accrual of
interest thereon from and after the date fixed for redemption.



if this Bond is called for redemption and payment is duly provided therefor as specified in
the Indenture, interest shall cease to accrue hereon from and after the date fixed for redemption.

This Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof, in person or by his attorney
duly authorized in writing, at the Trust Office, but only in the manner, subject to the limitations and
upon payment of the charges provided in the Indenture, and upon surrender and cancellation of
this Bond. Upon registration of such transfer, a new Bond or Bonds, of authorized denomination
or denominations, for the same aggregate principal amount and of the same maturity will be
issued to the transferee in exchange herefor. This Bond may be exchanged at the Trust Office
for Bonds of the same tenor, aggregate principal amount, interest rate and maturity, of other
authorized denominations.

The Authority and the Trustee may treat the Registered Owner hereof as the absolute
owner hereof for all purposes, and the Authority and the Trustee shall not be affected by any
notice to the contrary.

Unless this Bond is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust
Company to the Authority or the Trustee for registration of transfer, exchange or payment, and
any Bond issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as requested by an
authorized representative of The Depository Trust Company and any payment is made to Cede
& Co., ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE
BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL since the registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has
an interest herein.

It is hereby certified by the Authority that all of the things, conditions and acts required to
exist, to have happened or to have been performed precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond
do exist, have happened or have been performed in due and regular time, form and manner as
required by the indenture and the laws of the State of California and that the amount of this Bond,
together with all other indebtedness of the Authority, does not exceed any limit prescribed by the
Indenture or any laws of the State of California, and is not in excess of the amount of Bonds
permitted to be issued under the Indenture.

This Bond shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture or become valid or

obligatory for any purpose until the certificate of authentication hereon endorsed shall have been
manually signed by the Trustee.

A-4



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority has
caused this Bond to be executed in its name and on its behalf with the facsimile signature of its
duly authorized officer and aftested to by the facsimile signature of its Secretary, all as of the
Original Issue Date specified above.

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
FINANCING AUTHORITY

By:

Dana Jacobson
Executive Director

ATTEST:

By:

Secretary

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
This is one of the Bonds described in the within-mentioned Indenture.
Dated:

U.S. BANK TRUST COMPANY,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee

By:

Authorized Signatory



STATEMENT OF INSURANCE

[ to come if applicable]

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

For value received the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto
whose address and social security or other tax
identifying number is , the within-mentioned Bond and hereby
irrevocably constitute(s) and appoint(s)
attorney, to transfer the same on the registration books of the Trustee with full power of
substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature Guaranteed:

Note: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an eligible Note: The signature(s) on this Assignment must

guarantor institution. correspond with the name(s) as written on the face of the
within Bond in every particular without alteration or
enlargement or any change whatsoever.



APPENDIX B

FORM OF PROJECT FUND REQUISITION

WRITTEN REQUISITION NO.:

U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association
One California Street, Suite 1000

San Francisco, California 94111

Attention: Global Corporate Trust

Re: § San Benito County Water District Financing Authority
2025 Water Revenue Bonds

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In accordance with the terms of that certain Indenture, dated as of May 1, 2025 (the
“Indenture”), by and between you and the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority,
you are hereby authorized and requested to make immediate disbursement of funds held by you
in the Project Fund for Project Costs (as defined in the Indenture) pursuant to Section 3.04 of the
Indenture.

You are hereby requested to pay from the Project Fund established by the Indenture, to
the person(s), corporation(s) or other entity(ies) designated on Schedule A attached hereto, in
payment of all or a portion of the Project Costs, as described on said Schedule.

The undersigned hereby certifies that (i) no part of the amount requested herein has been
included in any other request previously filed with you; (i) to the knowledge of the undersigned,
there has not been filed with or served upon the District any notice of any lien or attachment upon
or claim (except for any preliminary notice of lien as may be filed in accordance with law) affecting
the right of the person, corporation or other entity stated below to receive payment of the amount
stated below, which lien has not been released or will not be released simultaneously with the
payment requested hereunder; and (iii) the labor, services and/or materiais covered hereby have
been performed upon or furnished relating to the Project Costs and the payment requested herein
is due and payable under a purchase order, contract or other authorization,;

Dated: ,20__

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

By:

Authorized Official



SCHEDULE A

PROJECT FUND DISBURSEMENTS

Payee Name and Address Description of Costs Amount



APPENDIX C
FORM OF COST OF ISSUANCE REQUISITION

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

REQUISITION NO. __ OF THE AUTHORITY FOR
DISBURSEMENT FROM THE COSTS OF ISSUANCE FUND

The undersigned hereby states and certifies that:

(i) | am the duly appointed, qualified and acting of the San Benito County
Water District Financing Authority, a joint exercise of powers authority, duly organized and
existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California (the “Authority”), and as such, 1
am familiar with the facts herein certified and am authorized to certify the same;

(i) I am an “Authorized Official” of the Authority, as such term is defined in that certain
Indenture of Trust, dated as of May 1, 2025 (the “Indenture”), by and between the Authority and
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”);

(iif) pursuant to Section 3.03 of the Indenture, the Trustee is hereby requested to
disburse this date, from the Costs of Issuance Fund established under the Indenture, upon receipt
of an invoice from each of the payees designated on Exhibit A attached hereto and by this
reference incorporated herein, the amount set forth in such invoice but no more than the amount
set forth opposite each such payee, in payment of Costs of Issuance described on said Exhibit A,
and all such payments shall be made by check or wire transfer in accordance with payment
instructions contained in Exhibit A or the invoice submitted in accordance therewith and the
Trustee shall have no duty or obligation to authenticate such payment instructions or the
authorization thereof;

(iv)  each obligation identified on the attached Exhibit A has been properly incurred, is
a proper charge against the Costs of Issuance Fund and has not been the basis of any previous
disbursement; and

) attached hereto is an invoice or other evidence supporting the amounts due as
identified on Exhibit A.

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meanings given them
in the Indenture.

Dated: , 2025 SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
FINANCING AUTHORITY

By:

C-1



EXHIBIT A
COSTS OF ISSUANCE DISBURSEMENTS

Payee Name and Address Purpose of Obligation Amount*

Total:
Amount of Original Deposit:

Amount Remaining after Initial
Disbursements:

* Not to exceed amount; payment to be made only upon submission of an invoice.



EXHIBIT D

PROVISIONS RELATING TO
THE INSURANCE POLICY

The following terms and provisions are hereby incorporated into this Indenture by this
reference. As to the Bonds, such provisions shall control and supersede any conflicting or
inconsistent provisions in this Indenture.

[To come, if applicable]

D-1



Stradling Draft of 4/18/25

$
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

May 2025

San Benito County Water District Financing Authority
c/o San Benito County Water District
30 Mansfield Road Hollister, CA 95023

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”) (the “Underwriter”)
hereby offers to enter into this Bond Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the San
Benito County Water District Financing Authority , a joint exercise of powers authority duly organized
and validly existing under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California (the “Issuer”), and the
San Benito County Water District, a California Special District duly organized and validly existing
under and pursuant to the laws of the State of California, specifically the San Benito County Water
District Act (the “Borrower”), whereby the Underwriter will purchase and the Issuer will sell the Bonds
(as defined and described below) which are being issued by the Issuer for the benefit of the Borrower.
The Underwriter is making this offer subject to the acceptance by the Issuer and the Borrower at or
before 5:00 P.M., California time, on the date hereof. If the Issuer and the Borrower accept this
Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement shall be in full force and effect in accordance with its
terms and shall bind the Issuer, the Borrower, and the Underwriter. The Underwriter may withdraw
this Purchase Agreement upon written notice delivered by the Underwriter to the General Manager of
the Issuer and the Borrower at any time before the Issuer and Borrower accept this Purchase
Agreement. Terms used but not defined in this Purchase Agreement are defined in the Indenture (as
defined below).

1. Purchase and Sale. Upon the terms and conditions and in reliance upon the
representations, warranties and agreements herein set forth, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase
from the Issuer, and the Issuer hereby agrees to sell and deliver to the Underwriter, all (but not less
than all) of the following bonds: San Benito County Water District Financing Authority 2025 Water

Revenue Bonds (the “Bonds™), at the purchase price of § , representing the aggregate
principal amount of the Bonds less an Underwriter’s discount of § [plus net original
issue premium of $ /less net original discount of $ . [As an
accommodation to the Issuer, the Underwriter will wire a $ portion of the purchase price,

comprising the premiums for the Insurance Policy and the Reserve Policy (defined below), directly to
the Bond Insurer.] The Underwriter intends to make an initial bona fide public offering of the Bonds
at a price or prices described in Schedule I hereto; provided, however, the Underwriter reserves the
right to change such initial public offering prices as the Underwriter deems necessary or desirable, in
their sole discretion, in connection with the marketing of the Bonds (but in all cases subject to the
requirements of Section 5 hereof), and may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers, unit investment
trusts and money market funds, certain of which may be sponsored or managed by the Underwriter at

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



prices lower than the public offering prices or yields greater than the yields set forth therein (but in all
cases subject to the requirements of Section 5 hereof).

The Issuer and the Borrower acknowledge and agree that with respect to the transaction
contemplated hereby: (i) the Underwriter is not acting as a municipal advisor within the meaning of
Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended, (ii) the primary role of the Underwriter, as
an Underwriter, is to purchase securities, for resale to investors, in an arm’s length commercial
transaction between the Issuer, the Borrower and the Underwriter and the Underwriter has financial
and other interests that differ from those of the Issuer and the Borrower; (iii) the Underwriter is acting
solely as a principal and is not acting as a municipal advisor financial advisor or fiduciary to the Issuer
or the Borrower and has not assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the Issuer or the
Borrower (irrespective of whether the Underwriter has provided other services or is currently providing
other services to the Issuer or the Borrower on other matters); (iv) the only obligations the Underwriter
has to the Issuer and the Borrower are expressly set forth in this Purchase Agreement; and (v) the Issuer
and the Borrower have consulted their own financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other
advisors, as applicable, to the extent deemed appropriate.

2. Description and Purpose of the Bonds. The Bonds have been authorized pursuant to
the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of
California (the “Act”) and a resolution, adopted by the Board of Directors of the Issuer on April 30,
2025 (the “Authorizing Resolution™). The Bonds shall be dated the date of delivery. The Bonds shall
be issued and secured under and pursuant to the Indenture of Trust, dated as of May 1, 2025 (the
“Indenture™), by and between the Issuer and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as
trustee (the “Trustee”).

Pursuant to an Installment Sale Agreement dated as of May 1, 2025 (the “Instaliment Sale
Agreement”) between the Issuer and the Borrower, the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds will be used
to (i) provide funds to assist the San Benito County Water District with financing certain improvements
to Zone 6 of the Borrower’s water system and (ii) pay certain costs of issuance associated with the
Bonds.

In accordance with the Installment Sale Agreement, the Borrower will agree to make
installment payments at times and in amounts sufficient to pay debt service on the Bonds. The
Borrower’s obligations under the Installment Sale Agreement will be secured by net revenues
generated from the part of the Water Enterprise of the Borrower that comprises Zone 6, as such terms
are defined in the Installment Sale Agreement.

The Bonds will be secured under the provisions of the Act and the Indenture. The Bonds shall
mature in the years, bear interest, be purchased at the prices and be subject to optional and mandatory
redemption at the times and in the amounts, all as set forth in Schedule I attached hereto. The
authorized denominations, Record Date, Interest Payment Dates, and other details and particulars of
the Bonds shall be as described in the Indenture and the Official Statement (as defined below) of the
Issuer.

3. Delivery of the Official Statement and Other Documents.

(a) The Issuer and the Borrower have approved and delivered or caused to be
delivered to the Underwriter copies of the Preliminary Official Statement dated May ___, 2025, which,
including the cover page and all appendices thereto, is herein referred to as the “Preliminary Official

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



Statement.” It is acknowledged by the Issuer and the Borrower that the Underwriter may deliver the
Preliminary Official Statement and a final Official Statement (as hereinafter defined) electronically
over the internet and in printed paper form. The Issuer and the Borrower deem the Preliminary Official
Statement final as of its date and as of the date hereof for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Rule 15¢2-12"), except for any information which
is permitted to be omitted therefrom in accordance with paragraph (b)(1) of Rule 15¢2-12.

(b) Within seven (7) business days from the date hereof, and in any event not later
than the Closing Date, the Issuer and the Borrower shall deliver to the Underwriter a final Official
Statement relating to the Bonds dated the date hereof (such Official Statement, including the cover
page, and all appendices attached thereto, together with all information previously permitted to have
been omitted by Rule 15¢2-12 and any amendments or supplements and statements incorporated by
reference therein or attached thereto, as have been approved by the Issuer, the Borrower, Bond Counsel,
and the Underwriter, is referred to herein as the “Official Statement™) and such additional conformed
copies thereof as the Underwriter may reasonably request in sufficient quantities to comply with
Rule 15¢2-12, rules of the MSRB and to meet potential customer requests for copies of the Official
Statement. The Underwriter agrees to file a copy of the Official Statement, including any amendments
or supplements thereto prepared by the Issuer or the Borrower, with the MSRB on its Electronic
Municipal Markets Access (“EMMA”) system, if required by MSRB Rule G-32. The Official
Statement shall be executed by and on behalf of the Issuer and the Borrower by an authorized officer
of the Issuer and the Borrower. The Official Statement shall be in substantially the same form as the
Preliminary Official Statement and, other than information previously permitted to have been omitted
by Rule 15¢2-12, the Issuer and the Borrower shall only make such other additions, deletions and
revisions in the Official Statement which are approved by the Underwriter. The Issuer and the
Borrower hereby agree to deliver to the Underwriter an electronic copy of the Official Statement in a
form that permits the Underwriter to satisfy their obligations under the rules and regulations of the
MSRB and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) including in a word-searchable pdf
format including any amendments thereto. The Issuer and the Borrower hereby ratify, confirm and
consent to and approve the use and distribution by the Underwriter before the date hereof of the
Preliminary Official Statement and hereby authorize and consent to the use by the Underwriter of the
Official Statement and the Indenture in connection with the public offering and sale of the Bonds.

(©) In order to assist the Underwriter in complying with Rule 15¢2-12, the
Borrower will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, dated as of May __, 2025
(the “Disclosure Agreement”), executed and delivered by the Borrower, to provide annual financial
information and notices of the occurrence of specified events. A description of the Disclosure
Agreement is set forth in, and a form of such agreement is attached as an appendix to, the Preliminary
Official Statement and the Official Statement.

4. Third-Party Credit Enhancement or Support.

[The Bonds maturing on October 1, 20 through October 1,20 ___, inclusive (the “Insured

Bonds”), will be insured under a municipal insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to be issued by

(the “Bond Insurer”) concurrently with the issuance of the Insured Bonds.] [In addition,

the Bond Insurer will issue a Debt Service Reserve Fund Insurance Policy with respect to the Bonds
(the “Reserve Policy”), delivery of which will satisfy the Reserve Requirement for the Bonds.]

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



5. Establishment of Issue Price.

(a) The Underwriter agrees to assist the Issuer in establishing the issue price of the
Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the Issuer at Closing an “issue price” or similar certificate,
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, together with the supporting pricing wires or
equivalent communications, with such modifications as may be deemed appropriate or necessary, in
the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter, the Issuer and Bond Counsel, to accurately reflect, as
applicable, the sales price or prices or the initial offering price or prices to the public of the Bonds. All
actions to be taken by the Issuer under this section to establish the issue price of the Bonds may be
taken on behalf of the Issuer by the Issuer’s municipal advisor identified herein and any notice or report
to be provided to the Issuer may be provided to the Issuer’s municipal advisor.

(b) [Except for the maturities set forth in Schedule 1 attached hereto,] the Issuer
represents that it will treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Bonds (the *“10% Test™)
is sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity. At or promptly after the execution of this Bond
Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter shall report to the Issuer the price or prices at which the
Underwriter have sold to the public each maturity of Bonds. [If at that time the 10% test has not been
satisfied as to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly report to the Issuer the
prices at which Bonds of that maturity have been sold by the Underwriter to the public. That reporting
obligation shall continue, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred, until either (i) all Bonds of
that maturity have been sold or (ii) the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity,
provided that, the Underwriter reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable
periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter, the Issuer or Bond Counsel.] For
purposes of this section, if Bonds mature on the same date but have different interest rates, each
separate CUSIP number within that maturity will be treated as a separate maturity of the Bonds.

[(¢c)  The Underwriter confirms that the Underwriter has offered the Bonds to the
public on or before the date of this Purchase Agreement at the offering price or prices (the “initial
offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Schedule I attached hereto, except
as otherwise set forth therein. Schedule I also sets forth, as of the date of this Purchase Agreement,
the maturities, if any, of the Bonds for which the 10% Test has not been satisfied and for which the
Issuer and the Underwriter agrees that the restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which
will allow the Issuer to treat the initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale
date as the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”). So long as the hold-the-
offering-price rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Bonds, the Underwriter will neither offer
nor sell unsold Bonds of that maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the initial offering
price to the public during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the earlier of the following:

) the close of the fifth (5%) business day after the sale date; or

(2) the date on which the Underwriter have sold at least 10% of
that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the
public.]

The Underwriter will advise the Issuer promptly after the close of the fifth (5th) business day

after the sale date whether it has sold 10% of that maturity of the Bonds to the public at a price that is
no higher than the initial offering price to the public.

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



[(©](D] The Underwriter confirms that:

(i1) any selling group agreement and each third-party distribution
agreement relating to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires,
contains or will contain language obligating each dealer who is a member of the selling group and each
broker-dealer that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement, as applicable:

(A) (i) to report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold
Bonds of each maturity allocated to it until either all Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been
sold or it is notified by the Underwriter that the 10% Test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that
maturity, provided that, the reporting obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic
intervals or otherwise upon request of the Underwriter, and (ii) to comply with the hold-the-offering-
price rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter, and

(B)  to promptly notify the Underwriter of any sales of Bonds that,
to its knowledge, are made to a purchaser who is a related party to an underwriter participating in the
initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such term being used as defined below),

(C)  to acknowledge that, unless otherwise advised by the
Underwriter, dealer or broker-dealer, the Underwriter shall assume that each order submitted by the
Underwriter, dealer or broker-dealer is a sale to the public. (ii) any selling group agreement relating
to the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will
contain language obligating each dealer that is a party to a third-party distribution agreement to be
employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public to require each broker-dealer
that is a party to such third-party distribution agreement to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the
public the unsold Bonds of each maturity allocated to it, whether or not the Closing Date has occurred,
until either all Bonds of that maturity allocated to it have been sold or it is notified by the Underwriter
that the 10% Test has been satisfied as to the Bonds of that maturity, provided that, the reporting
obligation after the Closing Date may be at reasonable periodic intervals or otherwise upon request of
the Underwriter or dealer and (B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each
case if and for so long as directed by the Underwriter or the dealer and as set forth in the related pricing
wires.

(Dl (e)] The Issuer acknowledges that, in making the representations set forth in this
section, the Underwriter will rely on [(i) the agreement of the Underwriter to comply with the
requirements for establishing issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to
comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds, as set forth in an agreement
by the underwriter and the related pricing wires], (ii) in the event a selling group has been created in
connection with the initial sale of the Bonds to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a
member of the selling group to comply with the requirements for establishing issue price of the Bonds,
including, but not limited to, its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if
applicable to the Bonds, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and
(iii) in the event that [an Underwriter or dealer who is a member of the selling group is a party to] a
third-party distribution agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Bonds
to the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the
requirements for establishing issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, its agreement to
comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in the third-party distribution
agreement and the related pricing wires. The Issuer further acknowledges that the Underwriter shall
not be liable for the failure of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



that is a party to a third-party distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement to
comply with the requirements for establishing issue price of the Bonds, including, but not limited to,
its agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable to the Bonds.

(1] The Underwriter acknowledge that sales of any Bonds to any person that is a
related party to an underwriter participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public (each such
term being used as defined below) shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes of this section.
Further, for purposes of this section:

() “public” means any person other than an underwriter or a related party
to an underwriter,

(ii) “underwriter” means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a written
contract with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate
in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract
directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds
to the public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a third-party distribution agreement
participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the public),

(ili)  a purchaser of any of the Bonds is a “related party” to an underwriter
if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or indirectly, to (i) at least 50% common
ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are corporations
(including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of
their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership
by one partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the
outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as
applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership
of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other), and

(iv)  “sale date” means the date of execution of this Purchase Agreement by
all parties.

6. [Reserved].

7. Representations and Warranties of the Issuer. The Issuer hereby represents to the
Underwriter and warrants that:

(a) The Issuer is duly organized and validly existing, with full legal right, power
and authority to issue, sell and deliver the Bonds to the Underwriter pursuant to the Indenture, and
execute, deliver and perform its obligations, as the case may be, under this Purchase Agreement, the
Indenture, the Installment Sale Agreement, the Bonds and the Tax Certificate (as defined below)
(collectively, the “Issuer Documents™) and to perform and consummate all obligations and transactions
required or contemplated by each of the Issuer Documents and the Official Statement.

(b) The Authorizing Resolution approving and authorizing the execution and
delivery by the Issuer of the Issuer Documents and the offering, issuance and sale of the Bonds upon
the terms set forth herein and in the Official Statement, was duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of
Directors of the Issuer called and held pursuant to law and with all public notice required by law and

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



at which a quorum was present and acting throughout, and is in full force and effect and has not been
amended or repealed.

© The Indenture and the Bonds conform to the descriptions thereof contained in
the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement and the Bonds, when duly issued and
authenticated in accordance with the Indenture and delivered to the Underwriter as provided herein,
will be validly issued and outstanding obligations of the Issuer, entitled to the benefits of the Indenture
and payable from the sources therein specified.

(d) The Issuer has executed and delivered, or will execute and deliver on or before
the Closing Date, each of the Issuer Documents. Each of the Issuer Documents constitutes, or will, as
of the Closing Date, constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer enforceable in
accordance with its terms, subject to any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting
creditors’ rights or remedies heretofore or hereafter enacted. Each of the Issuer Documents has been
executed and delivered, or will be executed and delivered on or before the Closing Date, by each
respective signatory and is currently in full force and effect or, as of the Closing Date, will be in full
force and effect.

(e) The execution and delivery of the Bonds by the Issuer will not in any material
respect be in breach of or default under any constitutional provision, law or administrative regulation
of the State or of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of either, or of any other
governmental agency, or any Material Judgment or Agreement (as defined below), and no event has
occurred and is continuing which with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would
constitute a default or event of default under any Material Judgment or Agreement; and the adoption
of the Authorizing Resolution, the issuance, delivery and sale of the Bonds and the execution and
delivery of the Issuer Documents and compliance with and performance of the Issuer’s obligations
therein and herein will not in any material respect conflict with, violate or result in a breach of or
constitute a default under, any such constitutional provision, law, administrative regulation or any
Material Judgment or Agreement, nor will any such execution, delivery, adoption or compliance result
in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or other security interest or encumbrance of any nature
whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Issuer (except as described in or contemplated by
the Issuer Documents and the Official Statement) or under the terms of any such law, administrative
regulation or Material Judgment or Agreement. As used in this paragraph, the term “Material Judgment
or Agreement” means any judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note or
resolution or any material agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or to which the
Issuer or any of its property or assets is otherwise subject (including, without limitation, the Act, the
Authorizing Resolution and the Issuer Documents).

) All approvals, consents and orders of any governmental authority, board,
agency, council, commission or other body having jurisdiction which would constitute a condition
precedent to the performance by the Issuer of its obligations hereunder and under the Issuer Documents
have been obtained; provided, that the Issuer makes no representations as to any approvals, consents
or other actions which may be necessary to qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under Blue Sky or
other state securities laws or regulations.

(2) Any certificates executed by any officer of the Issuer and delivered to the
Underwriter pursuant hereto or in connection herewith shall be deemed a representation and warranty
of the Issuer as to the accuracy of the statements therein made and as to the authority of the
representative to deliver such certificates and make such representation.

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(h) The information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement under the
caption “THE AUTHORITY AND THE DISTRICT — The Authority,” as of its date and as of the date
hereof was and is true and correct in all material respects and did not and does not contain any untrue
or misleading statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(i) The information contained in the Official Statement under the caption “THE
AUTHORITY AND THE DISTRICT - The Authority,” as of its date and at all times after the date of
the Official Statement, up to and including the Closing Date is and will be, true and correct in all
material respects and will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or omit to
state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading.

@) If the Official Statement is supplemented or amended, at the time of each
supplement or amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended) at all
times subsequent thereto up to and including that date that is 25 days from the “end of the underwriting
period” as defined in Rule 15¢2-12 (unless the Underwriter and the Issuer agree otherwise in writing
by the Closing Date, the “end of the underwriting period” shall be deemed to be the Closing Date), the
Official Statement under the caption “THE AUTHORITY AND THE DISTRICT ~ The Authority,”
as so supplemented or amended will be true and correct in all material respects and will not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

k) Except as described in the Preliminary Official Statement and Official
Statement, no litigation, proceeding or official investigation of any governmental or judicial body is
pending against the Issuer or against any other party of which the Issuer has notice or, to the knowledge
of the Issuer, threatened against the Issuer: (i) in any way contesting or affecting any authority for the
issuance of the Bonds or the validity or binding effect of any of the Issuer Documents, or (ii) which is
in any way contesting the creation, existence, powers or jurisdiction of the Issuer or the validity or
effect of the Indenture or the Act or any provision thereof or the application of the proceeds of the
Bonds.

)] If provided for in the Official Statement, the Issuer has provided or will
undertake to provide certain annual financial information and update such information on an annual
basis.

All representations, warranties and agreements of the Issuer shall remain operative and in full
force and effect, regardless of any investigations made by the Underwriter or on the Underwriters
behalf, and shall survive the delivery of the Bonds.

8. Representations and Warranties of the Borrower. The Borrower hereby represents
to and warrants that:

(a) The Borrower is duly organized and validly existing, with full legal right,
power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations, as the case may be, under this
Purchase Agreement, the Installment Sale Agreement, the Disclosure Agreement and the Tax
Certificate (collectively, the “Borrower Documents™) and to perform and consummate all obligations
and transactions required or contemplated by each of the Borrower Documents and the Official
Statement.

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(b) The resolution approved by the Board of Directors of the Borrower on April 30,
2025 (the “Borrower Resolution™) approving and authorizing the execution and delivery by the
Borrower of the Borrower Documents and the offering, issuance and sale of the Bonds upon the terms
set forth herein and in the Official Statement, was duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors
of the Borrower called and held pursuant to law and with all public notice required by law and at which
a quorum was present and acting throughout, and is in full force and effect and has not been amended
or repealed.

© The Borrower has executed and delivered, or will execute and deliver on or
before the Closing Date, each of the Borrower Documents. Each of the Borrower Documents
constitutes, or will, as of the Closing Date, constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Borrower enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency
or other laws affecting creditors’ rights or remedies heretofore or hereafter enacted. Each of the
Borrower Documents has been executed and delivered, or will be executed and delivered on or before
the Closing Date, by each respective signatory and is currently in full force and effect or, as of the
Closing Date, will be in full force and effect.

(d) The Borrower is not in any material respect in breach of or default under any
law or administrative regulation of the State or of the United States or any agency or instrumentality
of either, or of any other governmental agency, or any Material Judgment or Agreement (as defined
below), and no event has occurred and is continuing which with the passage of time or the giving of
notice, or both, would constitute a default or event of default under any Material Judgment or
Agreement; and the adoption of the Borrower Resolution, the execution and delivery of the Borrower
Documents, and compliance with and performance of the Borrower’s obligations therein and herein
will not in any material respect conflict with, violate or result in a breach of or constitute a default
under, any such constitutional provision, law, administrative regulation or any Material Judgment or
Agreement, nor will any such execution, delivery, adoption or compliance result in the creation or
imposition of any lien, charge or other security interest or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon
any of the property or assets of the Borrower (except as described in or contemplated by the Borrower
Documents and the Official Statement) or under the terms of any such law, administrative regulation
or Material Judgment or Agreement. As used in this paragraph, the term “Material Judgment or
Agreement” means any judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note or any
material agreement or other instrument to which the Borrower is a party or to which the Borrower or
any of its property or assets is otherwise subject.

(e) All approvals, consents and orders of any governmental authority, board,
agency, council, commission or other body having jurisdiction which would constitute a condition
precedent to the performance by the Borrower of its obligations hereunder and under the Borrower
Documents have been obtained; provided, that the Borrower makes no representations as to any
approvals, consents or other actions which may be necessary to qualify the Bonds for offer and sale
under Blue Sky or other state securities laws or regulations.

® Any certificates executed by any officer of the Borrower and delivered to the
Underwriter pursuant hereto or in connection herewith shall be deemed a representation and warranty
of the Borrower as to the accuracy of the statements therein made and as to the authority of the
representative to deliver such certificates and make such representation.

(2) Between the date hereof and the time of the Closing, the Borrower shall not,
without the prior written consent of the Underwriter, offer or issue in any material amount any bonds,

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



notes or other obligations for borrowed money, or incur any material liabilities, direct or contingent,
except in the course of normal business operations of the Borrower or except for such borrowings as
may be described in or contemplated by the Official Statement.

(h) The financial statements of the Borrower as of June 30, 2024, fairly represent
the receipts, expenditures, assets, liabilities and cash balances of such amounts and, insofar as
presented, other funds of the Borrower as of the dates and for the periods therein set forth. Except as
disclosed in the Official Statement or otherwise disclosed in writing to the Underwriter, there has not
been any materially adverse change in the financial condition of the Borrower or in its operations since
June 30, 2024, and there has been no occurrence, circumstance or combination thereof which is
reasonably expected to result in any such materially adverse change.

(i) Except for information which is permitted to be omitted pursuant to Rule 15¢2-
12(b)(1), the information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement (excluding therefrom the
information under the captions “THE 2025 BONDS — General Bonds Terms — Book — Entry Only
System” and “UNDERWRITING” and in Appendix F, as to which no representations or warranties
are made), as of its date and as of the date hereof was and is true and correct in all material respects
and did not and does not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material fact or omit to state
any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading.

G The Official Statement is, as of its date and at all times after the date of the
Official Statement (excluding therefrom the information under the captions “THE 2025 BONDS —
General Bonds Terms — Book — Entry Only System” and “UNDERWRITING” and in Appendix F, as
to which no representations or warranties are made) up to and including the Closing Date will be, true
and correct in all material respects and will not contain any untrue or misleading statement of a material
fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

(k) If the Official Statement is supplemented or amended, at the time of each
supplement or amendment thereto and (unless subsequently again supplemented or amended) at all
times subsequent thereto up to and including that date that is 25 days from the “end of the underwriting
period” as defined in Rule 15¢2-12 (unless the Underwriter notifies the Borrower by the Closing Date
of an unsold balance, in which case the “underwriting period” shall be deemed to end on the Closing
Date), the Official Statement as so supplemented or amended will be true and correct in all material
respects and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading.

4} If between the date of the Official Statement and the Closing any event shall
occur which might or would cause the information contained in the Official Statement, as then
supplemented or amended, to contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading, the Borrower shall notify the Underwriter thereof, and if, in the opinion of
the Underwriter, such event requires the preparation and publication of a supplement or amendment to
the Official Statement, the Issuer shall promptly (and in any event before the Closing) prepare and
furnish (at the expense of the Borrower) a reasonable number of copies of an amendment of or
supplement to the Official Statement in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter.

10
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(m)  Except as described in the Preliminary Official Statement and Official
Statement, no litigation, proceeding or official investigation of any governmental or judicial body is
pending against the Borrower or against any other party of which the Borrower has notice or, to the
knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against the Borrower: (i) seeking to restrain or enjoin the
issuance, sale or delivery of any of the Bonds, or the payment or collection of any amounts pledged or
to be pledged to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds, (ii) in any way contesting the validity
or binding effect of any of the Borrower Documents, (iii) contesting in any way the completeness or
accuracy of the Preliminary Official Statement or the Official Statement or any supplement or
amendment thereto or (iv) which, if adversely determined, could materially adversely affect the
financial position or operating condition of the Borrower or the transactions contemplated by the
Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement or any of the Borrower Documents. The
Borrower shall advise the Underwriter promptly of the institution of any proceedings known to it by
any governmental agency prohibiting or otherwise affecting the use of the Preliminary Official
Statement or the Official Statement in connection with the offering, sale or distribution of the Bonds.

(n) If required in accordance with Rule 15¢2-12, the Borrower has provided or will
undertake to provide certain annual financial information and other information and notices of the
occurrence of certain events. Except as described in the Official Statement, during the last five years,
the Borrower has not failed to materially comply with any previous undertaking relating to continuing
disclosure of information pursuant to Rule 15¢2-12.

(o) Except as described in the Official Statement, the Borrower, to the best of its
knowledge, has never been and is not in default in the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or
interest on, or otherwise is not nor has it been in default with respect to, any bonds, notes, or other
obligations which it has issued, assumed or guaranteed as to payment of principal, premium, if any, or
interest.

All representations, warranties and agreements of the Borrower shall remain operative and in
full force and effect, regardless of any investigations made by the Underwriter or on the Underwriter‘s
behalf, and shall survive the delivery of the Bonds.

9. [Reserved].

10. Closing. At 8:30 A.M., Pacific Time, on May ___, 2025, or at such other time or date
as the Underwriter and the Issuer may mutually agree upon as the date and time of the Closing (the
“Closing Date™), the Issuer will deliver or cause to be delivered to the Underwriter, at the offices of
Jones Hall A Professional Law Corporation, (“Bond Counsel”), 475 Sansome St., Suite 1700 San
Francisco, CA 94111, or at such other place as the Underwriter and the Issuer may mutually agree
upon, the Bonds, through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
(“DTC”), duly executed and authenticated, and the other documents specified in Section 11. At the
Closing, (a) upon satisfaction of the conditions herein specified, the Underwriter shall accept the
delivery of the Bonds, and pay the purchase price therefor in federal funds payable to the order of the
Trustee for the account of the Issuer and (b) the Issuer shall deliver or cause to be delivered the Bonds
to the Underwriter through the facilities of DTC in definitive or temporary form, duly executed by the
Issuer and in the authorized denominations as specified by the Underwriter at the Closing and the Issuer
shall deliver the other documents hereinafter mentioned. The Bonds shall be made available to the
Underwriter at least one (1) business day before the Closing Date for purposes of inspection.

11
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



11. Conditions Precedent. The Underwriter has entered into this Purchase Agreement in
reliance upon the representations and agreements of the Issuer and the Borrower contained herein and
the performance by the Issuer and the Borrower of their obligations hereunder, both as of the date
hereof and as of the Closing Date. The Underwriter‘s obligations under this Purchase Agreement are
and shall be subject to the following additional conditions:

(a) The representations of the Issuer and the Borrower contained herein shall be
true, complete and correct in all material respects on the date of acceptance hereof and on and as of the
Closing Date.

(b) At the time of the Closing, the Official Statement, the Authorizing Resolution,
the Borrower Resolution, the Issuer Documents, and Borrower Documents (collectively, the “Legal
Documents™) shall be in full force and effect and shall not have been amended, modified or
supplemented except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Underwriter.

(©) The Issuer and the Borrower shall each perform or have performed all of its
obligations required under or specified in the Authorizing Resolution or Borrower Resolution (as
applicable), the Legal Documents to which it is a party, and the Official Statement to be performed at
or prior to the Closing.

(d) The Issuer and the Borrower shall have delivered to the Underwriter final
Official Statements by the time, and in the numbers, required by Section 3 of this Purchase Agreement.

(e) As of the date hereof and at the time of Closing, all necessary official action of
the Issuer and the Borrower relating to the Legal Documents and the Official Statement shall have been
taken and shall be in full force and effect and shall not have been amended, modified or supplemented
in any material respect.

® After the date hereof, up to and including the time of the Closing, there shall
not have occurred any change in or particularly affecting the Issuer or the Borrower, the Act, the
Authorizing Resolution, the Borrower Resolution, the Legal Documents, the Gross Revenues (as
defined in the Installment Sale Agreement) or the Revenues (as defined in the Indenture) as the
foregoing matters are described in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, which
in the reasonable professional judgment of the Underwriter materially impairs the investment quality
of the Bonds.

(2 At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall receive the following
documents (in each case with only such changes as the Underwriter shall approve):

1 The approving opinion of Bond Counsel relating to the Bonds, dated
the Closing Date, substantially in the form attached as Appendix E to the Official Statement, and, if
not otherwise directly addressed to the Issuer and the Underwriter, a reliance letter with respect thereto
addressed to the Issuer and the Underwriter;

(ii) The supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the
Underwriter, dated the Closing Date, to the effect that:

(1) This Purchase Agreement has been duly executed and

delivered by the Issuer and the Borrower and is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer and

12
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



the Borrower enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to laws relating to bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization or creditors’ rights generally, to the application of equitable principles, the
exercise of judicial discretion and the limitations on legal remedies against public entities in the State
of California;

2) The statements contained in the Preliminary Official Statement
and the Official Statement on the cover page and in the sections entitled “INTRODUCTION,”
“FINANCING PLAN,” “THE 2025 BONDS” (other than the information concerning DTC and the
book-entry system), “SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS,” and “TAX MATTERS,” and in
Appendices A and E, insofar as such statements expressly summarize certain provisions of the
Indenture, the Bonds, and the form and content of such counsel’s opinion attached as Appendix E to
the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, are accurate in all material respects; and

3) The Bonds are not subject to the registration requirements of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”) and the Indenture is exempt from qualification
pursuant to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the “Trust Indenture Act”);

(ili) A letter, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Underwriter, from
Jones Hall A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, Disclosure Counsel, to the
effect that, based upon the information made available to them in the course of their participation in
the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement and without passing
on and without assuming any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness and fairness of the
statements in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement, and having made no
independent investigation or verification thereof, nothing has come to their attention which would lead
them to believe that the Preliminary Official Statement, as of its date and as of the date hereof, did not
and does not, and the Official Statement as of its date and all times subsequent thereto during the period
up to and including the Closing Date (except any CUSIP numbers, financial, accounting, statistical or
economic, engineering or demographic data or forecasts, numbers, charts, tables, graphs, estimates or
projections and information relating to The Depository Trust Company and its book-entry system
included or referred to therein and the information in Appendices B and F thereto, which shall be
expressly excluded from the scope of this paragraph and as to which such firm will express no opinion
or view), does not and will not, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading in any material respect;

(iv)  The opinion of Counsel to the Issuer, dated the date of the Closing and
addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect that:

ey The Issuer has been duly organized and is validly existing
under the Constitution and laws of the State of California, and has all requisite power and authority
thereunder: (a) to adopt the Authorizing Resolution, and to enter into, execute, deliver and perform its
covenants and agreements under the Issuer Documents; (b) to approve and authorize the use, execution
and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement; (c) to issue, sell,
execute and deliver the Bonds; and (d) to carry on its activities as currently conducted;

2) The Issuer has taken all actions required to be taken by it before
the Closing Date material to the transactions contemplated by the documents mentioned in paragraph
(a) above, and the Issuer has duly authorized the execution and delivery of, and the due performance
of its obligations under, the Issuer Documents;

13
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



3) The Authorizing Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of
Directors of the Issuer at a meeting of the governing body of the Issuer which was called and held
pursuant to law and with all required notices and in accordance with all applicable open meetings laws
and at which a quorum was present and acting at the time of the adoption of the Authorizing Resolution;

“) The adoption of the Authorizing Resolution, the execution and
delivery by the Issuer of the Issuer Documents and the compliance with the provisions of the Issuer
Documents, do not and will not conflict with or violate in any material respect any California
constitutional, statutory or regulatory provision, or, to the best of such counsel’s knowledge after due
inquiry, conflict with or constitute on the part of the Issuer a material breach of or default under any
agreement or instrument to which the Issuer is a party or by which it is bound;

5 The Issuer Documents constitute legal, valid and binding
obligations of the Issuer and are enforceable according to the terms thereof, except as enforcement
thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting enforcement of creditors’
rights generally, and by the application of equitable principles if equitable remedies are sought, by the
exercise of judicial discretion and the limitations on legal remedies against public entities in the State;

(6) The information contained in the Preliminary Official
Statement, as of its date and as of the date hereof and the Official Statement as of its date and as of the
Closing Date under the captions “THE AUTHORITY AND THE DISTRICT - the Authority” does
not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state any material fact necessary
to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading;

) To the best of such counsel’s knowledge after due inquiry, no
authorization, approval, consent or other order of the State or any local agency of the State, other than
such authorizations, approvals and consents which have been obtained, is required for the valid
authorization, execution and delivery by the Issuer of the Issuer Documents and the authorization and
distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement (provided that no opinion
need be expressed as to any action required under state securities or Blue Sky laws in connection with
the purchase of the Bonds by the Underwriter); and

(8) To the best of such counsel’s knowledge after due inquiry, the
Issuer is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State
or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution,
agreement or other instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject, which breach or
default would materially adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to enter into or perform its obligations
under the Issuer Documents, and no event has occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of
time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default or an event of default under any such
instrument and which would materially adversely affect the Issuer’s ability to enter into or perform its
obligations under the Issuer Documents;

) The opinion of general counsel to the Borrower, dated the date of the
Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect that:

¢y The Borrower is validly existing under the laws of the State of
California, and has all requisite authority: (a) to adopt the Borrower Resolution and to enter into,
execute, deliver and perform its covenants and agreements under the Borrower Documents; (b) to

14
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



approve and authorize the use, execution and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the
Official Statement; (c) to pledge the Gross Revenues as contemplated by the Borrower Documents;
and (d) to carry on its activities as currently conducted,;

2) The Borrower has taken all actions required to be taken by it
before the Closing Date material to the transactions contemplated here, and the Borrower has duly
authorized the execution and delivery of, and the due performance of its obligations under, the
Borrower Documents;

3) The Borrower Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of
Directors of the Borrower at a meeting of the governing body of the Borrower which was called and
held pursuant to law and with all required notices and in accordance with all applicable open meetings
laws and at which a quorum was present and acting at the time of the adoption of the Borrower
Resolution;

“) The adoption of the Borrower Resolution, the execution and
delivery by the Borrower of the Borrower Documents and the compliance with the provisions of the
Borrower Documents, do not and will not conflict with or violate in any material respect any California
constitutional, statutory or regulatory provision, or, to the best of such counsel’s knowledge after due
inquiry, conflict with or constitute on the part of the Borrower a material breach of or default under
any agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it is bound;

5) The Borrower Documents constitute legal, valid and binding
obligations of the Borrower and are enforceable according to the terms thereof, except as enforcement
thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting enforcement of creditors’
rights generally, and by the application of equitable principles if equitable remedies are sought, by the
exercise of judicial discretion and the limitations on legal remedies against public entities in the State;

(6) No litigation is pending or, to the best of such counsel’s
knowledge after due inquiry, threatened against the Borrower in any court in any way affecting the
titles of the officials of the Borrower to their respective positions, or seeking to restrain or to enjoin the
issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds, or the collection of revenues pledged or to be pledged to pay
the principal of and interest on the Bonds, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or
enforceability of the Borrower Documents, or contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of
the Official Statement;

) The information contained in the Preliminary Official
Statement, as of its date and as of the date hereof and the Official Statement as of its date and as of the
Closing Date under the captions “THE AUTHORITY AND THE DISTRICT,” “THE WATER
SYSTEM AND ZONE 6,” “FINANCIAL MATTERS OF THE DISTRICT,” and “NO MATERIAL
LITIGATION” does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state any
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading;

8 To the best of such counsel’s knowledge after due inquiry, no
authorization, approval, consent or other order of the State or any local agency of the State, other than
such authorizations, approvals and consents which have been obtained, is required for the valid
authorization, execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Borrower Documents and the
authorization and distribution of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement

15
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(provided that no opinion need be expressed as to any action required under state securities or Blue
Sky laws in connection with the purchase of the Bonds by the Underwriter); and

® To the best of such counsel’s knowledge after due inquiry, the
Borrower is not in breach of or default under any applicable law or administrative regulation of the
State or any applicable judgment or decree or any loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, agreement or
other instrument to which the Borrower is a party or is otherwise subject, which breach or default
would materially adversely affect the Borrower’s ability to enter into or perform its obligations under
the Borrower Documents, and no event has occurred and is continuing which, with the passage of time
or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a default or an event of default under any such
instrument and which would materially adversely affect the Borrower’s ability to enter into or perform
its obligations under the Borrower Documents;

(vi)  The opinion of Dorsey & Whitney LLP, Costa Mesa, California,
counsel to the Trustee, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect
that:

(1) The Trustee is a national banking association duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the United States having full power and
authority and being qualified to enter into, accept and administer the trust created under the Indenture
and to enter into such Indenture;

2) The Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and
delivered by the Trustee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Trustee
enforceable against the Trustee in accordance with their respective terms, except as enforcement
thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting enforcement of creditors’
rights generally and by the application of equitable principles if equitable remedies are sought;

3) The execution, delivery and performance of the Indenture will
not conflict with or cause a default under any law, ruling, agreement, administrative regulation or other
instrument by which the Trustee is bound;

©) All authorizations and approvals required by law and the
articles of association and bylaws of the Trustee in order for the Trustee to execute and deliver and
perform its obligations under the Indenture have been obtained; and

(5) No action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or
in equity, before or by any court, regulatory agency, public board or body, is pending or threatened in
any way affecting the existence of the Trustee or the titles of its directors or officers to their respective
offices, or seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale or delivery of the Bonds or the application of
proceeds thereof in accordance with the Indenture, or in any way contesting or affecting the Bonds or
the Indenture;

(vii)  The opinion of Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth LLP, counsel to the
Underwriter, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, and covering such matters
as the Underwriter may reasonably request;

(viii)  [The opinion of counsel to the Bond Insurer, dated the date of Closing

and addressed to the Underwriter, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter, as to: (a) the

16
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



validity and enforceability of the Policy; and (b) the exemption of the Policy from the registration
requirements under the 1933 Act;]

(ix) A certificate, dated the Closing Date, signed by an authorized office of
the Issuer to the effect that: (a) the representations and agreements of the Issuer contained herein are
true and correct in all material respects as of the date of the Closing; (b) the Issuer Documents have
been duly authorized and executed and are in full force and effect; and (c) the information contained
in the Official Statement under the caption “THE AUTHORITY AND THE DISTRICT - the
Authority” is true and correct in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;

x) A certificate, dated the Closing Date, signed by an authorized officer
of the Borrower to the effect that: (a) the representations and agreements of the Borrower contained
herein are true and correct in all material respects as of the date of the Closing; (b) the Borrower
Documents have been duly authorized and executed and are in full force and effect; (c) except as
described in the Preliminary Official Statement as of its date and as of the date hereof and the Official
Statement, no litigation is pending or, to his or her knowledge, threatened (i) seeking to restrain or
enjoin the issuance or delivery of any of the Bonds, (ii) in any way contesting or affecting any Borrower
Document, or (iii) which, if adversely determined, could materially adversely affect the financial
position or operating condition of the Borrower or the transactions contemplated by the Preliminary
Official Statement as of its date and as of the date hereof and the Official Statement as of its date and
as of the Closing Date or any Borrower Document; and (d) the Official Statement is true and correct
in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading, except no review has been made of information in the Official
Statement under the captions “THE 2025 BONDS — General Bonds Terms — Book — Entry Only
System” and “UNDERWRITING” and in Appendix F ;

(xi) A certificate, dated the Closing Date, signed by an authorized officer
of the Borrower, in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter, to the effect that (i) the financial
statements of the Borrower as June 30, 2024, fairly represent the receipts, expenditures, assets,
liabilities and cash balances of such amounts and, insofar as presented, other funds of the Borrower as
of the dates and for the periods therein set forth and (ii) except as disclosed in the Preliminary Official
Statement and the Official Statement, since June 30, 2024, no materially adverse change has occurred,
or any development involving a prospective material change, in the financial position or results of
operations of the Borrower and the Borrower has not incurred since June 30, 2024, any material
liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business or as set forth in or contemplated by the Official
Statement;

(xii)  Executed or certified copies of the Indenture;
(xiii) Executed or certified copies of each other Legal Document;

(xiv) [A certificate of the Bond Insurer, dated as of the Closing Date, in form
and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter and counsel to the Underwriter to the effect that the
information relating to the Bond Insurer and the Policy set forth in the Official Statement under the
caption “BOND INSURANCE” was and is true and correct in all material respects as of the date of
the Official Statement and as of the Closing Date;]

17
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(xv)  [Executed or certified copies of the Policy and the Reserve Policy];

(xvi) A Tax and Nonarbitrage Certificate of the Issuer and the Borrower (the
“Tax Certificate”), in form satisfactory to Bond Counsel, executed by such officials of the Issuer and
the Borrower as shall be satisfactory to the Underwriter;

(xvii) Certified copies of the Authorizing Resolution and the Borrower
Resolution;

(xviii) Evidence satisfactory to the Underwriter that the ratings on the Bonds
are as described in the Official Statement;

(xix) A certificate of an authorized officer of the Trustee, as trustee, dated as
of the Closing Date, to the effect that: (a) the Trustee is a national banking association organized and
existing under and by virtue of the laws of the United States, having the full power and being qualified
to enter into and perform its duties under the Indenture and to authenticate and deliver the Bonds to
the Underwriter; (b) the Trustee is duly authorized to enter into the Indenture and to authenticate and
deliver the Bonds to the Underwriter pursuant to the Indenture; (c) when delivered to and paid for by
the Underwriter at the Closing, the Bonds will have been duly authenticated and delivered by the
Trustee; (d) the execution and delivery of the Indenture and compliance with the provisions on the
Trustee’s part contained therein, will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under any
law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, note, resolution,
agreement or other instrument to which the Trustee is a party or is otherwise subject (except that no
representation, warranty or agreement is made with respect to any federal or state securities or blue
sky laws or regulations), which conflict, breach or default would materially impair the ability of the
Trustee to perform its obligations under the Indenture, nor will any such execution, delivery, adoption
or compliance result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge or other security interest or
encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties or assets held by the Trustee
pursuant to the lien created by the Indenture under the terms of any such law, administrative regulation,
judgment, decree, loan agreement, indenture, bond, note, resolution, agreement or other instrument,
except as provided by the Indenture; and (e) to the best of the knowledge of the Trustee, it has not been
served with any action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation in law or in equity, before or by any
court, governmental agency, public board or body, nor is any such action or other proceeding
threatened against the Trustee, affecting the existence of the Trustee, or the titles of its officers to their
respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain, or enjoining the execution and delivery of the Bonds
or the collection of revenues to be applied to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest with
respect to the Bonds, or the pledge thereof, or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or
enforceability of the Indenture, or contesting the powers of the Trustee or its authority to enter into,
adopt or perform its obligations under any of the foregoing, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or
funding would materially adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the Indenture or the power
and authority of the Trustee to enter into and perform its duties under the Indenture and to authenticate
and deliver the Bonds to or upon the order of the Underwriter;

(xx)  For each of the Bonds and the Installment Sale Agreement, the
preliminary and final Statement of Sale required to be delivered to the California Debt and Investment
Advisory Commission pursuant to Section 53583 of the Government Code and Section 8855(g) of the
Government Code;

18
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(xxi) Evidence that a Debt Management Policy which complies with Section
8855 of the Government Code has been adopted by the Issuer and the Borrower;

(xxii) A certified copy of the executed joint exercise of powers agreement
creating the Issuer, together with documentation from the Secretary of State with respect to the Issuer’s
good standing;

(xxiii) Evidence that a Form 8038-G relating to the Bonds has been executed
by the Issuer and will be filed with the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) within the applicable time
limit:

(xxiv) A copy of the Blue Sky Survey with respect to the Bonds;

(xxv) A copy of the Issuer’s executed Blanket Letter of Representation to The
Depository Trust Company; and

(xxvi) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, proceedings, instruments
and other documents as the Underwriter, counsel for the Underwriter or Bond Counsel may reasonably
request to evidence compliance by the Issuer and the Borrower with legal requirements, the truth and
accuracy, as of the time of Closing, of the representations of the Issuer and the Borrower herein
contained and the due performance or satisfaction by the Issuer at or prior to such time of all agreements
then to be performed and all conditions then to be satisfied by the Issuer and the Borrower and all
conditions precedent to the issuance of additional Bonds pursuant to the Indenture shall have been
fulfilled.

12. Termination. If the Issuer or the Borrower shall be unable to satisfy the conditions of
the Underwriter obligations contained in this Purchase Agreement or if the Underwriter‘s obligations
shall be terminated for any reason permitted by this Purchase Agreement, this Purchase Agreement
may be cancelled by the Underwriter at, or at any time before, the time of the Closing. Notice of such
cancellation shall be given by the Underwriter to the Issuer and the Borrower in writing, or by
telephone confirmed in writing. The performance by the Issuer and the Borrower of any and all
conditions contained in this Purchase Agreement for the benefit of the Underwriter may be waived by
the Underwriter.

(a) The Underwriter shall also have the right, before the time of Closing, to cancel
its obligations to purchase the Bonds, by written notice (or by telephone confirmed in writing) by the
Underwriter to the Issuer and the Borrower, if between the date hereof and the time of Closing, in the
Underwriter’s sole and reasonable judgment any of the following events shall occur:

(1) the market price or marketability of the Securities, or the ability of the
Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Securities, shall be materially adversely affected
by any of the following events:

(D) legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress of the
United States or the legislature of the State or shall have been favorably reported out of committee of
either body or be pending in committee of either body, or shall have been recommended to the
Congress for passage by the President of the United States or a member of the President’s Cabinet, or
a decision shall have been rendered by a court of the United States or the State or the Tax Court of the
United States, or a ruling, resolution, regulation or temporary regulation, release or announcement shall

19
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



have been made or shall have been proposed to be made by the Treasury Department of the United
States or the Internal Revenue Service, or other federal or state authority with appropriate jurisdiction,
with respect to federal or state taxation upon interest received on obligations of the general character
of the Securities; or

) there shall have occurred (1) an outbreak or escalation of
hostilities or the declaration by the United States of a national emergency or war or (2) any other
calamity or crisis in the financial markets of the United States or elsewhere or the escalation of such
calamity or crisis; or

3) a general suspension of trading on the New York Stock
Exchange or other major exchange shall be in force, or minimum or maximum prices for trading shall
have been fixed and be in force, or maximum ranges for prices for securities shall have been required
and be in force on any such exchange, whether by virtue of determination by that exchange or by order
of the SEC or any other governmental authority having jurisdiction; or

“) legislation shall have been enacted by the Congress of the
United States or shall have been favorably reported out of committee or be pending in committee, or
shall have been recommended to the Congress for passage by the President of the United States or a
member of the President’s Cabinet, or a decision by a court of the United States shall be rendered, or
a ruling, regulation, proposed regulation or statement by or on behalf of the SEC or other governmental
agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter shall be made, to the effect that any obligations of the
general character of the Securities, the Bond Legislation or the Issuer Documents, or any comparable
securities of the Issuer, are not exempt from the registration, qualification or other requirements of the
Securities Act or the Trust Indenture Act or otherwise, or would be in violation of any provision of the
federal securities laws; or

®) except as disclosed in or contemplated by the Official
Statement, any material adverse change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Borrower shall-have occurred;
or

6) if the Securities (or any portion thereof) are insured by a Policy
or supported by a Support Facility, any rating on the Bond Insurer or the Support Facility Provider is
reduced or withdrawn or placed on credit watch with negative outlook by any major credit rating
agency

(b) any event or circumstance shall exist that either makes untrue or incorrect in
any material respect any statement or information in the Official Statement (other than any statement
provided by the Underwriter) or is not reflected in the Official Statement but should be reflected therein
in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading and, in either such event, the Issuer and the Borrower refuses to permit the Official
Statement to be supplemented to supply such statement or information, or the effect of the Official
Statement as so supplemented is to materially adversely affect the market price or marketability of the
Securities or the ability of the Underwriter to enforce contracts for the sale of the Securities; or

() a general banking moratorium shall have been declared by federal or State
authorities having jurisdiction and be in force; or

20
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(d) a material disruption in securities settlement, payment or clearance services
affecting the Securities shall have occurred; or

(e) any new restriction on transactions in securities materially affecting the market
for securities (including the imposition of any limitation on interest rates) or the extension of credit by,
or a charge to the net capital requirements of, underwriters shall have been established by the New
York Stock Exchange, the SEC, any other federal or State agency or the Congress of the United States,
or by Executive Order; or

® a decision by a court of the United States shall be rendered, or a stop order,
release, regulation or no-action letter by or on behalf of the SEC or any other governmental agency
having jurisdiction of the subject matter shall have been issued or made, to the effect that the issuance,
offering or sale of the Securities, including the underlying obligations as contemplated by this
Agreement or by the Official Statement, or any document relating to the issuance, offering or sale of
the Securities, is or would be in violation of any provision of the federal securities laws at the Closing
Date, including the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the Trust Indenture Act.

Upon the occurrence of a Termination Event and the termination of this Agreement by the
Underwriter, all obligations of the Issuer, the Borrower and the Underwriter under this Agreement shall
terminate, without further liability.

13. Amendments to Official Statement. During the period commencing on the date of
the Official Statement and ending twenty-five (25) days from the “end of the underwriting period” (as
defined in this Purchase Agreement) the Issuer and the Borrower shall advise the Underwriter if any
event relating to or affecting the Official Statement shall occur as a result of which it may be necessary
or appropriate to amend or supplement the Official Statement in order to make the Official Statement
not misleading in light of the circumstances existing at the time it is delivered to a purchaser or
“potential customer” (as defined for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12). If the Official Statement is
supplemented or amended, at the time of each supplement or amendment thereto and at all times
subsequent thereto up to and including that date that is 25 days from the end of the underwriting period,
the Official Statement as supplemented or amended will not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and shall amend or
supplement the Official Statement (in form and substance satisfactory to counsel for the Underwriter)
so that the Official Statement will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading. The expenses of preparing such amendment or supplement
shall be borne by the Borrower. For the purpose of this Section, the Issuer and the Borrower will
furnish to the Underwriter such information with respect to itself as the Underwriter may from time to
time reasonably request.

14. Expenses. Whether or not the Bonds are sold to the Underwriter, the Underwriter shall
be under no obligation to pay any expenses incident to the performance of the Issuer and the Borrower’s
obligations hereunder. If the Bonds are delivered by the Issuer to the Underwriter, the Borrower shall
pay, from the proceeds of the Bonds or from other funds of the Borrower, the following expenses:
(a) the cost of preparing, duplicating or printing, mailing and delivering the Transaction Documents,
including the cost of electronically distributing the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official
Statement and any amendment or supplement of either; (b) the cost of preparation and printing of the
definitive Bonds; (c) the fees and expenses of the Issuer, Borrower, the Paying Agent, Bond Counsel,

21
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



Disclosure Counsel, counsel to the Underwriter and any entity performing continuing disclosure
compliance research or providing continuing disclosure compliance reports and any other experts or
consultants retained by the Borrower; (d) the charges of any rating agency with respect to the Bonds;
(e) reimbursement to the Underwriter for payment of any fees and expenses reasonably incurred in
connection with the initial offering, sale and delivery of the Bonds, including but not limited to industry
fees (e.g., DTC, DAC, IPREO, CUSIP and Day Loan fees) only if the Borrower and Underwriter have
previously discussed and approved the allocation of proceeds towards these fees, and meal and travel
expenses of Borrower personnel, but not including entertainment expenses or those to be paid by the
Underwriter pursuant to the last paragraph of this Section, and (f) all other fees and expenses, not
including entertainment expenses, reasonably incurred in connection with the preparation of the
Transaction Documents and/or the initial offering, sale and delivery of the Bonds. The Borrower has
authorized, and does hereby authorize, the Underwriter to pay such expenses on behalf of the Borrower
from proceeds of the Bonds at Closing as further described in the closing memorandum relating to the
Bonds.

If the Bonds are sold to the Underwriter by the Issuer, the Borrower shall pay out of the
proceeds of the Bonds the discount of the Underwriter or the purchase price paid for the Bonds shall
reflect such discount.

Except as otherwise provided in this Section, the Underwriter shall pay the cost, if any, of
qualifying the Bonds for sale in the various states chosen by the Underwriter, all advertising expenses
in connection with the public offering of the Bonds and all other expenses incurred by it in connection
with its public offering and distribution of the Bonds, not described above.

15. Use of Documents. The Issuer and the Borrower hereby authorize the Underwriter to
use, in connection with the public offering and sale of the Bonds, this Purchase Agreement, the
Preliminary Official Statement, the Official Statement and the Legal Documents, and the information
contained herein and therein.

16. Qualification of Securities. The Issuer will furnish such information, execute such
instruments and take such other action in cooperation with the Underwriter as the Underwriter may
reasonably request to qualify the Bonds for offer and sale under the Blue Sky or other securities laws
and regulations of such states and other jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may
designate and to provide for the continuance of such qualification; provided, however, that the Issuer
will not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to file any general or special consents to
service of process under the laws of any state.

The Borrower will cooperate with the Underwriter in the qualification of the Bonds for offering
and sale under the Blue Sky or other securities laws and regulations of, such states and other
jurisdictions of the United States as the Underwriter may designate; provided that the Borrower will
not be required to qualify as a foreign corporation or to file any general or special consents to service
of process under the laws of any state.

17. Notices. Any notice or other communication to be given under this Purchase
Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing to:

The Issuer:

22
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



San Benito County Water District Financing Authority
c/o San Benito County Water District

30 Mansfield Road

Hollister, CA 95023

Attention: Treasurer

The Borrower:

San Benito County Water District
30 Mansfield Road

Hollister, CA 95023

Attention: General Manager

The Underwriter:

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated
One Financial Plaza

501 North Broadway

St. Louis, Missouri 63102

Attention: Director of Public Finance

18. Benefit. This Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit of the Issuer, the
Borrower, and the Underwriter (including their successors or assigns) and no other person, partnership,
association or corporation shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof. Except as
otherwise expressly provided herein, all of the agreements and representations of the Issuer and the
Borrower contained in this Purchase Agreement and in any certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall
remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of: (i) any investigation made by or on behalf
of the Underwriter; (ii) delivery of and payment for the Bonds hereunder; or (iii) any termination of
this Purchase Agreement, other than pursuant to Section 12 (and in all events the agreements of the
Issuer and the Borrower pursuant to Section 14 hereof shall remain in full force and effect
notwithstanding the termination of this Purchase Agreement under Section 12 hereof).

19. Governing Law. THIS PURCHASE AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE
A CONTRACT UNDER, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA.

20. Waiver of Jury Trial. THE ISSUER AND THE BORROWER HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVE TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW,
ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF
OR RELATING TO THIS PURCHASE AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

21. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Purchase Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties
relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all oral statements, prior writings and
representations with respect thereto.

23
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



(b) This Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed an original hereof.

24
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



Very truly yours,

By:

STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY,
INCORPORATED,
as Underwriter

Approved and Agreed to at a.m./p.m.

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY

By:

Name:
Title:

Approved and Agreed to at a.m./p.m.

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

By:

Name:
Title:

25
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



Maturity
Date
(October 1)

20

SCHEDULE I

S ____
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

MATURITY SCHEDULE
Hold-the-
Initial Offering-
Principal Interest Offering General Rule Price
Amount Rate Yield Price Maturities Maturities
$ % %

€ Priced to first optional redemption date of October 1,20 __ at par.

T Term Bond.

! [Insured Bond].

REDEMPTION PROVISIONS

Optional Redemption. The 2025 Bonds maturing on or before October 1,20__, are not subject
to optional redemption prior to their respective stated maturity dates. The 2025 Bonds maturing on or
after October 1,20, are subject to redemption in whole, or in part at the Written Request of the Issuer
among maturities on such basis as the Issuer may designate and by lot within a maturity, at the option
of the Issuer, on any date on or after October 1, 20 , from any available source of funds, at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of the 2025 Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest
to the date of redemption, without premium.

Schedule I-1

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



Special Mandatory Redemption from Insurance and Sale Proceeds. The 2025 Bonds are
subject to mandatory redemption, on any date, in whole, or in part on a pro rata basis among maturities,
from the net proceeds of insurance, sale or condemnation credited towards the prepayment of the
Installment Payments by the Borrower under the Installment Sale Agreement, at a redemption price
equal to the principal amount represented thereby to be prepaid, without premium, together with
accrued interest represented thereby to the redemption date.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The 2025 Bonds maturing on October 1, 20__ and
October 1,20 (the “2025 Term Bonds”) are also subject to redemption, by lot, on October 1 in each
of the years as set forth in the following tables, from deposits made for such purpose pursuant to the
Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed together with
accrued interest thereon to the redemption date, without premium, or in lieu thereof may be purchased,
in the aggregate respective principal amounts and on the respective dates as set forth in the following
tables; provided, however, that if some but not all of the 2025 Term Bonds have been redeemed through
optional redemption or special mandatory redemption from insurance and sale proceeds as described
above, the total amount of all future payments with respect to such 2025 Term Bonds shall be reduced
by the aggregate principal amount of such 2025 Term Bonds so redeemed, to be allocated among such
payments in integral multiples of $5,000 as determined by the Issuer (written notice of which
determination shall be given by the Issuer to the Trustee).:

2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1,20__

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
(October 1) Redeemed

$

2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1,20

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
(October 1) Redeemed

$

In lieu of mandatory sinking fund redemption of the 2025 Term Bonds, amounts on deposit in
the Bond Fund (to the extent not required to be deposited by the Trustee in the Interest Account or the
Principal Account pursuant to the Indenture during the current Bond Year) may also be used and
withdrawn by the Issuer, upon the Written Request of the Issuer delivered to the Trustee, at any time
for the purchase of such 2025 Term Bonds at public or private sale as and when and at such prices
(including brokerage and other charges and including accrued interest) as the Issuer may in its
discretion determine. The par amount of any of such Term Bonds so purchased by the Issuer in any
twelve-month period ending on October 1 in any year shall be credited towards and shall reduce the

Schedule I-2
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



par amount of such Term Bonds required to be redeemed pursuant to this provision on the next
succeeding October 1.

Schedule I-3
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



EXHIBIT A

$
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, on behalf of Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”), hereby
certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations (the
“Bonds”).

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities. As of the date of this certificate, for each
Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was sold
to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A.

2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.

(a) Stifel offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for purchase
at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering Prices”) on or before
the Sale Date. A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Bonds is attached to
this certificate as Schedule B.

(b) As set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated ,2025, by and
between Stifel and the Issuer, Stifel has agreed in writing that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-
Offering-Price Maturities, it would neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any
person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding
Period for such Maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), and (ii) any selling group agreement shall
contain the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail distribution
agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail distribution
agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule. Pursuant to such agreement, no
Underwriter (as defined below) has offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price
Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the
Bonds during the Holding Period.

3. Reserve Fund,

The establishment of the Reserve Fund for the Bonds in the amount of the Reserve
Requirement (as such term is defined in the Indenture of Trust, dated as of May 1, 2025, by and between
the Issuer and U.S Bank Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee (the “Trustee”) pursuant to
which the Bonds are being issued) was vital to the marketing of the Bonds and reasonably required to
assure payment of debt service on the Bonds.

4. Policy and Reserve Policy.

(a) The present value of the amount paid to obtain the Policy and Reserve
Policy is less than the present value of the interest reasonably expected to be saved as a result of

A-1
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



having the Policy and Reserve Policy, using the yield with respect to the Bonds as the discount
factor for this purpose.

(b)  To the best knowledge of the undersigned, the amount paid by the Issuer to
the Insurer for the Policy and the Reserve Policy is within a reasonable range of premiums charged
for comparable credit enhancement for obligations comparable to the Bonds.

5. Defined Terms.

(a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed in
Schedule A hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.”

(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Bonds listed
in Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.”

(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the
period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after
the Sale Date ( , 2025), or (ii) the date on which Stifel has sold at least 10% of such Hold-
the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for
such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity.

(d) Issuer means the San Benito County Water District Financing Authority.

(e) Maturity means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds with
different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are
treated as separate Maturities.

€3] Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership,
association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter.
The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or more persons who
have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly.

(2) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing
for the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds. The Sale Date of the Bonds is , 2025.

(h) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract
with the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the
initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract
directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial
sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public).

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing in
this certificate represents Stifel’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and
148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The
undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer with respect
to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate relating to the Bonds and with respect
to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Jones Hall, A Professional
Law Corporation, in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded

A-2
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service
Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time

relating to the Bonds.

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated

By:

Name:

By:

Name:

Dated: , 2025

A-3
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



SCHEDULE A

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND INITIAL OFFERING
PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES

(Attached)

A-4
4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



SCHEDULE B
PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION

(Attached)

4934-1673-2165v7/200356-0638



an offerto sell ora

y Official $

shall this Prelimi

solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities

laws of such jurisdiction.

and the information contained herein are subject to completion or amendment. Under no circ

y Official

This P

Jones Hall Draft of Apr. 17, 2025
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED MAY [1], 2025

NEW ISSUE ~ FULL BOOK-ENTRY S&P RATING (Insured): “ »
S&P RATING (Underlying): )
See “RATINGS” herein.
In the opinion of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel, subject, however to certain
qualifications described herein, under existing law, the interest on the 2025 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and such interest is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. Interest on the 2025 Bonds
may be subject to the corporate alternative minimum tax. In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the 2025 Bonds is exempt from
California personal income taxes. See “TAX MATTERS.”
s *

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: October 1, as shown on inside cover
Authority for Issuance. The bonds captioned above (the “2025 Bonds") are being issued by the San Benito County Water District
Financing Authority (the “Authority”) under a resolution adopted by the governing body of the Authority, the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter
5, Division 7, Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California (the “Bond Law”), and an Indenture of Trust dated as of May 1, 2025
(the “Indenture™), by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee. See “THE 2025 BONDS -
Authority for Issuance.”

Use of Proceeds. The 2025 Bonds are being issued to provide funds to (i) assist the San Benito County Water District (the “District”)
with financing certain improvements to Zone 6 of the District's water system (as further defined herein, “Zone 6"), and (ii) pay the costs of
issuing the 2025 Bonds. See “FINANCING PLAN."

Security for the 2025 Bonds. The 2025 Bonds are special obligations of the Authority, payable from the “Revenues” (as described
herein) pledged under the Indenture, which consist primarily of installment payments (the “Installment Payments”) payable by the District to
the Authority under an Installment Sale Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2025 (the "Installment Sale Agreement”), pursuant to which the District
is purchasing certain improvements for Zone 6. Repayment of the Instaliment Payments is secured by a pledge of the "Net Revenues” of
Zone 6, as described herein. No debt service reserve fund is being funded for the 2025 Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS.”

Parity Obligations. There are currently outstanding obligations payable from the Net Revenues of Zone 6, as described herein.
Additional series of bonds or other debt may be issued in the future that are payable from Net Revenues on a parity with the Instaliment
Payments, subject to the conditions contained in the Installment Sale Agreement. See “SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS - Parity
Obligations.”

Bond Terms; Book-Entry Only. The 2025 Bonds will bear interest at the rates shown on the inside cover, payable semiannually on
April 1 and October 1 of each year, commencing on October 1, 2025, and will be issued in fully registered form without coupons in the
denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000. The 2025 Bonds will be issued in baok-entry only form, initially registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC"). Purchasers of the 2025 Bonds will not receive certificates
representing their interests in the 2025 Bonds. Payments of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 2025 Bonds will be made to
DTC, which is obligated in turn to remit such principal, premium, if any, and interest to its DTC Participants for subsequent disbursement to
the beneficial owners of the 2025 Bonds. See “THE 2025 BONDS ~ General Bond Terms.”

Redemption. The 2025 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity. See “THE 2025 BONDS -~ Redemption.”

[Bond Insurance. [To come]

THE 2025 BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY PAYABLE SOLELY FROM AND SECURED BY THE
REVENUES, WHICH CONSIST PRIMARILY OF THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS. THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS ARE PAYABLE FROM
THE NET REVENUES OF ZONE 6 OF THE DISTRICT AND CERTAIN AMOUNTS HELD BY THE TRUSTEE UNDER THE INDENTURE
THE 2025 BONDS ARE NOT SECURED BY A LEGAL OR EQUITABLE PLEDGE OF, OR CHARGE, LIEN, OR ENCUMBRANCE UPON,
ANY OF THE PROPERTY OF THE AUTHORITY OR ANY OF ITS INCOME OR RECEIPTS, EXCEPT THE REVENUES AS DESCRIBED
HEREIN.

MATURITY SCHEDULE
(see inside cover)

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE
OF BONDS. INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING
OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE PURCHASE OF THE 2025 BONDS. INVESTMENT IN THE 2025
BONDS INVOLVES RISKS THAT MAY NOT BE APPROPRIATE FOR SOME INVESTORS. SEE “BOND OWNERS' RISKS."

The 2025 Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and accepted by the Underwriter, subject to approval as to their legality by Jones Hall,
A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will also be passed upon for the District by
Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, as Disclosure Counsel, and by Spurzem & Liem LLP, Hollister, California, as general counsel to

the District. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter by its counsel, Stradling, Yocca, Carlson & Rauth LLP, Newport
Beach, California. It is anticipated that the 2025 Bonds, in book-entry only form, will be available through the facilities of DTC on or about

May __, 2025.
[Stifel Logo]

The date of this Official Statement is: , 2025.

* Preliminary; subject to change.



Maturity

MATURITY SCHEDULE

$ Serial Bonds
{Base CUSIPY: )

Principal Interest
Amount Rate Yield Price CUSIPT

(October 1)

% Term Bond Due October 1, 20___; Yield %; Price: %

CUSIPt:

1 CUSIP is a Registered Trademark of The American Bankers Association. FactSet Research Systems Inc.
operates The CUSIP Service Bureau for the ABA. These data are not intended to create a database and do
not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP services. Neither the Authority, the District nor the

Underwriter is responsible for the selection or correctness of the CUSIP numbers set forth above.



SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY

{San Benito County, California)

GOVERNING BOARD OF THE AUTHORITY
AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE DISTRICT

Doug Williams, President, Division 4
Mark Wright, Vice President, Division 1
John Freeman, Director, Division 2
Joe Tonascia, Director, Division 3
Sonny Flores, Director, Division 5

AUTHORITY/DISTRICT OFFICIALS
Dana Jacobson, General Manager

Brett Miller, Assistant General Manager
Jeremy T. Liem of Spurzem & Liem LLP, General Counsel

SPECIAL SERVICES

Municipal Advisor
NHA Advisors, LLC
San Rafael, California

Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel
Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation
San Francisco, California

Trustee
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association
San Francisco, California



GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT

No Offering May Be Made Except by this Official Statement. No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been
authorized to give any information or to make any representations with respect to the 2025 Bonds other than as contained in
this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorized.

No Unlawful Offers or Solicitations. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer
to buy in any state in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation
is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is uniawful to make such offer or solicitation.

Effective Date. This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information and expressions of opinion contained
in this Official Statement are subject to change without notice. Neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale of
the 2025 Bonds will, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
Authority, the District or Zone 6 since the date of this Official Statement.

Use of this Official Statement. This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the 2025 Bonds referred
to herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. This Official Statement is not a
confract with the purchasers of the 2025 Bonds.

Preparation of this Official Statement. The information contained in this Official Statement has been obtained from sources
that are believed to be reliable, but this information is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: The Underwriter has reviewed
the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal
securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of such information.

Document References and Summaries. All references to and summaries of the Indenture or other decuments contained in
this Official Statement are subject to the provisions of those documents and do not purport to be complete statements of those
documents.

Stabilization of and Changes to Offering Prices. The Underwriter may over allot or take other steps that stabilize or
maintain the market price of the 2025 Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. If
commenced, the Underwriter may discontinue such market stabilization at any time. The Underwriter may offer and sell the
2025 Bonds to certain dealers, dealer banks and banks acting as agent at prices lower than the public offering prices stated
on the cover page of this Official Statement, and those public offering prices may be changed from time to time by the
Underwriter.

Bonds are Exempt from Securities Laws Registration. The issuance and sale of the 2025 Bonds have not been registered
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in reliance upon
exemptions for the issuance and sale of municipal securities provided under Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 3(a)(12) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

[Bond Insurance.]

Estil and Projections. Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section
21E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the United States Securities Act
of 1933, as amended. Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,”
“budget” or other similar words.

THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY
CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT
FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS. THE DISTRICT DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IF OR WHEN TS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR
CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE BASED OCCUR.

Internet Site. The District maintains an internet site; however, none of the information contained on that internet site is
incorporated by reference in this Official Statement.



[REGIONAL LOCATION MAP]



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION.....
FINANCING PLAN ..
The Project ..o, 4
Sources and Uses of Funds ............cccccceeee 44
THE2025 BONDS!.cccmmommmmssssmmmmmsmsvsaisis 55

Authority for Issuance.

General Bond Terms .. 55

Redemplion™ ....saummramasmmsmms 66

Registration, Transfer and Exchange.......... 88
DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE ...............

SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS. 12
General; Limited Obligation.................... 12
Installment Payments; Pledge of Net

REVENUES .....oovviiiiiiiieiiiiee e 1242
Receipt and Use of Gross Revenues under

Installment Sale Agreement ................ 1313
Receipt and Use of Revenues under

Indenture ... 1444

No Reserve Fund ......
Rate Stabilization Fund ....
Rate Covenants.............
Parity Obligations .. 16
No Senior Debt .....c..covmiinmininnessinen
Casualty Insurance and Eminent Domain

Procoeds ... s e 1848
BOND INSURANCE 1918
THE AUTHORITY.... 2020
THE DISTRICT.... 2020

Overview........cccoccvene ... 2020
Service Areas/Zones ...........
Governance and Employees il
CalPERS Pension Plan ...........cccccceeeenin 2222
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)2222
Insurance Coverage .........c.ccoveeiieeueeinines 23
THE WATER SYSTEM AND ZONE 6...
Overview.............
San Benito Water

Groundwater Basin Management.. sl 250

Zone 6 Water Supplies............cccoeeininne

Zone 6 Customer Base; Wholesale
CUSIOMErS ... 2727

Zone 6 Water Treatment.................. ey 204
Water Quality and Regulatory Matters.
Future Water Supply Projects ..........
ZONE 6 FINANCIAL INFORMATION ..
Top Ten Customers.........
Water Rates and Charges...
Water Billing and Collection
Property Tax Revenues ...................
Teeter Plan......c.cccovoveevviieniis
Financial Policies... ;
Accounting Principles............cccccoeeiinniene 40.
Historical and Projected Revenues, Expenses
and Debt Service Coverage................. 4144
BOND OWNERS' RISKS !

Water System Demand .44
Water System Supply; Droughts.............. 4444
Revenues; Rate Covenant...................... 4444
Operations and Maintenance Costs; Third-
Party Sources of Water Supply............ 4545
Limitations on Remedies Available to Bond
B T e

Seismic and other Natural Disasters
Potential Impact of Climate Change. :
Loss of Tax-Exemption ...........ccccoovvinene 46
Proposition 218 .......cc.cccoviiviiiiiiiiiic 46
Environmental Regulation ... ;
Pandemic Diseases ..... .
Cybersecurity .........ccecevviircvieiiiiiseee 48
Secondary Market for Bonds.................... 49
Future Parity Obligations.... 3
TAX MATTERS.........cccoenee
CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS
LITIGATION
RATING[S] ..o
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
UNDERWRITING................
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR
CONTINGENT FEES... "
EXECUTION :oisissivvemmnmimmrmmmmn s 53

APPENDIXA SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS
APPENDIX B AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE DISTRICT FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED

JUNE 30, 2024

APPENDIX C FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE
APPENDIX D GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CITY OF HOLLISTER AND THE COUNTY OF

SAN BENITO

APPENDIXE FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
APPENDIX F  DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM
[APPENDIX G SPECIMEN MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE POLICY]



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

*

R
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT FINANCING AUTHORITY
2025 WATER REVENUE BONDS

INTRODUCTION

This introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement. It is only a brief description
of and guide to, and is qualified by, more complete and detailed information contained in the entire
Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto, and the documents
summarized or described herein. A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement.
Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Official Statement have the meanings given in the
Indenture (as defined below). See “APPENDIX A — Summary of Certain Provisions of the
Principal Legal Documents.”

The District. The San Benito County Water District (the “District”) is a California special
district formed in 1953 by the San Benito County Water Conservation and Flood Control Act. At
that time, the District merged with the Hollister {rrigation District, becoming the successor to the
water rights, water facilities and land interests of the Hollister Irrigation District. The District has
broad powers for the conservation and management of water (flood, surface, drainage, and
groundwater) within San Benito County, California (the “County”), including the development of
local water supplies and the development and importation of water supplies from outside the
County. For background, demographic and economic information regarding the County and the
City of Hollister located therein, see APPENDIX D.

Zone 6 and Other District Zones. The District provides water service and water related
service through zones of benefit. Current zones of benefit are:

- District Administration (Zone 1)

- San Benito River System (Zone 3)

- San Felipe Project (Zone 6)

- Groundwater Sustainability Plan (Zone 7)

As shown above, “Zone 6" is the zone of benefit for the area of the County that receives
imported water from the Central Valley Project ("CVP"). The Instaliment Payments securing the
2025 Bonds are secured by the Net Revenues of the District attributable to Zone 6, as described
herein. Zone 6 is sometimes referred to by the District as the San Felipe Project or the San Felipe
Distribution System, and is distinguished from Zone 1 (District Administration), Zone 3 (San Benito
River System) and Zone 7 (Groundwater Sustainability Plan). Historically, Zone 6's revenues and
expenditures have constituted approximately 90% to 95% of the District's total revenues and
expenditures.

The Authority. The San Benito County Water District Financing Authority (the
“Authority”) is a joint exercise of powers authority established pursuant to a Joint Exercise of
Powers Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2024, by and between the District and the California
Statewide Communities Development Authority for the purpose, among others, of having the
Authority issue its bonds to finance the acquisition, construction and improvement of certain public
capital improvements for the District.



Authority for Issuance. The bonds captioned above (the “2025 Bonds”) are being
issued by the Authority under a resolution adopted by the governing body of the Authority, the
provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of
California (the “Bond Law"), and an Indenture of Trust dated as of May 1, 2025 (the “Indenture”),
by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee.
See “THE 2025 BONDS - Authority for issuance.”

Purpose of the 2025 Bonds. The 2025 Bonds are being issued to provide funds to
(i) assist the District with financing certain improvements for Zone 6, and (i) pay the costs of
issuing the 2025 Bonds. See “FINANCING PLAN.”

Security for the 2025 Bonds. The 2025 Bonds are special obligations of the Authority,
payable from the “Revenues” (as described herein) pledged under the indenture, which consist
primarily of instaliment payments (the “Installment Payments”) payable by the District to the
Authority under an Instaliment Sale Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2025 (the “Instaliment Sale
Agreement”), pursuant to which the District is purchasing certain improvements for Zone 6.
Repayment of the installment Payments is secured primarily by a pledge of the Net Revenues of
Zone 6, which means the “Gross Revenues” received from Zone 6, less the amount of
“Maintenance and Operation Costs” of Zone 6 (as those terms are defined in the Indenture).
No debt service reserve fund is being funded for the 2025 Bonds. See “SECURITY FOR THE
2025 BONDS”

Existing and Future Parity Obligations. The District currently has three long-term debt
obligations payable from Net Revenues on parity with the Installment Payments, and may incur
additional parity obligations in the future (collectively, the “Parity Obligations”), subject to the
conditions set forth in the instaliment Sale Agreement. See “SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS
~ Parity Obligations.”

The existing Parity Obligations consists of:

e “2015 Instaliment Purchase Agreement,” which is the Installment Sale
Agreement, dated December 1, 2015, between the District and the Municipal
Finance Corporation, currently outstanding in the principal amount of $2,801,451;

+ “2021 Zions Loan Agreement,” which is the 2021 Financing Agreement, dated
February 1, 2021, between the District and Zions Bancorporation, currently
outstanding in the principal amount of $2,389,000; and

e “2021 Sterling Loan Agreement,” which is the 2021 Financing Agreement, dated
April 1, 2021, between the District and Sterling National Bank, N.A., currently
outstanding in the principal amount of $2,461,000.

The 2015 installment Purchase Agreement and 2021 Sterling Loan Agreement are
secured by a pledge of the net revenues of all zones of the District, including Zone 6; the 2021
Zions Loan Agreement is secured by a pledge of the Net Revenues of Zone 6 only. See “THE
WATER SYSTEM AND ZONE 6 - Outstanding Indebtedness” for additional details.

Rate Covenants. Under the instaliment Sale Agreement, the District is obligated to fix,
prescribe, revise, and collect rates and charges for Zone 6 during each Fiscal Year that are
sufficient to yield Net Revenues (which consists of both rates and charges and property taxes, as
described herein) at least equal to 120% of the amount of the Instaliment Payments and Debt
Service on the Parity Obligations in such Fiscal Year.



Under the Instaliment Sale Agreement, the District must also fix, prescribe, revise and
collect rates and charges (taking into account property taxes received by the District) for Zone 6
during each Fiscal Year which are at least sufficient, after making allowances for contingencies
and error in the estimates, to produce Gross Revenues which will be sufficient to pay the following
amounts: (i) all Maintenance and Operation Costs of Zone 6 estimated by the District to become
due and payable in such Fiscal Year; (ii) the Instaliment Payments and Debt Service on the Parity
Obligations; (iii) ali other payments required for compliance with the Instaliment Sale Agreement,
the Indenture and the Parity Obligations Documents; and (iv) all payments required to meet any
other obligations of the District that are charges, liens, encumbrances upon or payable from the
Gross Revenues or the Net Revenues of Zone 6.

Municipal Bond Insurance. [To come if applicable]

Risks of Investment, The 2025 Bonds are repayable from the Revenues, which are
primarily secured by the Instaliment Payments payable by the District from the Net Revenues of
Zone 8. For a discussion of some of the risks associated with the purchase of the 2025 Bonds,
see "BOND OWNERS’ RISKS.”

THE 2025 BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY PAYABLE
SOLELY FROM AND SECURED BY THE REVENUES, WHICH CONSIST PRIMARILY OF THE
INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS. THE INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS ARE PAYABLE FROM THE NET
REVENUES OF ZONE 6 OF THE DISTRICT AND CERTAIN AMOUNTS HELD BY THE
TRUSTEE UNDER THE INDENTURE. THE 2025 BONDS ARE NOT SECURED BY A LEGAL
OR EQUITABLE PLEDGE OF, OR CHARGE, OR LIEN, OR ENCUMBRANCE UPON, ANY OF
THE PROPERTY OF THE AUTHORITY OR ANY OF ITS INCOME OR RECEIPTS, EXCEPT
THE REVENUES AS DESCRIBED HEREIN.



FINANCING PLAN

The 2025 Bonds are being issued to provide funds to (i) assist the District with financing
certain improvements for Zone 6 (as described herein, the “Project”), and (ii) pay the costs of
issuing the 2025 Bonds.

The Project

The Project is expected to consist of the Accelerated Drought Response Project
(“ADRoP”) being undertaken by the District for Zone 6. As provided in the Indenture and the
Instaliment Sale Agreement, amounts not used for ADRoP project may be expended for other
capital improvements to Zone 6 approved by the District's Board of Directors. For additional
information on the ADRoP project, see “THE WATER SYSTEM AND ZONE 6 — Future Water
Supply Projects.”

Sources and Uses of Funds

The estimated sources and uses of funds relating to the 2025 Bonds are as follows:

Sources:
Principal Amount of 2025 Bonds $
Plus/lLess [Net] Original issue Premium/Discount

Total Sources $
Uses:

Project Fund
Costs of Issuance(™
Total Uses $

(1) Costs of Issuance include legal fees, Municipal Advisor's fee, Underwriter's discount, printing
costs, rating agency fees, [bond insurance and reserve fund insurance premiums}, and other
expenses related to the issuance of the 2025 Bonds.



THE 2025 BONDS

This section provides summaries of the 2025 Bonds and certain provisions of the
Indenture. See APPENDIX A for a more complete summary of the Indenture. Capitalized terms
used but not defined in this section have the meanings given in APPENDIX A.

Authority for Issuance

The 2025 Bonds are being issued by the Authority under a resolution adopted by the
governing body of the Authority on [April 30}, 2025, the Bond Law, and the Indenture. The District,
pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Board of Directors of the District on [April 30], 2025, has
also approved of the issuance of the 2025 Bonds by the Authority, entrance into the Instaliment
Sale Agreement, and the distribution of the Official Statement.

General Bond Terms

Bond Terms. The 2025 Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and issued in fully
registered form without coupons in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000, so
long as no 2025 Bond has more than one maturity date. The 2025 Bonds will mature in the
amounts and on the dates, and bear interest at the rates per annum, set forth on the inside cover
page of this Official Statement.

Payments. Interest on the 2025 Bonds will be payable on April 1 and October 1 of each
year to maturity (each an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing October 1, 2025.

Interest on the 2025 Bonds will be payable on each Interest Payment Date to the person
whose name appears on the Bond Registration Books as the Owner thereof as of the Record
Date immediately preceding each such Interest Payment Date, such interest to be paid by check
or draft of the Trustee mailed by first class mail to the Owner or, at the option of any Owner of at
least $1,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Bonds with respect to which written
instructions have been filed with the Trustee prior to the applicable Record Date, by wire transfer,
at the address of such Owner as it appears on the Bond Registration Books.

If there exists a default in payment of interest due on such Interest Payment Date, such
interest will be payable on a payment date established by the Trustee to the persons in whose
names the 2025 Bonds are registered at the close of business on a special record date for the
payment of such defaulted interest established by notice mailed by the Trustee to the registered
Owners of the 2025 Bonds not less than 15 days preceding such special record date.

Principal of and premium (if any) on any 2025 Bond will be paid upon presentation and
surrender thereof at the Principal Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee. Both the principal of and
interest and premium (if any) on the 2025 Bonds will be payable in lawful money of the United
States of America.

However, as long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the 2025 Bonds, as described
below, payments of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the 2025 Bonds will be made
directly to DTC, or its nominee, Cede & Co.

Calculation of Interest. The 2025 Bonds will be dated the Closing Date and bear interest
based on a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months from the Interest Payment Date
next preceding the date of authentication thereof, unless said date of authentication is an Interest
Payment Date, in which event such interest is payable from such date of authentication, and
unless said date of authentication is prior to the first Interest Payment Date, in which event such
interest is payable from the Closing Date; provided, however, that if, as of the date of



authentication of any 2025 Bond, interest thereon is in default, such 2025 Bond will bear interest
from the date to which interest has previously been paid or made available for payment thereon
in full.

Record Date. The Indenture defines the “Record Date” for the 2025 Bonds as the 15th
calendar day of the month preceding each Interest Payment Date.

Book-Entry Only System. The 2025 Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co.,
as nominee of the Depository Trust Company (“DTC"), New York, New York, as the initial
securities depository for the 2025 Bonds. Ownership interests in the 2025 Bonds may be
purchased in book-entry form only. Purchasers of the 2025 Bonds will not receive physical bonds
representing their ownership interests in the 2025 Bonds purchased.

Principal and interest payments with respect to the 2025 Bonds are payable directly to
DTC by the Trustee. Upon receipt of payments of principal and interest, DTC will in turn distribute
such payments to the beneficial owners of the 2025 Bonds. See "APPENDIX F — DTC and the
Book-Entry Only System.”

So long as the 2025 Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC,
references in this Official Statement to the “owners” mean Cede & Co., and not the purchasers or
Beneficial Owners of the 2025 Bonds. See “APPENDIX F — DTC and the Book-Entry Only
System.”

Redemption™

Optional Redemption. The 2025 Bonds maturing on or before October 1, 20__, are not
subject to optional redemption prior to their respective stated maturity dates. The 2025 Bonds
maturing on or after October 1, 20__, are subject to redemption in whole, or in part at the Written
Request of the Authority among maturities on such basis as the Authority may designate and by
lot within a maturity, at the option of the Authority, on any date on or after October 1, 20_, from
any available source of funds, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount of the 2025
Bonds to be redeemed, pius accrued interest to the date of redemption, without premium

Special Mandatory Redemption from Insurance and Sale Proceeds. The 2025 Bonds
are subject to mandatory redemption, on any date, in whole, or in part on a pro rata basis among
maturities, from the net proceeds of insurance, sale or condemnation credited towards the
prepayment of the Installment Payments by the District under the Installment Sale Agreement, at
a redemption price equal to the principal amount represented thereby to be prepaid, without
premium, together with accrued interest represented thereby to the redemption date.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The 2025 Bonds maturing on October 1, 20__
and October 1, 20__ (the “2025 Term Bonds”) are also be subject to redemption, by lot, on
October 1 in each of the years as set forth in the following tables, from deposits made for such
purpose pursuant to the Indenture, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to
be redeemed together with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date, without premium, or
in lieu thereof may be purchased, in the aggregate respective principal amounts and on the
respective dates as set forth in the following tables; provided, however, that if some but not all of
the 2025 Term Bonds have been redeemed pursuant to paragraphs described above, the total
amount of all future payments with respect to such 2025 Term Bonds shall be reduced by the
aggregate principal amount of such 2025 Term Bonds so redeemed, to be allocated among such
payments in integral muitiples of $5,000 as determined by the Authority (written notice of which
determination shall be given by the Authority to the Trustee).

* Preliminary; subject to change.



2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1, 20___

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
{October 1) Redeemed

2025 Term Bonds Maturing October 1, 20___

Sinking Fund Principal
Redemption Date Amount To Be
(October 1) Redeemed

In lieu of mandatory sinking fund redemption of the 2025 Term Bonds, amounts on deposit
in the Bond Fund (to the extent not required to be deposited by the Trustee in the Interest Account
or the Principal Account pursuant to the Indenture during the current Bond Year) may aiso be
used and withdrawn by the Authority, upon the Written Request of the Authority delivered to the
Trustee, at any time for the purchase of such 2025 Term Bonds at public or private sale as and
when and at such prices (including brokerage and other charges and including accrued interest)
as the Authority may in its discretion determine. The par amount of any of such Term Bonds so
purchased by the Authority in any twelve-month period ending on October 1 in any year shall be
credited towards and shall reduce the par amount of such Term Bonds required to be redeemed
pursuant to this provision on the next succeeding October 1.

Notice of Redemption. The Trustee shall mail notice of redemption of the 2025 Bonds
by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than 20 nor more than 60 days before any redemption
date, to the respective Owners of any 2025 Bonds designated for redemption at their addresses
appearing on the Bond Registration Books and to one or more Securities Depositories and to the
Information Services. Each notice of redemption shall state the date of the notice, the redemption
date, the place or places of redemption, whether less than all of the 2025 Bonds (or all 2025
Bonds of a single maturity) are to be redeemed, the CUSIP numbers and (in the event that not all
2025 Bonds within a maturity are called for redemption) 2025 Bond numbers of the 2025 Bonds
to be redeemed and the maturity or maturities of the 2025 Bonds to be redeemed, and in the case
of 2025 Bonds to be redeemed in part only, the respective portions of the principal amount thereof
to be redeemed. Each such notice shall also state that on the redemption date there will become
due and payable on each of said 2025 Bonds the redemption price thereof, and that from and
after such redemption date interest thereon shall cease to accrue, and shall require that such
Bonds be then surrendered.

Each notice relating to a redemption pursuant to the optional redemption or special
mandatory redemption provisions described above shall further state that such redemption may
be rescinded by the Authority on or prior to the date set for redemption. Neither the failure to
receive any notice nor any defect therein shall affect the sufficiency of the proceedings for such

7



redemption or the cessation of accrual of interest from and after the redemption date. Notice of
redemption of 2025 Bonds shall be given by the Trustee, at the expense of the Authority, for and
on behalf of the Authority.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, while the 2025 Bonds are subject to DTC’s book-entry
system, the Trustee will be required to give notice of redemption only to DTC as provided in the
letter of representations executed by the District and received and accepted by DTC. DTC and
the Participants will have sole responsibility for providing any such notice of redemption to the
beneficial owners of the 2025 Bonds to be redeemed. Any failure of DTC to notify any Participant,
or any failure of Participants to notify the Beneficial Owner of any 2025 Bonds to be redeemed,
of a notice of redemption or its content or effect will not affect the validity of the notice of
redemption, or alter the effect of redemption set forth in the Indenture.

Rescission of Redemption and Cancellation of Redemption Notice. The Authority
shall have the right to rescind any redemption pursuant to the optional redemption or special
mandatory redemption provisions described above by written notice to the Trustee on or prior to
the date fixed for redemption. Any notice of redemption shall be cancelled and annulled if for any
reason funds are not available on the date fixed for redemption for the payment in full of the 2025
Bonds then called for redemption, and such cancellation shall not constitute an Event of Default
under the Indenture. The Trustee shall mail notice of rescission of redemption in the same
manner notice of redemption was originally provided.

Selection of 2025 Bonds for Redemption. With respect to the 2025 Bonds, whenever
less than all of the 2025 Bonds of a maturity are to be selected for redemption, the Trustee shall
determine, by lot, the numbers of the 2025 Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed, and shall
notify the District thereof.

Partial Redemption of 2025 Bonds. Whenever provision is made in the Indenture for
the redemption of less than all of the 2025 Bonds of a single maturity of the same issue, the
Trustee shall select the 2025 Bonds of that maturity to be redeemed by lot in any manner which
the Trustee in its sole discretion deems appropriate. For purposes of such selection, the Trustee
shall treat each 2025 Bond as consisting of separate $5,000 portions and each such portion shall
be subject to redemption as if such portion were a separate 2025 Bond.

Registration, Transfer and Exchange

Bond Registration Books. The Trustee will keep or cause to be kept at its trust office
sufficient Bond Registration Books for the registration and transfer of the 2025 Bonds, which will
at all times during regular business hours, and upon reasonable notice, be open to inspection by
the Authority; and, upon presentation for such purpose, the Trustee will, under such reasonable
regulations as it may prescribe, register or transfer or cause to be registered or transferred, on
said books, Bonds as provided in the indenture.

Transfer. Any 2025 Bond may, in accordance with its terms, be transferred, upon the
Bond Registration Books, by the person in whose name it is registered, in person or by a duly
authorized attorney of such person, upon surrender of such 2025 Bond to the Trustee at its
Principal Corporate Trust Office for cancellation, accompanied by delivery of a written instrument
of transfer in a form acceptable to the Trustee, duly executed. The Trustee shall collect any tax
or other governmental charge on the transfer of any 2025 Bonds under the Indenture. Whenever
any 2025 Bond or 2025 Bonds shall be surrendered for transfer, the Authority shall execute and
the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver to the transferee a new 2025 Bond or 2025 Bonds of
like series, interest rate, maturity and aggregate principal amount. The Authority shall pay the
cost of printing 2025 Bonds and any services rendered or expenses incurred by the Trustee in
connection with any transfer of 2025 Bonds.



Exchange. The 2025 Bonds may be exchanged at the Principal Corporate Trust Office
of the Trustee for a like aggregate principal amount of 2025 Bonds of other authorized
denominations and of the same series, interest rate and maturity. The Trustee shall collect any
tax or other governmental charge on the exchange of any 2025 Bonds. The Authority shall pay
the cost of printing 2025 Bonds and any services rendered or expenses incurred by the Trustee
in connection with any exchange of 2025 Bonds.

Limitations. The Trustee may refuse to transfer or exchange, under the provisions of the
Indenture, any 2025 Bonds selected by the Trustee for redemption under the Indenture, or any
2025 Bonds during the period established by the Trustee for the selection of 2025 Bonds for
redemption.



DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE

Debt Service on 2025 Bonds. Annual debt service on the 2025 Bonds is
presented below, assuming no early redemptions of the 2025 Bonds.

Period Ending Annual
October 1 Principal Interest Debt Service
2025 $1,210,345.83
2026 2,906,125.00
2027 2,909,875.00
2028 2,910,625.00
2029 2,908,375.00
2030 2,908,000.00
2031 2,909,250.00
2032 2,907,000.00
2033 2,806,125.00
2034 2,906,375.00
2035 2,907,500.00
2036 2,909,250.00
2037 2,906,500.00
2038 2,909,000.00
2038 2,906,500.00
2040 2,908,750.00
2041 2,910,375.00
2042 2,906,250.00
2043 2,906,125.00
2044 2,909,500.00
2045 2,911,000.00
Total: $59,372,845.83

Source: Underwriter.

10



Debt Service on Parity Obligations. Annual debt service on the 2025 Bonds and
other outstanding Parity Obligations is presented below, assuming no early redemptions.

2015 install,
Period Ending Purchase 2021 Zions Loan 2021 Sterling Loan 2025 Bonds Total Parity
October 1 Agreement! Agreement(’ Agreement() Debt Service Debt Service
2025 $1,210,345.83
2026 2,906,125.00
2027 2,909,875.00
2028 2,910,625.00
2029 2,908,375.00
2030 2,908,000.00
2031 2,909,250.00
2032 2,907,000.00
2033 2,906,125.00
2034 2,906,375.00
2035 2,907,500.00
2036 2,909,250.00
2037 2,906,500.00
2038 2,909,000.00
2039 2,906,500.00
2040 2,908,750.00
2041 2,910,375.00
2042 2,906,250.00
2043 2,906,125.00
2044 2.909,500.00
2045 2,911,000.00
Total: $59,372,845.83

(1) The 2015 Instaliment Purchase Agreement and 2021 Sterling Loan Agreement are secured by a piedge of net revenues
of all zones of the District; the 2021 Zions Loan Agreement and the 2025 Installment Sale Agreement/2025 Bonds are
secured by a pledge of the Net Revenues of Zone 6 only.

Source: San Benito County Water District; Underwriter for 2025 Bonds.

11



SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS

This section provides summaries of the security for the 2025 Bonds, and certain provisions
of the Indenture and the Installment Sale Agreement. Unless the context otherwise requires,
“Bonds” refers to the 2025 Bonds and any Additional Bonds that may be outstanding under the
Indenture. See APPENDIX A for a more complete summary of the Indenture. Capitalized terms
used but not defined in this section have the meanings given in APPENDIX A.

General; Limited Obligation

The 2025 Bonds are special limited obligations of the Authority and will be payable from
and secured by a charge and lien on the Revenues, consisting primarily of the Instaliment
Payments to be made by the District under the Instaliment Sale Agreement, and all amounts held
in certain funds and accounts established and held by the Trustee under the Indenture.

Instaliment Payments; Pledge of Net Revenues

All of the Net Revenues are irrevocably pledged, charged and assigned to the punctual
payment of the Instaliment Payments. Such pledge, charge and assignment constitute a lien on
the Net Revenues and such other moneys for the payment of the Instaliment Payments in
accordance with the terms of the Instaliment Sale Agreement, which lien is on a parity with the
pledge and lien which secures the Parity Obligations. For a description of existing and potential
future Parity Obligations see “— Parity Obligations” below. As used in the Installment Sale
Agreement and in the Indenture, the following terms have the following respective meanings:

Net Revenues. The Indenture defines “Net Revenues’ as, for any period, all of the Gross
Revenues during such period less all of the Maintenance and Operation Costs during such period.

Gross Revenues. The Indenture defines “Gross Revenues” as all gross income,
property tax revenue, and other monies and revenue received or receivable by the District from
the ownership and operation of Zone 6, calculated in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (1) all taxes,
rates, rent, fees, business interruption insurance proceeds, connection fees and charges,
insurance proceeds and condemnation awards received by the District and all other income and
revenue howsoever derived by the District from Zone 8, (2) the earnings on and income derived
from the investment of amounts described in clause (1) above and from District reserves held for
Zone 6, including the Rate Stabilization Fund, and (3) the proceeds derived by the District directly
or indirectly from the sale, lease or other disposition of a part of Zone 6; provided, however, that
(i) any specific charges levied for the express purpose of reimbursing others for all or a portion of
the cost of the acquisition or construction of specific Zone 6 facilities, (ii) advances or contributions
in aid of construction, (iii) grants that are designated by the grantor for a specific Zone 6 purpose
(and are therefore not available for general operational purposes), (iv) customers’ deposits or any
other deposits or advances subject to refund until such deposits or advances have become the
property of the District, and (v) the proceeds of any special assessments or special taxes levied
upon real property within any improvement district served by the District for the purpose of paying
special assessment bonds or special tax obligations of the District relating to Zone 6, are not
Gross Revenues and are not subject to the lien hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall
be added to Gross Revenues any amounts transferred out of the Rate Stabilization Fund and into
the Revenue Fund, as contemplated by the Instaliment Sale Agreement.

Maintenance and Operation Costs. The Indenture defines “Maintenance and
Operation Costs” as the reasonable and necessary costs and expenses paid or incurred by the
District, payable from Gross Revenues, for maintaining and operating Zone 6, determined in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, including but not fimited to: (i) all

12



costs of procuring and delivering water, (i) all utility and standby costs of Zone 6, (ii)) all
reasonable expenses of management and repair and all other expenses necessary to maintain
and preserve Zone 6 in good repair and working order, (iv) all administrative costs of the District
that are charged directly or apportioned to the operation of Zone 6, such as salaries and wages
of employees, overhead, taxes (if any), the cost of permits and licenses to operate Zone 6 and
insurance premiums, and (v} all other reasonable and necessary costs of the District or charges
required to be paid by it to comply with the terms hereof; but excluding in all cases, the following:
(A) debt service payable on obligations (including bonds, notes or other evidences of
indebtedness, instaliment purchase payments under contract, and lease payments under any
financing or capital lease, as determined to be such in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles) incurred by the District with respect to Zone 6, (B) depreciation,
replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor, (C) amortization of intangibles or
other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature, and (D) costs of capital projects which under
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles are chargeable to a separate capital account or to a
reserve for depreciation.

Zone 6 and Other District Zones. The Indenture defines "Zone 6" as, collectively, the
whole and each and every part of the Water System that comprises Zone 6, including the portion
thereof existing on the date hereof, and including all additions, betterments, extensions and
improvements to the Water System or any part thereof hereafter acquired or constructed for Zone
6; provided, that to the extent the District is not the sole owner of an asset or property or to the
extent that an asset or property is used in part for Zone 6 purposes, only the District's ownership
interest in such asset or property or only the part of the asset. The term “Water System” refers
to all zones comprising the entire system of the District for the treatment, production, storage,
management and distribution of water within the service area of the District.

Zone 6 is sometimes referred to by the District as the San Felipe Project or the San Felipe
Distribution System, and is distinguished from Zone 1 (District Administration), Zone 3 (San Benito
River System) and Zone 7 (Groundwater Sustainability Pian). Historically, Zone 6’s revenues and
expenditures have constituted approximately 90% to 95% of the District’s total revenues and
expenditures. The Instaliment Payments and 2025 Bonds are secured by the Net Revenues
of Zone 6 only.

Receipt and Use of Gross Revenues under Instaliment Sale Agreement

Flow of Funds. The District has previously established revenue funds for each zone,
which collectively comprise the District's Water Fund, which the District will continue to hold and
maintain for the purposes and uses set forth in the installment Sale Agreement. The District shall
deposit all of the Gross Revenues in the appropriate zone subaccount of the Water Fund
immediately upon receipt. The District shall apply amounts in the Water Fund as set forth in the
Installment Sale Agreement and any resolution, trust indenture or installment sale agreement
adopted, entered into or executed and delivered by the District under which Parity Obligations
may be issued (collectively, “Parity Obligations Documents”). Amounts on deposit in the Water
Fund shall be applied by the District to pay when due the following amounts in the following order
of priority:

0] all Maintenance and Operation Costs (including amounts reasonably
required to be set aside in contingency reserves for Maintenance and Operation Costs)
as such Maintenance and Operation Costs become due and payable;

(iiy to the Trustee (or other recipient set forth in a Parity Obligations Document)

the amount needed to pay the Installment Payments and principal of, and interest on, any
Parity Obligation;

13



(iii}) to the Trustee (or other recipient set forth in a Parity Obligations Document)
the amount of any deficiency in any reserve fund established for any Bonds or Parity
Obligation, the notice of which deficiency has been given to the District in accordance with
the Indenture and the related Parity Obligations Documents, on a pro rata basis; and

(iv)  as long as all of the foregoing payments, allocations and transfers are
made at the times and in the manner set forth above, any moneys remaining in the Water
Fund may at any time be treated as surplus and applied for any iawful purpose.

No Preference or Priority. Payment of the Instaliment Payments and the principal of and
interest on any Parity Obligation shall be made without preference or priority among the
Instaliment Payments and such Parity Obligation, it being understood that the 2015 Instaliment
Purchase Agreement and 2021 Sterling Loan Agreement are secured by a pledge of net revenues
of all zones of the District; the 2021 Zions Loan Agreement is secured by a pledge of the Net
Revenues of Zone 6 only. If the amount of Net Revenues on deposit in the Water Fund is at any
time insufficient to enable the District to pay when due the Instaliment Payments and the principal
of and interest on any Parity Obligation {(or payments made in accordance with any reserve
account or reserve fund, including to pay any reserve insurer any amounts owed in connection
with any draw on any reserve fund insurance policy), such payments shall be made on a pro rata
basis according to the pledge applicable to each zone.

Receipt and Use of Revenues under Indenture

Assignment to Trustee. Under the indenture, the Authority irrevocably transfers, assigns
and sets over to the Trustee, without recourse to the Authority, all of its rights in the Instaliment
Sale Agreement (excepting only the Authority’s rights relating to indemnification and related
matters), including but not limited to all of the Authority’s rights to receive and collect all of the
Installment Payments. The Trustee is entitled to collect and receive all of the Instaliment
Payments, and any Installment Payments collected or received by the Authority shall be deemed
to be held, and to have been collected or received, by the Authority as the agent of the Trustee
and shall forthwith be paid by the Authority to the Trustee. The Trustee is also entitled to and
shall, subject to the provisions of the Indenture, take all steps, actions and proceedings which the
Trustee determines to be reasonably necessary in its judgment to enforce, either jointly with the
Authority or separately, all of the rights of the Authority and all of the obligations of the District
under the Installment Sale Agreement.

Deposit and Use of Revenues in Bond Fund. All Revenues (consisting, primarily, of
the Installment Payments) shall be promptly deposited by the Trustee upon receipt in a special
fund designated as the “Bond Fund” which the Trustee shall establish, maintain and hold in trust;
except that all moneys received by the Trustee and required under the Indenture or under the
Instaliment Sale Agreement to be deposited in the Redemption Fund shall be promptly deposited
in such fund. All Revenues deposited with the Trustee shall be held, disbursed, allocated and
applied by the Trustee only as provided in the Indenture. Any surplus remaining in the Bond
Fund, after payment in full of (i) the principal of and interest on the 2025 Bonds or provision
therefore under the Indenture, and (ii) any applicable fees and expenses of the Trustee, shall be
withdrawn by the Trustee and remitted to the District.

On or before each Interest Payment Date, the Trustee shall transfer from the Bond Fund
and deposit into the following respective accounts (each of which the Trustee shall establish and
maintain within the Bond Fund), the following amounts in the following order of priority:

Interest Account. The Trustee shall deposit in the Interest Account an amount

required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in the Interest Account to be at least
equal to the amount of interest becoming due and payable on such interest Payment Date

14



on all Bonds then Outstanding. All amounts in the Interest Account shall be used and
withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying interest on the 2025 Bonds as
it comes due and payable (including accrued interest on any 2025 Bonds purchased or
redeemed prior to maturity).

Principal Account. The Trustee shall deposit in the Principal Account an amount
required to cause the aggregate amount on deposit in the Principal Account to equal the
principal amount of the 2025 Bonds coming due and payable on each October 1, including
the aggregate principal amount of the Term Bonds (if any) which are subject to mandatory
sinking fund redemption on such October 1 pursuant to the Indenture. All amounts in the
Principal Account shall be used and withdrawn by the Trustee solely to pay the principal
amount of the 2025 Bonds on their respective maturity dates, including the aggregate
principal amount of the Term Bonds (if any) which are subject to mandatory sinking fund
redemption on such October 1 pursuant to the Indenture.

Deposit and Use of Revenues in Redemption Fund. The Trustee shall establish and
maintain the Redemption Fund, into which the Trustee shall deposit a portion of the Revenues
received representing optional prepayments of the Instaliment Payments, in accordance with a
Written Request of the Authority. Amounts on deposit in the Redemption Fund shall be used and
withdrawn by the Trustee solely for the purpose of paying the principal and premium (if any) of
the 2025 Bonds to be redeemed under the optional redemption or special mandatory redemption
provisions of the indenture; provided, however, that at any time prior to the selection of Bonds for
redemption, the Trustee may apply such amounts to the purchase of Bonds at public or private
sale, when and at such prices (including brokerage and other charges, but excluding accrued
interest, which is payable from the interest Account) as shall be directed under a Written Request
of the Authority, except that the purchase price (exclusive of accrued interest) may not exceed
the redemption price then applicable to the 2025 Bonds.

No Reserve Fund
No debt service reserve fund is being funded for the 2025 Bonds.
Rate Stabilization Fund

The District has previously established a rate stabilization fund (the “Rate Stabilization
Fund”). From time to time the District may deposit amounts in the Rate Stabilization Fund, from
any source of legally available funds, including but not limited to Net Revenues that are released
from the pledge and lien, which secures the Installment Payments and any Parity Obligation, as
the District may determine.

The District may, but is not required to, withdraw from any amounts on deposit in the Rate
Stabilization Fund and deposit such amounts in the Water Fund within 210 days following the end
of any Fiscal Year for the purpose of paying Debt Service coming due and payable in such Fiscal
Year. Amounts so transferred from a Rate Stabilization Fund to the Water Fund will constitute
Gross Revenues for the applicable Fiscal Year (except to the extent of amounts transferred into
the Rate Stabilization Fund from Gross Revenues received by the District in such Fiscal Year),
and will be applied for the purposes of the Water Fund. Amounts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization
Fund will not be pledged to or otherwise secure the Installment Payments or any Parity Obligation.
All interest or other earnings on deposits in a Rate Stabilization Fund will be withdrawn therefrom
at least annually and accounted for as Gross Revenues in the Water Fund. The District has the
right at any time to withdraw any or all amounts on deposit in a Rate Stabilization Fund and apply
such amounts for any lawful purposes of the District.

15



The District does not currently have any amounts set aside in the Rate Stabilization Fund,
but does maintain other reserves related to the Water System. See “THE WATER SYSTEM AND
ZONE 6 - Funds and Reserves.”

Rate Covenants

Sum Sufficient Based on Gross Revenues. Under the installment Sale Agreement, the
District will fix, prescribe, revise and collect charges for Zone 6 during each Fiscal Year that are
at least sufficient, after making allowances for contingencies and error in the estimates, to produce
Gross Revenues which will be sufficient to pay the following amounts:

(a) all Maintenance and Operation Costs of Zone 6 estimated by the District to
become due and payable in such Fiscal Year;

(b) the Installment Payments and Debt Service on any Parity Obligation;

(c) all other payments required for compliance with the Instaliment Sale
Agreement, the Indenture and the Parity Obligations Documents; and

(d) all payments required to meet any other obligations of the District that are
charges, liens, encumbrances upon or payable from the Gross Revenues of Zone 6 or the
Net Revenues of Zone 6.

Debt Service Coverage Based on Net Revenues (120%). In addition, under the
Installment Sale Agreement, the District will fix, prescribe, revise and collect charges for Zone 6
during each Fiscal Year which are sufficient to yield Net Revenues at least equal to 120% of the
instaliment Payments and Debt Service on the other Parity Obligations in such Fiscal Year. For
purposes of this paragraph, the amount of Net Revenues for a Fiscal Year will be computed on
the basis that any transfers into the Water Fund in such Fiscal Year from the Rate Stabilization
Fund are included in the calculation of Net Revenues (except to the extent of amounts transferred
into the Rate Stabilization Fund from Gross Revenues received by the District in such Fiscal
Year), as provided in the Installment Sale Agreement.

Rate Covenants for Existing Parity Obligations. The rate covenant in the 2021 Zions
Loan Agreement, which is calculated based on the Net Revenues of Zone 6 only, requires the
District to maintain Net Revenues of at least 120% of debt service on the 2021 Zions Loan
Agreement payment obligation and parity obligations (as defined therein). The rate covenants in
the 2021 Sterling Loan Agreement and the 2015 Installment Purchase Agreement, which are
calculated based on the net revenues of the entire Water System (not just Zone 6), requires 120%
debt service coverage and 115% debt service coverage, respectively.

Parity Obligations

Existing Parity Obligations. The parity debt requirement in the 2021 Zions Loan
Agreement requires the District to maintain Net Revenues of at least 120% of maximum annual
debt service on the 2021 Zions Loan Agreement payment obligation and parity obligations (as
defined therein). The parity debt requirements in the 2021 Sterling Loan Agreement and the 2015
Instaliment Purchase Agreement, which are based on net revenues of the entire Water System
(not just Zone 6), requires 120% maximum annual debt service coverage and 115% maximum
annual debt service coverage, respectively.

Additional Parity Obligations. Under the Installment Sale Agreement, the District may

issue or incur other loans, advances or indebtedness payable from the Net Revenues on a parity
basis with the Instaliment Payments in the future, subject to the following specific conditions (in

16



addition to the conditions in the 2015 Instaliment Purchase Agreement, 2021 Zions Loan
Agreement and 2021 Sterling Loan Agreement so long as those obligations are outstanding) that
are made conditions precedent to the issuance and delivery of such Parity Obligation:

(a) The District is in compliance with all covenants set forth in the Instaliment
Sale Agreement and in the Indenture.

(b) The Net Revenues (defined with respect to Zone 6 only), calculated on
generally accepted accounting principles, as shown by the books of the District for the
latest Fiscal Year or any more recent 12-month period selected by the District ending not
more than 60 days prior to the adoption of the Parity Obligations Document pursuant to
which such Parity Obligation are issued, as shown by the books of the District, plus, at the
option of the District, any or all of the items hereinafter in this paragraph designated (i)
and (ii), must at least equal 120% of Maximum Annual Debt Service, with Maximum
Annual Debt Service calculated on all bonds and other obligations to be outstanding
immediately subsequent to the issuance of such Parity Obligation which have a lien on
said Net Revenues of Zone 6. The items any or all of which may be added to such Net
Revenues for the purpose of issuing or incurring Parity Obligation under the Indenture are
the following:

0] An allowance for Net Revenues from any additions to or
improvements or extensions of Zone 6 to be made with the proceeds of such Parity
Obligation, and also for Net Revenues from any such additions, improvements or
extensions which have been made from moneys from any source but in any case
which, during all or any part of such Fiscal Year or such 12-month period, were not
in service, all in an amount equal to 90% of the estimated additional average
annual Net Revenues to be derived from such additions, improvements and
extensions for the first 36-month period in which each addition, improvement or
extension is respectively to be in operation, all as shown in the written report of an
Independent Consultant engaged by the District; and

(i) An aliowance for revenues projected to arise from any increase in
the rates and charges which has been approved by the District Board of Directors
prior to the incurring of such additional indebtedness but which, during all or any
part of such Fiscal Year or such 12-month period, was not in effect, in an amount
equal to the amount by which the Net Revenues would have been increased if
such increase in the rates and charges had been in effect during the whole of such
Fiscal Year or such 12-month period, all as shown in the written report of an
Independent Consultant engaged by the District. For the avoidance of doubt, a
Charge shall be considered to have been approved by the District Board of
Directors and may be considered in the calculation of the allowance described in
the previous sentence if the Charge is part of a multi-year rate increase that has
been approved by the Board of Directors of the District, even if the specific charge
will not take effect until a subsequent Fiscal Year.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parity Obligation proposed to be issued for
the purpose of refunding any Parity Obligation may be issued without compliance with
subsection (b), so long as such refunding results in lower Debt Service in each Fiscal Year
after such refunding and the final maturity (or termination) date of the refunding Parity
Obligation is no later than the final maturity (or termination) date of the refunded Parity
Obligation. For clarity, Parity Obligations may or may not be secured by a debt service
reserve fund.

17



As used above, “Maximum Annual Debt Service” means, as of the date of caiculation,
the maximum amount of Debt Service for the current or any future Fiscal Year. The caiculation of
“Debt Service” is set forth in APPENDIX A.

No Senior Debt

The District covenants in the Instaliment Sale Agreement to not issue or incur any
additional bonds or other obligations during the term thereof having any priority in payment of
principal or interest out of the Net Revenues over the Instaliment Payments. However, this
covenant does not limit or affect the ability of the District to issue, enter into or incur additional
Parity Obligation as described above, or obligations which are either unsecured or which are
secured on a basis which is junior and subordinate to the pledge of and lien upon the Net
Revenues established under the Installment Sale Agreement.

Casuaity Insurance and Eminent Domain Proceeds

Covenant to Maintain Insurance. The District covenants that it will at all times maintain
such insurance on the facilities of Zone 6 as is customarily maintained with respect to works and
properties of like character against accident to, loss of or damage to such works or properties.

Insurance Proceeds. Ali amounts collected from insurance against accident to or
destruction of any portion of facilities of Zone 6 shall be used to repair or rebuild such damaged
or destroyed portion, and to the extent not so applied, shall be applied to redeem Bonds or any
Parity Obligation in accordance with the Indenture and applicable Parity Obligations Documents.

Eminent Domain Proceeds. If all or any part of the facilities of Zone 6 are taken by
eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds realized by the District therefrom will be
deposited by the District in a special fund in trust and applied by the District to the cost of acquiring
or constructing or financing iImprovements to Zone 8, or to redeem Bonds or any Parity Obligation
in accordance with the Indenture and applicable Parity Obligations Documents.



BOND INSURANCE

[To come, if applicable ]

19



THE AUTHORITY

The Authority was created by the District and the California Statewide Communities
Development Authority pursuant to a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement, dated as of November
1, 2024, for the purpose, among others, of having the Authority issue its bonds to finance the
acquisition, construction and improvement of public capital improvements in the District. The
members of the Board of Directors of the District serve as the governing board of the Authority,
and certain District staff serve as the officers of the Authority. The Joint Exercise of Powers
Agreement was entered into under Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of
Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California. The Authority is a separate
entity constituting a public instrumentality of the State of California.

THE DISTRICT
Overview

The District is located in the County of San Benito (the “County”) in the State of California
{the “State”). The District was formed in 1953 by the San Benito County Water Conservation and
Flood Controf Act. At that time, the District merged with the Hollister rrigation District, becoming
the successor to the water rights, water facilities and land interests of the Hollister Irrigation
District. The name was changed from San Benito County Water Conservation and Flood Control
District to San Benito County Water District in 1988.

The District has broad powers for the conservation and management of water (flood,
surface, drainage, and groundwater) within its service area, including the development of local
water supplies and the development and importation of water supplies from outside the County.
The District's service area encompasses all of the County, covering an area of approximately
1,400 square miles and a population of approximately 68,700, and with respect to its Zone 7
activities only, serves areas in Santa Clara County as well. For background, demographic and
economic information regarding the County and the City of Hollister located therein, see
APPENDIX D.

Service Areas/Zones

The District provides water service and water related services through zones of benefit.
Current zones of benefit are:

- District Administration (Zone 1)

- San Benito River System (Zone 3)

- San Felipe Project (Zone 6)

- Groundwater Sustainability Plan (Zone 7)

from the Central Valley Project (‘CVP”). The Instaliment Payments securing the 2025 Bonds are
secured by the Net Revenues of the District attributable to Zone 6 only. Zone 6 is sometimes
referred to by the District as the San Felipe Project or the San Felipe Distribution System, and is
distinguished from Zone 1 (District Administration), Zone 3 (San Benito River System) and Zone
7 (Groundwater Sustainability Plan). Historically, Zone 6's revenues and expenditures have
constituted approximately 90% to 95% of the District's total revenues and expenditures.

20

( Commented [RS1]: Delete space.




The following map depicts, geographically, the District's zones of benefit.

Map of Zones of Benefit of
San Benito County Water District

o November 2021 Figure 1-2
[Add Labels/Legend]

Governance and Employees

The District is governed by an elected five member Board of Directors, and administered
by the General Manager and other key District staff.

Board of Directors. Board members are elected for four-year terms from divisions that
are coterminous with the supervisory districts of San Benito County. Directors must be a resident
of, and a registered voter in the division they represent. Members begin service in December of
even numbered years. The current Board members are as follows.

Member Name Role District Division
Doug Williams President Division 4
Mark Wright Vice President Division 1
Sonny Flores Director Division 5
Joe Tonascia Director Division 3
John Freeman Director Division 2

Board members represent the District on various boards and multi-agency committees,
including the San Luis & Delta Mendota Water Authority (2 seats), Association of California Water
Agencies — Joint Powers Insurance Authority, Pajaro River Watershed Flood Prevention
Authority, Water Resources Association of San Benito County, and Urban Area Water and
Wastewater Master Plan Governance Committee (2 seats).

21



Key District Staff. Key District staff include the General Manager and the Assistant
General Manager. Brief biographies follow.

Dana Jacobson, General Manager. Mr. Jacobson was appointed General
Manager of the District in September 2024. Prior to that time, he served as Senior Water
Resources Specialist for the Santa Clara Valley Water District. He has more than 20 years
of experience in the water business in California.

Brett Miller, Assistant General Manager. Mr. Miller was appointed Assistant
General Manager of the District in October 2024, having served in that role in an interim
capacity before then. Prior to joining the District, he served in various roles, including City
Manager, Assistant City Manager, and Administrative Services Director, for the City of
Hollister. Mr. Miller has more than 30 years of experience with California public agencies.

Employees. The District has 23 full-time equivalent employees (FTEs), serving the
following functions: administration and finance, engineering, operations and maintenance, and
water conservation. The District believes its relations with its employees is good.

CalPERS Pension Plan

Plan Description and Benefits. All qualified employees are eligible to participate in the
District's Miscellaneous Employee Pension Plan, which is a cost-sharing multiple employer
defined benefit pension plan administered by the California Public Employees Retirement System
(“CalPERS"). The District selects optional benefit provisions from the benefit menu by contract
with CalPERS and adopts those benefits through local ordinance. CalPERS issues publicly
available reports that include a full description of the pension plans regarding benefit provisions,
assumptions and membership information that can be found on the CalPERS website. CalPERS
provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments and death
benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based
on years of credited service, equal to one year of full-time employment.

Net Pension Liability. As of June 30, 2024, the District’s proportionate share of net
pension liability in its CalPERS retirement plans was $637,709.

Additional Information. For additional information about the District's defined benefit
pension plan, including information concerning contributions and net pension liability, see Note 9
in APPENDIX B —~ “AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
2024 - Employee Retirement Plans.”

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Plan Description and Benefits. in 2000, the District joined the Public Employees’
Medical & Hospital Care Act (“PEMHCA”"), which is an agent multiple-employer plan administered
by CalPERS. The healthcare plan which provides medical insurance benefits to active and eligible
retirees and their families accordance with memoranda of understanding with employee groups
and adoption by the District Board. The District currently provides PEMHCA post-retirement
healthcare benefits to all full-time employees who retire directly from the District after the age of
55 years and with at least 5 years of CalPERS service. The Minimum Employer Contribution
amount is prescribed by Government Code Section 22892 of the PEMHCA. In addition, the
District provides supplemental contributions to all employees who retire directly from the District
combined with a regular service retirement through CalPERS. Employees must be at least 55
years of age and have a minimum of 10 years of District service at retirement.

22



Net OPEB Asset. As of June 30, 2024, the District had a net OPEB liability of $(75,038),
meaning the District was over-funded with respect to its projected OPEB obligations in the amount
of $75,038.

Additional Information. For additional information about the District's OPEB, including
information concerning contributions and net OPEB liability, see Note 11 in APPENDIX B ~
“AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 - Other
Post-Employment Benefits.”

Insurance Coverage

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, damage to and
destruction of assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees and natural disasters. In an
effort to manage its risk exposure, the District is a member of Association of California Water
Agencies Joint Powers Insurance Authority ("ACWA/JPIA”). The ACWA/JPIA is a risk-pooling
self-insurance authority, created under provisions of California Government Code Section 6500
et seq. As part of this service, risk management guidelines are established and regularly reviewed
by ACWA/JPIA. For additional information on coverages and deductibles, see Note 12 in
APPENDIX B — "AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
2024 - Risk Management.”

THE WATER SYSTEM AND ZONE 6
Overview

The District operates through various service areas/zones. “Zone 6" is the zone of benefit
for the area of the County that receives imported water from the CVP, and is sometimes referred
to by the District as the San Felipe Project or the San Felipe Distribution System, and is
distinguished from Zone 1 (District Administration), Zone 3 (San Benito River System) and Zone
7 (Groundwater Sustainability Plan).

The “Water System” as used herein refers to all zones of the District, which comprises
the entire system of the District for the treatment, production, storage, management and
distribution of potable water and recycled water within the service area of the District.

Historically, Zone 6's revenues and expenditures have constituted approximately 90% to
95% of the District's total revenues and expenditures. The Instaliment Payments and 2025
Bonds are secured by the Net Revenues of Zone 6 only.

San Benito Water Supply

Primary Water Sources. The primary water sources for the County are (1) imported
water through the CVP, (2) local groundwater, (3) local surface water and reservoirs, and
(4) recycled water from the City of Hollister's Water Reclamation Facility. Additionally, from time
to time, the District participates in transfers or purchases of water from other agencies.

Surface Water Systems. There are two primary surface water systerms in the County:
(1) the San Felipe Project and San Felipe Distribution System, which imports, stores and
distributes imported CVP water to Zone 6 customers, and (2) the San Benito River System, which
collects, stores and distributes locaily-sourced water for groundwater recharge.

Groundwater Usage. The District does not currently pump any groundwater. However,
groundwater pumping is undertaken by private landowners within the District and the two

23



wholesalers of water that work with the District: the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water
District. There are currently approximately 473 active agricultural wells and 705 active domestic
wells in the County. See “— Water Supplies and Treatment” for additional details on the District's
two water wholesalers.

Recycled Water. The City of Hollister's Water Reclamation Facility has produced recycled
water since 2016. Currently, the recycled water is used for the City of Hollister's landscape
irrigation and purchased by some agricultural customers within the County.

Water System Facilities

The District currently maintains 3 open reservoirs, 4 pumping stations, 171 miles of
pipeline, 2 water treatment plants, 9 subsystem valve and control structures, and 4 percolation
valve and control structures. Some of the facilities are owned by the United States Bureau of
Reclamation (“USBR”), and the District operates and maintains the facilities by itself or in
conjunction with the Santa Clara Valley Water District ("SCVWD"). Other facilities are owned by
the District. San Luis Reservoir is owned by USBR and managed by the California Department
of Water Resources (“DWR”) under contract with USBR. A map showing the various facilities of
the District follows.

Map of Water System Facilities of
San Benito County Water District

= *u « *r
Pacheco 8 i) :
Raservoir = San Luls

{ Reservolr

% Raservoir
2 A1'OYo ’
%
3§ L ; Legend
Y T Vig, A
N\ rag™ ™ === Hollister Conduit

\
| R T e
%

W
*,

== Pacheco Conduit
Hudner v lone Tree

g‘ Reservoir . = SantaClara Conduit
j’]‘ 4rc0y° dos Picache @ Water Facilities

4 City of Hollister

Hollister

ﬁ = Highways

e \Waterways
I Reservoirs

=
f Lessalt WTP

)
- it ‘e
I San Juan ':u::;:-;(: X

Ao BAUESR west Hills WTP l\,ﬂbv <

) “7. San Justo Ridgemark

Reservoir A —
Paicines Reservoir Hernandez Resarvoir North 1 mile
- -

USBR-Owned Facilities Operated and Maintained Solely by District
e San Justo Reservoir, which stores imported CVP water
o Hollister Conduit, which transfers imported CVP water to San Justo Reservoir and
delivers untreated CVP water to certain agricultural customers along the way
e San Juan Lateral, which connects San Justo Reservoir to the District's two water
treatment plants

24



USBR-Owned Facilities Operated and Maintained by District and SCYWD
« San Felipe Reach 1 facilities (consisting of the Pacheco Pumping Plant, Pacheco
Tunnel and Pacheco Conduit), which transfers imported CVP water from San Luis
Reservoir (owned by USBR and managed by DWR) to the Hollister Conduit

District-Owned Facilities
e San Felipe Distribution System (Zone 6) facilities, consisting of 4 pumping stations
(20 total pumps), 9 subsystem valve and control structures, 4 percolation valve
and control structures, San Felipe subsystem pipelines, and recycled water
pipelines

e San Benito River System (Zone 3) facilities, consisting of the Hernandez
Reservoir, Paicines Reservoir, Paicines Canal, Paicines Canal Diversion facilities
(Milton Diversion Dam, Hill Gate and Sand Gate), and Dos Picachos Diversion

e Lessalt Water Treatment Plant and West Hills Water Treatment Plant, both
operated under contract by Sunnyslope County Water District

Reservoirs. The District maintains three above-ground reservoirs (Hernandez, San Justo
and Paicines), which hold approximately 31,000 acre-feet combined. San Justo Reservoir (10,300
acre-feet of capacity) is used to store imported CVP water, as described below under “~ Water
Supplies and Treatment.” Hernandez Reservoir (17,300 acre-feet of active capacity; 11,500 acre-
feet of flood capacity) captures water from the highest peak in the County (San Benito Mountain)
and (together with Paicines Reservoir) helps the District to recharge the urban groundwater basin
by releasing water from the reservoir into the San Benito River. Paicines Reservoir (3,335 acre-
feet of capacity) captures natural runoff and re-diversion from Hernandez Reservoir releases.
Only San Justo Reservoir serves Zone 6.

Water Treatment Plants. The District owns two surface water treatment plants (Lessalt
Water Treatment Plant and West Hills Water Treatment Plant) that deliver drinking water to
Sunnyslope County Water District and the City of Hollister. The District is also currently working
on a contract to provide drinking water to San Juan Bautista, as described herein. The District’'s
two surface water treatment plants treat CVP water and are managed by Sunnyslope Water
District under contract with the District. See "~ Zone 6 Water Treatment” below for additional
details.

Surface Water Systems. As noted above, the District operates two surface water
systems: (1) San Benito River System (Zone 3) and (2) San Felipe Project and Distribution
System (Zone 6). The San Benito River System diverts and stores locally-sourced surface water
for percolation into the groundwater basin. The San Felipe Project and Distribution System
imports, stores and distributes imported CVP water, as described in more detail below.

Groundwater Basin Management

The District serves as the Groundwater Sustainability Agency (“GSA”) for the North San
Benito Basin, through its Zone 7 benefit zone. As permitted by the Sustainable Groundwater
Management Act (“SGMA™), the District's Zone 7 benefit zone extends over the portion of the
County, as well as a portion of nearby Santa Clara County, that overlays the North San Benito
Basin. In its role as the GSA, it is required to balance pumping and recharge to ensure reliable
water quality and sustainability in the basin. In 2022, the North San Benito Groundwater Basin
Sustainability Plan (the “Plan”) was completed. Under the Plan, the Bolsa, Hollister, San Juan
Bautista and Tres Pinos groundwater basins were consolidated into the North San Benito
Groundwater Basin, labeled a sub-basin of the Gilroy-Hollister Valley Groundwater Basin, and
designated as a “medium priority” basin by the State Department of Water Resource (‘DWR”).

25



This means the basin was recognized as a well-managed and not critically over-drafted basin.
One distinguishing characteristic of the basin is the high mineral content of the water in the
aquifer, which requires recharge and imported CVP water for water quality to be improved, as
described below.

The following map depicts the Zone 7 benefit zone and related groundwater basin area.

Map of North San Benito Basin and
San Benito County Water District Zone 7

Southern
Management
Area

*[C5] Wertn San Beno Basn

(] Menagement Arca. \
Ciy arsa

L. County Lins

Zone 6 Water Supplies

USBR Contract Entitlements. The District manages the federal contract with the USBR
for delivery of water through the San Felipe Division of the CVP for Zone 6 customers. The total
contract entitlement is 43,800 acre-feet of water per year (35,550 acre-feet for agricultural
customers and 8,250 acre-feet for Municipal and Industrial (“M&I”) customers).

2021 USBR Contract Modification. In 2021, the District converted its USBR contract
from a water service contract to a permanent repayment contract, with no expiration date. At that
time, the District paid off its share of the capital costs associated with the “in-basin” CVP facilities,
which are those facilities located in the Central Valley that are needed to produce and convey
CVP water to the District. The District remains responsible for its share of O&M costs for the in-
basin facilities, which are paid on a per acre-foot basis on all water delivered. Capital repayment
for the San Felipe Division facilities continues to occur through the District's CVP contract. Total
payments will be approximately $99 million, with $69 million still outstanding and payable through
January 1, 2036.

USBR Annual Allocations. The USBR allocates a percentage of the contract entitlement
each year, based on availability of water for that year (due to drought, storage capacity and/or
environmental issues in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta). In recent years, drought conditions
and mandatory conservation standards resulted in significant drops in imported CVP water
deliveries, some of which had disproportionate impacts on agricultural users.

When imported CVP water deliveries are curtailed, increased groundwater pumping by
landowners, the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District and reservoir releases by

26



the District help balance supply and demand. It is estimated that the groundwater basin has
approximately 500,000 acre-feet of storage capacity, with a safe yield range of 40,000 to 54,000
acre-feet per year.

Zone 6 Customer Base; Wholesale Customers

As of June 30, 2024, there were approximately 2,684 accounts, of which 1,265 were
agricultural accounts, 908 were domestic accounts, 409 were small-parcel accounts66 were M&!
accounts and 36 were recycled water accounts. The two wholesale customers of the District
the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District — are the largest accounts, accounting
for 24% of total water deliveries and 39% of Zone 6 operating revenues for Fiscal Year 2023-24.
The City of Hollister currently delivers water to approximately 7,500 retail accounts, while the
Sunnyslope County Water District also currently delivers water to approximately 7,500 retail
accounts. An intertie connects the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District water
systems for redundancy purposes. See “— Water Supply and Deliveries” below for additional
details on water supplies and deliveries by the District.

Zone 6 Water Treatment

Overview. With the execution of the Hollister Urban Area Water Supply and Treatment
Agreement ("HUWSTA”) in 2013, by and among the District, the City of Hollister, and Sunnyslope
County Water District, the District became the owner of the upgraded Lessalt Water Treatment
Plant and began design and construction of the West Hills Water Treatment Plant which was
completed in October 2017. This agreement marked the beginning of the District providing
wholesale treated drinking water to the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District.

Lessalt Water Treatment Plant. The Lessalt Water Treatment Plant was placed into
operation in 2003 and was upgraded in 2015. it treats imported CVP water delivered via the
Hollister Conduit for customers within the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District.
Water treated at the Lessalt WTP undergoes greensand, membrane filtration, granular activated
carbon (“GAC”") filtration, and disinfection. The plant has a rated capacity of 2.0 mgd (and a short-
term production capacity of up to 2.5 mgd).

West Hills Water Treatment Plant. The West Hills Water Treatment Plant was placed
into operation in 2017. It treats imported CVP water delivered from the San Justo Reservoir for
customers within the City of Hollister. Water treated at the West Hills WTP undergoes baliasted
flocculation, dual media gravity filtration, and disinfection. The plant has a current capacity of 4.5
mgd (and is designed for expansion to an ultimate maximum capacity of 9.0 mgd).

Water Supply and Treatment Agreement. Pursuant to a Water Supply and Treatment
Agreement (‘WS&T Agreement”), dated May 29, 2013, the District supplies surface water to the
City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District for treatment at the two water treatment
plants, which are both owned by the District and operated by Sunnyslope County Water District
pursuant to a separate agreement. The WS&T Agreement has an initial term of 30-years
(extending to 2043), with subsequent 10-year renewal options thereafter. The key components
of the WS&T Agreement are as follows:

¢ The District will deliver 4,760 acre-feet of treated (potable) water annually at an
average rate of 4.25 million galions per day (mgd) and a maximum rate of 6.5 mgd

¢ By each March 1, the District provides an estimate of water availability and, by each

March 15, the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District each provide an
estimate of water demand

27



* The District charges the City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District for the
cost of imported CVP water, treatment plant operating and maintenance costs and a
capital component for costs of building and expanding the treatment plants

Proposed Amendments to WS&T Agreement. The District is currently negotiating
amendments to the WS&T Agreement for four primary purposes: (1) updating the quantity of
water to the wholesale providers, (2) allocating costs related to water treatment plant
improvements, (3) allocating costs related to ADRoP, and (4) connecting the City of San Juan
Bautista to the treatment plants. No assurance can be given that the amendment document will
be adopted; uniess and until the amendment document is adopted by all involved parties, the
parties will continue operating under the existing WS&T Agreement. Additional details about the
proposed amendments follow.

Updating Quantity of Water Delivered to Wholesale Providers. The District
would agree to deliver to the Lessalt WTP and West Hills WTP an aggregate of 4,760
acre-feet annually of untreated water for treatment and subsequent delivery to the
wholesale providers for distribution to their M&! customers. The District would have
flexibility in the sources of the water it delivered, but would provide by March 1 of each
year a written projection of the quantities from each source. There may be a minimum
purchase/take-or-pay commitment from each wholesale provider.

Allocating Costs Related to Water Treatment Plant Improvements. The
District would advance $34 million to fund certain capital improvements to the two
treatment facilities, with such amount to be repaid by the wholesale providers over-time.
The operation and maintenance costs of the two treatment plants would continue to be
governed by the O&M Agreement (described below).

Alfocating Costs Related to ADRoP. The District would be responsible for
constructing additional capital improvements required for the treatment faciliies and
ADRoP, to be repaid by the wholesale providers over-time. Once completed, the
component of ADRoP related to the expansion of the West Hill WTP to accommodate an
increased supply capacity of 6.75 mgd would be operated and maintained pursuant to the
0&M Agreement (described below), while the component of ADRoP related to the five
wells would be operated and maintained under a separate operation and maintenance
agreement to be executed by the parties at a later date.

Connecting City of San Juan Bautista. A transmission pipeline would be
buiit to provided treated water to the City of San Juan Bautista’s area of service, at an
estimated cost of approximately $7.7 million, with the City of San Juan Bautista making a
capital contribution to buy-in to the District’s treatment plant capacity with an estimated 5-
8% share. The final terms of that arrangement would be subject to a separate agreement.
From the District's perspective, the City of San Juan Bautista “buying-in” to the current
Zone 6 water system would be cost-neutral to the District and its customers.

Agreement for Operation and Maintenance Services. Pursuant to the Hollister Urban
Area Agreement for Operation and Maintenance Services, dated August 14, 2013 (the “O&M
Agreement”), Sunnyslope County Water District operates both the Lessalt WTP and West Hills
WTP for the District. The Agreement was initially executed on August 14, 2013 and, given a
recent 5-year renewal, remains in effect through August 14, 2028.The key components of the
O&M Agreement are as follows:

28



- The District is responsible for implementing capital improvements to both plants,
including financing and constructing such improvements pursuant to the WS&T
Agreement.

- The District is responsible for costs of delivering untreated water to both plants; all
other operation and maintenance costs are the responsibility of Sunnyslope.

- On or before April 1 of each year, Sunnyslope County Water District must submit to
the District a budget for the upcoming fiscal year, specifying amount of operation and
maintenance expenses required; comments may be submitted and a final budget must
be approved by June 30.

- The District pays Sunnyslope County Water District, on a monthly basis, ail operation
and maintenance costs to treat the water at the two plants and to deliver treated water
to the City of Hollister's and Sunnysiope County Water District’'s respective distribution
systems.

Water Quality and Regulatory Matters

Treatment Plant Permits. Operation of the District's two treatment plants is regulated by
District 05 (Monterey District) of the State Water Resources Control Board. Sunnyslope County
Water District is responsible for compliance with this permit, in its capacity as operator of the
plants.

Separately, the City of Hollister operates its wastewater treatment plant, which produces
recycled water for the District’s service area, under a regulated permit.

Water Quality. The North San Benito groundwater basin is characterized by high mineral
content, which requires recharge and imported CVP water for water quality to be improved. In
addition, the District, Hollister and Sunnyslope are addressing the new California hexavalent
chromium (drinking water standard of 10 parts per billion (ppb) by testing water sources and,
where necessary, implementing blending or treatment solutions.

Invasive Species. Zebra mussel infestations have been found in the San Justo Reservoir
since 2008 and more recently in the Hollister Conduit. These mussels can clog pipelines and
reduce the flow of CVP water to District customers. The District manages the water level in the
San Justo Reservoir during summer months, in cooperation with USBR and the California
Department of Fish & Game, to minimize disruptions. More recently, golden mussels have been
discovered in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Deilta, which could iead to additional issues for the
District's CVP water supply infrastructure in the future.

Future Water Supply Projects

The District is planning various capital improvement projects focused on increasing water
supply and reliability. A description of the key projects follows.

ADROoP. The net proceeds of the 2025 Bonds will be used for the ADRoP project, which
addresses the water supply deficit in the San Benito Urban Area (“SBUA”"). ADRoP will have the
capacity to inject, store, and recover up to 2,700 acre-feet-per-year of water through the
construction of five Aquifer Storage and Recovery (“ASR”) wells, the expansion of the West Hills
WTP, and the installation of pipelines for water transmission. The ADRoP project addresses the
water supply deficit in the SBUA. In dry years, the SBUA relies mainly on groundwater and costly
spot market water purchases to meet Municipal and Industrial demands. ADRoP is designed to
capture excess CVP water in “wet years” and store it in the aquifer for later use during drought or

29



improve the resilience of the groundwater basin.

The District currently projects that the total cost of the ADRoP project will be approximately
$60 million, of which $20 million will be provided by grant funding.

B.F. Sisk Dam Raise and Reservoir Expansion Project. USBR and the SLDMWA are
jointly developing the B.F. Sisk Dam Raise and Reservoir Expansion Project. This project will
raise the existing B.F. Sisk Dam by 10 feet and increase the storage capacity of San Luis
Reservoir by 130,000 acre-feet. This project is separate and distinct from the B.F. Sisk Safety of
Dams Modification Project, which is being undertaken concurrently by USBR and DWR to address
seismic risks of the existing dam but will not increase the storage capacity.

It is anticipated that SLDMWA will enter into a series of agreements with USBR for the
lease of a portion of this new storage capacity. Under the current arrangement, SLDMWA would
be responsible for 70% of all project costs and would receive 70%, or 91,000 acre-feet, of the
new capacity. USBR would retain the remaining 30% for its use. The District’s participation in the
project would occur through an activity agreement with SLDMWA. The District has tentatively
reserved 5,297 acre-feet of storage capacity for planning purposes. If the District maintains this
level of participation, it would be responsible for a share of the capital costs and its pro-rata share
of operating costs once the facility is in service. At a mid-point, the cost of construction has an
estimated cost of approximately $1.1 billion, which would result in the District’s capital cost of
approximately $40 million. The costs for this project would be recovered through a capacity fee
assessed on new development in the County, which fee would need to be approved in the future.

The B.F. Sisk Dam Raise Project is intended to increase the reliability of water supplies
from the CVP, which have been impacted by increasingly stringent regulatory criteria and
changing climatic conditions. The District could store wet year water and spot market purchases
in its share of storage for later use when conditions are drier. The project would also provide the
District an opportunity to divert and store surplus CVP water that is available through the District's
existing CVP contract but currently can't be stored because of limited storage capability.

Pacheco Reservoir Expansion Project. The Pacheco Reservoir Expansion project
includes construction of a new dam a short distance upstream from the existing dam and a
pipeline to connect the dam to the existing Pacheco Conduit. The participating agencies are the
District, SCVWD and Pacheco Pass Water District. The project would expand the reservoir from
6,000 to 140,000 acre-feet and deliver water supply, water quality, and ecosystem benefits to the
region. In June 2018, the Board approved a Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) with SCVWD
that outlines the terms for moving forward with the project.

Originally the MOA included 2 major agreements that needed to be completed within two
years of the signing of the agreement, an allocation of benefits agreement and a provisional
operating agreement. In addition, the MOA called for the District to determine within two years its
participation level ranging from 0% - 10%. The date for the allocation of benefits and operating
agreement has been delayed. The District will continue to review its level of participation as the
project moves forward.

in July 2018, the DWR announced that the Pacheco Reservoir Expansion project would
receive the full funding request of $485 million through a Proposition 1 grant naming SCVWD as
grantee. Additional federal and state funding would be pursued as the project moves forward. The
total project cost is currently estimated to be approximately $2.5 billon.

30

-1 Commented [RS2]: Periods and commas are always
inside quotation marks.




ZONE 6 FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Top Ten Customers

The following table shows the top ten customers of the Water System generally (and Zone
6 specifically) for Fiscal Year 2023-24.

Table 1
San Benito County Water District
Top Ten Customers - Fiscal Year 2023-24

{Commented [RS3]: insert space.

% of Total
Zone 6
Total Water| % of Total __ Total Zone 6 % of Zone 6 _ Operating
No. Customer Usage (AF) Water Sales Water Sales Water Sales  Rev
1 Wholesale Providerst! 4,659 24% $6,131,106 40% 39%
2 Taylor Farms 2,754 14% 815,754 5% 5%
3 Fairview Farming 1,001 5% 295,330 2% 2%
4  Sabor Farms 875 5% 258,614 2% 2%
5 Dobler & Sons 762 4% 225,531 1% 1%
6  Topflavor Farms 748 4% 221,787 1% 1%
7  Filice Farms 741 4% 218,478 1% 1%
8  Tonascia Fams 472 2% 138,815 1% 1%
9  San Felipe Farms 415 2% 122,795 1% 1%
10 J/M. Tobias 268 1% 79,326 1% 1%
Top 10 Subtotal 12,696 66% $8,508,535 55% 55%
Total Water Delivered (AF) 19,107
Total Zone 6 Operating Revenue less Groundwater Charges $15,440,472
Groundwater and Qther Charges 156,529
Total Zone 6 Operating Revenue $15,5697,001

(1) Wholesale providers of treated CVP water in Zone 6 are City of Hollister and Sunnyslope County Water District. The District is
in discussions with the City of San Juan Bautista to become a third wholesale provider. See “~ Zone 6 Water Treatment.”
Source: San Benito County Water District.

Water Rates and Charges

Overview. The District uses rates and charges to recover current operating, maintenance
and interest costs related to water service from current users as required of a public enterprise
agency, and as authorized by the voters of Zone 6 on November 8, 1977. This approval included
the ad valorem property tax levied and coliected for the District within Zone 6 described under “-
Property Tax Revenues,” below.

The District Board adopts rates and charges for non-wholesale customers pursuant to the
process required by Proposition 218. See “BOND OWNERS’ RISKS ~ Proposition 218.” Various
components of the water rates charged by the District to its non-wholesale customers in Zone 6
are pass-through costs from other agencies, including SLDMWA and SCVWD.

Zone 6 Water Rate Study (2023). In 2023, Raftelis and Water Resources Economics
jointly delivered their final report entitied, “Zone 6 Water Rate and Capacity Fee Study,” to the
District (the “2023 Water Rate Study”). The 2023 Water Rate Study had the following objectives:

+ Develop financial plans for the water enterprise to ensure financial sufficiency,
meet operation and maintenance (O&M) costs, ensure sufficient funding for capital
needs, and maintain required reserve levels

s Conduct a current cost-of-service analysis that aligns with Proposition 218 and
Proposition 26

31




e Propose water and power rates for water years starting March 1, 2023 through
March 1, 2025

« Develop a capacity fee for new water supply capacity projects

The District approved the recommended rate increase in January 2023. The District's
practice has been to review its rates every three years, with the next update planned for 2026.

Current and Historical Water Rates and Charges. The District has a history of
increasing water rates and charges to meet its operational goals and fund long-term capital
improvements. The following table shows current and historical water rates and charges for Zone
6 customers.

Table 2
San Benito County Water District
Historical Water Rates and Charges

CVP Zone § Water Power Charge by Subgystem Groundwater Recycled Water
Year Ended Standby &  Agricultural M&i
Feb. 28 Avaitability Rate Ratel 2 &H 8L SH Others _ Ag. M&i Ag. Power Charge
Per Acre Per Acre Foot
2018 $8.00 $170.00 $238.00 $41.55 $30.15 $44.35 $94.30 $23.10 $3.95 $2325
2018 8.00 179.00 24700 4275 3105 4570 9715 23.80 495 2425 $18255 $57.70
2017 8.00 272.00 383.00 123.10 7585 10095 162,55 66.05 645 2425 18345 50.45
2018 6.00 191.00 36300 12680 77.90 113.26 167.45 68.05 785 2425 18345 59.45
2019 8.00 209.00 363.00 13060 80.25 11665 17245 7010 1275 3825 18345 59.45
2020 8.00 254.00 404,00 8045 39.30 8815 130.30 33.70 13,15 3940 208.00 80.64
2021 6.00 265.00 41500 8285 4045 90.80 13420 34.75 13.55 4055 210.00 61.85
2022 8.00 274.00 42400 8535 4180 93.56 138.25 3575 13.55 40.55 211.00 63.09
2023 6.00 274.00 42400 8535 41.50 ©3.55 138.25 38.76 13.75 1375 28470 101.10
2024 8.00 294.00 753.00 4020 4020 9400 94.00 4020 1403 1403 300.59 104.85
2025 8.00 300.00 81500 4160 4160 97.30 97.30 4180 14.00 1400 300.00 104 .60
2026 6.00 308.00 873.00 43.10 43.10 10070 100.70 4310 1430 1430 306.00 108.30

{1) M&l rate inciudes water reliability charge of $100/acre foot for 2024, $175/acre foot for 2025 and $250/acre foot for 2026.
Source; San Benito County Water District.

Description of Certain Rates and Charges

Standby & Availability Charge (per-acre land charge). The Standby & Availability charge
is applicable only to parcels of land that receive, or are eligible to receive, water service from the
San Felipe Distribution System either by direct delivery or by special agreement and is based on
the fact that water is available to those particular parcels of land. The District Act authorizes the
District to set an annual Standby & Availability charge, by resolution, on or before the first day of
July in any calendar year, up to a maximum of $10.00 per acre per year. Currently, the District
levies $6.00 per acre per year.

Agricuitural and M&! Water Charges (per acre-foot water rate). The basis for the water
charges are the operations and maintenance costs associated with the delivery of Zone 6 water
to agricultural and M8\ customers. These costs include the District's share of the operations and
maintenance costs for the CVP, the SLDMWA (which operates a portion of the CVP under
contract with USBRY), the Reach 1 facility maintained by the SCVWD as well as the District's own
operation and maintenance costs. Also included are interest costs related to water service from
the CVP.

Recycled Water Charges (per acre-foot water rate). As described elsewhere, certain
parcels int eh District’s service area receive recycled water from the City of Hollister's water
reclamation facility, for which they pay a per acre-foot rate of $306.00, consistent with the cost
per acre-foot for CVP Zone 6 water.

32



Groundwater Extraction Charges. The District does not have any groundwater wells of its
own and does not pump any groundwater. However, the District does charge customers with
groundwater wells within Zone 6 an extraction charge of $14.31 per acre-foot. The groundwater
charge is based on the costs reasonably borne by the District in providing the water supply service
in the period of charge. The amount charged for groundwater pumped from wells is largely based
on amounts well-owners self-report to the District.

Power Charges. The basis for the power charge is the cost of pumping, transmission and
distribution of power associated with delivery of water to customers. These costs include pumping
associated with the USBR pumping facilities, District pumping stations for specific subsystems,
and power costs associated with San Justo Reservoir and the San Felipe Distribution system.
The District has consolidated the power charge into the outside subsystem 9 and those within
subsystem 9. Subsystem 9 is unique due to additional pumping requirements. The rates are
based on the cost-of-service rates. If the pass-through portion of the power charges increases,
these charges are subject to those pass-throughs.

Regulatory Overuse Charge. Although not shown in the table, water used over the
allocation(s) will be billed the regulatory overuse charge. This regulatory charge is to encourage
conservation and discourage overuse, and is the current spot market rate, with a maximum of
$2,000 per acre foot. This Regulatory Overuse Charge is subject to change based on water
supply.

Water Reliability Charge. Effective March 1, 2023, M&! customers have been paying a
new water supply-reliability charge. This charge is designed to recover costs associated with
enhancing reliability of the water supply for M&! customers (although the pledge of revenues for
the 2025 Bonds is from aii Zone 6 revenues).

Water Capacity Fee. The District anticipates imposing a connection fee of $12,265 per
connection.

Water Billing and Collections

The District generates [monthily/bi-monthly/annual] bills for water charges due from non-
wholesale customers. Wholesale customers are billed monthly. Historic delinquencies are
typically less than 1%, and water delivery contracts require current account status.

Property taxes are collected by the County on the property tax roll, as described below
under “~ Property Tax Revenues.”

Property Tax Revenues

Portion of County-Wide 1% Levy. The District receives a portion of the County-wide 1%
ad valorem property tax levy. The property tax collected on behalf of the District is limited to a
maximum total levy, which is adjusted annually based on a cost of living factor and a population
factor in accordance with Article XIliB of the California Constitution.

Additional Land Tax Levy. In addition, the District levies a land tax equal to $0.25 per
$100.00 of assessed land value for all parcels within Zone 6 to pay for the construction, operating,
maintenance and capital repayment of the distribution system and the District's share of the San
Felipe Division and San Felipe Distribution System Facilities. This tax is collected for the District
by the County.

Standby & Availability Charge. As described above, the District currently levies and

collects a standby & availability charge of $6.00 per acre per year on parcels of land that receive,
or are eligible to receive, water service from the San Felipe Distribution System.

33



Historical Assessed Valuations. The following table sets forth the historical assessed

values for taxable property in the District for the fiscal years shown.

Fiscal
Year
2015-16
2016-17
2017-18
2018-19
2019-20
2020-21
2021-22
2022-23
2023-24
2024-25

Land

$2,801,976,780
not available
3,258,5623,279
not available
3,769,737,673
3,999,458,409
4,227,507,994
4,647,249,621
5,008,893,648
5,240,602,522

Source: California Municipal Statistics.

Table 3

San Benito County Water District
Historical Assessed Valuations

Past Five Fiscal Years

improvements

$3,741,098,753
not available
4,283,733,193
not available
5,064,044,453
5,456,984,022
5,868,643,649
6,560,062,351
7.129,630,111
7,649,453,880

Personal
Property
$234,063,229
not available
293,875,731
not available
282,332,068
286,645,334
279,311,182
338,223,301
369,466,331
429,731,109

34

Total
$6,777,138,762
7,272,366,138
7.836,132,203
8,428,900,747
9,116,114,184
9,743,087,765
10,375,462,825
11,545,535,273
12,507,990,090
13,319,787,511

Percentage

Change
7.3%
7.7%
7.5%
8.1%
6.8%
6.5%
11.3%
8.3%
6.5%



Largest Local Secured Property Taxpayers. The following table shows the largest
property taxpayers within the District for Fiscal Year 2024-25.

Table 4
San Benito County Water District
Largest Local Secured Taxpayers
Fiscal Year 2024-25

2024-25 % of

Property Owner Primary Land Use Assessed Valuation Total ()

1.  Granite Rock Co. Industrial $151,510,170 1.20%
2. ET Hollister LLC Warehouse/Distribution 84,389,965 0.87
3. San Juan Oaks Owner LLC Golf Course/Residential 80,478,776 0.64
4.  Duke Realty Hollister LP Warehouse/Distribution 66,425,141 0.53
5. 1721 San Juan Highway LLC Industrial 61,864,711 0.49
6. K& S Market Iinc. Shopping Center 45,270,336 0.36
7. McCormick Selph Inc. Industrial 41,305,822 0.33
8. KB Home South Bay Inc. Agricultural 39,125,682 0.31
9.  AGNL Salad LP industrial 34,751,575 0.28
10.  Stone Canyon Ranch LLC Agricultural 34,342,702 0.27
11.  STAG CA Holdings LP Industrial 30,702,204 0.24
12.  Rosati-Hollister LP Agricultural 27,192,510 0.22
13.  The Wine Group LLC Agricultural 25,015,413 0.20
14.  Northwest Packing Co Industrial 21,522,355 0.17
15.  RCT Land Company LP Agricultural 21,373,747 0.17
16.  Asks Group LLC Shopping Center 20,782,497 0.16
17. 9351 Fairview LLC Agricultural 20,479,599 0.16
18.  Bradford Way LLC Office Building 20,355,581 0.16
19.  Doodlebug Ranches LLC Agricultural 20,256,869 0.16
20. KMG Electronic Chemicals Inc. Industrial 18,131,186 0.14

Top 20 Subtotal $865,276,841 6.87%

(1) 2024-25 Local Secured Assessed Valuation: $12,599,876,718.
Source: California Municipal Statistics.

35



Principal Land Taxpayers (Zone 6). The following table shows the principal land
taxpayers within Zone 6 only for Fiscal Year 2024-25.

Table 5
San Benito County Water District
Principal Land Taxpayers (Zone 6)
Fiscal Year 2024-25

Assessed Land % of Total Assessed

Taxpayer Valuation Land Value

1 San Juan Oaks LLC $40,645,815 1.01%

2 KB Homes South Bay Inc 34,844,743 0.86

3 ET Hollister LLC 25,500,000 0.63

4 Duke Reaity Hollister L.P 25,218,276 0.63

5 Rosati-Hollister LP 19,888,572 0.49

6 Lennar Homes of CA LLC 19,207,556 0.48

7 Dobler Ranches LP a Calif Lid Part 15,551,874 0.39

8 Hollister 173 LP 15,376,255 0.38

9 Century Communities of CA LLC 14,913,542 0.37

10  Property Reserve Inc 14,370,590 0.36
Top 10 Subtotal $225,517,223 5.59%
Total AV for Zone 6 Land Taxpayers $4,034,778,280

Saurce: San Benito County Assessor’s Office.

Property Tax Limitations; Article XIlIA of the California Constitution. California
voters, on June 6, 1978, approved an amendment (commonly known as both Proposition 13 and
the Jarvis-Gann Initiative) to the California Constitution. This amendment, which added Article
XIlIA to the California Constitution, among other things, affects the valuation of real property for
the purpose of taxation in that it defines the full cash value of property to mean “the county
assessor's valuation of real property as shown on the 1975/76 tax bill under full cash value, or
thereafter, the appraised value of real property when purchased, newly constructed, or a change
in ownership has occurred after the 1975 assessment.” The full cash value may be adjusted
annually to reflect inflation at a rate not to exceed 2% per year, or any reduction in the consumer
price index or comparable local data, or any reduction in the event of declining property value
caused by damage, destruction, or other factors. The amendment further limits the amount of
any ad valorem tax on rea!l property to 1% of the full cash value except that additional taxes may
be levied to pay debt service on indebtedness approved by the voters prior to July 1, 1978. In
addition, an amendment to Article XIlIA was adopted in June 1986 by initiative which exempts
any bonded indebtedness approved by two-thirds of the votes cast by voters for the acquisition
or improvement of real property from the 1% limitation.

Classifications of Property. In California, property which is subject to ad valorem taxes
is classified as “secured” or “unsecured.” Secured and unsecured properties are entered on
separate parts of the assessment roll maintained by the county assessor. The secured
classification includes property on which any property tax levied by the County becomes a lien on
that property sufficient, in the opinion of the county assessor, to secure payment of the taxes.
Every tax which becomes a lien on secured property has priority over all other liens on the secured
property, regardless of the time of the creation of other liens. A tax levied on unsecured property
does not become a fien against the taxes on unsecured property, but may become a lien on
certain other property owned by the taxpayer.

The method of coliecting delinquent taxes is substantially different for the two
classifications of property. The taxing authority has four ways of collecting unsecured property
taxes in the absence of timely payment by the taxpayer: (1) a civil action against the taxpayer; (2)
filing a certificate in the office of the county clerk specifying certain facts an order to obtain a

36



judgment lien on certain property of the taxpayer; (3) filing a certificate of delinquency for record
in the county recorder’s office, in order to obtain a lien on certain property of the taxpayer; and (4)
seizure and sale of the personal property, improvements or possessory interests belonging or
assessed to the assessee. The exclusive means of enforcing the payment of delinquent taxes
with respect to property on the secured roll is the sale of property securing the taxes to the State
for the amount of taxes which are delinquent. A 10% penaity also applies to delinquent taxes on
property on the unsecured roli, and further, an additional penalty of 1 2% per month accrues with
respect to such taxes beginning the first day of the third month following the delinquency date.

The valuation of property is determined as of January 1 each year and equal installments
of taxes levied upon secured property become delinquent on the foliowing December 10 and April
10. Taxes on unsecured property are due August 1 and become delinquent August 31.

Unitary Property. Commencing in fiscal year 1988-89, the Revenue and Taxation Code
of the State of California changed the method of allocating property tax revenues derived from
State assessed utility properties. it provides for the distribution of State assessed values to tax
rate areas by a County-wide mathematical formula rather than assignment of State assessed
value according to the location of those values in individual tax rate areas. The assessed value
of all unitary property in the County has been assigned to this tax rate area and one tax rate is
levied against all such property (“Unitary Revenues”).

The property tax revenue derived from the assessed value assigned to the County-wide
tax rate area shall be allocated as follows: (1) each jurisdiction wili be allocated up to 2% of the
increase in Unitary Revenues on a pro rata basis county-wide; and (2) any decrease in Unitary
Revenues or increases less than 2%, or any increase in Unitary Revenues above 2% will be
allocated among jurisdictions in the same proportion of each jurisdiction’s Unitary Revenues
received in the prior year to the total Unitary Revenues county-wide. However, Counties must
also transfer certain railroad properties into a countywide tax rate area from their existing tax rate
area. Taxes on these properties are now distributed in a manner similar to other unitary properties,
except that redevelopment agencies no longer share in the distribution.

Assessment Appeals. An assessee of locally assessed or State-assessed property may
contest the taxable value enrolled by the county assessor or by the State Board of Equalization
("SBE"), respectively. The assessee of SBE-assessed property or locally-assessed personal
property, the valuation of which is subject to annual reappraisal, actually contests the
determination of the full cash value of property when filing an assessment appeal. Because of
the limitations to the determination of the full cash value of locally assessed real property by Article
XA, an assessee of locally assessed real property generally contests the original determination
of the base assessment value of the parcel, i.e. the value assigned after a change of ownership
or completion of new construction. In addition, the assessee of locally assessed real property
may contest the current assessment value (the base assessment value plus the compounded
annual inflation factor) when specified conditions have caused the full cash value to drop below
the current assessment value.

At the time of reassessment, after a change of ownership or completion of new
construction, the assessee may appeal the base assessment value of the property. Under an
appeal of a base assessment value, the assessee appeals the actual underlying market vaiue of
the sale transaction or the recently completed improvement. A base assessment appeal has
significant future revenue impact because a reduced base year assessment will then reduce the
compounded value of the property prospectively. Except for the 2% inflation factor allowable
under Article XiliA, the value of the property cannot be increased until a change of ownership
occurs or additional improvements are added.

37



Under Section 51(b) of the Revenue and Taxation Code, the assessor may place a value
on the tax roll lower than the compounded base assessment value if the full cash value of real
property has been reduced by damage, destruction, depreciation, obsolescence, removal of
property or other factors causing a decline in the value. Reductions in value under Section 51(b),
commonly referred to as Proposition 8 reductions, can be achieved either by formal appeal or
administratively by assessor staff appraising the property. A reduced full cash value placed on
the tax roll does not change the base assessment value. The future impact of a parcel subject to
a Proposition 8 appeal is dependent upon a change in the conditions which caused the drop in
value. In fiscal years following a successful Proposition 8 appeal, the assessor may determine
that the value of the property has increased as a result of corrective actions or improved market
conditions and enroll a value on the tax roll up to the parcel's compounded base assessment
value. Additionally, successful appeals regarding property on the unsecured rolls does not
necessarily affect the valuation of such property in any succeeding fiscal year. Utility companies
and railroads may contest the taxable value of utility property to the SBE. Generally, the impact
of utility appeals is on the State-wide value of a utility determined by SBE. The actual valuation
impact to the District from successful assessment appeals will occur on the assessment roll
prepared after the actual valuation reduction.

Teeter Plan

Teeter Plan. The Board of Supervisors of San Benito County has adopted the “Alternative
Method of Distribution of Tax Levies and Collections and of Tax Sale Proceeds” (the “Teeter
Plan™), as provided for in Section 4701 et seq. of the California Revenue and Taxation Code. The
Teeter Plan provides for the allocation and distribution of property tax levies and collections and
of tax sale proceeds. Under this method, the County pays the District 100% of property tax due
to the District and retains any penalities or delinquencies collected to offset such gross payment.
There can be no assurance that the County will not discontinue the Teeter Plan or remove the
District, or the property tax payable to the District, from the Teeter Plan in the future.

Historical Delinquencies. The following table shows the delinquency information that is
available for the District for the fiscal years shown.

Table 6
San Benito County Water District
Secured Tax Charges and Delinquencies
Past Five Fiscal Years

Fiscal Secured Tax Amt. Del. % Del.
Year Charge®” June 30 June 30
2018-19 $102,493,243 $1,162,398 1.13%
2019-20 111,956,100 1,602,582 1.43
2020-21 122,221,751 1,775,741 1.45
2021-22 130,659,822 1,158,881 0.89
2022-23 143,514,052 1,432,158 1.00

(1) All property taxes collected by the County.
Source: California State Controller's Office.

Financial Policies
Investment Policy. The District is permitted by both Board policy and State law to invest

in various authorized investments, subject to a variety of limits and controls, including State of
California bonds, U.S. Government Agency securities (Treasury and other federal agencies) and

38



other securities (bankers’ acceptances, negotiable certificates of deposit, etc.). The District
investment portfolio is primarily comprised of holdings in Federal agency securities.

Reserve Policy and Amounts. The Board of Directors of the District manages its
reserves in order to anticipate and prepare for future funding requirements as well as unforeseen
and unexpected emergencies, disasters, and other events. As of June 30, 2024, the District's
various reserves were shown in the following combined categories: O&M reserve of $4.63 million
(equal to 28% of Fiscal Year 2023-24 operating expenditures), OPEB Trust reserve of $1.1
million, contract replacement reserve of $5.0 million, and revolving fund reserve of $75,000.

Additional details about the various reserves held by the District for various purposes

follows.

Name of Restricted
Net Asset/Cash

Source Of Restriction

Purpose

District Revolving Fund

San Benito County Water Conservation and Flood
Controf District Act (Section 70-7.1(a))

To provide funds which may be used
for emergencies and to pay costs
necessary for the establishment of a
zone within the District.

San Felipe-Hollister
Conduit Reserve

USBR Contract Central Valley Project-Contract
Between the United States and the San Benito
County Water Conservation and Flood Control
District for Water Service and for Operation and
maintenance of Certain Works of the San Felipe
Division (Contract #8-07-20-W0130)

To meet unforeseen extraordinary
costs and emergencies.

San Felipe-Reach 1
Reserve

USBR San Felipe Division-Contract for the
Transfer of the Operation and Maintenance of
Certain San Felipe Division Facilities (Contract # 6-
07-20-X0290): United States, Santa Clara Vailey
Water District, and San Benito County Water
Conservation and Flood

To meet operations and
maintenance costs incurred during
period of special stress and
extraordinary repair or replacement
costs associated with Reach 1.

USBR Contract
Repayment and Rate
Management Reserve

Agreement Between Santa Clara Vailey Water
District and San Benito County Water District for
Repayment and Management of San Felipe
Division Facilities.

Funds to pay for San Felipe Division
costs, including existing foreseeable
and unforeseeable costs that may
result from catastrophic failure of
San Felipe Division facilities. Funds
from this restricted reserve are to be
used for USBR Amendatory
Contract Repayment. This USBR
Contract Repayment and Rate
Management Reserve is intended to
provide funds to make interest and
principal payments on the
Amendatory contract in an effort to
minimize the impact of the
repayment schedule on water rates
and taxes.

Reach 1 Major Repair
and Replacement

Agreement Between Santa Clara Valley Water
District and San Benito County Water District for

To provide funds for major repair
and replacement associated with

Treatment Plants-Asset
Replacement Reserve

Agreement: Article 6.3(a)(4)

Reserve Repayment and Management of San Felipe Reach 1.
Division Facilities.
Reserved for Water Hollister Urban Area Water Supply and Treatment | To provide funds for capital

replacement of assets of the Water
Supply and Treatment Program, and
funds so expended will be replaced
through subsequent contributions.

Reserve for Other Post-
Employment Benefits
(OPERB) Trust

CERBT Trust Account

To provide restricted funds for
retiree future medical payments.

39




Debt Management Policy. The District adopted a debt management policy which
outlines the purposes for which debt may be issued, methods of financing, and the acceptable
structure and term of debt obligations.

Budget Policies. Although the District is not required to adopt a budget, it does sO
annually to outline the major elements of the forthcoming year's operating and capital plans and
to allocate funding required for those purposes. The District’'s Board of Directors annually adopts
a capital and an operating budget for the ensuing fiscal year effective July 1 as a financial plan
for the year. The budget is adopted py the governing Board as an operating plan. A quarterly
financial report is reviewed by the Board Finance Committee and reported to the Board of
Directors.

The District experiences wide fluctuations in expenses from year to year depending on its
annual source of supply. In wet years, the District purchases and imports water to meet its annual
needs and additional water to store in its underground aquifers. In dry years, the District
purchases minimal water, but pays substantially higher power costs. Also in dry years, the District
will purchase transfer water from other Districts with available water. Transfer water comes with
a higher cost.

Accounting Principles

General. The District uses the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis
of accounting, in conformity with the uniform system of accounts prescribed for water districts by
the Controller of the State of California. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses
are recorded when the liability is incurred regardless of the timing of cash payments or receipts.

When the District has poth unrestricted and restricted resources available for District
purposes, it is the District's practice to first expend restricted resources, subsequently utilizing
unrestricted resources as needed.

The District utilizes a proprietary enterprise fund category to account for its activities.
Enterprise funds are used to account for operations: (a) that are financed and operated ina
manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the governing body is that the
costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on
a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; of (b) where the
governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred,
and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control,
accountability or other purposes. All assets and liabilities associated with an enterprise fund’s
activities are included in its statements of net position.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a
proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the District
are water sales and service revenues charged to water users. Operating expenses for enterprise
funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital
assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating
revenues and expenses.

Accounts Receivable and Delinquencies. Trade accounts receivable are stated at the
amount management expects to collect from balances outstanding at year-end. Charges o water
users for contract water sales that are uncollected as of the end of each year are considered
delinquent. Consistent with established policy and California Water Code, the District can initiate
statutory proceedings to obtain a certificate of sale for accounts considered delinquent which are

represented by liens on the respective property. An allowance for delinquent accounts has been

40



set up as of $62,174 for 2024, $53,956 for 2023 and $51,787 for 2022. The allowance for
delinquency provision for general administrative and general project service charges is based on
a percentage of assessments levied. The percentage is determined annually by the Board of
Directors.

Revenue Recognition. Income is derived primarily from the sale of water and the levy of
general administrative and general project service charges as determined annually by the Board
of Directors. Revenue from the sale of water is recognized on the accrual basis as water is
delivered. General administrative and general project service charges are established and levied
by the Board of Directors for the period July 1 through June 30 of the following year. These service
charges are reported as income to the District in July of the year levied. The general service
charges are billed to the landowners on their county property tax statements.

The District has entered into groundwater banking relationships with banking partners,
which are water districts located in California. Revenue for banking is recognized in the period
when annual fees are billed and when water is stored or returned for each respective banking
partner.

Historical and Projected Revenues, Expenses and Debt Service Coverage
The following table inciudes historical revenues, expenses and debt service coverage for

Zone 6 for Fiscal Years 2019-20 through 2023-24, and projected revenues, expenses and debt
service coverage for Zone 6 for Fiscal Years 2024-25 through 2028-29.

41



44

(afied XBN UD MO0 SSJ0UI00 )

sL'¢ sL'¢ oL 85’9 cLpL 8Z'LL Zi'0l WL §2°02 96'61
6.6'Z¥8'ES 899'Z¥8'CS  GLI'BES'ES  Z6Z'Tvi'Ts  §69'7e6$ 8122¢6$ yEG2e68  LVE'vI6S LLL'Eovs Lii'covs
[P [ e 0 0 0 0 0 0 (¢ ()

§29'016'C G/8'606'C G21'906'C ave'olT't 0 0 0 ] 0 0

15¥'922 692922 900'922 299522 862'922 £L1'522 Lze'9ze 2€6'622 0 0

981292 LOV'EVT 198°2¥2 91'epT 1ze'erz BZE'EYE 061'€¥Z 862'682 0 0

Lii'covs L1L'Eovs LL1'E9vS LHL'eovs LLL'e9v8 L11'€ors LIV'EorS  LiL'egvd LiL'E9vs LLL'E9YS
199°185°V1$  BLZ'60§°VLS  LSSZEP'PIS  ZTSS'PEO'VIS  ZPO'LCl'El$  €ELTIL'OLS  sse'scv'ed 801'725°$ 18¢'265°6% 191°zve'es
¥¥5'688'G1L £6¥'ELY'GL 296'L0'SE 104 'vP9'y) 851’892 v1 9yZ'96Y'€l  086'120'11$  G66'L1Z'118  600'€/Z'ZV$ 131'262'2L8
600°000°S) (000°000°5) 600°000'9) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

G09'v86'9 S09'v86'9 G09'¥86'9 2GL'TP6'L TGLTYe'L G5L'TYe’L 261206t 2GL'eve’L 261'TYe') 261°296'L
(LLL'v62'Y) (eps'ebl'y)  (0zZ'e00')  (cvo'eis'e)  (os9'zwl'e)  {(GL0'00L'¢)  (Zze'eis'e)  (LL6'iov'e) ($£0'020'€) (gey'vye'e)
0$ 0$ 0$ 0$ 0$ (8e9'vi8)s  (22g'0ie’2)s  Z92'608'28 0$ 0$

G1.'g61 81 1EP'8E9'LL 115'860'L1 865'6L5°91 166'890'91 108'PL0'0L  2LT'EL6'YL 96v'898'68  16S'00F'EI$  050'GEZ'ElS
199°69EG 0ZZ¥81'G 806'800'S GZ5'6e8Y 698°G/9Y SPLLISY 161082y viy'8Z0Y 0ZV'SE6 € LI1'6GY'E
680'68. S0v'29L €29'9¢L eLL L 9v9'289 26€¥99 809'vPEY 1EEGLY cLE'Yhy 8.6'95
6£2°961'9 £80'900'9 165'668'S 089'0LL'S 8¥2'LLS'S 8IZIPY'S  29L'009'¢ 626'12L'E ri'ezs'e 716'92L'E
95'688'2 L1612 86€'169'C £21'909'2 ¥66°L16°C ®/Y LIPS 09L°28LY (zes'ssL) L04'882°2 986'€8L'Z
$92'666'2 616'€68'2 1119642 185'10L°2 002'019'2 196'€02'2 165'6L8'} 069'86¥'Z8  6¥8'HOT'ES GE6'19€°e$
¥O¥' L9%'0 112°286'62  €15°906'67  669'8£4'87  00G'S00'8Z  6/6'809'6Z  596'99%'0Z £0L'OVL'8LS  06E0.0°12$  8/8'vES'LES
000’602 000'602 000'60¢ 000°60¢ 000°602 G0 GEC ¥62 942 Wiz 2€6'60¢ 898 812
000'000'2 0000602 000°000'2 000°00L'4 005'9zZY'L 186'9¢2'7  ¥0G'65L'L 9L6'001 $82'662 81858
8191201 ¥0L'G6L'EL 002'5Z5'eL 000'09Z'¢h 000'000°€L 982'6€5° L 089'0S0°LL £86'209'6 LYS'vi6'8 gro'viv'e
981'981'v) Loo'es6'el CLETLLEL  659'695°EL 000'0LE'€L L00'L6G'GL  [8¥'0p0'8S IGY'p28'8s 929061718 OLG'E8 LIS

62-8202. 82-120C 17-9202 9Z-520¢ onSZ-P202 yZ-£202 €2-2202 Z2-120C 12-0202 0Z-610Z
pajsaloid peiewinsy palipny
/peyobpng

(p.bayi x0z°1) aBeionoD adAleg JqeQ

#O0IAISS 148( felo L
LSpeloig Aiddng aunmng
»Spuog 6202
suonebiqo Buipunjey 1202
suonebiqo sjgexe 10T
juawsalby g10Z

19eQ Aied

sanuanay 19N

sasuadxy BupeledQ elo)
(@SUoNGUIUeD
SAIBSEY HESN JouisIq 1sse
@9SBURING SWBRY Jo1BA HESN SNid
(UoneZIIoWY pue uohesidaq $587
B0y
(ueD) 1507 UOISUA GSYD) 15597
wySiusunsnipy asuadxy

sesuadxy BugeisdQ ssoi
@xpSosuadxy Bunessdo U0
@sesuadx3 AN
(@SOS 1ORAUOD
@SWsuag pue floiked
©191BM J0 150D

:sasuadxy Bupeisd

SONUBASY SS0ID) 1Bj0 4
anuanay JayQ
SBNUBAIY ISBULY
(©SIUBLISSISSY PUB SOXE]
(@enusAey Buesadp

) (SINUBATY SSOID)

(peyoeloiq/parebpng) 6Z-8Z0Z ~ S2-YZ0Z SIE3A [€9SI4 pue (S|enjov) ¥Z-6Z0Z — 0Z0Z-6107 SIEaA Jedsld
asbelonos 991198 Jg8(] pue sasuadxy ‘sanuaiay pajsafoid pue [eolI0ISIH

191381 J8je M AJuno) ojluag ueg

Z9jqe}



24

'SHOADY JRIDURUI BAISUBYSIGWIOY [enuuY pue JOWSK] 841 82inos
‘pauniLelep oq 01 }oA Sey aiMOns pue unowe Buiul au3 Ing ‘1gep aimn) Bunejdwialuod st owsig syl (L)
*S8J0UJC0} BSBU) Ul PHIOU ISMIBYI0 ssajun Jabpng sy} uo pased (01)

"JUNC20. SIY} 0} SAAIFSAS BURNQUIUOD anuyuod 0} sueld pue Z-9Z0Z Ad Wl BuluuiBag s1S00 aseyong

S1uB Jo1BM HESN 0 Allenuue uoliw 6§ Ajplewxoidde Joj Aed 0} SoAIBSI JO UOIIILU GES BPISE Jas 1oUISIC 8y L "980Z ‘L Ainp ybnouy) pusie syuswiied aseyosnd siybu Jeiem HESN
‘uoneaidep pue ‘sapessiupe pue jeieuab ‘Juswdinbe puk jeuajewWw SBPNOU}

$ISBAIOU enuUR %G ¢ JWhSSE suondaloid

‘S3SRAIOUI [BRUUR %G'Z dWnsse suonoafoid

“101RJ3d0 9L} 0} ¥oBY S{GESINGILIR) SU8 UOIUYM SISOD [BOILBYD U asu 0} anp Ajabie} ‘uotiw G 1 $ Af Ixosdde jo sueld Jusuneas sjesado 0 s1S00 PasEaIOU| 0) 8NP PZ-£20Z A Ul @s88I0U)
‘sjusunsnipe GSYO 0 10U )00 YZ-£Z0Z Ad U0 paseq seseasou

fenuue 9,G'¢ SWNSSE SUORDSold "MORq INC Palisu ale SBLUD gSYD ysea-uou asay] sbujwes oopiod SHTIdIED U0 Paseq suogemany [enuue Ul Insas Aqel Sy3dieD sousig syl

o} sjuaunsnipe yses-uou painbal-ggvo “(suonebiqo enusaay ajqexe] L Z0Z Sauss) Algey paniooe papunjun SyAdied ) Bukedaid 1ouisiqQ syl Jo INSa € SBM Z2-120Z Ad Ul uohonpay
‘S@seaoUl [BNULR %G ¢ dLUNSSe suopoafold

“JoBpng sy} Lo pPaseq Jou pue SIBWINSS JUBLIND B S GZ-FZ0Z Ad €207 UJB 11UN £2-220Z Ad Ul Jajem Buiseyoind Le)s Jou pIp pue ZZ-1Z70Z Ad Ul Jejem aseyoind Jou pip PUISIA aul
1oBpnq sy} UO PaSEq J0U pue GZHZ AJBNUBT JO SB SUORDS(I0D XB) [BNIOR L POSE] JJRWASS UB S1 JUNOWE §Z-¥Z0Z A4 "SASBaioul {BNUUR %07 SWNSSE suoydeiold

'j00} aJoe sad ZgL$

10 seBieys Aiqene) sojem pexy snid Aenuue %6 | Aq ssesiour ‘ebieyo Allgelal Jajem Jo Jau ‘sanuanas Bueiedo swnsse suonosiold 'sojes Jajem jeak 1M SIoB|IRl 9SBRIOU YT-€Z07 A
-sasuadxe jeydes pue ‘sanusAsl JuesB ("0}o ‘sjusugsnipe anjea JoxJew Jigj ‘sususnipe gevo ‘uoneosidep “o°1) Saujue YSBO-UOU SBpNIoX3

abueys 0} Jo8lgns Arewuwiaid

(6)
(8)
62}

(9)

(g

()
(€)

@)
(1)




BOND OWNERS' RISKS

The following describes certain special considerations and risk factors affecting the
payment of and security for the 2025 Bonds. The following discussion is not meant to be an
exhaustive list of the risks associated with the purchase of any 2025 Bonds and the order
presented does not necessarily refiect the relative importance of the various risks. Potential
investors in the 2025 Bonds are advised to consider the following special factors along with all
other information in this Official Statement in evaluating the 2025 Bonds. There can be no
assurance that other considerations will not materialize in the future.

Water System Demand

There can be no assurance that the demand for water services will occur as described in
this Official Statement. Reduction in levels of demand could require an increase in rates or
charges of the District to comply with the covenants to fix rates and charges. Increases in rate
and charges for non-wholesale customers requires compliance with Proposition 218.

Water System Supply; Droughts

California is subject to droughts from time-to-time. Since 2000, the longest duration of
drought (in varying levels of intensity) in California lasted 376 weeks beginning in December 2011
and ending in early March 2019. The most intense period of drought occurred the week of July
29, 2014, with extreme drought conditions experienced in over half the state. On April 1, 2015,
for the first time in California’s history, Governor Edmund G. Brown directed the State Water
Resources Control Board to implement mandatory water reductions in cities and towns across
California to reduce water usage by 25%. After a few wet years which alleviated drought
conditions, California was once again declared to be in a drought following a dry 2021-22 winter.

The District’s water supply allotment from the federal Central Valley Project varies from
year to year. In some past years, the District's allocation of CVP water has been dramatically
reduced. More recently, wet hydrologic conditions during the 2023 water year left CVP reservoirs
in good condition, allowing full allocations of CVP water for the 2024 water year. On February
26, 2025, USBR announce allocations of 35% of the District’s agricultural contract amount and
75% of its M&l contract amount.

No assurance can be given that drought conditions and CVP allocation curtailments will
not again occur in the future. See also “~Natural Disasters” and “~ Potential Impact of Climate
Change” below.

Revenues; Rate Covenant

The Revenues securing the 2025 Bonds consist primarily of Instaliment Payments payable
by the District, which, in turn, are secured by the Net Revenues of Zone 6. Net Revenues are
dependent upon the demand for water usage, which can be affected by population factors and
climactic conditions such as droughts. There can be no assurance that demand for water usage
will be consistent with the levels contemplated in this Official Statement. A decrease in the
demand for water could require an increase in rates or charges in order fo comply with the rate
covenants contained in the Installment Sale Agreement. The District’s ability to meet its rate
covenants is dependent upon its capacity to increase rates without driving down demand to a
leve! insufficient to meet debt service on the Installment Payments and Parity Obligations.

44



Operations and Maintenance Costs; Third-Party Sources of Water Supply

There can be no assurance that expenses of Zone 6 will be consistent with the levels
contemplated in this Official Statement. In particular, the District currently obtains a portion of its
potable water during dry years from transfer agencies, and therefore the District may have less
control over the expenses attributable to its water supply than if the District directly controlied its
water. The wholesale rates for water charged by these third party transfer agencies are not
passed-through to customers of Zone 6, rather they are incorporated into the rates and charges
that the District must establish in order to operate Zone 6 and to pay debt service on Zone 6s
long-term obligations, including the 2025 Bonds.

In addition to its purchased water expenses, changes in technology, changes in quality
standards, and increases in the cost of operation or other expenses could require substantial
increases in rates or charges in order to comply with the rate covenants in the Instaliment Sale
Agreement. Until such rates can be implemented, Net Revenues may be reduced, increasing the
possibility of nonpayment of the Installment Payments and, in turn, the 2025 Bonds.

Limitations on Remedies Available to Bond Owners

The ability of the District to comply with its covenants under the Installment Sale
Agreement and to generate Net Revenues sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the
Instaliment Payments and Parity Obligation may be adversely affected by actions and events
outside of the control of the District, and may be adversely affected by actions taken (or not taken)
by voters, property owners, taxpayers or payers of assessments, fees and charges. Furthermore,
any remedies available to the owners of the 2025 Bonds upon the occurrence of an event of
default under the indenture are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions, which are often
subject to discretion and delay and could prove both expensive and time consuming to obtain.

In addition to the limitations on Bondholder remedies contained in the Indenture, the rights
and obligations of the Authority under the Indenture may be subject to the following: the United
States Bankruptcy Code and applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or
similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, now or hereafter
in effect; usual equity principles which may limit the specific enforcement under State law of
certain remedies; the exercise by the United States of America of the powers delegated to it by
the Federal Constitution; and the reasonable and necessary exercise, in certain exceptional
situations, of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State and its governmental bodies
in the interest of serving a significant and legitimate public purpose. Bankruptcy proceedings, or
the exercise of powers by the federal or state government, if initiated, could subject the Owners
of the 2025 Bonds to judicial discretion and interpretation of their rights in bankruptcy or otherwise,
and consequently may entail risks of delay, limitation or modification of their rights.

Seismic and other Natural Disasters

General. Natural disasters, such as seismic events, flooding, landslides or wildfires, could
affect economic activity in the District, and could have a negative impact on District finances.
There can be no assurance that the occurrence of any natural calamity would not cause
substantial interference to and costs for the District and Zone 6.

Seismic. The District is located in a seismically active area of California. if there were to
be an occurrence of severe seismic activity in the area of the District, such an occurrence may
adversely affect economic activity in the District, and could have a negative impact on District
finances. The District could be at risk from strong ground motion and secondary effects related
to a seismic event, including ground failure (such as landsiide, liquefaction, lateral spreading,

45



lurching and differential settlement) and seismically induced flooding (such as flooding from a
dam failure).

Wildfires. Although the District is not located within a Fire Hazard Severity Zone as
established by CAL FIRE (hitps://egis.fire.ca.gov/FHSZ), there are areas adjacent to the District
that are open space parklands and more susceptible to wildfires. In addition, many areas of
northern California have suffered from major wildfires in recent years, including numerous
wildfires in northern California in 2020 and in 2021. In addition to their direct impact on health
and safety and property damage in California, the smoke from many of these wildfires has
impacted the quality of life in the Bay Area, and the District and may have short-term and future
impacts on commercial activity in the District. The fires have been driven in large measure by
drought conditions and low humidity. Experts expect that California will continue to be subject to
wildfire conditions year over year as a result of changing weather patterns due to climate change.

Droughts. California is subject to droughts from time-to-time. See “~ Water System
Supply; Droughts,” above.

Climate Change. District finances may be negatively impacted by climate change. See
“~ Potential Impact of Climate Change,” below.

Potential Impact of Climate Change

The issue of climate change has become an important factor in water resources planning
in the State. There is evidence that increasing concentrations of greenhouse gases have caused
and will continue to cause a rise in temperatures around the world, which will result in a wide
range of changes in climate patterns. Moreover, there is evidence that a warming trend occurred
during the latter part of the 20th century and will likely continue through the 21st century. These
changes will have a direct effect on water resources in the State, and numerous studies on climate
and water in the State have been conducted to determine the potential impacts.

Numerous scientific studies on global climate change show that, among other effects on
the global ecosystem, sea levels will rise, extreme temperatures will become more common, and
extreme weather events will become more frequent as a result of increasing global temperatures
attributable to atmospheric pollution. For example, the Fourth National Climate Assessment,
published by the U.S. Global Change Research Program, in November 2018 (NCA4) finds that
more frequent and intense extreme weather and climate-related events, as well as changes in
average climate conditions, are expected to continue to damage infrastructure, ecosystems and
social systems over the next 25 to 100 years.

Loss of Tax-Exemption

As discussed under the caption “TAX MATTERS,” interest on the 2025 Bonds could
become includable in gross income for purposes of federal income taxation retroactive to the date
the 2025 Bonds were issued, as a result of future acts or omissions of the Authority or District in
violation of its covenants in the Instaliment Sale Agreement and Indenture. Should such an event
of taxability occur, the 2025 Bonds are not subject to special redemption and will remain
outstanding until maturity or until redeemed under other provisions set forth in the Indenture.

Proposition 218
General. On November 5, 1996, California voters approved Proposition 218, the so-called
“Right to Vote on Taxes Act.” Proposition 218 added Articles XIlIC and XD to the State

Constitution, which affect the ability of local governments to levy and collect both existing and
future taxes, assessments, and property-related fees and charges. Proposition 218, which

46



generally became effective on November 6, 1996, limited local governments’ authority to impose
or increase property-related “fee” or “charge,” which is defined as "any levy other than an ad
valorem tax, a special tax or an assessment, imposed by a local government upon a parce!l or
upon a person as an incident of property ownership, including user fees or charges for a property
related service” (and referred to in this section as a “property-reiated fee or charge”).

Specifically, under Article XIliD, before a municipality may impose or increase any
property-related fee or charge, the entity must give written notice to the record owner of each
parcel of land affected by that fee or charge. The municipality must then hold a hearing upon the
proposed imposition or increase at least 45 days after the written notice is mailed, and, if a majority
of the property owners of the identified parcels present written protests against the proposal, the
municipality may not impose or increase the property-related fee or charge.

Further, under Article XIIID, revenues derived from a property-related fee or charge may
not exceed the funds required to provide the “property-related service” and the entity may not use
such fee or charge for any purpose other than that for which it imposed the fee or charge. The
amount of a property-related fee or charge may not exceed the proportional cost of the service
attributable to the parcel, and no property-related fee or charge may be imposed for a service
unless that service is actually used by, or is immediately available to, the owner of the property in
guestion.

In addition, Article X!lIC states that “the initiative power shall not be prohibited or otherwise
limited in matters of reducing or repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge. The power
of initiative to affect local taxes, assessments, fees and charges shall be applicable to all local
governments and neither the Legislature nor any local government charter shall impose a
signature requirement higher than that applicable to statewide statutory initiatives.”

Judicial Interpretation of Proposition 218. After Proposition 218 was enacted in 1996,
appellate court cases and an Attorney General's opinion initially indicated that fees and charges
for water and wastewater services, which are based on the amount of services consumed, would
not be considered property-related fees and charges, and thus not subject to the requirements of
Article XI{ID. However, numerous subsequent court cases have held that certain types of water
and wastewater charges could be subject to the requirements of Proposition 218. These cases
include, for example, Capistrano Taxpayers Assoc., Inc. v. District of San Juan Capistrano (186
Cal. Rptr. 3d 362 (Cal. App. 4th Distr. 2015)), Bighom-Desert View Water Agency v. Verjil (46
Cal. Rptr. 3d 73 (Cal. 2006)), and Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assoc. v. District of Fresno (26 Cal.
Rptr. 3d 153 (Cal. App. 5th Distr. 2005)).

Under the Bighorn case, for example, the court held that under Article XIIIC, local voters
could adopt an initiative measure that could reduce or repeal a local agency’s rates and charges,
though it is not clear whether (and California courts have not decided whether) any such reduction
or repeal by initiative would be enforceable in a situation in which such rates and charges are
pledged to the repayment of bonds or other indebtedness, as is the case with respect to the
Instaliment Payments securing the 2025 Bonds.

Under the District of San Juan Capistrano case, the court held that tiered or inclined rates
that go up progressively in relation to usage must correspond to the actual cost of providing water
service at each tier (level of usage), and accordingly the pricing for any tier cannot exceed the
cost of service to that tier.

District’s Current Practice Regarding Rates and Charges. The District's practice in
implementing increases in water rates and charges has been to comply with the requirements of
Article XIlID, including the practice of providing property owners with a 45-day mailed notice and
public hearing before the District Board of Directors approves rate increases.

47



Conclusion. It is not possible to predict how courts will further interpret Article XIlIC and
Article XIID in future judicial decisions, and what, if any, further implementing legislation will be
enacted. As noted above, under the Bighorn case, local voters could adopt an initiative measure
that reduces or repeals the District's rates and charges, though it is not clear whether (and
California courts have not decided whether) any such reduction or repeal by initiative would be
enforceable in a situation in which such rates and charges are pledged to the repayment of bonds
or other indebtedness, as is the case with respect to the Instaliment Payments securing the 2025
Bonds. There can be no assurance that the courts will not further interpret, or the voters
will not amend, Article XIlIC and Article XIIID to limit the ability of local agencies to impose,
levy, charge and collect increased fees and charges for water, or to call into question
previously adopted water rate increases.

Environmental Regulation

The supply of water by the District through the Water System is regulated, to a large
extent, by the federal government and the State. Water treatment standards set forth in federal
and State law control the operations of the Water System (and the wholesale water providers that
supply water to the Water System) and mandate its use of technology. If the federal government,
acting through the Environmental Protection Agency, or the State, acting through the Department
of Health Services, or additional federal or State legislation, should impose stricter standards upon
the Water System, the District’s expenses related to the Water System could increase accordingly
and rates and charges would have to be increased to offset those expenses. See “~Maintenance
and Operation Costs; Third Party Sources of Water Supply” above.”

It is not possible to predict the direction which federal or State regulation will take with
respect to water standards, although it is likely that both will impose more stringent standards with
attendant higher costs.

Pandemic Diseases

In recent years, public health authorities have warned of threats posed by outbreaks of
disease and other public health threats. Pandemic diseases arising in the future could have
significant adverse health and financial impacts throughout the world, leading to loss of jobs and
personal financial hardships, and/or actions by federal, State and local governmental authorities
to contain or mitigate the effects of an outbreak.

Government assistance programs may include deferral of due dates of property taxes and
water rate charges, which were both programs implemented during the recent COVID-19
pandemic, and with or without a deferral some ratepayers within the District may be unable to
make their property tax payments or pay their water bills. No assurance can be given that the
property tax payment dates or water bill payment dates will not be deferred in the future, which
may cause a delay in the receipt of revenues to the District.

Cybersecurity

The District, like most other public entities, relies on computer and other digital networks
and systems to conduct its operations. As a recipient and provider of personal, private or other
sensitive electronic information, the District is potentially subject to multiple cyber threats,
including without limitation hacking, viruses, ransomware, malware and other attacks. The District
maintains insurance coverage for loss resulting from cyber security incidents, however no
assurance can be given that the District's efforts to manage cyber threats and attacks will be
successful in all cases, or that any such attack will not materially impact the operations or finances
of the District, or the administration of the 2025 Bonds.

48



The District is also reliant on other entities and service providers in connection with the
operation of the Water System and the administration of the 2025 Bonds, including without
limitation, the District’'s wholesale water provider, the Trustee and the dissemination agent. No
assurance can be given that the District and these other entities will not be affected by cyber
threats and attacks in a manner that may affect the Bond owners.

Secondary Market for Bonds

There can be no guarantee that there will be a secondary market for the 2025 Bonds or,
if a secondary market exists, that any 2025 Bonds can be sold for any particular price.
Occasionally, because of general market conditions or because of adverse history or economic
prospects connected with a particular issue, secondary marketing practices in connection with a
particular issue are suspended or terminated. Additionally, prices of issues for which a market is
being made will depend upon then-prevailing circumstances. Such prices could be substantially
different from the original purchase price.

Future Parity Obligations

As described in “SECURITY FOR THE 2025 BONDS - Parity Obligations” above, the
Installment Sale Agreement permits the District to issue Parity Obligations in the future that is
secured and payable on parity with the payment of the Installment Payments securing the 2025
Bonds. In the event of a decline in Net Revenues available to pay the Installment Payments
securing the 2025 Bonds, the existence of additional Parity Obligations could adversely affect the
District's ability to timely pay the Instaliment Payments securing the 2025 Bonds.

TAXMATTERS

Federal Tax Status. In the opinion of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San
Francisco, California, Bond Counsel, subject, however to the quaiifications set forth below, under
existing law, the interest on the 2025 Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and such interest is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax. Interest on the 2025 Bonds may be subject to the corporate aiternative minimum
tax.

The opinions set forth in the preceding paragraph are subject to the condition that the
Authority and the District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Tax Code”) that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the 2025 Bonds
in order that the interest thereon be, and continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal
income tax purposes. The Authority and District have made certain representations and
covenants in order to comply with each such requirement. Inaccuracy of those representations,
or failure to comply with certain of those covenants, may cause the inclusion of such interest in
gross income for federal income tax purposes, which may be retroactive to the date of issuance
of the 2025 Bonds.

Tax Treatment of Original Issue Discount and Premium. If the initial offering price to
the public at which a 2025 Bond is sold is less than the amount payable at maturity thereof, then
such difference constitutes “original issue discount” for purposes of federal income taxes and
State of California personal income taxes. if the initial offering price to the public at which a 2025
Bond is sold is greater than the amount payable at maturity thereof, then such difference
constitutes “original issue premium” for purposes of federal income taxes and State of California
personal income taxes. De minimis original issue discount and original issue premium are
disregarded. :

49



Under the Tax Code, original issue discount is treated as interest excluded from federal
gross income and exempt from State of California personal income taxes to the extent properly
allocable to each owner thereof subject to the limitations described in the first paragraph of this
section. The original issue discount accrues over the term to maturity of the 2025 Bond on the
basis of a constant interest rate compounded on each interest or principal payment date (with
straight-line interpolations between compounding dates). The amount of original issue discount
accruing during each period is added to the adjusted basis of such 2025 Bonds to determine
taxable gain upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of such 2025
Bond. The Tax Code contains certain provisions relating to the accrual of original issue discount
in the case of purchasers of the 2025 Bonds who purchase the 2025 Bonds after the initial offering
of a substantial amount of such maturity. Owners of such 2025 Bonds shouid consult their own
tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of ownership of 2025 Bonds with original issue
discount, including the treatment of purchasers who do not purchase in the original offering to the
public at the first price at which a substantial amount of such 2025 Bonds is sold to the public.

Under the Tax Code, original issue premium is amortized on an annual basis over the
term of the 2025 Bond (said term being the shorter of the 2025 Bond's maturity date or its call
date). The amount of original issue premium amortized each year reduces the adjusted basis of
the owner of the 2025 Bond for purposes of determining taxable gain or loss upon disposition.
The amount of original issue premium on a 2025 Bond is amortized each year over the term to
maturity of the 2025 Bond on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded on each interest
or principal payment date (with straight-line interpolations between compounding dates).
Amortized bond premium is not deductible for federal income tax purposes. Owners of premium
2025 Bonds, including purchasers who do not purchase in the original offering, should consult
their own tax advisors with respect to State of California personal income tax and federal income
tax consequences of owning such 2025 Bonds.

California Tax Status. In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the 2025 Bonds
is exempt from California personal income taxes.

Other Tax Considerations. Current and future legislative proposals, if enacted into law,
clarification of the Tax Code or court decisions may cause interest on the 2025 Bonds to be
subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to be subject to or exempted from state
income taxation, or otherwise prevent beneficial owners from realizing the full current benefit of
the tax status of such interest. The introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals,
clarification of the Tax Code or court decisions may also affect the market price for, or
marketability of, the 2025 Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any such
proposal might be enacted or whether, if enacted, such legislation would apply to bonds issued
prior to enactment.

The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing legisiation and
regulations as interpreted by relevant judicial and reguiatory authorities as of the date of such
opinion, and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion with respect to any proposed legisiation or
as to the tax treatment of interest on the 2025 Bonds, or as to the consequences of owning or
receiving interest on the 2025 Bonds, as of any future date. Prospective purchasers of the 2025
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal or state
tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion.

50



Owners of the 2025 Bonds should also be aware that the ownership or disposition of, or
the accrual or receipt of interest on, the 2025 Bonds may have federal or state tax consequences
other than as described above. Other than as expressly described above, Bond Counsel
expresses no opinion regarding other federal or state tax consequences arising with respect to
the 2025 Bonds, the ownership, sale or disposition of the 2025 Bonds, or the amount, accruai or
receipt of interest on the 2025 Bonds.

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS

Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, Bond Counsel, will render an opinion with
respect to the validity of the 2025 Bonds, the form of which opinion is set forth in APPENDIX E.
Certain legal matters will also be passed upon for the District by Jones Hall, as Disclosure Counsel
and by the District Attorney. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter by its
counsel, Stradling Yocca Carison & Rauth LLP, Newport Beach, California. The fees of Bond
Counsel, Disclosure Counsel and Underwriter's counsel are contingent on the sale and closing of
the 2025 Bonds.

LITIGATION

No litigation is pending or threatened concerning the validity of the 2025 Bonds. Neither
the Authority nor the District is aware of any litigation pending or threatened questioning the
poiitical existence of the Authority or the District or contesting the District’s power to fix water rates
and charges, or the power of the governing body of the Authority or the Board of Directors of the
District or in any way questioning or affecting: (i) the proceedings under which the 2025 Bonds
are to be issued; (ii) the validity of any provision of the 2025 Bonds, the Installment Sale
Agreement or the Indenture; (jii) the pledge of Net Revenues under the Instaliment Sale
Agreement or the pledge of Revenues under the Indenture; or (iv) the titles to office of the present
members of the governing body of the Authority or the Board of Directors of the District.

There are a number of suits and claims pending against the District, which may include
personal injury, wrongful death and other suits and claims against which the District may self-
insure. As noted in the audited financial statements of the District, the District is a party to United
States Bureau of Reclamation (Defendant) v. Center for Biological Diversity. On May 21, 2021,
the District, along with other CVP contractors holding WIIN Act contracts were named as
additional defendants in a lawsuit challenging that the United States erred in entering into
converted contracts under the WHN Act without National Environment Policy Act (NEPA) and the
Endangered Species Act (ESA) compliance. The CVP contractors are working collectively in their
response to this litigation. [Note: Review/Update]

The aggregate amount of the self-insured liabilities of the District which may result from
the ongoing suits and claims against the District will not, in the opinion of the District, materially
impair the ability of the District to pay the Installment Payments securing the 2025 Bonds as they
become due.

RATINGIS]

S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”),
is expected to assign its rating of " to the 2025 Bonds, based on the understanding that
the Insurer will deliver its municipal bond insurance policy with respect to the 2025 Bonds. in
addition, S&P has assigned its underlying municipa! bond rating of * " to the 2025 Bonds.

51



The ratings reflect only the view of S&P, and an explanation of the significance of the
ratings, and any outlook assigned to or associated with the ratings, shouid be obtained from the
S&P. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it
and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. The Authority has provided certain
additional information and materials to S&P (some of which does not appear in this Official
Statement).

There is no assurance that this rating will continue for any given period of time or that this
rating will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by S&P, if in the judgment of S&P,
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of any rating on the 2025
Bonds may have an adverse effect on the market price or marketability of the 2025 Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The District will covenant for the benefit of owners of the 2025 Bonds to provide certain
financial information and operating data by not later than nine months after the end of the District’s
fiscal year, or April 1 of each year (based on the District's current fiscal year-end of June 30),
commencing April 1, 2026 with the report for the 2024-25 fiscal year (the “Annual Report”) and
to provide notices of the occurrence of certain listed events.

These covenants have been made in order to assist the Underwriter in complying with
Securities Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”). The specific nature of the
information to be contained in the Annual Report or the notices of listed events by the District is
set forth in “APPENDIX C — Form of Continuing Disclosure Certificate.”

The District has not previously entered into continuing disclosure undertakings under the
Rule in connection with the issuance of long-term obligations.

UNDERWRITING

Stifel Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, as underwriter of the 2025 Bonds (the
“Underwriter”), has agreed to purchase the 2025 Bonds from the Authority at a purchase price
of § which represents the aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Bonds,
plus/less [net] original issue premium/discount of $ , less underwriter’s discount of

The purchase contract under which the Underwriter is purchasing the 2025 Bonds
provides that the Underwriter will purchase all of the 2025 Bonds if any are purchased. The
obligation of the Underwriter to make such purchase is subject to certain terms and conditions set
forth in the purchase contract.

The public offering prices of the 2025 Bonds may be changed from time to time by the
Underwriter. The Underwriter may offer and sell the 2025 Bonds to certain dealers and others at
a price lower than the offering price stated on the cover page of this Official Statement.

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

The Authority has retained NHA Advisors, LLC, San Rafael, California, as municipal
advisor (the “Municipal Advisor") in connection with the offering of the 2025 Bonds. Alifinancial
and other information presented in this Official Statement has been provided by the Authority, the
District and others from their records. Unless otherwise footnoted, the Municipal Advisor takes no

52



responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the data provided by the Authority, the District
or others and has not undertaken to make an independent verification or does not assume
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this
Official Statement. The Municipal Advisor has assisted the Authority and the District with the
structure, timing and terms for the sale of the 2025 Bonds. The Municipal Advisor provides
municipal advisory services only and does not engage in the underwriting, marketing, or trading
of municipal securities or other negotiable instruments. The fee of the Municipal Advisor is
contingent upon the successful closing of the 2025 Bonds.

CONTINGENT FEES

In connection with the issuance of the 2025 Bonds, some or all of the fees or other
compensation payable to certain professionals invoived with the offering is contingent upon the
issuance and delivery of the 2025 Bonds. Those entities include:

+ the Underwriter;

» NHA Advisors, LLC, as municipal advisor and dissemination agent;

+ Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, as bond counsel and disclosure
counsel;

e Stradling Yocca Carlson & Rauth LLP, as underwriter's counsel; and

« U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee.

EXECUTION

The execution of this Official Statement and its delivery have been authorized by the
governing body of the Authority and the District Board of Directors of the District.

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
FINANCING AUTHORITY

By:

Executive Director

SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT

By:

General Manager

53



APPENDIX A

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS



APPENDIX B

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE DISTRICT
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024



APPENDIX C

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

S
San Benito County Water District Financing Authority
2025 Water Revenue Bonds

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (this “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and
delivered by the San Benito County Water District (the “District”) in connection with the issuance
of the above-captioned bonds (the “2025 Bonds”). The 2025 Bonds are being issued by the San
Benito County Water District Financing Authority (the "Authority”) under an Indenture of Trust
dated as of May 1, 2025 (the “Indenture”) by and between the Authority and U.S. Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The District covenants and agrees
as foilows:

Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being
executed and delivered by the District for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the
2025 Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter in complying with the Rule (defined
herein).

Section 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture, which apply
to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section,
the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report’ means any Annual Report provided by the District pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4.

“Annual Report Date” means the date that is nine months after the end of the District's
fiscal year (currently April 1 based on the District’s fiscal year end of June 30).

“Dissemination Agent’” means, initially, , Of any successor
Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the District and which has filed with the District a
written acceptance of such designation.

“Listed Events” means any of the events listed in Section 5(a).

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which has been designated
by the Securities and Exchange Commission as the sole repository of disclosure information for
purposes of the Rule, or any other repository of disclosure information that may be designated by
the Securities and Exchange Commission as such for purposes of the Rule in the future.

“Official Statement” means the final official statement executed in connection with the
issuance of the 2025 Bonds.

“Participating Underwriter” means any original underwriter of the 2025 Bonds required to
comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the 2025 Bonds.

“Rule” means Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as it may be amended from time to time.

C-1



Section 3. Provision of Annual Reports.

(a) The District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than the
Annual Report Date, commencing April 1, 2026 with the report for the 2024-25 fiscal year, provide
to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, an Annual Report that is
consistent with the requirements of Section 4. Not later than 15 Business Days prior to the Annual
Report Date, the District shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if other than
the District). If by 15 Business Days prior to the Annual Report Date the Dissemination Agent (if
other than the District) has not received a copy of the Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent
shall contact the District to determine if the District is in compliance with the previous sentence.
The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising
a package, and may include by reference other information as provided in Section 4; provided
that the audited financial statements of the District may be submitted separately from the balance
of the Annual Report, and later than the Annual Report Date, if not available by that date. If the
District's fiscal year changes, it shall give notice of such change in the same manner as for a
Listed Event under Section 5(b). The District shall provide a written certification with each Annual
Report furnished to the Dissemination Agent to the effect that such Annual Report constitutes the
Annual Report required to be furnished by the District hereunder.

(b) If the District does not provide (or cause the Dissemination Agent to provide) an
Annual Report by the Annual Report Date, the District shall provide (or cause the Dissemination
Agent to provide) to the MSRB, in a timely manner as required by the Rule, in an electronic format
as prescribed by the MSRB, a notice of such event.

(c) With respect to each Annual Report, the Dissemination Agent shall:

(i) determine each year prior to the Annual Report Date the then-applicable
rules and electronic format prescribed by the MSRB for the filing of annual
continuing disclosure reports; and

(i) if the Dissemination Agent is other than the District, file a report with the
District certifying that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this
Disclosure Certificate, and stating the date it was provided.

Section 4. Content of Annual Reports. The District's Annual Report shall contain or
incorporate by reference the following:

(a) Audited Financial Statements of the District prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles as promulgated to apply to governmental entities from time to time
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. If the District’s audited financial statements
are not available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed pursuant to Section 3(a),
the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial statements in a format similar to the financial
statements contained in the final Official Statement, and the audited financial statements shall be
filed in the same manner as the Annual Report when they become available.

(b) To the extent not contained in the audited financial statements filed under the
preceding clause (a), the Annual Report shall contain information showing the following: [Note:
Review/Confirm}

() A statement of whether the District is still participating in the Teeter Plan
administered by San Benito County;

(i)  The top ten customers for the most recent fiscal year by total revenue, in
substantially the form of Table 1 in the Official Statement;

C-2



(iy A schedule of water rates then in effect (not historical) broken down by the
categories shown in Table 2 or such other categories as may be applicable,

(iv)  Historical assessed valuation for the most recent five fiscal years, in
substantially the form of Table 3 in the Official Statement; and

(v) The top ten local secured taxpayers for the most recent fiscal year by total
revenue, in substantially the form of Table 4 in the Official Statement (except
only the top ten taxpayers must be shown); and

(vi)  Atable of revenues, expenses and debt service coverage for the most recent
fiscal year, in substantially the form of Table 7 in the Official Statement
(except only the most recent fiscal year and no projection years must be
shown).

(c) In addition to any of the information expressly required to be provided under this
Disclosure Certificate, the District shall provide such further material information, if any, as may
be necessary to make the specifically required statements, in the light of the circumstances under
which they are made, not misleading.

(d) Any or all of the items listed above may be inciuded by specific reference to other
documents, including official statements of debt issues of the District or related public entities,
which are available to the public on the MSRB’s Internet web site or filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The District shall clearly identify each such other document so included
by reference.

Section 5. Reporting of Significant Events.

(a) The District shall give, or cause to be given, notice of the occurrence of any of the
following Listed Events with respect to the 2025 Bonds:
(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies.
(2) Non-payment related defaults, if material.

3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties.

4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficuities.

(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service
of proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of
Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or
determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the security.

7) Modifications to rights of 2025 Bond hoiders, if material.
(8) 2025 Bond calls, if material, and tender offers.
9) Defeasances.

(10) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the
2025 Bonds, if material.

(11)  Rating changes.

C-3



(12)  Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the District.

Note: For the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (12), the
event is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the
appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the
District in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any
other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially
all of the assets or business of the District, or if such jurisdiction has
been assumed by leaving the existing governmental body and
officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and
orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order
confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liguidation by a
court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction
over substantially all of the assets or business of the District.

(13) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition
involving the District or the sale of all or substantially ail of the
assets of the District, other than in the ordinary course of business,
the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or
the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such
actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material.

(14)  Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of
a trustee, if material.

(15)  Incurrence of a financial obligation of the District, if material, or agreement
to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar
terms of a financial obligation of the District, any of which affect security
holders, if material (for definition of “financial obligation,” see clause (c)).

(16)  Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or
other similar events under the terms of a financial obligation of the District,
any of which reflect financial difficulties (for definition of “financial
obligation,” see clause (c)).

(b) Whenever the District obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, and,
if the Listed Event is described in subsections (a)(2), (a)(6), (a)(7), (a)(8) (if the event is a bond
call), (a)(10), (a)(13), (a)(14) and (a)(15) above, the District determines that knowledge of the
occurrence of that Listed Event would be material under applicable Federal securities law, the
District shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent (if not the District) to, file a notice of such
occurrence with the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner
not in excess of 10 business days after the occurrence of the Listed Event. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, notice of Listed Events described in subsection (a)(8) above need not be given under
this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders of
affected 2025 Bonds under the Indenture.

(c) For purposes of Section 5(a)(15) and (16), “financial obligation” means a (i) debt
obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a
source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (iii) guarantee of (i) or (ii). The
term financial obligation shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement
has been provided to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board consistent with the Rule.

Section 6. Identifying Information for Filings with the MSRB. All documents provided to
the MSRB under the Disclosure Certificate shall be accompanied by identifying information as
prescribed by the MSRB.

C-4



Section 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The District's obligations under this
Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in
full of all of the 2025 Bonds. If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the 2025 Bonds,
the District shall give notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed Event under
Section 5(b).

Section 8. Dissemination Agent. The District may, from time to time, appoint, engage or
change a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure
Certificate, and may discharge any Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor
Dissemination Agent. Any Dissemination Agent may resign by providing 30 days’ written notice
to the District.

Section 9. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure
Certificate, the District may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure
Certificate may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) if the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Sections 3(a), 4 or 5(a), it
may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change
in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the
District with respect to the 2025 Bonds, or type of business conducted;

(b) the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the
Rule at the time of the primary offering of the 2025 Bonds, after taking into account any
amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and

(c) the proposed amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by holders of the 2025
Bonds in the manner provided in the Indenture for amendments to the Indenture with the
consent of holders, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel,
materiaily impair the interests of the holders or beneficial owners of the 2025 Bonds.

If the annual financial information or operating data to be provided in the Annual Report is
amended pursuant to the provisions hereof, the first Annual Report filed pursuant hereto
containing the amended operating data or financial information shall explain, in narrative form,
the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or
financial information being provided.

If an amendment is made to this Disclosure Certificate modifying the accounting principles
to be followed in preparing financial statements, the Annual Report for the year in which the
change is made shall present a comparison between the financial statements or information
prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the
former accounting principles. The comparison shall include a qualitative discussion of the
differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles
on the presentation of the financial information, in order to provide information to investors to
enable them to evaluate the ability of the District to meet its obligations. To the extent reasonably
feasible, the comparison shall be quantitative.

A notice of any amendment made pursuant to this Section 9 shall be filed in the same
manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(b).

Section 10. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed

to prevent the District from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination
set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other

C-5



information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that
which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the District chooses to include any information
in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is
specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the District shall have no obligation under this
Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice
of occurrence of a Listed Event.

Section 11. Default. If the District fails to comply with any provision of this Disclosure
Certificate, the Participating Underwriter or any holder or beneficial owner of the 2025 Bonds may
take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific
performance by court order, to cause the District to comply with its obligations under this
Disclosure Certificate. A default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an Event
of Default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event
of any failure of the District to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel
performance.

Section 12. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of
the District, the Dissemination Agent (if other than the District), the Participating Underwriter and
the holders and beneficial owners from time to time of the 2025 Bonds, and shall create no rights
in any other person or entity.

C-6



Section 13. Counterparts. This Disclosure Certificate may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be regarded as an original, and all of which shall constitute one
and the same instrument.

Date: , 2025
SAN BENITO COUNTY WATER DISTRICT
By
Name:
Title:
ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

As Dissemination Agént

By

Authorized Representative



APPENDIX D

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CITY OF HOLLISTER
AND THE COUNTY OF SAN BENITO

The following information concerning the County of San Benito (the “County’) and the
City of Hollister (the “City”"} is included only for the purpose of supplying general information
regarding the service area for Zone 6. The 2025 Bonds are not a debt of the County, the City,
the State of California (the “State”) or any of its political subdivisions, and neither the County, the
City, the State nor any of its political subdivisions is liable therefor. The City and the Underwriter
take no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of such information.

General

The City. The City is approximately 6.6 square miles and is the county seat of San Benito
County. The City is primarily an agricultural town located at the north end of the County, about
100 miles south of the City of San Francisco, 40 miles south of the City of San Jose, and 40 miles
east of the City of Monterey. The City is located in California's Central Coast region, between the
Gavilan and Diablo Ranges of the Santa Cruz Mountains. The City was incorporated in 1872 and
maintains its heritage of agriculture and cattle ranching ambiance. Many outdoor recreational
sites are near the City, including Pinnacles National Park, Hollister Hills State Recreational Area,
San Justo Reservoir, and Thousand Trails Campground.

The County. San Benito County was created from parts of Monterey County in 1874.
The County encompasses an area of approximately 1,390 square miles, shares a northern border
with Santa Clara County, shares eastern borders with Merced and Fresno Counties, as well as a
western border with Monterey County. The topography is marked by the Pinnacles National Park,
which covers about 41 square miles of land, as well as mountain ranges such as the Diablo,
Gabilan, Las Aguilas, and Santa Cruz mountains.

Population

The following table lists population estimates for the City, the County and the State for the
last five years, as of January 1 each year.

CITY OF HOLLISTER, COUNTY OF SAN BENITO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA
Population Estimates
Years 2020 through 2024, as of January 1

City of San Benito State of
Year Hollister County California
2020 41,476 63,931 39,535,623
2021 41,860 64,642 39,327,868
2022 42 681 65,642 39,114,785
2023 42,547 65,165 39,061,058
2024 42,872 65,853 39,128,162

Source: State Department of Finance estimates (as of January 1).

E-1



Industry and Employment

The City is part of the San Jose-Sunnyvale-Santa Clara Metropolitan Statistical Area
(*"MSA"), which is comprised of San Benito and Santa Clara Counties. The unemployment rate in
the San Jose-Sunnyvale-Santa Clara MSA was 4.3 percent in January 2025, up from a revised
4.0 percent in December 2024, and unchanged from the year-ago estimate of 4.3 percent. This
compares with an unadjusted unemployment rate of 5.5 percent for California and 4.4 percent for
the nation during the same period. The unemployment rate was 7.1 percent in San Benito County,
and 4.2 percent in Santa Clara County.

SAN JOSE-SUNNYVALE-SANTA CLARA MSA
Civilian Labor Force, Employment and Unemployment
Calendar Years 2016 through 2020

March 2023 benchmark

Civilian Labor Force ("

Employment

Unemployment

Unempioyment Rate

Wage and Salary Employment: @
Agricuiture

Mining and Logging

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Transportation, Warehousing, Ulilities
Information

Finance and Insurance

Real Estate and Rental and Leasing
Professional and Business Services
Educational and Health Services
Leisure and Hospitality

Other Services

Federal Government

State Government

Local Government

Total, All Industries &

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
1,081,000 1,056,200 1,041,900 1,063,700 1,071,400
1,053,000 980,100 991,100 1,034,300 1,033,000

28,000 76,100 50,900 29,400 38,300

2.6% 7.2% 4.9% 2.8% 3.6%
5,600 5,300 5,000 4,800 4,700
200 200 200 200 200
53,000 50,100 51,700 53,800 53,600
170,300 165,800 167,400 178,600 179,500

31,400 29,200 28,300 28,900 29,000

83,100 73,000 73,700 73,600 73,900

16,100 15,800 16,900 18,900 18,400

100,600 105,900 107,100 106,000 97,900
22,000 22,900 23,400 22,500 22,100
15,900 15,100 15,100 15,700 15,900

243,100 237,600 242,400 250,300 245,400

178,700 172,700 178,400 187,000 196,100

107,500 73,100 79,000 96,700 101,400
28,900 22,100 22,800 25,400 26,400
10,000 10,700 10,500 10,200 10,100

6,900 7,000 6,900 7,000 7,000

80,400 76,300 76,000 78,700 80,800

1,153,700 1,082,700 1,104,500 1,158,100 1,162,400

(1) Labor force data is by place of residence; includes self-employed individuals, unpaid family workers, household domestic workers,

and workers on strike.

(2) Industry employment is by place of work; excludes self-employed individuals, unpaid family workers, household domestic workers,

and workers on strike.
(3) Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: State of California Employment Development Department.

D-2



Principal Employers

The following table lists the principal employers within the County of San Benito for fiscal
year 2023-24.

COUNTY OF SAN BENITO
Principal Employers
Fiscal Year 2023-24

Company Employees
Earthbound Farm 1,000 +
Hazel Hawkins Memorial Hospital 250 - 499
Milgard 250 - 499
Pacific Scientific 250 - 499
San Benito High School 250 - 498
True Leaf Farms 250 - 499
Nob Hili Foods 100 - 249
Target 100 - 249
Trical 100 - 249
Corbin 100 - 249
West Marine 100 - 249
Ridgemark 100 - 249
Casa de Fruta 100 - 249
Cedar Valley Shingle Systems 100 - 249
Tanimura & Antle 100 - 249
LifeSparc 100 - 249
MC Electronics 100 - 249
San Benito Foods 100 - 249

Source: San Benito County Chamber of Commerce.

D-3



The following table lists, in alphabetical order, the largest manufacturing and non-
manufacturing employers within the County as of March 2025.

COUNTY OF SAN BENITO

Major Employers

As of March 2025

(in Alphabetical Order)
Employer Name Location Industry
Alpha Teknova Inc Hollister Biological Products (mfrs)
Calaveras Elementary School Hollister Parks
Coke Farm San Jn Bautista Farms
Corbin Sparrow Hollister Motorcycles-Supls & Parts-Manufacturers
Denise & Filice Packing Co Hollister Fruits-& Vegetables-Wholesale
Earthbound Farm San Jn Bautista Marketing Programs & Services
Guerra Nut Shelling Co Hollister Roasted Nuts & Peanut Butter Manufacturing
Hdla Hollister School Districts
Nob Hill Foods Hollister Grocers-Retail
Pacific Harvest Seafoods San Jn Bautista Frozen Fruit/Fruit Juices/Vegs (mfrs)
Platinum Theatres Inc Hoillister Theatres-Movie
R &R Labor Holister Labor Contractors
R O Hardin Elementary School Hollister Schools
Rancho San Justo Middle School Hollister Schools
RANCHO SANTANA SCH PARENTS CLB Hollister Schools
San Benito Foods Hollister Canning (mfrs)
San Benito Foods Hollister Food Products & Manufacturers
San Benito High School Hollister Stadiums Arenas & Athletic Fields
San Benito Sheriff Hollister Sheriff
Target Holiister Department Stores
TJ Maxx Hollister Department Stores
Trical Inc Hollister Farms
Waste Management Hollister Garbage Coliection
West Marine Distribution Ctr Hollister Distribution Centers (whls)

Willis Construction Co Inc

San Jn Bautista

Concrete Products-Except Block & Brick (mfrs)

Source: State of California Employment Development Department, extracted from the America’s Labor Market Information System (ALMIS)

Employer Database, 2025 1st Edition.

D-4



Effective Buying Income

“Effective Buying Income” is defined as personal income less personal tax and nontax
payments, a number often referred to as “disposable” or “after-tax” income. Personal income is
the aggregate of wages and salaries, other labor-related income (such as employer contributions
to private pension funds), proprietor's income, rental income (which includes imputed rental
income of owner-occupants of non-farm dwellings), dividends paid by corporations, interest
income from all sources, and transfer payments (such as pensions and welfare assistance).
Deducted from this total are personal taxes (federal, state and local), nontax payments (fines,
fees, penalties, etc.) and personal contributions to social insurance. According to U.S.
government definitions, the resultant figure is commonly known as “disposable personal income.”

The following table summarizes the total effective buying income for the City, the County,
the State, and the United States for the period 2021 through 2025.

CITY OF HOLLISTER, SAN BENITO COUNTY,
STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND UNITED STATES
EFFECTIVE BUYING INCOME
As of January 1, 2021 through 2025

Total Effective

Median Househoid

Buying Income Effective
Year Area {000’s Omitted) Buying Income
2021 City of Hollister $1,016,923 $73,401
San Benito County 1,896,470 76,656
California 1,290,894,604 67,956
United States 9,809,944,764 56,790
2022 City of Hollister $1,154,040 $82,225
San Benito County 2,197,265 86,809
California 1,452 426,153 77,058
United States 11,208,582,541 64,448
2023 City of Hollister $1,181,081 $79,228
San Benito County 2,222,078 83,841
California 1,461,799,662 77,175
United States 11,454,846,397 65,326
2024 City of Hollister $1,431,437 $93,034
San Benito County 2,661,740 98,409
California 1,510,708,521 80,973
United States 11,987,185,826 67,876
2025 City of Hollister $1,502,113 $92,709
San Benito County 2,745,117 97,495
California 1,657 429,767 82,725
United States 12,5625,577,707 69,687

Source: Claritas, LLC.

Commercial Activity

A summary of historic taxable sales within the City and the County during the past five
years in which data is available is shown in the following tables.

Total taxable sales during the first three quarters of calendar year 2024 in the City were

D-§



reported to be $376,050,363, a 7.76% decrease in the total taxable sales of $407,666,859
reported during the same comparable three quarters of calendar year 2023.

CITY OF HOLLISTER
Taxable Retail Sales
Number of Permits and Valuation of Taxable Transactions
Calendar Years 2019 through 2023
(Dollars in Thousands)

Retail Stores Total All Outlets
Number Taxable Number Taxable
of Permits Transactions of Permits Transactions
2019 584 $351,659 1,005 $420,941
2020 626 362,998 1,101 438,778
2021 554 410,808 961 493,982
2022 557 448,113 957 527,173
2023 539 452 504 908 535,133

Source: State Depariment of Tax and Fee Administration.

Total taxable sales during the first three quarters of calendar year 2024 in the County were
reported to be $750,621,816, a 10.43% decrease in the total taxable sales of $838,022,529
reported during the same comparable three quarters of calendar year 2023.

COUNTY OF SAN BENITO
Taxable Retail Sales
Number of Permits and Valuation of Taxable Transactions
Calendar Years 2019 through 2023
{Dollars in Thousands)

Retail Stores Total All OQutlets
Number Taxable Number Taxable
of Permits Transactions of Permits Transactions
2019 1,070 $459,056 1,780 $745,609
2020 1,121 529,369 1,910 834,801
2021 963 587,801 1,657 976,164
2022 965 624,569 1,675 1,029,965
2023 969 620,718 1,653 1,041,599

Source: State Department of Tax and Fee Administration.



Construction Activity

Provided below are the building permits and valuations for the City and the County for
calendar years 2019 through 2023,

CITY OF HOLLISTER
Building Permit Valuation
{Dollars in Thousands)"

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Permit Valuation
New Single-family $142,674.8 $85,711.1 $98,094.6 $71,929.0 $83,011.1
New Multi-family 548.7 1,399.5 0.0 0.0 14,300
Res. Alterations/Additions 1.999.2 1,336.2 1,0126 1.096.1 1.443.3
Total Residential 145,2227 88,446.8 99,107.2 73,025.1 98,754.4
New Commercial 9,154.7 12,4427 705.9 15,817.3 93,539.1
New Industrial 4347 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
New Other 1,418.5 462.0 734.5 588.9 2,680.8
Com. Alterations/Additions 29352 1.260.1 1,460.0 2,859.3 8,6236
Total Nonresidential $13,943.1 $14,164.8 $2,900.4 $19,265.5 $104,853.5
New Dwelling Units
Single Family 387 327 349 212 222
Muitiple Family 2 8 Q ] g6
TOTAL 389 335 349 212 318
(1) Totals may not foot due to rounding.
Source: Construction Industry Research Board, Building Permit Summary.
SAN BENITO COUNTY
Building Permit Valuation
(Dollars in Thousands)™"
2018 2020 2021 2022 2023
Permit Valuyation
New Single-family $219,517.1 $151,372.9 $131,136.8 $110,699.2 $114,428.9
New Muiti-family 798.7 1,399.5 0.0 0.0 28,600.0
Res. Alterations/Additions 31890 48919 3,183.8 5,254.3 4,403.2
Total Residential 223,474.7 157,664.3 134,320.4 115,953.50 147,432.10
New Commercial 10,553.6 15,940.6 3,922.2 21,3343 93,539.1
New industrial 434.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
New Other 4,358 4 3,797.0 11,5135 10,9226 9,212.5
Com. Alterations/Additions 5,243.7 2.539.1 7.5459 44283 11,0368
Total Nonresidential 20,590.4 22,2767 22,9816 36,685.2 $113,788.4
New Dwelling Units
Single Family 634 539 457 328 303
Multiple Family 4 8 [+] Q 192
TOTAL 638 547 457 328 485

(1) Totais may not foot due to rounding.
Source: Construction Industry Research Board, Building Permit Summary.



APPENDIX E
FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL

[Closing Date)

San Benito County Water District Financing Authority
1572 Railroad Avenue
St. Helena, CA 94574

OPINION: $ San Benito County Water District Financing
Authority
2025 Water Revenue Bonds

Members of the Authority:

We have acted as bond counsel to the San Benito County Water District Financing
Authority (the “Authority”) in connection with the issuance by the Authority of its San Benito County
Water District Financing Authority 2025 Water Revenue Bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of § (the “Bonds”), under an Indenture of Trust dated as of 1, 2025 (the
“Indenture”), between the Authority and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as
trustee, and under the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 of the Government
Code of the State of California, commencing with Section 6584 of said Code (the “Bond Law").
The Bonds are secured by Revenues as such term is defined in the Indenture, including
instaliment payments (the “Installment Payments”) made by the San Benito County Water District
(the “District”) under an Instaliment Sale Agreement dated as of 1, 2025 (the “Instaliment
Sale Agreement”) between the Authority and the District.

We have examined such certified proceedings and other papers as we deem necessary
to render this opinion. As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon
representations of the Authority and the District contained in the Indenture, the installment Sale
Agreement and in the certified proceedings, and upon other certifications furnished to us, without
undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation.

Based upon our examination we are of the opinion, under existing law, that:

1. The Authority is a joint powers agency duly organized and existing under the laws of
the State of California, with power to enter into the Indenture, to perform the agreements on its
part contained therein and to issue the Bonds.

2. The Bonds have been duly issued by the Authority and constitute legal, valid and
binding special obligations of the Authority enforceable in accordance with their terms.

3. The Indenture and the Installment Sale Agreement have been duly authorized,
executed and delivered by the Authority and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the
Authority enforceable against the Authority in accordance with their respective terms.

4, The Indenture establishes a valid lien on and security interest in the Revenues and
other funds pledged thereby for the security of the Bonds, in accordance with the terms of the
Indenture.



5.  The District is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of
the State of California, with power to enter into the Instaliment Sale Agreement and to perform
the agreements on its part contained therein. The Instaliment Sale Agreement has been duly
approved by the District and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the District
enforceable against the District in accordance with its terms. The Instaliment Sale Agreement
establishes a valid lien on and security interest in the Net Revenues of Zone 6 and other funds
pledged thereby for the security of the Installment Payments, in accordance with the terms of the
instaliment Sale Agreement.

6. Interest onthe Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes
and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. The
opinions set forth in the preceding sentence are subject to the condition that the Authority and the
District comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which
must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or
continue to be, excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Authority and
the District have covenanted in the Indenture, the Instaliment Sale Agreement and in other
instruments relating to the Bonds to comply with each of such requirements, and the Authority
and the District have full legal authority to make and comply with such covenants. Failure to
comply with certain of such requirements may cause the inclusion of interest on the Bonds in
gross income for federal income tax purposes to be retroactive to the date of issuance of the
Bonds. We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect to
the ownership, sale or disposition of the Bonds, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on
the Bonds.

7.  Interest on the Bonds is exempt from California personal income taxation.

Interest on the Bonds may be subject to the corporate alternative minimum tax. We
express no opinion regarding any other tax consequences arising with respect to the ownership,
sale or disposition of, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds.

The rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the Bonds and the
Indenture may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar
laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted and may also be subject to the
exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with principles of equity or otherwise in appropriate
cases. .

This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or
supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our
attention, or any changes in law that may hereafter occur. Moreover, our opinions are not a
guarantee of a particular result, and are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or any court;
rather, our opinions represent our legal judgment based upon our review of existing law that we
deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations, opinions, and covenants
referenced above.

Our engagement with respect to this matter has terminated as of the date hereof.

Respectfully submitted,

A Professional Law Corporation

E-2



APPENDIX F

DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The following description of the Depository Trust Company (“DTC"), the procedures and
record keeping with respect to beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds, payment of principal,
interest and other payments on the Bonds to DTC Participants or Beneficial Owners, confirmation
and transfer of beneficial ownership interest in the Bonds and other related transactions by and
between DTC, the DTC Participants and the Beneficial Owners is based solely on information
provided by DTC. Accordingly, no representations can be made concerning these matters and
neither the DTC Participants nor the Beneficial Owners should rely on the foregoing information
with respect to such matters, but should instead confirm the same with DTC or the DTC
Participants, as the case may be, and neither the District nor the Underwriter take responsibility
for the accuracy thereof.

Neither the issuer of the Bonds (the “Issuer’) nor the trustee, fiscal agent or paying agent
appointed with respect fo the Bonds (the “Agent”) take any responsibility for the information
contained in this Appendix.

No assurances can be given that DTC, DTC Participants or Indirect Participants will
distribute to the Beneficial Owners (a) payments of interest, principal or premium, if any, with
respect to the Bonds, (b) certificates representing ownership interest in or other confirmation or
ownership interest in the Bonds, or (¢) redemption or other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co.,
its nominee, as the registered owner of the Bonds, or that they will so do on a timely basis, or that
DTC, DTC Participants or DTC Indirect Participants will act in the manner described in this
Appendix. The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the current “Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants
are on file with DTC.

1. The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, NY, will act as securities depository
for the Bonds (hereinafter, the "Securities”). The Securities will be issued as fully-registered
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Security
certificate will be issued for each issue of the Securities, each in the aggregate principal amount
of such issue, and will be deposited with DTC. If, however, the aggregate principal amount of any
issue exceeds $500 million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 million of
principal amount, and an additional certificate will be issued with respect to any remaining
principal amount of such issue.

2. DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company
organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the
New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within
the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and
provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate
and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade
settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct
Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.
Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and deaiers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding
company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing



Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its
regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S.
and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations
that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or
indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. The information contained on this Internet
site is not incorporated herein by reference.

3. Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Securities on DTC's records. The ownership
interest of each actual purchaser of each Security ("Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded
on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written
confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive
written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by
entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in
Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Securities is discontinued.

4. To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with
DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC
and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any
change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the
Securities; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts
such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and
Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their
customers.

5. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by
Direct Participants to indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Securities
may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events
with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments
to the Security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain
that the nominee holding the Securities for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices
to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and
addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

6. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an
issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each
Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

7. Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with
respect to Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MM
Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as
possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting
rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Securities are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).



8. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be
made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative
of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and
corresponding detail information from Issuer or Agent, on payable date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will
be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held
for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or Issuer, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds,
distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of
such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

9. DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities
at any time by giving reasonable notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the
event that a successor depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be printed
and delivered.

10. Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers
through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, Security certificates will be
printed and delivered to DTC.

11. The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has

been obtained from sources that Issuer believes to be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility
for the accuracy thereof.

F-3



[APPENDIX G]

[SPECIMEN MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE POLICY]

G-1



. ‘1:(3

IR
LLITTRR N

San Benito County
Water District

Twaw

43

Bond Financing Approvals
April 30, 2025




Overview

» The District plans to borrow approximately $40 million to finance a portion of its planned ADRoP project
— Accelerated Drought Response Project (ADRoP) project estimated to cost $60 million

+ $20 million in grant funds committed to fund a portion of costs

» $40 million in bond proceeds from the proposed bond sale

* Proposed 2025 Water Revenue Bonds

— Not-to-exceed $42 million par amount

— Issued by San Benito County Water District Financing Authority, a joint powers authority between the District and the
California Statewide Communities Development Authority (CSCDA)

— Secured by Installment Payments made by the District to the Authority from Net Revenues of Zone 6
— The District covenants to fix, prescribe and collect charges for Zone 6 in each fiscal year sufficient to yield:
» Net Revenues from Zone 6 of at least 120% of the Installment Payments and debt service on all parity obligations

« Gross Revenues from Zone 6 at least 100% of the Zone 6 operating and maintenance costs, the Installment Payments and
debt service on all parity obligations, and all other payments required to meet any other obligation of the District payable from

Gross or Net Revenues of Zone 6
— |ssued on parity to three outstanding loans totaling $7 million

— Standard & Poor’s rating is expected this week

= Board and Financing Authority approvals of bond financing requested

Page 2



Primary Financing Team Members

NHA Advisors, LLC

Municipal Advisor

e Advises the District on bond
issuance process, structure,
pricing, etc.

e Fiduciary duty to the District

CSCDA
Authority Formation

Formed joint powers authority
(JPA) with the District

Jones Hall

Bond & Disclosure Counsel

e Provides legal advice to issuer
on financing, drafts primary
bond legal documents

e Prepares Official Statement
describing the security and its
risks for investors

The District

Borrower
Selects financing team

Determines borrowing needs
and key parameters of debt

Approves offering materials
Authorizes issuance of bonds

Stifel Nicolaus & Co, Inc.
Underwriter

e Structures financing, sets prices,
sells bonds to investors, delivers

funds

Raftelis
Rate Consultant

e Analyzed rate structure and
estimated future revenues

e Prepared 2023 Rate Study

Spurzem & Liem LLP

Issuer’s Counsel

Advises issuer on legal
documents and bond
disclosure, provides legal
opinions on issuer actions

Stradling, Yocca, Carlson & Rauth

Underwriter’s Counsel
e Represents the underwriter

e Drafts the Bond Purchase
Agreement

e Leads due diligence process

U.S. Bank
Trustee

e Commercial bank who administers
bond payments and holds certain

bond funds

Standard & Poor’s
Rating Agency

Assesses credit quality of the
bond issuance

Page 3



Key Steps in Bond Financing Process

Financing team has proceeded since initial Board presentation in October 2024

I. Development of Financing Plan

= Engage financing team
— Municipal Advisor, Bond Underwriter, Bond and Disclosure Counsel, Trustee, Rate Consultant
= Analyze financing options

— Clarify project needs and timing, tax law constraints, consider options for the project and future capital needs

Il. Preparation of Bond Sale

= Draft legal and disclosure documents and conduct due diligence
— Preliminary Official Statement (POS) summarizes the District, its financials, the bond security and potential risks
= Seek bond rating from Standard & Poor’s rating agency

— Provides an independent credit assessment of the District’s proposed financing for potential investors

= Board consideration of bond financing

— Must approve the form of legal documents, the draft POS and the financing parameters
!’

= Bond marketing and pricing
— Underwriter distributes the District’s POS to potential investors, solicits investor interest, and sets interest rates
= Bond pre-closing and closing

— Documents are executed and then funds are delivered at closing, about two weeks after pricing

Page 4



Requested Board and Financing Authority Approvals

= District Resolution and Authority Resolution

— Approve bond financing within specified parameters and approve form of key documents

Installment Sale Agreement

— Contract between the District and the Authority for the District to purchase the bond-financed project through
Installments paid to the Authority

Indenture of Trust
— Between the Authority and U.S. Bank, serving as bond trustee

— Details legal structure of security: payment dates, establishment of bond accounts, flow of funds, parity debt
conditions, redemption provisions (call features), covenants, events of default and remedies, permitted investments

Official Statement (Preliminary and Final)
— The “selling document” for the Bonds, describes the District, the project, legal security and potential risks
— The Preliminary Official Statement (POS) is “substantially complete” except for pricing details

— The Final Official Statement will include final pricing details and CUSIPs, any material changes since POS

Continuing Disclosure Agreement
— Included as an attachment to the Official Statement

— The District agrees to provide certain ongoing information updates to the market while Bonds remain outstanding

Bond Purchase Contract
— Contract among Stifel, the District and the Authority signed on date of pricing

— Specifies interest rates, principal amounts, underwriter’s discount, and closing conditions

Page 5



Current Municipal Bond Market Conditions

. . AAA Municipal Market Data (MMD) Yields Since January 2024
= Fed policy and economic data had . : v : -

been driving interest rates 5.0% Yields as of
. 30 Year: 4.62%
o Upward trend despite three Fed cuts 4.5% 10-Year: 3.57%

totaling 1% since September 2024 2-Year: 3.12%

o oge 4.0%
= Trade war triggered recent volatility -

o Unexpectedly-large global tariffs s >
announced on April 2 3.0%

o Sharp equity market drops spurred 2.5%
initial bond rally “flight to quality”

2.0%

o Reversed sharply amid fears of b S b S G W o M SE SE o W S My LN W b
resurgent inflation, unwinding hedges E R R R ot o f oA dob E & &
and bond fund withdrawals 2 ¢ 2 48 2= 3 806 28822 <

o Compounded by large new issuance Recent Daily MMD Volatility
calendar, heavy market inventory, tax 35 35 30 <«— 30f 10 largest daily
season withdrawals, and lingering fear ’s ” 25 swings of the past
of threats to municipal tax-exemption decade

; 15 11

o Some recovery since 90-day “pause” 5

on most tariffs announced on April 9 S =2 -
= Continued market fragility = 3 2 3
. -8

o Pressure on Fed Chairman Powell adds “ m L

to market jitters -25
30-year AAAMMD

o Municipal bond yields no longer -35 cmmﬂ‘n:m:mm?_.&

outperforming Treasury yields -45
-45
-55

4/3 4/4 4/7 4/8 4/9 4/10 4/11 4/14 4/15 4/16 4/17 4/21 4/22

Sources: Lipper, Thomson Reuters, SIFMA, IHS Markit, Bloomberg. As of April 22, 2025. Page 6



Preliminary Estimates for 2025 Bond Financing

= Assumptions: Estimated Annual Debt Service Payments
— Credit rating in “AA” rating category

$5
— Current market conditions as of April 22, 2024

Millions

— Bond closing in May 2025

— Bonds sized to $40 million project fund deposit

— Principal amortizing August 1, 2026 through 2045

— Level annual fiscal year payments Proposed 2025 Bonds
= Financing results:

— True interest cost of about 4.28%

- ><mam.mm::cm_am2mm2mnmva:mioJUE:ww million $0 EEEEEREEEEEEEE
each fiscal year s e383888383333388 8
. AN AN AN &N &N NN &N &N &N &N &N &N &N N

— Total fiscal year payments, including outstanding loans, Fiscal Year

of approximately $3.9 million
— FY24 Net Revenues of $16.1 million

— Projected Net Revenues through FY29 expected to provide
debt service coverage of over 370%

1) Preliminary and subject to change. 2) The actual results may differ, and Stifel makes no commitment to underwrite at these levels. 3) The use
of an investment grade credit rating is consistent with the rating of similar bonds. 4) The interest rates assumed in this analysis are based on
current market conditions and similar credits. 5) Costs of issuance and underwriter’s discount are estimates for discussion purposes.

Page 7



Regulatory Disclosure

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”) has been engaged or appointed to serve as an underwriter or
placement agent with respect to a particular issuance of municipal securities to which the attached material relates
and Stifel is providing all information and advice contained in the attached material in its capacity as underwriter
or placement agent for that particular issuance. As outlined in the SEC’s Municipal Advisor Rule, Stifel has not
acted, and will not act, as your municipal advisor with respect to the issuance of the municipal securities that is the
subject to the engagement.

Stifel is providing information and is declaring to the proposed municipal issuer and any obligated person
that it has done so within the regulatory framework of MSRB Rule G-23 as an underwriter (by definition also
including the role of placement agent) and not as a financial advisor, as defined therein, with respect to the
referenced proposed issuance of municipal securities. The primary role of Stifel, as an underwriter, is to purchase
securities  for resale to investors in an arm’s- length commercial transaction. Serving in the role of underwriter,
Stifel has financial and other interests that differ from those of the issuer. The issuer should consult with its’ own
financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent it deems
appropriate.

These materials have been prepared by Stifel for the client or potential client to whom such materials are
directly addressed and delivered for discussion purposes only. All terms and conditions are subject to further
discussion and negotiation. Stifel does not express any view as to whether financing options presented in these
materials are achievable or will be available at the time of any contemplated transaction. These materials do not
constitute an offer or solicitation to sell or purchase any securities and are not a commitment by Stifel to provide
or arrange any financing for any transaction or to purchase any security in connection therewith and may not relied
upon as an indication that such an offer will be provided in the future. Where indicated, this presentation may
contain information derived from sources other than Stifel. While we believe such information to be accurate and
complete, Stifel does not guarantee the accuracy of this information. This material is based on information currently
available to Stifel or its sources and is subject to change without notice. Stifel does not provide accounting, tax or
legal advice; however, you should be aware that any proposed indicative transaction could have accounting, tax,
legal or other implications that should be discussed with your advisors and /or counsel as you deem appropriate.

Page 8



San Benito County Water District
Agenda Transmittal
Agenda Item:
Meeting Date: April 30, 2025
Submitted By: Dana Jacobson

Presented By: Dana Jacobson

Agenda Title: Annual Groundwater Report 2024

Detailed Description:

The San Benito County Water District (District or SBCWD) was formed in 1953 by a
special act (District Act) of the State with responsibility and authority to manage
groundwater. Section 7.6 of the District Act (Act) states that “the Board may ... require
the district to annually prepare an investigation and report on conditions of the district
and zones thereof’. The Act requires the condition assessment to include all of the
reporting parameters as identified in Section 7.6 (a)-().

In 2014, the State of California passed the Sustainable Groundwater Management Act
(SGMA). SGMA requires local agencies to form Groundwater Sustainability Agencies
(GSAs) for the high and medium priority basins. The District is the Groundwater
Sustainability Agency for the North San Benito Basin. Similar to the Act, SGMA
requires the completion of an annual Groundwater Report.

The Annual Groundwater Report, prepared by Todd Groundwater, describes groundwater
conditions in the North San Benito Basin, a subbasin of the Gilroy-Hollister Basin.
Acceptance of this Annual Groundwater Report fulfills the requirements of the Act and
SGMA.

The Annual Groundwater Report documents water sources and uses, groundwater
elevations and storage, and management activities for the water year and provides
recommendations to manage activities. The report also details the six Sustainable
Management Criteria and their respective minimum thresholds.

Prior Committee or Board Action: None

Financial Impact: Yes X No

Material Included for Information/Consideration:
Annual Groundwater Report 2024
PowerPoint Presentation




Recommendation: Board to Receive and Accept Annual Groundwater Report 2024,

Action Required: Resolution X Motion Review

Board Action

Resolution No._ Motion By Second By
Ayes Abstained
Noes Absent
Reagendized Date No Action Taken




e A s v

" § umi n

Tl

‘ P
Yoy 4 o8 s ST
Secgpne® >

Groundwater Report

Water Year 2024







‘\\\\\\\\\\|‘|

oty W/;','":,
NORTH SAN BENITO
ANNUAL GROUNDWATER

av .-'i:;'{-mus;;;l;...é‘ [/
- . o '0,’
= £E 15
L BE : X
d REPORT 2024
March 2025

A
-

Valley Water

[RRR-

1301 Marina Village Parkway, Suite 320
Alameda, CA 94501

510.747.6920
www.todddgroundwater.com




Loy

Iris Priestaf, PhD
President

Eugene
B.
Yates

No. 740




Table of Contents

Table of Contents....... creneen rererenvsieerarareserannenns eerssisesieernrrrereeatresersanrsretenetsteasanrassassereressaesrnrarente]
LiSt Of TABIES ..evuvireniiveeiirieccerireriracrrensenrnserinessassrrsssssssssssssssssesrsssnes creverererearaniesaan vernrsernerernnaerensell
List of Figures .....coccvvvceniinnicinnnnnsnnnns teeetrerrsrerenssassarsrnsrtanetanetanerentstesesessisasassssssrsisareanansnsnsanaassns

Appendices (following text) .......ccvvuvreririnssniineinnnennn
IR (111 g e [ ot o]« HR OO USSP OO PP OO PO P U PP

Acknowledgments.......... eererevesstssssaseerrreneratansnrsensteeseasittetonttennissssasies eetsuransrnnasaneessesesasnnaserernsnene 4
2 = GROBIAPNIC AFCA uocvviciicreeteeerer e sti et e et iee e teesaesee e b et e e st e seabtesaeesb s e st ese s e et e e s s e e seenee it st e an e sa e atebenn 4

DWR-Defined Basin.......ccevereeerecenrenne teeraseessseernsseernrreenraettrnarantnsrraretenrrerenrerannoran PR :

Ongoing District Monitoring PrOgrams .......coeveeecevrevrineniesctiessiansinssscsssisisisessosssssssnsansens
3 - Basin Conditions

,
Climate ..... reetrereesesanrestnnrersnrssesreseransrasrneen reesesueransersrannertanraaserarsnnane ercorarrvrrerarannreenns SRR J

Groundwater EleVations........cceieveeirecseriereinnecrseseersescsrmsesssssssensessaressannse veerverenorarsrssarsosrssaveraans
Groundwater Trends ....cevevieeeriirieecresinrascercosesrensssrnanse eeserasassesnsererrnenratsantnnsaenrasasarisaransernarenes 21

Sustainable Management Criteria for Groundwater Quality ........cccovvuieeriiiiniinenensiiieeinnieien. 23
B - WAtEE BAlANCE ouvvie ettt ctt et s et e e s st e bbbt e e s a et vt e e e shben e s aan e e e nnb s s aa s e s iba e e nas e 24

Method of ANAlYSIS ...ccvvrerericiiniieriirrsirne et sesaarareesssessssasrssessssaransessesans B4
INTIOWS (et ettt s s s s s sss s ssss s sasasasesnasrassansssanas teeeeseesssssesssesssranserrrneerreransises 4
OULTIOWS eeveeereeeeccremrtrinrenersseesenessnunnssissssesseeossnerssssssssssssnssssanesessssssessssrranssansanses cerrernnsnsvosorsassane 32
Simulated Groundwater Elevations........c.c.ceereeninnee ererreeerrrnranrsraserereretrtbebarrensseesastessarrannsnarsres 3D
Change in StOrage ......ccccvemvecreinnneninnmissssnissneennasenanne, errereteetesesetesesesetestrerarrn b e s e s sesehsnrRarEres 36
Water SUPPLY SOUFCES ..uvivveeeeeereeecessssrerseisisssessinsesiserassansesssssssssssessesssssarsassasssssasarssaeressssssarsesss 49
GrOUNAWATEE c.ovveeeeiiriireieirecsereseescesesssessnesssssssessssssssssessssnssesentrsnssassnssssorssesnsssnsssessssessssssrasssnssses 30
IMPOrted Water — ZONE 6 ......ccoconeveeiririnessisiissecssisinmnsenssisissssassssssssssisssnssesssssassassssasssssasasesens 47
MUNICIPAI USE ceeeriiiiirvreneerreceiinenenetsssenssssnenmarssscisssrsnsesessisssssssassseinsssssssasstsssnssannsaessssssssansansarens 48
Agricultural Use ........... rrereserasereesasseessrsaaarasrateneere bR NN EeEEOLT R ETOREeEPtEeReESEseseneaenes verrersrresssrenenes 48

Total Water Use ......ccoveiviiiiinnnnninsisesissnnenns
5 - Water Management ACtVIEIES ........oovcivv i e

SUIface Water SEOTAZR ...ouiiviiiiciiiiiicciiiniisiiissssesissssscessisssssssssessosssssasressessssrssesssasnsasssssssessasansesses OO
Managed Percolation.........ccececncennnens reeeserersieaeaeseerasensrestabnesherantestaentietenanenasens ersesssrsssenaresenes .54
Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) ........cocivcniionniriiimmerinirsisseineesieisesessrsess .55
Water Resources Planning and Conjunctive USe .........cuvieivniininiinnnmenien s 58
Water CoNSEIVAtION ...cccoiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiniiier st ssssssassassstesssssnsnsesssansssssssssnsnssanssssssss 99

Monitoring Program and DMS.............vevreennnnennnnn rereeerererssssnssssesansrennans resersssssesnssserseessassneses B0

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 i Todd Groundwater



MONItOring Well NETWOIK .....ceeereeiiiiciimmiiiiiiiiiieiicniimsssessssnrrmossesrsssssessmssssssssssosssssssans 61

Develop ReSPONSE PlaNS.......ccciiiiiviiiiimminiiiiisieiisisireisssisersiseiosnstenseisssssssssaresssssnsss 61
Water Quality Improvement PrOgramsS.. ... iiaiiiiiinimimiisiscomsieieisesmsinmonsmsensesssrrsssasisesss 62
Reduce Potential IMPacts 10 GDES......cccrvererininiiiniinesisesmimsissrssssesssesteesssrsmrsteessesreesisessssssssassesants 62
LONG-LEIMN FUNTING ..orereeiireiiircennerererissnisnneerssesiasssetineisssssstessssssssssessrsersssssrssassssorassnarasssanesssnsss 62
Plan APProval......cnimemencessnsiememnsesenmessisme s eeeteesesseessseetissersessarersesnarsnnsaersantess 63
FINancial INformMation .......cccceeceiciniiimnniceieneiniceniessissssssessessssssssssrsnsressssossessessessnsasss 63
Groundwater Management FEE .......cvivviiiiiiiiiiirminniiniinsiiiresesesimcmetmsearsssiss s 66

6 - Groundwater SUSTAINADIITY ....oo ittt st 67
SGMA INAICATOIS ..ceoiveeeeeerireerrrrreeissesssersirsosssasasnsssersssrsserensessssssssssssssssssssssssassssasannansassasssasssaseess 67
Updates on SGMA INICAtOrs......ovuivvceiiriiieiiimiiisimmmimmsssersiiimmsessesosesserssssn 68

7 - RECOMMENUATION ..iviiiiiiii ittt cirte st eceb e e e e tteessabesssrseranrasesanaetesanrbeesarbes s s bassesabseseassseseivasares 74
MONILOTING PrOBIamMS occoiiiiiiiiiiisissaeiinisimruessssssssssesssermsssssssssssssessossessessnssssrsssassossastaesssssssssssrns 74
Groundwater Production and Replenishment ..........cccciciiniiiinniininnncmmneeenninesisnceneen. 74
CVP Purchase RecommEendation......cccccceisiiiiininiimniiininiiiistimmmisesssiieernsisessinsssssssesens 75
GroundWater ChargeSs .. .ccoiiiiiiiiisinnesiisimrsiissssssesserminesinrrssesemsisiassssssssssssssssssssessnssssssansensanneversens 75
R =) =Y o1 ol -SSP OO OO 76

List of Tables

Table 4-1. Water Balance Update - Southern MA, AF ..ot st 25
Table 4-2. Water Balance Update - Hollister MA, AF........oooioic et i 25
Table 4-3. Water Balance Update - San Juan MA, AF ...t e 26
Table 4-4. Water Balance Update - Bolsa MA, AF ...t 26
Table 5-1. Allocation for USBR Water Years 2023-2024 .........ocooiviirviiiiiiiiniininin i eceninssnias 47
Table 5-2. TOLAl Water USE, AF ..ottt ettt eveccttr e e e s eebn et e e e s aenberasesa s nnbtetesaassaseneressasonsnenenns 52
Table 6-1. Adopted Groundwater Charges...........cocvivreriecinenicne e 64
Table 6-2. Adopted Blue Valve Water Charges.........ccocecmreiienimcccnien i seesas e 64
Table 6-3. Adopted Blue Valve POWEr Charges. ...t e 65
Table 6-4. Adopted Recycled Water CharZes ....oivieiecieiiecinec it sbenes 65
Table 6-5. Groundwater Management FEE .....c.ccveerrerriiiienmiiicii st s e sre e nas s 66
Table 7-1. SGMA INAICATOTS 1ocvrvreerireeeeiiii ettt eeccre e serreesstee s eseressasnesassernessotnsessomensssonsvssesnseessorsons 67
Table 7-2. KEY WIS ..ottt csere sttt s st s e eab e e res e be s rab s e baa s rens 70
Table 7-3. Interconnected Surface Water Wells........coccoviviniiiiiiiiniicinnie e 72

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 i Todd Groundwater



List of Figures

Figure 1-1.
Figure 1-2.
Figure 3-1.
Figure 3-2.
Figure 3-3.
Figure 3-4.
Figure 3-5.
Figure 3-6.
Figure 3-7.
Figure 4-1.
Figure 4-2.
Figure 4-3.
Figure 4-4.
Figure 4-5.
Figure 4-6.
Figure 4-7.
Figure 4-8.
Figure 4-9.
Figure 5-1.
Figure 5-2.
Figure 6-1.
Figure 6-2.

North San Benito Groundwater BaSiN «.....vvvvveviieiiiiiiiiiiciiireeeierveiirsessessasree st ers b s e s aessesaens 2

GSP ManagemENnT ATaS ....uieceriierireeeeiereieireesereeesecrevetiietisinet s srbesssabssrssbess s sibaissssssbaesrsasas 3
Water Year 2024 Precipilation ........ccciiriieeeeniinie it sssnnite s 9
Annual Precipitation, 1976-2024 .......ccccooereeiienicereeeneneeiene st s s s 10
Groundwater Monitoring Locations, October 2024 .........coovveevvivrcvivcicemiennennnenniennnn, i1
Hydrographs = SOUthErn IMA .. .....ooo e s s 13
Hydrographs - HOISTer MA L ...ttt 15
Hydrographs - San JUBN MA ........ooiiieiercee ettt e s s s st seiae s s 17
Hydrographs - BOISB MA ...ttt st cre st s sassae i 19
Water Balance — SOULErn MA ..ot rve s st ree b e e ssae s sane e s raesneeane 27
Water Balance — HOIStEr MA.........ooove ettt r s e st ssrcessresoserssabesssaasaeonne 28
Water Balance — San JUaN MA ...t e ieesirte s s e ree e sree s sbe e s s reres s s seras e 29
Water Balance — Bolsa MA ... ts et e s st e siresabbesneesnba e sbs e sesbasare s 30
Locations of Groundwater Pumping in Water Year 2024 .........cccocvvviviiviiinincininniennn, 34
Groundwater Elevations March 2024..........cooovvoiiieiicnieere e sreee e s s 38
Groundwater Elevations September 2024 ........o.eeoiieiviirieciceie et 40
Change Groundwater Elevations September 2023 ~ September 2024..........cccccoeciiinn 42
Cumulative Change in Storage 1975-2024 ..ot e 44
Municipal Water SUPPIY BY SOUFCE........iiciieieiree ettt s 50
Total CVP Water Use by Type 1976-2024 (AFY) coooiiciiirirncenietcnnie o irecniesnnee i 51
District Percolation LOCatioNS .......eevveriirriieiiie ettt 56
Volume of CVP Recharge by Major Waterway Over TIme ..o 57

Appendices (following text)

Appendix A Reporting Requirements
Appendix B Climate Data

Appendix C Hydrological Data
Appendix D Percolation Data

Appendix E
Appendix F

Water Use Data
Rates and Charges

Appendix G List of Acronyms

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 iii Todd Groundwater



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Annual Groundwater Report describes groundwater conditions in the North San Benito Basin, a
subbasin of the Gilroy-Hollister Basin. Consistent with Annual Groundwater Reports prepared by the San
Benito County Water District for decades, this report fulfills requirements of the 1953 San Benito County
Water District Act (California Water Code Appendix 70). This Annual Groundwater Report also fulfills
requirements of the 2014 Sustainable Groundwater Management Act (SGMA). In brief, this report
incorporates adaptive management; it strives to maintain consistency with past Annual Reports while
fulfilling requirements for SGMA Annual Reports and supporting sustainable groundwater management
into the future.

SGMA requires sustainable management of priority groundwater basins and empowers local
Groundwater Sustainability Agencies (GSAs) to manage groundwater resources. San Benito County
Water District GSA (SBCWD GSA), in partnership with Valley Water (known as Santa Clara Valley Water
District prior to 2019) GSA, has developed a Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) for the North San
Benito Basin. The North San Benito Basin is predominantly in San Benito County with small areas in
Santa Clara County. The North San Benito GSP was adopted by SBCWD and Valley Water GSA and was
submitted to the California Department of Water Resources (DWR) in January 2022. The 2022 GSP
provides the basic information, analytical tools, and projects and management actions for continued
groundwater management, guided by SGMA and by locally defined sustainability goals, objectives, and
metrics. The GSP was approved by DWR in July 2023.

This Annual Groundwater Report for San Benito County Water District (SBCWD or District) documents
water sources and uses, groundwater elevations and storage, and management activities for Water Year
2024 and provides recommendations. This Report also details the six Sustainable Management Criteria
and their respective Minimum Thresholds (MTs).

Water Year 2024 was an above average water year and was characterized by above average rainfall, 50
and 75 percent Central Valley Project (CVP) allocations for agricultural and M&l users, and increased
groundwater storage in most of the Basin. The water year spans two USBR contract years (March 2022 -
February 2023 and March 2023 — February 2024. The first part of Water Year 2024 saw 100 percent CVP
allocations while the latter half saw above average CVP allocations. The combined effects can be seen in
the Basin as continued recovery from the severe drought of 2020-2022.

The District had been able to leverage the CVP allocations, with over 70 percent of municipal demand
served by imported water. Municipal groundwater demand was reduced by 35 percent. Additional CVP
supply was available to agriculture but groundwater demand remained similar to last year, likely due to
the increased ET needs in Water Year 2024 which was warmer and drier than the very wet year of Water
Year 2023.

The groundwater basin continues to serve as an important reserve in situations of drought, limited CvP
allocation, or system disruptions. The District has effectively managed groundwater resources in San
Benito County for reliable and sustainable supply. Groundwater levels and storage remain sustainable
and are regularly monitored at Key Wells (also termed Representative Monitoring Sites or RMS) with
reference to Minimum Thresholds (MTs). Only 1 of 22 Key Wells showed measurements below its
respective MT levels and no basin-wide thresholds were triggered for a Management Area (MA) during
the water year. Groundwater levels in the Key Wells will continue to be monitored and the monitoring
network itself will be assessed regularly. The District has replaced four Key Wells that were no longer

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 ES-1 Todd Groundwater



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

accessible for water level measurement. These wells have been assigned a temporary MT based on their
historic lows. All of the MTs will be revised during the next period evaluation and update of the GSP.

Working collaboratively with other agencies, the District has eliminated historical overdraft, developed
and managed multiple sources of supply, established an effective water conservation program,
protected water quality, and provided annual reporting. Water Year 2024 witnessed approval of the
GSP, grant awards to implement GSP projects and the continuation of collaborative efforts. This Annual
Report includes an update on many of the Projects and Management Actions (PMAs) including managed
aquifer recharge (MAR), monitoring program improvements, Master Plan Update, pursuit of funding for
various projects, and information about the District’s funding mechanisms.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 ES-2 Todd Groundwater



1-INTRODUCTION

This Annual Groundwater Report describes groundwater conditions in the North San Benito Basin
(Figure 1-1), a subbasin of the Gilroy-Hollister Basin. Consistent with Annual Groundwater Reports
prepared for decades by the San Benito County Water District (SBCWD or District), this report fulfills
requirements of the 1953 San Benito County Water District Act (California Water Code Appendix 70).
The District Act authorizes the Board of Directors, at its discretion, to direct staff to prepare an annual
investigation and report on groundwater conditions of the District and its zones of benefit, such as Zone
6, the area for distribution of Central Valley Project (CVP) water. As documented in Appendix A, the
District Act specifies the minimum content of the report to be prepared at the direction of the District
Board of Directors. This Annual Report fulfills the requirements for a District Annual Report, including a
brief Annual Groundwater Memorandum Report prepared for the January 13, 2025, meeting of the
Board of Directors (in Appendix A). This Annual Report also provides information to the Board of
Directors on the status of the groundwater basin, estimated conditions in the next year, and
management recommendations.

This Annual Groundwater Report also fulfills the requirements of the 2014 Sustainable Groundwater
Management Act (SGMA). SGMA requires sustainable management of medium and high priority
groundwater basins and empowers local Groundwater Sustainability Agencies (GSAs) to manage
groundwater resources. San Benito County Water District GSA (SBCWD GSA), in partnership with Valley
Water GSA, has developed a Groundwater Sustainability Plan (GSP) for the medium priority North San
Benito Basin, which encompasses the historically defined Bolsa, Hollister, and San Juan Bautista
Subbasins of the Gilroy-Hollister Basin and the Tres Pinos Valley Basin. The North San Benito Basin is
predominantly in San Benito County with small areas in Santa Clara County. As presented in the North
San Benito Groundwater Sustainability Plan (Todd 2021), the North San Benito Groundwater Basin has
been divided into four management areas, shown in Figure 1-2, which have been defined to facilitate
implementation of the GSP.

In accordance with SGMA, this Annual Report documents water supply sources and use, groundwater
elevations and storage, and management activities from October 2023 through September 2024. The
SGMA elements guide, detailing the required SGMA components, is included in Appendix A. This Annual
Report conveys considerable data, including tables and figures, which are provided largely in
Appendices B through G. Appendix F provides information on water rates and charges and Appendix H
contains a list of acronyms.

The 2024 Annual Groundwater Report incorporates adaptive management; it strives to maintain
consistency with past Annual Reports while fulfilling requirements for SGMA Annual Reports and
supporting sustainable groundwater management into the future.

Acknowledgments

This report was prepared by Maureen Reilly, PE, , Gus Yates PG, CHG, Iris Priestaf, PhD, and Chad Taylor,
PG, CHG of Todd Groundwater. We appreciate the assistance of San Benito County Water District staff,
particularly Dana Jacobson, Brett Miller, CPA, CPFO, Jeff Cattaneo, PE, and David Macdonald, PE.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 1 Todd Groundwater



uiseg Ja}eMpuno.o
ojiuag ues yjioN

L-1 ainbiy

dILVMANNOYUD

i dOL

- pusaba)
. J
FJ et R -2
S9|IN Ul 8|edg S ~ 4 2 rV
\ I(f — AN
e ¢ i e . /’ oy
” 0 e ) 4 - “Runoy fesiuopy o~
rrl.\.:s\).\\ A S T e e M W S iy
< S o | "Runog oyueg ueg S ==\
/ W M &
')( -t /./
s
]
2 \ N
\
\
\|I|I.\\|~
ST
.7/. N \\
a2 -
S K
o A * AR
& N h W Vig
t
)
\ X
N ”
D
. A E
£ N .
/7 //1,1 N
= o
N . @
QS : uiseqqns
sebey
o
o E
7/
4
/.
.
2 e
© F s
o - Pn
o g <
>, N
C\ \\
- &7
o y \
uiseg © 2@ VeS 090\\/%&
ojusg ueg & 0 MW= N SO
o a0 e .y M P
yjioN e \\\1000 N~ /j B Y 09 \\ L2
R N e \ il
i \ ¢ ke 7S
- S, 4 L \ 7 P
e Ly \ \\
ﬂ 7’
1 \\
sop ueg d A ) @
. ~e—= G ,
|7 MOWEL ™ oosiaue) /J
i EEP coeny Ugs \,
i .
¥
T 2
i —aes

G20¢ YdlelN
3

m, Aunog ejuiogied & 3
|
_

> 5
uiseqqgng sebe
uiseg ojuag uesg YUoN Q




sealy
juswabeue 4SO
Z-1 @inbiy

d3LVMANNOYUD

___[a(e(@]]

G20C Ya1BN

pusbe]
T
- o - ’
- &, gt e 2
v, 4 ALY,
" & N S L 2 X 0 V.
R ¥ s ov /ﬁ. \\\;\ ~ b \\ .@
N ., N ' . ~‘ {“Runoy Aaissjuopy -
i = 7 O 2 oD AT TR
e ¢ .- /7 Runoyionueg ueg T ——— e
w/vl_..\ T Jr //
Lo N
ANA
D \
\.‘ll\
/
/
"3
\ s
A // A\ \\
A0 JusweBeueyy o e
> uenp ueg
ealy
jusweBeuey a
uiayjnog 2D
P\
O
> <
O R
: > ealy
juawabeuepy ealy
J83silioH awabeuepy
> esjog
0y < v
SO|IN Ul 8|edg
o = 77
e 2 N
v 0 \\\\\\ !/\\L,// \L.//\rl, &/
St L A \ G
e A \\ N 728
/ I ) « Pl
¢ . ( P
\\\ / \\
N T @
a / \
N
§
p 4
$ . gy
1 L~
i e

TR o st

i

cepsm e

Aunod eiuoped G 3

wswabeuepy pasodold Q
uiseg ojuag ues YuoN Q

]

M
;
i




2 — GEOGRAPHIC AREA

This Annual Report describes conditions in the North San Benito Basin (Basin),* located predominantly in
San Benito County with small areas in Santa Clara County. Consistent with the North San Benito GSP, it
uses groundwater basin boundaries described in DWR Bulletin 118 (DWR Basin 3-003.005), California’s
Groundwater Update 2020. In addition to Bulletin 118, the geographic areas and boundaries of local
groundwater subbasins have been defined differently by SBCWD for its management purposes. The
previous and current boundaries are described here to provide a bridge between previous annual
reports and the current SGMA analyses and reporting.

DWR-Defined Basin

The areas of focus for the annual reports are the Management Areas (MAs), shown on Figure 1-2. The
four MAs were defined in the North San Benito GSP to facilitate implementation. Major factors in
defining the MAs within the Basin were watersheds and particularly, availability of water sources and
zones of benefit. SBCWD provides local surface water from Hernandez and Paicines reservoirs to the
zone of benefit, Zone 3, and provides CVP water to Zone 6.

The four Management Areas are listed below with the SBCWD-defined subbasins that they generally
encompass:

e Southern MA

e Hollister MA (includes Tres Pinos, Hollister East and West, Bolsa SE, Pacheco subbasins)
e SanJuan MA (includes almost all District-defined San Juan subbasin)

e Bolsa MA (includes almost all District-defined Bolsa subbasin)

Hollister and San Juan MAs include portions of Zone 6; Southern and Bolsa MAs do not.

Ongoing District Monitoring Programs

Data from monitoring programs undertaken by local, state, and federal agencies are summarized below
as currently incorporated in the Annual Report. The District data compilation and monitoring programs
are being expanded and revised as data needs are identified through the GSP process, for example to
address topics such as potential groundwater dependent ecosystems, and to represent the entire North
San Benito Basin with appropriate detail.

! The official name is North San Benito Subbasin of the Gilroy Hollister Basin, DWR Basin Number 3-003.05. For this
report, it is referred to as North San Benito Basin to clearly differentiate it from previous DWR-defined and
SBCWD-defined subbasins. As a matter of context, Figure C-1 in Appendix C shows all DWR Bulletin 118
groundwater basins that are wholly or partially in San Benito County.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 4 Todd Groundwater



2 — GEOGRAPHIC AREA

Climate. Climate data are regularly compiled from DWR’s California Irrigation Management
Information System (CIMIS) and include total solar radiation, soil temperature, air temperature/relative
humidity, wind direction, wind speed, and precipitation. Additional precipitation data are available from
the Western Regional Climate Center (WRCC) station at Hollister from 1934-2024 (WRCC, 2024). For the
Annual Groundwater Reports, historical annual precipitation data have been compiled and reported
using the Hollister rain gage for the long-term precipitation and the CIMIS San Benito station for recent
monthly precipitation. Monthly precipitation and evapotranspiration for the Hollister No. 126 CIMIS
station are tabulated in Appendix B.

Groundwater levels. SBCWD has had a semi-annual groundwater level monitoring program since Water
Year (Water Year) 1977; groundwater level data gathered by the United States Geological Survey (USGS)
and other agencies are available as early as 1913 (Clark, 1924). The Annual Groundwater Reports
provide quarterly groundwater level data organized by year in Appendix C. The data are the basis for
groundwater hydrographs and for numerical model updates with preparation of groundwater level
contour maps, change maps, and storage change computations. The SBCWD monitoring program
includes wells in the Pacheco Valley in Santa Clara County provided by Valley Water. Valley Water’s
monitoring program also provides data for the southern Llagas Subbasin; which are important to verify
groundwater flow across the Llagas-North San Benito subbasin boundary. SBCWD reports water levels
for SGMA Key Wells through the SGMA portal.

Reservoirs. The Annual Report summarizes reservoir water budget information for Hernandez, Paicines,
and San Justo reservoirs and provides annual total releases from Hernandez and Paicines reservoirs
from Water Year 1996 to present. Reservoir storage and release data are available in Appendix D.

Surface water flows and percolation. Surface water monitoring and percolation amounts are
summarized in Appendix D. For Water Year 1994 to present, percolation of imported CVP water is
documented in Table D-3 and percolation of wastewater is shown in Tables D-4 and D-5. The District
temporarily suspended its surface water monitoring network in 2019 but plans to relaunch surface
water monitoring at selected sites as part of SGMA implementation.

Wells and groundwater pumping. SBCWD has monitored groundwater pumping in Zone 6 using
electrical and motor hour meters. Pumping amounts are calculated semiannually by metering the
number of hours of pump operation and multiplying by the average discharge rate. However, other
estimates of pumping have indicated that the power and hour meters underestimate pumping.
Irrigation pumping beyond Zone 6 is not monitored but has been estimated for regular water budget
updates based on land use information and water use factors. This method of estimating groundwater
pumping will be replaced as part of SGMA implementation. The District is currently investigating new
water use monitoring programs (like OpenET) that will address the entire GSP area and will be
documented in future Annual Reports. Estimation of groundwater pumping using the numerical model
by major use category and MA is described in Section 5, which also provides information on CVP use in
Zone 6 and recycled water use. Appendix E contains additional information on water use.

Water quality. In 1997, SBCWD initiated a program for monitoring nitrate and electrical conductivity
(EC) in wells. In 2004, SBCWD established a comprehensive water quality database with records from all
water systems and regulated facilities. State-wide sources of groundwater quality data include the
Water Data Library (WDL), Geotracker/GAMA program, and the State Water Resources Control Board’s

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 5 Todd Groundwater



2 — GEOGRAPHIC AREA

Division of Drinking Water. The SBCWD database is updated and reviewed annually with detailed
triennial assessment as described in the GSP; a triennial update of water quality was prepared for the
Water Year 2022 Annual Report and will be included in the Water Year 2025 report. The triennial
analyses contain information about the database update and a review of the water quality data.
Appendix F contains additional information on water quality last updated for the Water Year 2022
analysis.

Units and accuracy. Throughout this report, water volumes and changes in storage are shown to the
nearest acre-foot (AF). These values are accurate to one to three significant digits (depending on the
measurement). All digits are retained in the text to maintain as much accuracy as possible during
subsequent calculations, but results should be rounded appropriately.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 6 Todd Groundwater



3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

The Annual Report summarizes basin conditions including climate, groundwater elevations,
groundwater storage, and groundwater level trends. Overall, Water Year 2024 was characterized by
above normal precipitation. This marks the second year in a row with above normal conditions; Water
Year 2023 was a wet year.

Climate

Assessment of climatic conditions begins with collection of climate data (rainfall and
evapotranspiration), which are summarized in Appendix B. Local climate data are compiled on a
monthly basis and reviewed annually. Local rainfall and evapotranspiration is a variable that affects
basin inflows (e.g., deep percolation) and outflows (groundwater pumping). Recognizing that drought
often is extensive across Northern California, local dry years also may be indicative of regional drought
and reduced CVP allocations. Dry years often are characterized by reduced local recharge from deep
percolation and increased groundwater pumping for agricultural irrigation to offset lack of rainfall and
CVP supply.

In Water Year 2024, overall precipitation was 15.5 inches; monthly totals are shown in Figure 3-1. Water
Year 2024 was an above normal year; the annual precipitation was 120 percent of average (12.9 inches).
December, January, February, and March received higher than normal precipitation (Figure 3-1).
Monthly rainfall and evapotranspiration data from Water Year 1996 to Water Year 2024 are presented
in Appendix B. Figure 3-2 shows annual precipitation and water year type from 1976 through 2024. As
illustrated, Water year 2024 rainfall was an above normal year, marking the second year in a row of
above normal precipitation as Water Year 2023 was wet. Precipitation data collected through February
2025 (6.6 inches) indicate that Water Year 2025 may be a dry or below average year.

Groundwater Elevations

In October 2024, SBCWD collected groundwater elevations in 137 wells from their existing network
including nine wells monitored by Valley Water. Recent monitoring included an additional 38 wells
which SBCWD has been unable to monitor due primarily to changes in accessibility. SBCWD is
investigating these changes in accessibility and hopes to return these wells to the network or to identify
appropriate replacements.

Figure 3-3 shows well locations in the current SBCWD monitoring network, including wells previously
monitored. Wells monitored in Water Year 2024 are indicated by blue circles, wells that have been
monitored within the past five years but have been recently inaccessible are shown by yellow circles,
and wells monitored anytime in the past are shown by gray circles. Five wells monitored by the District
and two wells monitored by Valley Water are recommended to be removed from the monitoring
program as these wells have been destroyed or are no longer planned to be monitored, these wells are
shown in red. Figures 3-4 through 3-7 show hydrographs for key wells in the basin with their respective
minimum thresholds (MTs). Additional information on these key wells can be found in Appendix C,

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 7 Todd Groundwater



3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

Section 5 (Water Balance), and Section 7 (SGMA Indicators). The MTs, shown as red lines on the
hydrographs, were developed in the GSP to assess sustainability and minimize any risk to nearby
domestic wells of future low-water levels (see Section 7).

Because several key wells for groundwater elevations are unable to be monitored and/or showed
inconsistent groundwater elevations, new wells were added to the network. This is illustrated on Figure
3-6 by Well 13-5-6L1, which is a relatively new monitoring well where groundwater elevations have
ranged 100 feet over the past 10 years. A new well, DB-1, has been added to the key well network to
provide additional information for this location. The replacement wells and their sustainable
management criteria are detailed in Section 7 (SGMA Indicators).

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 8 Todd Groundwater



uoljeydioaid e LVMANNOED SINID :221n05
¥20C 1ed ) 18jep\ - Q D Oi_l
L-€ m._Jm_n_ G20z YolelN (uezlL) - 9beiony [

(ussi)-vzoz B

Yluop
daS 9nY Nt NAF AV ¥dv YV 834 NvFf 230 AON 100
1

(seyoul) uoneudioaid




Precipitation and Year Type

. waw ) . =
' 0w ‘3T ' =

5 ' 8E 1 BEi 2 52

= ' 95 '®gtO £0
1 <z 1 @Oz ' =
1] ] ] 1 o
I

|

|

|

|

Water Year

II__,

|

hnil

30

AR

' ' e wee————r——
T T T T T 1
1 2 w ° o °

(sayouy) uoneydioald

| 24v4
£¢0¢
[44V14
Lcoc
0¢coc
610¢
81L0¢
2102
910¢
SloC
1454
€L0¢
cloe
1102
oLoz
6002
8002
L00¢
900¢
§002
002
€00¢C
[4vior4
1002
000¢
6661
8661
1661
9661
G661
¥661
€661}
2661
1661
0661
6861
8861
1861
9861
G861
¥861
€861
2861
1861
0861
661
8/61
1161
9/61

Figure 3-2
Annual Precipitation
1976-2024

March 2025
TODD .-
GROUNDWATER

Source: WRCC Hollister 1 and Hollister 2 Stations




suones01 buriojluop
Jajempunols)
¢-¢ ainbiy

3ILVMANNOHED \\
1ddol |!
GzZ0Z UoIei e

S3)IN Ul 8jedg

.4‘ .

@
ealy
juswebeuep ®
ulaynog ’ (‘@]
of 4 Be
sould sal @
’ dsaiL @
O
o
2 =,
- /r/l 2 \\\_ /(\./l/z
7 '\")’ \
- \.‘ \
.y

5
» o ===u—ur

Ajuno? ejuiolled J\.w weiboid Buuoyuoy wouy parowsy oM @
sulseqqns lI9M palojiuo AjjesuoisiH O
! yjuswabeuepy a 202 JesA Jo)e/) Ul 9]qISS@00BU| INg SIBSA SAI4 JSEBT Ul palojuo [ISM O
‘| uiseg onusg ues yuoN a Jea\ Jo)eM) Ul palOIUOW |IPM\ @
pusba| /
T —

juswabeuep
ueng ueg

ealy

/O @ 0] awabeuepy @)
esjog @ ‘
> @
@
@

(N) 3se3 ¢
@ FERTET .

O, ®

O ®
eaty @

yuawabeuep

J8sljiloH

8

tAa




3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

(THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 12 Todd Groundwater



ealyY

juswoabeuepy uiaynog

sydesBoipAH [[aMm Aoy
p-¢ 24nbi1y

YILVMANNOAD

Q0L

G20¢ Udlen

s8I Ul 3jeag /
———
t4 ] /

(1sw129)) 3Q9O 104 PIOYSBIY L WNWIUN
(15w 122)) |PAS7 JRIBAA 10) PIOYSDIY| WINWIUIY =
(|SWw ) uoNeAS|T IBlEMPUNOID ©

—2

funog elwopes 43
Juswabeueyy pesodoid Q
uiseg oyueg ues won &3

SZ0Z 020Z SLOZ 0L0Z SOOZ 000Z S66L 066L SB6L 086L SL6L OL6L

g

L ' ' s s = L

. [ o5
m
i
H
L oso £
i
£
00z
Lase-9vl
207 0202 SL0Z 0LOZ SO0Z 000 S66L 066} S86L 0B6L S61 0L6H
M KSR Pl e s L o
G 1t ﬁmw
Lot
o
i easy
ﬁ oo, 3 juswebeuey
3 wsynog
L ose &
3
&
00£
LHIZ-9-¥L

6§20z 020z SLOZ 0LOZ SOOZ 000Z S66L 066L SB6L 0861 S.L6L 0/6L

T e N -
«.— | L ooz
Yo
Ay M
Vi

0,900 F op

a%
t o9
08

MOZ-L-vL

R
(15w 1995) UOKRARIT JojEMPUNOID

R

B3

SZ0Z 0Z0Z SLOZ 0LOZ SO0Z 000Z S66L 066L SB6L 0861 S/6L OL6L

I9z-ovl

§ 8
8

(15w 100)) uoyeAs(3 sejempuncin

°
3

8 8
8 8

8
R

185¢-9-v1
O

WHIZ9YL @ 4

N ujseqqng ojluag ues YUoN

ydeiboipAH 3ao/eAa 1em @
ydeiBosphy [sro 100em @

L n s L L

$20Z 020z SL0Z OLOZ S00C 000C 5661 086L 5861 086) SL6L 0L64

8
3

- e . . i
INOTEHL Oﬁu w.@l\l\/\/\lH e i

@ q .
INOZ-L¥L Lael-ovL o

g

o
S
<

2
3

g

(15w 393y) uogeAs(3 Jojempuncis

3
2

g

620Z 0Z0Z S1OZ 0L0Z SOOZ 000Z S66L 0661 GS86L 0861 SL6L OL6)
~.- <r ) ie
L 4
IR N ™
Qe
"
LEEL-9-PL

o
14
&

8

(1sw J09y) uopeAR] JajEMPUNCID

o
o

g

2
8




3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 14 Todd Groundwater



ealy
juswabeuep JajsijjoH
sydeiBoipAH j1apm A3y

dALVMANNOHUD

ERJJdOL

G-¢ aunbiy

G20Z Ua1eN

SB[IN U} 8R0S
z [)

N

(15w 189)) 309 40) PIOYSBIYL WNWIUY
(1sw 198)) [9AS7 J91BA JO) PIOYSBIY] WNWIUIN ~—
(jsw i) uoneas|3 JeEMpUNOID .

pasopuow sabuoj ou sjjap Aoy
ydesboipAH Jao/ereT 9lem
ydeiBoipAH |9raT J8iepm
ydesBosphy 309

Aunog ewoped <2
Juswabeuey pesodoid 0
uiseg oyusg UBS YUON a

o0oe®

S20Z 0202 SLOZ 0L0Z SOOZ 000Z S66L 066L S86L 0861 SL6L 0L6h

g

s
3

{151 199)) uopEAD| JojempUNoID

g
8

L4EL-SEL

&

8
8

]

5207 020z S10Z 0LOZ SO0Z 000Z S66L 066L S86L 086l SL6L 061

o L . L L A n

R ] e A
e . = “ai,
. i )

P * - .
Yot pPwa telogul’s | :..(:\..\ e

-
i

8
2

(15w 100)) uoyEAR|3 JojemMpPUNOID

IN0Z-9EL

06¢

e
s

$Z07 0202 SL0Z 0LOZ SO0Z 000Z $66L 066L S86L 0B6L SL6L 061

— — —

kL -
w u
v AT N

gty

g

(15w 100)) uopenss3 Jorempuncig

016191

z

8

§

e
3

g

S20Z 0202 S10Z OLOZ S00Z 000Z S66L 066L S@6L 086L SI6L OL6L

{
}

;:IWJ e!»‘»,ﬁ
1 . L ovz
v : .
L } z
5l . [T A
: .I- . |-t .
A Vi & A I B N
s y B Ay “epgene Pl ...
00€
13Ls€L

(1su1399)) uoeASE3 JoTEMPUNOID

eosy

jewoebBeunpy e
weynog IN6L-9-E) baErE e .,/,/
rﬁmr.wc.\m&o 4,47 13L-s-€l
0761-9-€h k4
= T, bI0ZIEL
AV

$Z0Z 020Z SLOZ OLOZ SO0Z 000Z S661 066L S@6L 086L S.61 0/61

r..r _.
b 00z

. PR
o o

“
g

&

(15w 109)) UoREAI[F JARMPUNOID

8
8
&

Vi9-9-Z4

SZ0Z 0Z0Z SLOZ OLOZ SO0Z 000Z S66L 066L S86L 086L SL6L 0L6L

I O I R T o
- 091

<
T I ost

(15w 109)) uopens(3 sorempuncsg

: T ofe . uiseqqns ojueg Ues YHoN
67 o 00z
x \r . -- -
2 X - L oz
) .
o ot i
. e o, o ° o
Ldves-zt
S20Z 0Z0Z SLOZ OLOZ SOOZ 000Z S66L 0661 SB6L 086l SL6L OL6L
e By e ey ot
easy g
juowebeuey 5 ooz
uenp ues Y
b o6t
m
L oz W
=
LiE
Ldve-sZh sﬂm
sy £Ma MI
wewebeuny
esjog
S20Z 0ZOZ SLOZ OLOZ SOOZ 000Z S66L 0B6L SB6L 0861 SL6L 0.6}
CEpTET T
| . b oo

INVZ-S-2L ® . o ?
£Ma MW - A H
eoly e [O0E
JuoweBeuey > H
10s|fjoH F ool S
LEE-5-ZL - ——T v. o 5
S

@ i

1896524
195€-5-LL
V199 S202 0202 SLOZ OLOZ SO0Z 000Z S66) 066L S86L 0861 Si6L OL6H
e 0oL

Lasi-s-it

. .

S20z 020z SL0Z OLOZ SOOZ 000Z S66L 0661 S86L 0B6L Si61 OL6L
I ' s ' L L s " L s 05t

2
&

8
&

(1sut 303y) uofieAd(3 Jojempunold

&




3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 16 Todd Groundwater



eal
\4 dILVMANNOYD SOl Ut 81258 / (151 1995) TAD 10] PIOYSBIL WNRAWIUN —— B paiojiuows 18Buoj ou sliam Aoy @
aEUEQUNCNE uenf ueg I D D OI_I. il ¢ Aunog euiojen & 2 ydeiBoiphH 3gonese oM @
sydeiBoipAH [1opm Aoy j / (15w 00)) _m>w._ﬂ_2m>\w_e PIOYSIY] WNWIUY ——— wowsSoue posodoid &3 udasBopki leeyionm @
SWw UDJBAS|T J3)eMpPuno.
o9-¢ OLSQ_& G2Z0Z usiepy ISW Y} Uogesars Jeyemp! B} . uiseq oyuag VES YUON Q ydesBoipAH 305 Q
20z 0202 SL0Z 0L0Z S00Z 000Z SG6L 06GL SB6L 086L SIGL OL6L 5202 0202 S10Z 0L0Z S00Z 000Z S664 0661 S86L 0B6L SL6L OL6L
19U 159) 25 = 1IN J9IEMPUNGID o 1 L L 1 n L L L s " L N o6
. b 5 ou 5
‘ . @ ozt m w
2 ock 2
o g
£ :
? oo § o5 §
| \W; =
.o Sga 08l 3 ozt H
o™ g i
00z o6t
WHETE N uiseqqng ojjusg UeS YLON
% 2 DB e e 5 S _ g
LN ~ ‘ Auno onusg ueg -
La, TS / \
> 5 \ 5202 0202 SL0Z OLOZ S00Z 000Z S6GL 066L S86L 0B6L SL6L OL6H
PR DI D S R N ST W
°
:
b M
SZ0T 0202 SLOZ OLOZ SO00Z 000C S66L 066H S964 096 SL6L OL6H U =
e S s i
g i
FoozL § 08t
o g S LWLZZL
b on VHYE-p-ZL WALZZL a0 Oy
: g 0Z1LL-¥ZL
t oot w
20z 0Z0z SI0Z OLOZ S00Z 000 S664 06GL S96L 086} SL6L 0L6)
i 199Z-+-21 AL AT U T e I N g
| i 0
00z Los £
-8a : 2
jJuswaBeuepy : i
uenp ueg o
2
L oo &
s
F uv_w
ealy 3
n.M( juswebeuepy o
juswebeuepy esjog
0TILIZL
10)S(j|OH

S20z 020z SH0Z 0L0Z SO0Z 000Z S66L 0GGL S86L 086L SI6L OL6L SDANE S AL RFUBR00S APUUE 061 08B} 0U0L Y GO0R AL BE S 0L0)
. ¥ ¥ £ = 4 4 i 4 : 004 LIS 1% 551 = 1 INEmpURCID e = —

g R T o §

l oz1 § o 5
g & oo W
g )

L ovt o m
7 P g
H
g S

PRk L osi §

[7 ioes m Fou g
& 2

00z o6t
119-s-€L




3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 18 Todd Groundwater



ealy Juswabeuepy esjog
sydeiBoipAH [1ap Aoy
1-¢ 24nB1gy

dILVMANNOYD

L__lelee]]

G20c¢ udiey

N

(1sw 199)) 3@D 40j PIoysaIy) WNWIUY -~
(IsW 123)) |9 JoJeAA J0) PIOYSOIY]L WNWIUIY =
(Isw ) uopeAs|3 JeleMpUNOID .

Runo) elusojied \/,\\N ydesBoipAH 3ao/ere 181em @

sealy wawabeuey pssodoid § 3
uiseq 0juog UES YUON 0

ydesBospAy jeassoiem @
ydesboipAH 309 Q@

$20Z 020z SLOZ 0L0Z SO0Z 00OZ S66L OG6L S86L 086L S/61 OL6L

IS0 99 = 1A

P o L
22 AP A ?

oL

- 06

(15w Jo0y) uopizs|3 Jejempunci

1882-6-11

§20Z 0Z0Z SLOZ OLOZ S00Z 000Z S66L 066L SB6L 086L S.L6L 0L61

z 0
SZ07 0207 SLOZ OLOZ SOOZ 000Z S66L 0661 SBEL 086L SI6L OL6L
e e, e
§
® %
* M
L os m.
i L . Foou H
g
. . &
o5t
1azi-s-zi

SZ0Z 0ZOZ SLOZ OLOZ SOOZ ODOZ SB6L 066L SB6L 0B6L SZ6I 0.61

L ,
5W 199) | = LW JO1eMpuUncio

119521

00!

ozL

ovl

(1sus 100)) uopEAO[3 JojEMPpUNOID

09L

119521

ealy
Juewebeuep
13ysijjoH

(15w 192)) uopeAS|3 J0jeMpUNCID

LTSI

~ T zdz-sib raszsi
N\

)

P
%
> p

ujseqqng ojjuag ues YUON

$20z 020z SLOZ OLOZ SOOZ 000Z S66L 0B6L S86L 086L S61 0/61

et i3 g e 06
i F o5
* Los &
& m
i
a Fosts
]
| F oo H
i
S

061

23151

INOZ-S-LL

SzAzsLy

1897511 N
THSZ-V 1L
SZ0Z 0Z0Z SL0Z OLOZ SO0Z 000Z S66L 0661 S86L 0861 S.61 0.6
Elvigals Seeam Tk e B L X
0 5
H
w &
3
Lo
(1743 g
H
L
ovl

INOZ-S-1L

SZ0Z 0Z0Z SL0Z OLOZ SO0Z 000Z S66L 0661 SB6L OB6L SL6L 061

' ' a— 40y g ' ' s

e
Modes 17 AM oL pajoaiiod Ly .

el

g 8 8 g %
(1sw 309) uogens|3 sejempuncin

g8

SZ0Z 020Z SL0Z OLOZ SOOZ 000Z S661 0661 SB6L 0861 Si6L 0L6L

L ' L s n L I Pt L

1892111

08

oLL

[

o5t

(1sw y29)) uopeAs(3 Jerempuncio

08}

SZ0Z 020Z SLOZ 0LOZ SOOZ 000C S66L 0B6) S86L 086L Si6L 0L6}

Lo ST

ey L L L L L n '

0
2]
3
ouw
or
m
:
.
g
0
g
00




3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 20 Todd Groundwater



3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

Groundwater Trends

Figures 3-4 through 3-7 shows hydrographs of key wells, illustrating long term groundwater elevation
changes for the four MAs shown on the maps. As part of the GSP, a network of key wells was selected to
monitor for sustainability. These wells were identified from the larger groundwater monitoring network
based on length of record, location, continued monitoring, and proximity to water ways (for
interconnected surface water key wells). There are 22 key wells to monitor regional groundwater levels
(blue circles) and 19 key wells to monitor interconnected surface water / Groundwater Dependent
Ecosystems (GDEs; orange circles). These two data sets overlap; eight wells are both groundwater level
and interconnected surface water/GDE key wells (blue and orange circles). The MTs set in the GSP to
determine chronic lowering of water levels are shown as red lines and MTs that serve as a proxy for
interconnected surface water/GDEs are shown as orange lines. In 2024, five key wells that have been
unable to be monitored in the past two years were temporarily replaced with nearby wells. Permanent
replacement wells and respective MTs will be documented in the next periodic evaluation (due January
2027). More information on the key well network and these replacements can be found in Section 7
(SGMA Indicators).

This year’s increases in groundwater levels and storage signal improvements in most wells from recent
drought conditions. Continuing its conjunctive use of surface water and groundwater resources and
recognizing that climate change will increase temporal variability of water supplies, the District
continues to implement projects to increase capture of available water supplies and enhance
groundwater level and storage recovery when water is available.

Southern Management Area. Although the District has monitored selected wells in the Southern MA
since 2001, elevation data remain limited throughout the MA. The five key wells for water levels and
one key well for interconnected surface water are shown on Figure 3-4. Because of topography and
groundwater flow direction, water levels in the Southern MA are about 400 feet higher than those in the
Hollister MA, about nine miles away. As an example, the hydrograph for Well 14-7-20K1 shows that
water levels reached a local maximum during 2006, decreased to a local minimum during the drought in
2013-2015, recovered through 2019/2020, decreased slightly through 2022, and have been rising since.
In 2024 groundwater elevations in Well 14-7-20K1 continued to increase while still being below
historical highs. In general, the pattern of water level change over time observed in 14-7-20K1, including
decline from 2020-2022, an increase in 2023, and stable conditions in 2024, is illustrative of other wells
in the Southern MA.

Hollister Management Area. As shown on Figure 3-5, the Hollister MA has six key wells for tracking
groundwater levels, three wells for tracking interconnected surface water, and one additional well
serving both. One key well, 12-5-03B1, is a flowing artesian well under similar conditions as artesian
wells in the Bolsa MA. The hydrographs for wells 11-5-35G and 12-5-24N1 in the north and central
portions of the MA exemplify the recovery experienced in the 1990s and early 2000s with the
introduction of CVP water for agricultural irrigation. Review of most of the hydrographs indicates that
groundwater levels have generally plateaued, declining slightly in drought and rebounding in wet years
with sufficient CVP allocation. Since 2020, and continuing through 2022, groundwater levels generally

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 21 Todd Groundwater



3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

declined but remained above historical lows. In 2023, groundwater levels increased showing some
recovery from the most recent drought. This recovery continued through 2024. Well 12-6-06L4 near
Pacheco Creek and Well 13-5-13F1 near San Benito River also show slight recovery from drought,
reflecting increased stream recharge and subsurface inflow from upgradient areas of the Basin.

San Juan Management Area. Figure 3-6 shows the locations in San Juan MA and hydrographs for six key
wells: two for tracking groundwater levels, two for interconnected surface water, and two for tracking
both. Groundwater elevations generally peaked around 2005-2010 with subsequent declines especially
in the eastern MA. Nonetheless, groundwater levels remain above historical lows. When available,
managed recharge of CVP water at the ponds near the Hollister Water Reclamation Plant (WRP) will help
in managing groundwater levels. The westernmost key well 12-4-17L20 (located along the San Benito
River) shows stable groundwater elevation with levels in Water Year 2024 approaching observed highs.
The groundwater levels in this well have recovered and water levels are above the MT for
interconnected surface water/GDEs.

Bolsa Management Area. As shown on Figure 3-7, the Bolsa MA has five key wells for tracking
groundwater levels, four key wells for monitoring interconnected surface water/GDEs, and one for both
purposes. Two key wells currently have flowing artesian conditions (11-5-21E2 and 11-5-28B1). These
artesian conditions reflect local hydrogeologic confinement created by clay layers in the northern Bolsa
and Hollister MAs. Groundwater elevations in these confined zones increased from 1992 until about
1998, when levels were pressurized to above the ground surface. While the groundwater pressure head
above the ground surface elevation may vary in artesian wells, artesian groundwater levels are
challenging to measure. Consequently, all artesian wells in the San Benito are recorded as having a
groundwater elevation at ground surface elevation. Water levels in most of the key wells show generally
stable trends, albeit with differing magnitudes of variability that likely reflect varying degrees of
confinement and responses to pumping. An example of this variation can be seen in Wells 12-5-06L1
and 12-5-17D1, which are within two miles of each other but have different long and short-term
groundwater elevation trends. Groundwater elevations in well 12-5-06L1 rose relatively consistently
from the early 2000’s through early 2020’s and have risen and fallen in response to climate conditions
since. Groundwater elevations in nearby well 12-5-17D1 have been variable, but overall indicated a
declining trend from the 1970’s through the 2020’s and have recently stabilized. The trend differences
trends in these wells likely reflect changing land use and pumping patterns and illustrate how local the
effect of these changes can be on groundwater conditions. Groundwater levels in Wells 11-4-26B1 and
11-4-34A1 show increases in water levels in Water Years 2023 and 2024; these are key wells for
interconnected surface water/GDEs, and spring 2024 groundwater levels are above the MTs in both.

District Act Determination of Overdraft. The District Act (see Appendix A) requires presentation of
estimates of annual overdraft for the current water year and ensuing water year. Consistent with
previous Annual Reports, this would be represented by long-term groundwater level declines, resulting
from reduced rainfall and CVP imports. As of 2024, groundwater elevation trends do not indicate
overdraft, and overdraft is not anticipated for the remainder of 2024 and 2025.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 22 Todd Groundwater



3 — BASIN CONDITIONS

Sustainable Management Criteria for Groundwater Quality

Sustainable management, as defined by SGMA, is the use and management of groundwater without
causing undesirable effects. For groundwater quality, SGMA defines undesirable results as significant
and unreasonable adverse impacts to groundwater quality caused by GSA projects, management
actions, or other management of groundwater such that beneficial uses are affected or well owners
experience an increase in operational costs.

The sustainability goal is to protect groundwater and prevent circumstances where future management
activities may degrade groundwater quality. This could occur if groundwater levels change and thereby
induce leaching or vertical migration of poor quality groundwater, if areal migration of poor quality
groundwater is induced by pumping, or if groundwater quality degradation is associated with recharge
or wastewater discharge projects.

Sustainable management of the North San Benito Basin focuses on the two key constituents, TDS and
nitrate, as indicators of groundwater quality degradation. As described in the GSP, the triennial analysis
of TDS and nitrate is used to determine if degradation is occurring. The GSP established Minimum
Thresholds (MTs) for both TDS and nitrate based on the General Basin Plan Objectives developed in the
District’s Salt and Nutrient Management Plan (SNMP).

As discussed in the GSP, if a triennial update shows that TDS or nitrate concentrations are greater than
the minimum thresholds, it will lead to an evaluation of whether the degradation is likely caused by GSA
management activities, legacy loading, or a changing dataset. A complete analysis of water quality was
performed in the Annual Report for Water Year 2022 and the triennial update will occur in the Water
Year 2025 Annual Report.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 23 Todd Groundwater



4-WATER BALANCE

For the GSP, a quantitative assessment of the water balance (or water budget) of the North San Benito
Subbasin (or Basin) was developed, using the numerical model, and presenting estimates of inflows,
outflows, and change in storage for the Management Areas (MAs). The North San Benito GSP numerical

- model was based on historical data for water years 1975-2017 and has been updated annually as part of
the annual report. For this Annual Report, newly available data were used to improve and update
analyses for recent years. Results for 2019 through 2024 are shown here.

Method of Analysis

The water balance used for the GSP, and updated here, was developed using a rainfall-runoff-recharge
model and a groundwater flow model. Complete, itemized surface water and groundwater balances
were estimated by combining raw data (rainfall, stream flow, municipal pumping, wastewater
percolation) with values simulated using models. Collectively, the models simulate the entire hydrologic
system, but each model or model module focuses on part of the system, as described below. In general,
the models were used to estimate flows in the surface water and groundwater balances that are difficult
to measure directly or that depend on current groundwater levels. These include surface and subsurface
inflows from tributary areas, percolation from stream reaches within the Basin, groundwater discharge
to streams, subsurface flow from the Llagas Subbasin and between Management Areas, locations and
discharges of flowing wells, consumptive use of groundwater by riparian vegetation, and changes in
groundwater storage. The two separate models, collectively referred to as the North San Benito
Numerical model, are described as follows.

Rainfall-Runoff-Recharge Model. This Fortran-based model simulates hydrologic processes that occur
over the entire land surface, including precipitation, interception, infiltration, runoff,
evapotranspiration, irrigation, effects of impervious surfaces, pipe leaks in urban areas, deep percolation
below the root zone, and shallow groundwater flow to streams and deep recharge.

Groundwater Model. The groundwater flow model uses the MODFLOW 2005 code developed by the
U.S. Geological Survey, with pre- and post-processing facilitated using Groundwater Vistas, a readily
available commercial software package. The model produces linked simulation of surface water and
groundwater, as described below. MODFLOW simulates subsurface flow by combining equations
representing flow through porous sediments (the Darcy Equation) with equations that enforce
conservation of mass. The equations are implemented numerically, which means that they are applied
simultaneously between all adjoining cells in a model grid through an iterative process.

The numerical model is the best tool to quantify the North San Benito water balance. The model will
continue to be updated for future Annual Reports, providing a better understanding of the surface
water-groundwater system and a tool to evaluate future conditions and management actions.
Additional information about the model can be found in the GSP and the model documentation report
found as Appendix G in the GSP. In Water Year 2024, the model was updated to reflect recent conditions
and improve the simulation of past years. Tables 4-1 through 4-4 show the updated water balances for
each MA. Figures 4-1 through 4-4 show the water balances for each MA for the entire model period.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 24 Todd Groundwater



4-WATER BALANCE

TABLE 4-1. WATER BALANCE UPDATE - SOUTHERN MA, AF

Subsurface inflow from external basins

Percolation from streams 27,495 15,643 12,909 8,160 52,320 | 28,886
Bedrock inflow 2,291 918 486 33 1,354 | 3,957
Dispersed recharge from rainfall* 6,630 4,219 3,250 2,943 28,997 | 10,545
Irrigation deep percolation 601 668 772 832 603 625
Reclaimed water percolation - - - - - -
Inflow from Hollister MA 1,462 1,147 830 812 892 858
Total inflow 38,479 22,594 18,247 12,780 84,165 | 44,871

9 0 ater O D
Subsurface outflow to external basins - - - - - -
Wells - M&I and domestic (143) (143) (143) (143) (144) (144)
Wells - agricultural (6,722) | (7,421) | (8,652) | (9,312)| (6,734)| (7,000)
Groundwater discharge to streams (20,328) | (20,139) | (16,521) | (13,467) | (23,058) | 29,463)
Riparian evapotranspiration (1,464) | (1,687) | (1,900) | (1,999) | (1,479)| (1,529)
Outflow to Hollister MA (2,361) (2,288) (2,677) (2,894) (2,759) | (2,982)
Total outflow (31,018) | (31,678) | (29,893) | (27,816) | (34,173) | (41,117)
prage 46 9,084 646 0 49,99
1. Dispersed recharge volumes adjusted from pre-processor to match model inflows
TABLE 4-2. WATER BALANCE UPDATE - HOLLISTER MA, AF
019 U20U § § ) D24
Subsurface inflow from external basins - - - - - -
Percolation from streams 24,680 15,015 13,182 10,535 44,544 24,199
Bedrock inflow 19,728 10,203 1,744 472 2,827 7,223
Dispersed recharge from rainfall® 25,074 12,465 6,946 5,745 47,962 24,300
Irrigation deep percolation 4,514 4,986 5,286 5,567 4,447 4,750
Reclaimed water percolation 327 291 248 226 372 392
Inflow from Southern MA 4,958 4,760 5,187 5,565 5,842 5,888
Total inflow 79,281 47,720 32,593 28,111 | 105,994 66,752
D 0 ater O 0
Subsurface outflow to external basins - - - - - -
Wells - M&| and domestic (1,808) (2,056) (3,748) (3,651) (3,712) (2,050)
Wells - agricultural (35,913) | (39,586) | (46,728) | (53,668) | (42,590) | (45,562)
Groundwater discharge to streams (8,630) | (6,972) | (2,119) | (1,116)| (1,853)| (2,817)
Riparian evapotranspiration (193) (182) (147) (125) (183) (161)
Outflow to Bolsa and San Juan MAs (11,511) | (10,985) | (10,409) | (10,243) | (10,295) | (9,837)
Total outflow (58,055) | (59,781) | (63,151) | (68,803) | (58,634) | (60,427)
0 U6 U . 40,69 i
North San Benito Annual Report 2024 25 Todd Groundwater




4-WATER BALANCE

TABLE 4-3. WATER BALANCE UPDATE - SAN JUAN MA, AF

Subsurface inflow from external basins - - - - - -
Percolation from streams 8,291 5,225 2,241 608 13,750 7,865
Bedrock inflow 707 558 364 99 563 1,291
Dispersed recharge from rainfall* 10,268 4,910 2,435 1,751 21,327 9,647
Irrigation deep percolation 1,830 2,027 2,124 2,244 1,786 1,930
Reclaimed water percolation 2,088 2,671 2,884 2,884 3,142 1,525
Inflow from Hollister and Bolsa MAs 4,980 4,916 5,057 5,441 4,636 4,534
Total inflow 28,164 20,307 15,105 13,027 45,205 26,793
0 0 ater O 0
Subsurface outflow to external basins - - - - - -
Wells - M&I and domestic (397) (363) (360) (463) (506) (505)
Wells - agricultural (15,944) | (17,776) | (20,162) | (22,669) | (17,726) | (19,188)
Groundwater discharge to streams (1,716) | (1,669) | (1,064) (599) (1,804) (2,239)
Riparian evapotranspiration (997) | (1,136) | (1,267) (1,326) (998) (1,025)
Outflow to Bolsa MA (1,664) (1,571) (1,504) (1,533) (1,778) (1,542)
Total outflow (20,718) | (22,515) | (24,358) | (26,590) | (22,812) | (24,499)
orage 446 D : s 9 3
1. Dispersed_recharge volun.1es adjusted from pre-processor to match model inflows
TABLE 4-4. WATER BALANCE UPDATE - BOLSA MA, AF
U189 020 9 U U 024
Subsurface inflow from external basins 5,033 5,823 8,217 10,760 5,582 4,304
Percolation from streams 4,274 3,267 3,314 2,182 5,374 3,535
Bedrock inflow - - - - - -
Dispersed recharge from rainfall 13,653 7,565 4,324 3,218 29,245 14,959
Irrigation deep percolation 2,300 2,432 2,616 2,769 2,283 2,387
Reclaimed water percolation - - - - - -
Inflow from Hollister and San Juan MAs 5,698 5,492 5,163 4,789 5,486 5,088
Total inflow 30,958 24,578 23,634 23,719 47,969 30,273
O gwater U 0
Subsurface outflow to external basins (15) - - - (36) (44)
Wells - M&I and domestic (25) (25) (25) (25) (25) (25)
Wells - agricultural (23,918) | (25,354) | (27,358) | (29,019) | (23,897) | (24,982)
Groundwater discharge to streams (3,775) (1,458) (320) (79) (4,763) | (4,704)
Riparian evapotranspiration (229) (189) (167) (87) (238) (175)
Outflow to San Juan MA (1,563) (1,532) | (1,709) (1,937) (2,024) | (2,007)
Total outflow (29,525) | (28,558) | (29,577) | (31,146) | (30,982) | (31,936)
0 i 980 9/ i 6,98
North San Benito Annual Report 2024 26 Todd Groundwater




ealy juswabeuey ILYMANNOYD
uJayinos I Q Q Olml VIN J81S1]I0H 0} MOIINO SUISEq [BUJSJXS WO} MOJJUI 99BLNSqNS
aouejeg Jajepn uonesidsuenodens uenedry [T SWeal)s Woly uonejoosad .
A E GZ0Z Yyolep sweays 0} abieyosip ssrempuncio [ Mojiul yooIpag
lednynoube - sjlepn l llejutes woly sbieyoasl pasiadsiq
o13S8WOop pue PN - SIIPM uonejoolad desp uonebi)
UISEQ |BUISIXS 0) MOIINOC 32BUNSANS l uonejoosad Jsjem pawiepey .
sweays o) ab1eyasip Mojeys l VIN JS1SIJJOH Wosj mopu l
SMOIJINO SMO|JU|
les A J91BAA
0coz sLoe oLoc S00¢ 0002 S661 0661 G861 0861 GL61
l | ] ] | | | | | 000'09-
O |& - 0000V
m .
5}
3 - - 00002
— - O w
2 = =
L - - - - c
B E u = 3
-=0- = -0 -B5 - - - 00002
= | o
2 L T -RI =3
= L 8 B L o000y
2 || Q
2 )
_ | —| ooo'oe &
u S
=
o)
z | _
| 2 i L 00008
- 000'004
000021

ealy Juswabeuely uisyinos




ealy juswabeuep HILVMANNOUD
181S1|10H l D Q Olm! SYIN UBN[ ueg pue es|og 0} MOINO SUISEQ |BUISIXS WOJ| MOJJU| 80BUNSANS
aouejeg JIalep) : uopeudsuesodens ueuedry FI Swieal)s Woly uone|osted I
Z-¥ @4nbiyg G20z yoie|\ sweans o} ab1eyosip Ja)empunols) . Moyul doolpag
[ednynaube - sjjopn l |lejules woly sbieyoal pasiadsiq
ol}SaWOPp pue Y - S|ISM uopejoosad dasp uonebiu)
suiseq [eusayxe o) mopno soepnsans [ uonejoosad Jsyem pawepay I
(mojreyg) sweans o) abieyosip mojieus [l VIN Ulayinos wouj Mojjuj I
SMOJINO SMolu|
1ea A 18)epn
0coc SL0¢ oLog S002 0002 G661 0661 G861 0861 Gl61
| | | | | | | | | 000001
o - 000'0G-
=4
o
2 & . = , ” 2 , 2R E 10
" 18 [ _ |
Bl = 1B iE_ 5 >
. W i i A [ | o
| i | | ] ] | | 13 i o
[ | 000'0s ¢
. L i n B T
. u = g B 8
= 1 4] i !
|
- 000°001
_ b [ |
2| = g I
g
] E
- 000'0Sl
[ |
000'002

ealy Juswabeuepy Jo1si||OH




ealy juswabeuepy LYVMANNOYD
uenr uesg I Q D le! VIA BSjog 0} MOJINO sujseq |eus)xa WoJlj MOJjul 80BUNSgGNS
aoue|eg Is8jepn uoneudsuesjodens ueedry [N sweays woy uopejooed I
g-y 21nbig Gcoc yalen sweau}s o) ab6IeyasIp Jajempunols) l MojuI Yooipag
Jeanynoube - s|lapn . |lejutes woly abieyoal pasiadsiq
21JSOWOP pue [P - SIIEM uonejoosed deap uonebiu|
suIseq [BUIS)XS O] MOJJINO 80BUNSqNS l uolje|oolad Jajem pawie|oay l
sweans o abreyosip mojieys [ v JaistiioH woy moyu) [
SMOJINO SMOJjuj
HVIA 43I LVM
020¢ S10¢ 0L0C S00¢ 0002 G661 0661 G861 0861 G/61
i | | | | | | [ | 000°0%-

000'02-

__ _—__— ———————————— ,;.,1,1...\. = l__ e e - 0

MOIJNO

5
& § — L o000z P
2
g i i
_ — L 000'0%
AN i
g i B
- 000°09
]
4 i
00008

ealy Juswabeuel uenf ueg




ealy juawabeuep HILVMANNOYD
es|jog I Q Q Olml VAl UBN[ UBS 0} MOINO SuISeq [BUIBIXS WO MOjjUl ddeunsqns
aouejeg J181BAA uopesidsueijodens uenedy [T sweass woy uonejoosed I
- 8inb14 Gc0c Yyoley sweays o0} abueyosip sorempuncis [ Mmoul yooipag
reanynoube - siom [ |leuies woly abieyoal pasiadsiq
onSawWop pue BN - SIIBM uonejooled deap uonebiu|
suiseq eusayxe o} mono soepnsans uopejoosad ssjem pawepay I
sweans o} abreyosip mojeys [l s uenr ues pue sejsijjoH wioy mojul =
SMO|JINO SMO[jU|
HVIA H3LVYM
0202 S1L0¢C oLoc G002 0002 G661 0661 G861 0861 6.6l
1 | [ | | | l 1 | 0000~
- 000'0€-
O
mv B i
= - 00002
3
=3
- 000'0L-
L 0 W
(N | " "pannprinnn 4 ®
—_ --—--n (J | 7 --—---- ---— ?
- L 00001 @
HUuie L 1 : "
- —— | - i B —— -- ! 00002
. _ — ! 2 B 2 1 & ﬁ
=)
9)
3
- E | 4 —- 000'0€
- = - - 0000
000°0S

ealy juswabeuel esjog




4-WATER BALANCE

Inflows

The rainfall-runoff-recharge model and groundwater model were updated to reflect conditions from
Water Years 2019-2024. Data, assumptions and calculations for individual hydrologic processes and
groundwater inflows are described below.

Precipitation and Evaporation. Precipitation and evaporation on the land surface are accounted for in
the rainfall-runoff-recharge model. Data are obtained from local climate stations.

CVP Imported Water. Two Management Areas (Hollister and San Juan) receive imported water from the
CVP, which is delivered to municipal and agricultural users and to several percolation ponds to enhance
groundwater recharge. CVP imported water stored in San Justo Reservoir seeps from the reservoir to
the local groundwater. In addition, water evaporates from water surfaces. These seepage and
evaporation losses remain consistent through the period of record and are included in the groundwater
model.

Dispersed Recharge from Rainfall and Deep Irrigation. Dispersed recharge from rainfall and applied
irrigation water is estimated by the rainfall-runoff-recharge model. The model simulates soil moisture
storage in the root zone, which derives from rainfall infiltration and irrigation, and outflows to
evapotranspiration and deep percolation. Simulation is on a daily basis. In recharge zones with irrigated
crops, irrigation is simulated by assuming water is applied when soil moisture falls below a certain
threshold. When soil moisture exceeds the root zone storage capacity, any excess rainfall or irrigation
becomes deep percolation. Rainfall and irrigation water comingle in the root zone and in deep
percolation. In urban recharge zones, pipe leaks are included in the amount shown as rainfall recharge.
The resulting net recharge is passed to the top layer of the groundwater model.

Percolation from Streams. Percolation from streams depends on the flow, stage, width, length, and bed
permeability of stream reaches, as well as the elevation difference between the stream surface and
groundwater in the underlying model cell. Point sources of recharge (such as wastewater percolation
facilities) are entered into the top model layer as if they were injection wells. Surface inflows to the
stream network in the surface water module of the groundwater model include a combination of
gauged flows (for the San Benito River at the upstream end of the Southern MA only), simulated runoff
from tributary watersheds and valley floor areas obtained from the rainfall-runoff-recharge model, and
historical amounts of CVP water percolated in local streams. The effects of Hernandez Reservoir
operation on San Benito River flows are included in the gauged flows, and the effects of Pacheco
Reservoir on Pacheco Creek inflows were estimated by applying simple rules for seasonal storage and
release. Valley floor areas are flatter than the tributary watersheds, and the amount of runoff per acre is
consequently smaller, The rainfall-runoff-recharge model simulates runoff from valley floor areas, and
those flows are added to the inflows of nearby stream segments in the groundwater model.

Reclaimed Water Percolation. Percolation of reclaimed water in wastewater disposal ponds occurs in
two Management Areas (San Juan and Hollister) at facilities operated by the City of Hollister, Sunnyslope
County Water District (SSCWD), and Tres Pinos County Water District. Discharges from the San Juan
Bautista wastewater treatment plant are not included. Percolation is assumed to be the plant inflow less
net evaporation and amounts of wastewater recycled for irrigation use. Additional percolation may

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 31 Todd Groundwater



' 4-WATER BALANCE

occur around rural residential septic systems. For the numerical model, it is assumed to be negligible as
the volumes would be small and spread out over the Basin.

Subsurface Groundwater Inflow. Three types of subsurface inflow are listed separately in the water
balance tables. Subsurface inflow from external basins occurs only in the Bolsa MA, where flow enters
from the adjacent Llagas Subbasin. This is simulated as a head-dependent flow that varies depending on
simulated groundwater levels near the boundary (lower water levels increase the simulated inflow rate).
Along the rest of the Basin perimeter, small amounts of subsurface inflow result from recharge
percolating through fractured bedrock in tributary watershed areas. Bedrock inflow is simulated as
shallow injection wells along the perimeter of the Basin.

Finally, subsurface flow occurs across the management area boundaries within the Basin. Although flow
across MA boundaries is predominantly in one direction in most cases, local variations in boundary
alignment relative to regional gradients can result in inflow at one location concurrent with outflow at
another. For example, Table 4-1 indicates inflow from Hollister to Southern MA although Southern MA is
generally upgradient of Hollister MA. This reflects the zig-zag character of the boundary between the
two MAs, such that groundwater flows from Hollister into portions of Southern MA and then flows out
again.

Most groundwater inflows to the Basin are controlled by hydrologic conditions. Natural stream
percolation and deep percolation from rainfall are related to the volume and distribution of rainfall. The
availability of imported water similarly reflects wet and dry conditions in the source area, which for CVP
water is the Sierra Nevada. Because they are related to rainfall, almost all Basin inflows are higher in wet
years and lower in dry years. In contrast, deep percolation of applied irrigation water (irrigation return
flow) is generally similar from year to year.

Outflows

Major outflows from the Basin are pumping (agricultural, municipal, industrial, and domestic),
groundwater seepage into streams, subsurface outflow, and evapotranspiration by riparian vegetation.

Pumping by Wells. Agricultural pumping is much larger than the other types and is listed separately in
the water balance tables and shown in green on the water balance bar charts. Agricultural pumping is
dependent not only on cropping patterns and irrigation practices, but also on the volume of CVP imports
and the amount and timing of rainfall. Spring rains decrease total irrigation demand, and growers adjust
pumping to compensate for wet weather and the availability of CVP imports. Agricultural groundwater
pumping in the model and water balance tables is simulated by the rainfall-runoff-recharge model.
When simulated soil moisture falls below a specified threshold in a recharge zone with irrigated crops,
irrigation is assumed to be applied and to refill soil moisture to capacity. Irrigation not derived from CVP
water or recycled water is assumed to be from groundwater.

Agricultural pumping in Zone 6 is also monitored by SBCWD by recording the operating time of pump

motors and multiplying that by a measured discharge rate. Previous studies have found that the
pumping estimates obtained by this method are significantly smaller than the estimates obtained by

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 32 Todd Groundwater



4-WATER BALANCE

simulating crop water demand and soil moisture. The simulation approach improved model calibration
during the 2014 model update, and that approach is retained in the current model.

Reliable measurements of agricultural pumping are a recognized data gap. Given the large range or
uncertainty and the model sensitivity to the volume and location of agricultural pumping, evaluation is
currently underway of alternative methodologies for accurately evaluating agricultural pumping.

Municipal pumping by City of Hollister and SSCWD is in the Hollister MA, with additional pumping by San
Juan Bautista in the San Juan MA. Pumping by major municipal providers is measured, as is pumping by
smaller community water systems and self-supplied commercial and industrial facilities within Zone 6.
Actual pumping and well locations are used in the numerical model. Additional pumping for potable use
at rural residences and agricultural buildings was estimated by inventorying the number and locations of
those buildings on aerial photos. This domestic pumping is assigned to 200 hypothetical wells near
building locations.

A map showing the locations of agricultural and municipal, commercial, industrial, and domestic
pumping is presented in Figure 4-5. Irrigation pumping is represented as a one-dimensional annual
groundwater application rate (in inches) on the irrigated fraction of each recharge analysis polygon. Use
of CVP water and recycled water has already been subtracted from total irrigation demand to obtain
these estimates of groundwater-supplied irrigation. Monthly one-dimensional rates are multiplied by
irrigated area and entered into the groundwater model as a hypothetical irrigation well located at the
centroid of each irrigated recharge polygon. Municipal, commercial, industrial, and domestic wells are
displayed as circles with areas proportional to annual pumping in 2023. Points representing the first
three categories are actual well locations, and the pumping is measured and reported to the District.
The small dots representing rural domestic pumping are located where rural residences are visible in
aerial photographs, and a uniform production rate was assumed at all those locations.

Subsurface Outflow. Subsurface outflows to other basins and other Management Areas were calculated
using the groundwater model by the same methods used to simulate subsurface inflows.

Groundwater Discharge to Streams. Discharges from the groundwater basin to surface water bodies are
simulated by the groundwater model based on stream bed wetted area and permeability and on the
amount by which the simulated groundwater elevation in a model stream cell is higher than the
simulated surface water elevation. This occurs in all Management Areas, but notably where Pacheco
Creek and Tequisquita Slough approach the Calaveras Fault, where the Pajaro River approaches the
downstream end of the Bolsa MA, and along the San Benito River at the downstream end of the San
Juan MA. The relatively large amounts of simulated groundwater discharge to streams in the Southern
MA is balanced by high amounts of percolation from streams. The San Benito River and Tres Pinos Creek
transition between gaining and losing at various locations in the Southern MA.

Riparian Evapotranspiration. The presence of dense, vigorous trees and shrubs along a stream channel
is often a sign that the roots of the vegetation extend to the water table and have access to
groundwater throughout the dry season. Plants that draw water directly from groundwater are called
phreatophytes. In the groundwater model, riparian evapotranspiration (ET) is a function of water table
depth, decreasing from unrestricted water use when the water table is at the ground surface to zero
when it is 15 feet or more below the ground surface. This reflects a reasonable range of root depth
distribution for a mix of riparian shrub and tree species.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 33 Todd Groundwater



VY202 1e3, 19)eM\ Ul d3LVMANNOYD

Buidwing Jajempunols ss< [
JO suoneso I m_ D Ol—n ss - sv [

s sp-se[
G-y ainbi4 G20z Yote ‘

S— ! — ooL-0. @ ge-gz| |
" - SN -1 e sz-Sl _
‘|enjuapisal [eunl pue |BioJaWwwod ‘|euysnpul 3 E—
‘ledioiunw sapnjou buidwnd ueqin 930N mf el el a Y 1> e Sl> D
“ L
.y = F/ T ;m . 9 W. (196)-8.0Y) (sayouy)
s A Y g~ | Q4 / (rzoz AM) Buidwing ueqin  (¥Z0zZ AM) uonebii] Jajempunoi
2 S o f —
./of, 2 »\ B »_M - wanurl.ln.h.llllllmm.n:ou Kassquopy A
b i L ot e 9 A O IR oy e e e e i — o
) Aunoj oyueg ueg N

N o/ IAJ‘“ ,;v =
s/\“\}é 3 .Wq“l/!ﬂ/ ,//M%de’

0,4.!

P9 e,

)ll.\f‘\Q’/ )
D

—

T A 1 ~ S S
Ao '/.P’l‘l“ e
N By
S =

00\ lwd ws.w H

Y SA
..”«, l:%b‘&df“_/h m
). - ‘”’f ’/’v . &
6 lﬂl 2

= |Q
’Q’ Wh\.v
y 8

Ry

A 5
$5

>
s
b ,...\\ .

A
AN
y @SN
W > =% .vNM.W//I
,A. ) © o5

A\

ac—s mo - =z

| semw uioeos i

\
\
\
\
\
\
\
\
\
\
\
\
If‘
!
\
S
N\
\
\\ '00
AN
0,,0




4-WATER BALANCE

The Management Area water balances for 2024 are easiest to interpret in the context of balances in
prior years (see Figures 4-1 through 4-4). In the Southern MA, total inflows were lower than last water
year (which was wet) but higher than the previous five years, reflecting above normal conditions
resulting in increased storage in the MA. In the Hollister MA and San Juan MA had above average
inflows and average outflows, adding storage to both MAs in part due to CVP deliveries. In the Bolsa
MA, while total inflows were within the range of normal, outflows were slightly higher than recent years
due to increased groundwater discharge to streams. Bolsa MA was the only management area where
storage decreased in Water Year 2024.

Simulated Groundwater Elevations

In annual reports prepared prior to the preparation of the GSP and Basin-wide model update, contours
of groundwater elevation surfaces in a portion of the Basin were constructed using measurements from
monitored wells with refinement to account for the effects on groundwater of faults and other
hydrogeologic conditions. These previous groundwater elevation surfaces were highly influenced by
variability in data available from the monitoring network.

One of the changes to the annual reports associated with SGMA was the presentation of groundwater
contours for the entire Basin. A consequence of this basin-wide approach is inclusion of areas with
limited or no groundwater monitoring. As a result, contouring with relatively simple software or by hand
is more difficult and subjective. However, the calibrated groundwater model, which has been updated
annually since completion of the GSP, provides simulation of basin-wide groundwater elevations for
every month of the model period in a way that is internally consistent with the hydrogeologic
conceptualization of the Basin and the water budget. Using contours from the model produces
groundwater surface elevation representations that are consistent with the water budget and change in
storage estimates.

Figure 4-6 shows contours of groundwater elevations in March 2024, representing seasonal high
conditions, while Figure 4-7 shows groundwater elevations in September 2024, representing seasonal
low conditions. These are contours of elevations simulated by the calibrated groundwater model, which
provides estimates of water levels throughout the Basin. They are from model layer 3, which is within
the typical range of screened intervals for irrigation and municipal wells. The general pattern of contours
is similar for both seasons, but March water levels are up to 20 ft higher and September has discrete
areas of drawdown from groundwater pumping to meet irrigation demands. Groundwater in the
Southern MA flows northwest toward the Hollister MA. On the east side of the Calaveras Fault (in the
center of the basin), flow is northward and westward, converging toward San Felipe Lake, where
groundwater that hasn’t leaked through the fault emerges into surface waterways and crosses the fault
as stream base flow. On the west side of the Calaveras Fault, inflow from the Southern MA flows
northwest beneath the San Benito River and bends west to enter the San Juan MA. In the latter area,
flow is toward the west end of the MA, where groundwater exits by emerging as surface flow in San
Juan Creek, the San Benito River, and/or the Pajaro River. In the Southern MA, simulated water levels
have steep gradients beneath the hilly areas between and around the Paicines and Tres Pinos Creek
Valleys and relatively flat gradients within those valleys. This reflects the relatively low estimated
transmissivity of the Purisima Formation which is a secondary aquifer in the Basin present in the hills
relative to the principal aquifer alluvial materials in the valleys.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 35 Todd Groundwater



4-WATER BALANCE

Figure 4-8 shows contours of the net change in groundwater elevation during the water year from
September 2023 to September 2024. In general, water levels remained stable, ranging from less than 10
feet to local increases as much as 10 feet. Areas of groundwater level decrease are indicated mostly in
the Bolsa MA and northeastern Hollister MA, both areas also showed groundwater decreases last water
year. These areas of decrease are characterized by relative distance from sources of stream percolation
and continued or increased groundwater pumping.

Change in Storage

Figure 4-9 shows the cumulative change in storage from the model for the four Management Areas for
1975-2024. The change in storage for each MA for the model update period (2019-2024) is documented
in Tables 4-1 through 4-4. In Appendix E, Figures E-1 through E-4 illustrate the annual storage change,
cumulative storage change, and estimated groundwater pumping for each MA from 1975 to present. On
each Appendix E figure, the water year type is indicated with the first letter of the types: Wet, Above
normal, Below normal, Dry, and Critically dry (see Figure 3-2).

Storage increased in three of the four Management Areas for the second year in a row. Bolsa MA
experienced a slight decrease in storage but remains above 2022 lows. Total storage is above the 1975
amounts in all the MAs.

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 36 Todd Groundwater



4-WATER BALANCE

(this page is intentionally left blank)

North San Benito Annual Report 2024 37 Todd Groundwater



d3IIVMANNOYUO

‘dew S|Yj UO UMOYS JOU DI S||aM 0S

W24 iy eweg

seoa 587 2q 04 s~
\\\

20z Yysien ‘awyy Jeao sebuBYD s)jam SAJE JO UOHNALISIP BUL "S|IoM Woy Auno) ojueg ues _.leu,._ SiAY pue sweans Jofew
suoljeAs|3 Je9jempunols I Q Q O _ Buidwind 1ajempunoiB pue ‘MoyINo 90BUNSqNS 'Swesns 0) uiseq ojueg ues YUoN sined4
o9 Uh.._m_ 4 obieyosip se sindo0 uiseg ay) woy abieyosip ._m_msuc.:EO sealy Juswoabeuepy (jsw 12@9)) JnojuoD UOIBAB|T 19)BMPU<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>